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THE REVIEW OF DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
DETENTION OPERATIONS AND DETAINEE
INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

THURSDAY, MARCH 10, 2005

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON ARMED SERVICES,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:37 a.m. in room SH-
216, Hart Senate Office Building, Senator John Warner (chairman)
presiding.

Committee members present: Senators Warner, McCain, Inhofe,
Collins, Talent, Dole, Cornyn, Thune, Levin, Kennedy, Lieberman,
and Reed.

Committee staff members present: Judith A. Ansley, staff direc-
tor; and Leah C. Brewer, nominations and hearings clerk.

Majority staff members present: Charles W. Alsup, professional
staff member; Regina A. Dubey, research assistant; Gregory T.
Kiley, professional staff member; Lynn F. Rusten, professional staff
member; Scott W. Stucky, general counsel; Diana G. Tabler, profes-
sional staff member; and Richard F. Walsh, counsel.

Minority staff members present: Richard D. DeBobes, Democratic
staff director; Gabriella Eisen, research assistant; Bridget W. Hig-
gins, research assistant; Gerald J. Leeling, minority counsel; Peter
K. Levine, minority counsel; and William G.P. Monahan, minority
counsel.

Staff assistants present: Alison E. Brill, Catherine E. Sendak,
and Nicholas W. West.

Committee members’ assistants present: Cord Sterling, assistant
to Senator Warner; Christopher J. Paul, assistant to Senator
McCain; John A. Bonsell, assistant to Senator Inhofe; Mackenzie
M. Eaglen, assistant to Senator Collins; Russell J. Thomasson, as-
sistant to Senator Cornyn; Bob Taylor, assistant to Senator Thune;
Mieke Y. Eoyang, assistant to Senator Kennedy; Erik Raven, as-
sistant to Senator Byrd; Frederick M. Downey, assistant to Senator
Lieberman; Darcia Tokioka, assistant to Senator Akaka; and Wil-
liam K. Sutey, assistant to Senator Bill Nelson.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JAMES M. INHOFE

Senator INHOFE [presiding]. The meeting, the hearing, will come
to order. I have just been informed that Senator Warner is stuck
in traffic. So, Senator Levin, I will act like Senator Warner and
start this off. The statement that I will make is not my statement;
it is Senator Warner’s statement.
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The committee meets today to receive testimony on the Depart-
ment of Defense (DOD) review of the detention operations and de-
tainee interrogation techniques, commonly referred to as the
Church Report. We welcome our witness, Vice Admiral Albert T.
Church III, United States Navy, currently Director of the Navy
Staff.

I note that when Admiral Church started work on this review he
was the Inspector General (IG) of the Navy. We thank Admiral
Church and all members of his team for the excellent work they
have done on this issue.

On May 25, 2004, Secretary of Defense (SECDEF) Rumsfeld for-
mally directed Admiral Church to review all DOD detention proce-
dures and defense interrogation techniques that were being used in
the global war on terrorism. I quote from Secretary Rumsfeld’s di-
rective: “Specifically, you will ensure that all areas of concern to
the Department of Defense regarding detention operations, includ-
ing interrogation techniques, are being addressed adequately and
expeditiously. You will report to me any gaps or seams among
those reviews and investigations.”

This is the tenth major senior level review of detainee operations
and allegations of detainee abuse that has been completed, nine by
various elements of the Department and one by an independent
panel. Since the abuses at Abu Ghraib were discovered in January
2004, one additional senior level investigation has recently been
initiated by the Department to review Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tions (FBI) allegations of abuse at the detention facility of Guanta-
namo Bay (Gitmo) in 2002. These allegations were brought to the
attention of the DOD in December of last year.

This committee has been very responsive in its oversight. This is
the eighth open hearing that we have conducted on these issues.
In addition, we have had a number of classified briefings. The
Church Report was initiated to provide a comprehensive evaluation
of DOD detention operations and the role interrogation procedures
may or may not have played in the abusive treatment of detainees.

Admiral Church has conducted what appears to be a thorough
review, analyzing all previous reports and conducting over 8,900
new interviews, including uniformed personnel of all ranks and lev-
els of command and senior policy officials. I now cite two conclu-
sions of the Church Report, and I am quoting now, “Number one,
we found no link between approved interrogation techniques and
detainee abuse. Number two, we note therefore that our conclusion
is consistent with the findings of the independent panel”—that is,
the Schlesinger panel—“which in its August 2004 report deter-
mined that”—and quoting from that report—‘'No approved proce-
dures called for or allowed the kind of abuse that in fact occurred.’
There is no evidence of that policy of abuse promulgated by senior
officials or military authorities.”

In my judgment, these findings are consistent with the findings
of all previous reports. According to the Church Report, the 70 inci-
dents of substantiated abuse were quoting from the Church Report,
“perpetrated by a variety of Active-Duty, Reserve, and National
Guard personnel from three different Services, on different dates,
and in different locations throughout Afghanistan and Iraq, as well
as a small number of cases at Gitmo.”
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Admiral Church concludes that: “There is not a single over-
arching reason for abuse, but that the stressful combat situation,
particularly at the point of capture,” and, as Admiral Church char-
acterized it, “a breakdown of good order and discipline in some
units could account for some incidents of abuse.”

This does not excuse the abuses that did occur, but I believe it
is important to put this discussion in context. As we meet this
morning, a large number of trials by court martial have been com-
pleted and sentences have been rendered. In a great many of these
cases, the military defendants pled guilty. Additional criminal pro-
cedures are ongoing. We have shown the world that we are a Na-
tion of laws and that we will not tolerate abusive, inhumane behav-
ior by members of our Armed Forces, we will investigate wrong-
doing and hold accountable those responsible for misconduct.

To date over a million U.S. service men and women have served
in Iraq and Afghanistan and have served with distinction. As of the
date of this report, 36 service personnel have been convicted of
criminal misconduct and a few more trials are pending. As Admiral
Church noted, “The vast majority of detainees held by U.S. forces
during the global war on terrorism have been treated humanely.”

The Church Report found that no policy promulgated by the De-
partment either advocates or encourages abusive or inhumane
treatment of detainees. The report also found that approved inter-
rogation policies did not lead to illegal or abusive interrogation
techniques being used. The Church Report candidly pointed out
that, “dissemination of interrogation policy in Iraq and Afghanistan
was generally poor and interrogators fell back on their training and
experience, often relying on a broad interpretation of Army Field
Manual (FM) 34-52.”

The Church Report continues, “While these problems of policy
dissemination and compliance were certainly cause for concern, we
found that they did not lead to the employment of illegal or abusive
interrogation techniques.” Admiral Church found that “interroga-
tors knew that abusive behavior was prohibited. There are very few
allegations of abuse by trained interrogators in established deten-
tion centers. Many of the allegations of interrogation-related abuse
originated at the point of capture, in the immediate aftermath of
the heat of battle.”

In the period of time since these allegations of abuse first sur-
faced, the DOD has been steadfast in examining its procedures and
implementing constructive changes as appropriate. The Depart-
ment of the Army in particular, which has principal responsibility
for the conduct of detention and interrogation operations, has up-
dated training procedures and doctrine to ensure the proper treat-
ment of detainees and the effective conduct of interrogators. These
steps taken by the DOD and the military Services, as well as the
continuing reviews of issues of individual accountability throughout
the chain of command, will be the subject of a future hearing by
this committee.

The members of the U.S. Armed Forces have been tarnished by
these isolated incidents of abuse by a few within their ranks, but
they have shown their typical honor and resilience by the manner
in which they have responded. We must remember that the vast
majority of our brave men and women in uniform are performing
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remarkable tasks on a daily basis in austere, stressful environ-
ments, and in some cases making the ultimate sacrifice of life and
limb to win the war on terror.

We honor their service and that of their families. Our efforts in
gathering this information and openly discussing it with the Amer-
ican people and with the world are intended to strengthen our
Armed Forces.

I thank our witness and his team for this report and I thank you
for coming, and continuing to serve our Nation, Admiral Church.

Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, and let me also welcome Admiral
Church. Today we hear from Admiral Church on his investigation
into detention operations and technologies in Iraq, Afghanistan,
and Gitmo. Vice Admiral Church’s investigative team has done ex-
tensive work, collecting hundreds of statements and reviewing
thousands of documents. I would like to thank you, Admiral, and
your team for that service.

The Church Report is not and does not purport to be a com-
prehensive report. It does not fill many of the significant gaps left
by earlier investigations regarding the nature and causes of de-
tainee abuse in Iraq, Afghanistan, Gitmo, and elsewhere. One gap
in the investigations to date is what was the role of “other govern-
ment agencies,” primarily the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), in
detainee abuse. General Fay’s report found that CIA practices, “led
to a loss of accountability, abuse, and an unhealthy mystique that
further poisoned the atmosphere at Abu Ghraib.”

However, General Fay was unable to fully investigate the CIA’s
role in detainee abuse because the CIA denied his request for docu-
ments. Both the Taguba and Fay reports highlight the problem of
unaccounted for CIA ghost detainees. The Schlesinger Panel was
also aware of this issue, but had limited access to information on
the CIA’s role in detention operations. Vice Admiral Church’s re-
port states his team had limited cooperation from the CIA. The re-
port also makes clear he was not tasked to investigate the exist-
ence of or policies in effect for detention facilities controlled by the
CIA, rather than by the DOD.

A second major gap in the DOD-led investigations which the
Church Report fails to address is the issue of senior leadership re-
sponsibility for creating an environment which either contributed
to abusive behavior, or which condoned or tolerated, or appeared to
condone or tolerate such behavior. The Schlesinger Panel Report
found that abuses were widespread and that there was both “insti-
tutional and personal responsibility at higher levels.” Matters of
personal accountability were explicitly outside of the scope of the
Schlesinger Panel’s tasking from the DOD. So there has been no
assessment of accountability of any senior officials, either within or
outside of the DOD, for policies that may have contributed to
abuses of prisoners.

Numerous other gaps remain unaddressed by Admiral Church’s
report. For example, the Army IG in his assessment of detention
operations, doctrine, and training looked only at Iraq and Afghani-
stan, not Gitmo. The Formica Report looked into allegations of
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abuse by Special Operations Forces only in Iraq, not Afghanistan
or elsewhere. As a result, significant abuse allegations have fallen
between the cracks.

In addition, previous reports containing conflicting conclusions
make it difficult to get a clear picture of the nature and causes of
the abuses. These conflicting findings are not addressed in the
Church Report. For example, reports are in conflict as to whether
detainee abuse was systemic. General Taguba found “systemic and
illegal abuse of detainees” by military police at Abu Ghraib. Gen-
eral Fay in his report found “systemic problems and abuses also
contributed to the volatile environment in which abuses occurred,”
and included two dozen findings relating to systemic failures, in-
cluding doctrine and policy concerns, leadership and command and
control issues, resources, and training issues.

On the other hand, the Army IG reporting in July 2004 was “un-
able to identify system failures that resulted in incidents of abuse.”
Vice Admiral Church’s report notes that, despite that statement of
the IG of the Army, that the Army IG at another point “recounted
‘numerous system failures’ in his detailed findings which contrib-
uted to the detainee abuse.” I hope that the Admiral will clarify for
this committee whether he agrees with General Taguba and Gen-
eral Fay that systemic problems contributed to detainee abuse.

Earlier reports found that policies and guidance at least indi-
rectly contributed to abuses. The Schlesinger Panel Report says
that interrogation policies were “inadequate or deficient at three
levels: DOD, Central Command (CENTCOM) Combined Joint Task
Force (CJTF), and Abu Ghraib Prison.” That report, the Schles-
inger Report, adds that changes in DOD interrogation policies ap-
proved by the SECDEF contributed to confusion in the field about
what methods were authorized.

Perhaps most significantly, the Schlesinger Panel found that
“both institutional and personal responsibility at higher levels,” for
widespread abuses, not just at lower levels. Similarly, General Fay
found that multiple “national policies and DOD directives” were in-
consistent with Army doctrine and resulted in interrogation policies
that contributed to the confusion at Abu Ghraib.

But the Church Report concludes that approved interrogation
techniques were not a “causal factor” of detainee abuse: they were
simply “missed opportunities” in the process of developing policies
on detainee operations. There is not even a determination that we
can find in the Church Report as to whether or not detainee abuse
would have been reduced or avoided had those missed opportuni-
ties been acted upon.

In addition, the Church Report’s assessment that there were sim-
ply “missed opportunities” is difficult to reconcile with the facts set
forth in the report itself. Simply concluding that there were
“missed opportunities” does not adequately explain why Secretary
Rumsfeld approved aggressive interrogation techniques for use at
Gitmo in December 2002 including stress positions, 20-hour inter-
rogations, nudity, and the use of dogs in interrogations. He ap-
proved those in the face of serious concerns about such techniques
which had been forwarded by military lawyers from all four Serv-
ices to the Joint Staff.
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Simply saying that there were “missed opportunities” does not
explain why the Office of the Secretary of Defense (OSD) failed to
promulgate an interrogation policy for Afghanistan consistent with
the amended policy approved for Gitmo in April 2003, even though,
according to the Vice Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen-
eral Peter Pace, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs sent up a rec-
oinmendation that the same interrogation guidelines apply in both
places.

The bland label of “missed opportunities” does not explain the
absence of policies governing the conduct of CIA interrogators at
DOD facilities, which contributed to abuses at Abu Ghraib and
elsewhere. Those are all failures of command at high levels.

It is also difficult to reconcile the notion of “missed opportunities”
with policies that have come to light since Admiral Church appar-
ently ended his investigation in September 2004. A few months
ago, the Justice Department (DOJ) confirmed the existence of a
memo relating to the authority to use specified interrogation tech-
niques, a memo produced by their Office of Legal Counsel (OLC)
concurrently with the August 1, 2002, “Torture” memo that was so
flawed that the administration disavowed it in mid-2004. Just in
the past few months, we have learned of FBI agents’ strong objec-
tions to aggressive and coercive interrogation techniques at Gitmo,
which FBI agents in one e-mail labeled “torture” and in a number
of e-mails deemed so disturbing that agents had guidance to “step
out of the picture” when the military were carrying out interroga-
tions. The Gitmo commanders defended these methods by saying
that the DOD has their “marching orders” from the SECDEF.

Nor does the Church Report explain recent revelations that the
administration reportedly authorized the CIA to engage in ren-
dition, the handing over of detainees to foreign countries, including
ones with a track record of torture.

This failure of accountability of senior leaders sends the wrong
signal to our troops and to the American people. It harms the
United States’ standing as a Nation of laws and it undermines the
high standards of our Armed Forces. It places our brave and honor-
able military men and women in jeopardy when they become pris-
oners.

In the end, I conclude that the DOD is not able to assess ac-
countability at senior levels, particularly when investigators are in
the chain of command of the officials whose policies and actions
they are investigating. Only an independent review can fully and
objectively assess both the institutional and personal accountability
for the abuse of detainees.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER, CHAIRMAN

Chairman WARNER [presiding]. Thank you, Senator.

I apologize for my tardiness. Senator Inhofe, I appreciate your
taking my statement.

As Senator Inhofe said on my behalf, this committee will have
at least one more hearing on this subject on the issue of account-
ability. As I listened to your final comments, I say most respect-
fully to my colleague there has not been a finality in terms of the
assessment of accountability of either senior policy people or senior
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officers. There remains open, as you are probably aware, the Army
review of its senior officers. So more work has to be done by this
committee.

We welcome you, Admiral, and thank you very much for under-
taking this very prodigious and challenging effort.

STATEMENT OF VADM ALBERT T. CHURCH III, USN, DIRECTOR
OF THE NAVY STAFF

Admiral CHURCH. Thank you, Senator Warner, Senator Levin,
and thank you to the members of the committee for the opportunity
to be here today.

Chairman WARNER. I want you to draw that mike up like a bull-
horn and work on it.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. There we go, straight on.

Admiral CHURCH. I hope it is on. There we go.

Chairman WARNER. It is on.

Admiral CHURCH. I have a short opening statement, sir, if I may.

Approximately 10 months ago, the Secretary of Defense tasked
me with some very specific things that he wanted done. The first
of that was to look at all the interrogation techniques that had ever
been considered, authorized, employed, or prohibited in any theater
at any time. He asked me to specifically look at the issue of migra-
tion, had the techniques migrated, where and when. He specifically
tasked me to analyze and review DOD support to or participation
in the interrogation activities of non-DOD activities.

He asked me to work in direct support of the independent panel
chaired by the Honorable James Schlesinger, which we did. I would
add that the data that they had in their report came from our
grollllp and we supported their findings and reviewed their work as
well.

Implicit in that tasking was to determine whether and to what
extent the nature and migration of all these interrogation tech-
niques directly or indirectly resulted in detainee abuse that we
have all become familiar with. As has been mentioned earlier, he
asked me to look at gaps and seams. We did that. We expanded
our tasking to look at International Committee of the Red Cross
(ICRC) issues, medical issues, and contract interrogators, as an ex-
ample.

I believe my investigation was thorough and exhaustive. We con-
ducted over 800 interviews, the majority of which resulted in sworn
statements. We took interviews or written statements from senior
civilian and military leaders in the Pentagon. We reviewed thou-
sands of pages of documents based on data calls from the Pen-
tagon, from the combatant commanders. We did leverage all the
other ongoing investigations so as not to re-investigate that which
had already been investigated. We looked very carefully at the 70
completed cases of abuse, the criminal cases, to see if there is any-
thing in those that related to interrogation or interrogation tech-
niques.

Finally, I would like to give you, as has been mentioned earlier
today, a backdrop to some of my findings. It was clear to us during
the investigation that if we are going to win the global war on ter-
ror we have to have intelligence, and embodied in that is we need
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human intelligence. As has been mentioned also, the overwhelming
majority of our service members have served honorably under very
difficult and challenging conditions. The vast majority of detainees
have been treated humanely and appropriately, and when that was
not the case that has been investigated.

My key findings: that clearly there was no policy, written or oth-
erwise, at any level that directed or condoned torture or abuse;
there was no link between the authorized interrogation techniques
and the abuses that in fact occurred. Nevertheless, we did identify
problems with dissemination, development, migration of the inter-
rogation techniques both in Afghanistan and Iraq, and we docu-
mented another problem, which is a lack of field-level guidance for
the interaction of DOD and other government agency personnel.

Also previously mentioned, with the benefit of hindsight we saw
several missed opportunities, two missed opportunities. The lessons
of prior unconventional conflicts were never specifically commu-
nicated to our troops as a means of lessons learned; and no guid-
ance or interrogation techniques were promulgated for Afghanistan
or Iraq either to CENTCOM or by CENTCOM.

I would like to make several quick points on the detainee abuse.
Of the 70 closed cases, 6 were deaths, 26 were serious, and 38 were
minor abuse cases, as we categorize them. Approximately one-third
of these cases occurred at the point of capture, where emotions run
very high. The majority of these cases, even those considered inter-
rogation-related, as we find them consisted of simple assaults—
punching, kicking, and slapping detainees. We looked for any dis-
cernible pattern of abuse and we were unable to find it. It varied
by unit, Active Duty, Guard, Active Reserve, Guard, in different
theaters. As the independent panel stated: “No approved proce-
duresd called for or allowed the kinds of abuses that in fact oc-
curred.”

Finally, a quick word about the FBI documents. We were aware
of the 14 July 2004 memo that highlighted three instances. That
was sent to us by the Army. Two of those incidents had previously
been investigated. The Army Criminal Investigation Division (CID)
began an investigation on the third one. Last Friday, I had a meet-
ing with the current Naval IG, who is going over the Freedom of
Information Act (FOIA) requests, and General Furlow from South-
ern Command (SOUTHCOM), who is doing an investigation of the
specific incidents, and I would be happy to answer questions on the
progress of those two ongoing investigations later.

That concludes my comments, sir, and I look forward to your
questions.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, Admiral.

b We will proceed to have a 6-minute initial questioning by mem-
ers.

Admiral, let us get directly to the evidence that the American
people and indeed the world saw by virtue of these pictures, tragic
pictures. I mean, incomprehensible almost to say a person like me,
who has had the privilege of a half century of association with the
men and women of the Armed Forces.

However, apart from those pictures you have described other
types of infractions which do not have a pictorial record. Largely
you learned of them through testimony. I think it is important that
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we lay before the public the full range of tortures with some speci-
ficity. The pictures were explicit, tragic. Were there other types of
incidents which you felt resulted in bringing people to trial which
we do not have in mind fully as to what occurred?

Admiral CHURCH. The work that we did, Senator, everything
that is alleged is being investigated, if that is the question.

Chairman WARNER. I am not suggesting it is not being inves-
tigated. But I think we have to have a full understanding of the
types of wrongdoings that were perpetrated. The pictures captured
certainly what went on in that prison, but there are other inci-
dents, for instance at the point of detention in the heat of battle,
and often there is extenuating circumstances in the heat of battle
for those who are making that apprehension.

In other words, I want to hear in the record as best we can a
description of other things that were the basis for these trials, that
we have not seen by virtue of those pictures.

Admiral CHURCH. It is the full range, Senator. We have six
deaths of those who were detainees. There are a number of de-
tainee deaths. Most of them were by natural causes. We looked at
every single detainee death. There were six of those.

Chairman WARNER. You say by natural causes. The deaths re-
sulted as a result—excuse me—resulted because of blows to the
system, I suppose?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir. Natural causes were—we looked at all
the deaths, all the detainee deaths, to ensure that anything that
looked problematic was further investigated. There are 6 of the 70
abuse cases that are closed that involved detainee deaths, and I am
trying to answer your question on the range of problems. That was
the far end.

To the low end, you could probably go to Gitmo, where there
were incidents of slapping or what we call minor abuse cases.
There were a couple of sexual assaults that were in that 70 at the
high end, and there was the range all the way in between.

Chairman WARNER. The ICRC performed and has throughout
contemporary history, I mean going back many years, a very valu-
able service of trying to monitor the detainee situations worldwide.
They were active participants in this case, and in a closed session
of this hearing this morning which will follow the open session we
will ask you to give us further details of their involvement.

But on the whole, do you feel their involvement was constructive
and did it provide reasonable early warning to our chains of com-
mand that reviewed these reports?

Admiral CHURCH. I do, Senator. I think it was very positive. I
think the reactions to the ICRC reports were in general very good,
but in a couple cases the reaction was not as swift or comprehen-
sive as it could have been, and Abu Ghraib is one example.

Chairman WARNER. The responsibility of individual leaders. In
your report you talk about the deterioration of good order and dis-
cipline in some units and the related failure of unit-level leadership
to react to warning signs and stressful conditions and how this
may have contributed to some incidents of abuse.

To what do you attribute this breakdown of good order and dis-
cipline in the United States military? To what levels did these fail-
ures of leadership extend in your judgment? What recommenda-
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tions do you make to prevent or reduce such breakdowns of good
order and discipline in the future, because in a subsequent hearing
of this committee—I mean, we will eventually get into exactly what
corrective measures the DOD and other agencies and departments
to some extent have taken in that breakdown. But they will draw
on your report. Much has been done already, but I am sure this
report will further refine the steps that have been done.

So let us talk about your professional judgment. You are an offi-
cer of extraordinary capabilities and distinction in your own career,
ancll to ‘?What do you attribute this breakdown of good order and dis-
cipline?

Admiral CHURCH. Let me answer in two parts, Senator. Having
come to the conclusion, having looked at the 70 closed cases, that
the interrogation techniques were not a causal factor in the abuse
that happened, I felt it was important to try to offer an opinion as
to, if that was not—and this is my best military judgment, having
looked at this for 9 months—what did cause the abuse?

As I noted, a third of these happened at the point of capture,
which is where emotions run high. Then after that it became

Chairman WARNER. Now let us make it clear to those following
this hearing. At the point of capture, you mean in the field?

Admiral CHURCH. In the field.

Chairman WARNER. Where there is active combat in many in-
stances either going on or there are combat conditions, an indi-
vidual is apprehended.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. As you said, emotions, and not only that,
time is measured in microseconds in trying to make a capture and
then get back and protect yourselves. So go ahead.

Admiral CHURCH. That is exactly right, Senator. Of course, that
is—once a detainee is captured, the rules change, and people have
to be aware of that. That is where a third of this happened.

I said about 20 of the incidents involved—were interrogation-re-
lated, and I used a very expansive definition of that. Anything that
involved a military interrogator (MI), if an MI was in the area, if
it was a military police (MP), even a debriefing at point of capture,
I called that interrogation-related, frankly so I would not be chal-
lenged on not including that. Very little of this involved interroga-
tion.

So you are left really with looking at each individual case and
saying, what happened? The events of Abu Ghraib are a shining
example where you ask the question, where was the leadership?
Not only the noncommissioned officers (NCOs), but the mid-grade
officers, who—I use the analogy of a ship because that is my back-
ground. You can get an illegal order and it does not matter; you
are still responsible for the safety of that ship. To me, that is where
the breakdown was, and the remedies are—we could talk about
that for a long time. It is accountability at that level.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Admiral.

Senator Levin.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral, according to your report, in response to a Joint Chiefs
of Staff (JCS) request for comments on the request from Gitmo
commanders in November 2002 for authorization to use more ag-
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gressive interrogation techniques, military service lawyers ex-
pressed “serious reservations” about approving the proposed inter-
rogation techniques without further legal and policy review. What
was the nature of their serious reservations?

Admiral CHURCH. They felt that the techniques were too aggres-
sive, that they needed additional legal review if they were in fact
lawful.

Senator LEVIN. Were those concerns brought to the attention of
Secretary Rumsfeld prior to his December 2, 2002, approval of ad-
ditional aggressive interrogation techniques?

Admiral CHURCH. Nobody was able to succinctly answer that
question, because I think it was overcome by events. That was my
opinion.

Senator LEVIN. So you were not able to determine whether——

Admiral CHURCH. With absolute certainty, no, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Okay. Now, there was a DOD working group on
interrogation techniques which was initiated in January 2003. That
working group ultimately recommended interrogation techniques
for use against enemy combatants and most of the recommenda-
tions were adopted. However, as you note in the body of your re-
port, you show that the working group, in which military lawyers
were participating, was stopped from developing its own legal anal-
ysis and instead was required to accept the legal analysis contained
in a memorandum from the DOJ OLC, a memorandum with which
the working group strongly disagreed.

According to your report, that memo, entitled “Military Interro-
gation of Alien Unlawful Combatants,” was prepared by Deputy As-
sistant Attorney General John Yu for DOD General Counsel
Haynes, and that memo had a date of March 14, 2003. This memo
was presented, as your report indicates, to the working group as
“controlling authority” on all legal issues.

I want to refer to the March 14, 2003, memo from now on. Access
of working group members to this memo was apparently restricted,
as you noted, and no notes were permitted. You also noted that
conclusions of that memo are nearly identical to those of the Au-
gust 1, 2002, OLC memo which is known as the torture memo,
which the administration disavowed in the middle of last year.
Among other things it concluded that for physical pain to amount
to torture it had to be equivalent to the pain accompanying “organ
failure, impairment of bodily functions, or even death.”

So basically that working group in the DOD was told they had
to follow this March 14 memo from Deputy Assistant Attorney
General Yu to Mr. Haynes.

My question is, did you have access to that March memo?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir, we did.

Senator LEVIN. Do you have a copy of it?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, we did not get a copy. We went and
read it and took notes.

Senator LEVIN. Were you allowed to take a copy of it?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, we did not take a copy.

Senator LEVIN. So even in your classified report there is no copy
of that memo, is that correct?

Admiral CHURCH. That is correct, sir.
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Senator LEVIN. Has that memo been superseded, like the “tor-
ture” memo on which it was based? Do you know?

Admiral CHURCH. I would have to get back to you, sir. I cannot
say for certain.

[The information referred to follows:]

The March 14, 2003, Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) memorandum, which drew
upon the August 2002 OLC memorandum, has not been explicitly superseded. How-
ever, the current legal guidance applicable to the Department of Defense is con-

tained in the December 2004 OLC memorandum, which superseded the August
2002 memorandum.

Senator LEVIN. Now, General Pace stated that on May 15, 2003,
the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs sent up a memo recommending
that the same interrogation guidelines be issued to CENTCOM as
existed for Gitmo. This request from the Chairman and rec-
ommendation was sent to the Office of the Secretary of Defense
(OSD). Do you know whether the OSD responded to the Chair-
man’s May 15, 2003, letter with that recommendation?

Admiral CHURCH. There was no response that I am aware of, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Did you find any evidence explaining why the
OSD failed to act on the recommendation?

Admiral CHURCH. Not specifically, sir.

Senator LEVIN. You made reference to the FBI memos. In Decem-
ber of last year the FBI released e-mails under a FOIA request in
which FBI agents described the DOD interrogation techniques in
use at Gitmo as torture and stated in their e-mails the following,
this is one FBI agent talking to another: “When I return to DC, I
will bring a copy of the military’s interview plan. You won’t believe
it.”

Are you familiar with that memo?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Did you see the plan?

Admiral CHURCH. I believe, if that is the one you are referring
to, I believe I did, yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. That plan was described as containing coercive
techniques in the military’s interviewing tool kit. Are you familiar
with those coercive techniques?

Admiral CHURCH. I think we are referring to the same incident,
sir.

Senator LEVIN. Would you agree those were coercive techniques,
the way the FBI described them?

Admiral CHURCH. There were a couple of interrogations that I
would classify as humane but coercive.

Senator LEVIN. Do you have a copy of those documents that the
FBI referred to in your classified report?

Admiral CHURCH. I believe it is in the backup material, sir. If
not, we will get it.

[The information referred to follows:]
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The FBI e-mail refers to a specific interrogation plan approved by the Secretary
of Defense for use with one “high-value” detainee who had resisted interrogation for
many months and was believed to possess actionable intelligence that could be used
to prevent attacks against the United States. The plan is described on pages 115-
116 of my report.

Senator LEVIN. Did you talk to those FBI agents about what they
saw at Guantanamo?

Admiral CHURCH. We talked to folks that were with them. We
talked to members of the Criminal Investigative Task Force
(NCIS). They were all working collaboratively. So I am very famil-
iar with the incidents that you are talking about.
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Senator LEVIN. You have talked to people who actually witnessed
it in the FBI?

Admiral CHURCH. Not specifically.

Senator LEVIN. Finally, the Schlesinger Panel found that abuses
were widespread and “the abuses were not just the failure of some
individuals to follow known standards, and they are more than the
failure of a few leaders to enforce proper discipline. There is both
institutional and personal responsibility at higher levels.”

Do you agree with that finding of the Schlesinger Panel?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir. I do.

Senator LEVIN. Have you identified anyone at higher levels who
bears personal responsibility?

Admiral CHURCH. I have to give you a little bit of a longer an-
swer, Senator. I worked very closely with the Schlesinger Panel
and as we worked together it evolved that the issues of responsi-
bility needed to be addressed. That was not in my charter, so it
was understood that the Schlesinger Panel were going to make
those calls.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator.

Senator Inhofe.

Senator INHOFE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I know, Admiral Church, that the scope of your work goes far be-
yond Abu Ghraib, but I will confine my questions to just Abu
Ghraib. First of all, I want to thank my colleagues who have been
very nice to me, in spite of the fact that on May 4, 2004, I was the
skunk at the family picnic, and the picnic is still going on and I
have not changed my opinion. At that time I felt and I still feel
today that the relationship between the quality of interrogation
and the quality of intelligence and American lives is there and it
is very important.

Let me first of all—it was my understanding then, it is my un-
derstanding now, that the detainees that were held in Abu Ghraib,
and I would specifically say in Cell Blocks 1A and 1B, were either
actively involved in operational planning for attacks against our
Coalition Forces or had already participated in attacks against our
forces, and they were working on behalf of former Baathists now
acting as insurgents or on behalf of terrorist leaders from outside
of Iraq, such as Zarquawi. Is that your understanding?

Admiral CHURCH. That is my understanding, sir.

Senator INHOFE. I have several questions and they can just be
short answers if you would do that for me, Admiral. First of all,
we have outlined the number of investigations and reports that
have been coming. Some commentators have dismissed several of
the previous reports as whitewash or coverups. Did you come
across anything that would cause you to believe or suspect that any
of these officials who conducted these investigations were pursuing
an agenda other than seeking the truth? Did you find any evidence
of that?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, I did not.

Senator INHOFE. Regardless of whether you are talking about
properly approved techniques or improperly approved techniques,
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did you ever find anything that sanctioned practices that showed
up in the infamous photos at Abu Ghraib?

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, that was one of the key findings of
gl}i} rell))ort. None of the instances that we saw in particular at Abu

rai

Chairman WARNER. Can you pull that mike up a little bit.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir; I am sorry.

Chairman WARNER. Your voice is just not projecting.

Admiral CHURCH. That was one of the key findings of my inves-
tigation, that none of the abuse cases that have been highlighted,
that we are all familiar with, bear any resemblance to any policy
or interrogation techniques that was ever considered or authorized.

Senator INHOFE. Yes, I know that, but I think it is a key point
that is worth repeating.

Is it fair to say that, whatever confusion there might have been,
no one could have reasonably believed that what we saw in those
photos was in accordance with approved practices?

Admiral CHURCH. There has been a lot of discussion of the word
“confusion.” Regardless of which copy or which operative standard
operating procedure an interrogator was using, none of the abuses
we saw would have been condoned.

Senator INHOFE. All right, sir. Did you ever find any evidence to
support the allegations that commanders preferred to “look the
other way”—and that is a quote out of some of the accusations—
rather than investigate abuse if they could get away with it?

Admiral CHURCH. We did not find that.

Senator INHOFE. In the winter and spring of 2003 there was a
working group that was led by Air Force General Counsel Mary
Walker that reviewed the law on interrogation practices and made
a recommendation to the SECDEF on what techniques should be
allowed at Gitmo. How many techniques did the working group rec-
ommend and how many did the SECDEF approve? Is it not correct
that the SECDEF approved for use fewer than the total number of
interrogation techniques approved by the working group? In other
words, his directive was narrower than what the group concluded
the law allowed?

Admiral CHURCH. The working group sent forward 35 interroga-
tion techniques. Based on advice of his General Counsel recom-
mending restraint, the SECDEF approved 24.

Senator INHOFE. All right, sir. Finally, I can recall when, even
back in the days I was in the House of Representatives and cer-
tainly many years ago when I came to this body, serving on the In-
telligence Committee, that human intelligence (HUMINT) went out
of vogue for a while. There was an idea that somehow we are abus-
ing people when we are going after HUMINT; it should all be done
electronically or in some other means.

In your report you say that intelligence-gathering, particularly
HUMINT, has assumed greater importance in the war on terror. I
would like to have you explain why it has assumed a greater role
in this particular war on terror than in previous uses?

Admiral CHURCH. It is the nature of the enemy, sir. We do not
know who they are, where they are. If we are going to learn any-
thing about what might be around the corner, we have to have in-
telligence, and it is HUMINT that is going to be key.
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Senator INHOFE. Can you think of any, any group you might
come upon where the potential of human intelligence would be any
greater than those who are incarcerated, who were the detainees
in the two cell blocks, 1A and 1B of Abu Ghraib?

Admiral CHURCH. That would be one good example, certainly.

Senator INHOFE. It is a fertile field for intelligence-gathering?

Admiral CHURCH. Certainly the detainees at Gitmo would fit that
criteria.

Senator INHOFE. I would assume that you would agree with me
that there is a direct relationship between the quality of intel-
ligence and American lives, our men and women in uniform?

Admiral CHURCH. We know that for a fact by some of the intel-
ligence that we have gained.

Senator INHOFE. You have done great work and I thank you for
your service.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator.

Senator Lieberman.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Church, good morning and thank you for your work. I
wanted first to put in some perspective the cases that you inves-
tigated because, while no case of abuse is tolerable by this country,
where as everyone has said and agreed we live by the rule of law
even in the most difficult of circumstances of war, times of war on
terror, I think it is important as we react, particularly to the pic-
tures of Abu Ghraib that Chairman Warner referred to, about the
numbers here.

Am I correct as I saw in one version of the unclassified version
of your report that your estimate is that there have been more
than 50,000 detainees thus far in the global war on terrorism?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir, at that point in time that was the fig-
ure.

Senator LIEBERMAN. So it is probably more now.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator LIEBERMAN. But that was at the point in time you wrote,
September 30, 2004. That would include Iraq, Afghanistan, Guan-
tanamo, and then other places where detainees may be held?

Admiral CHURCH. That was the best estimate, yes, sir.

Senator LIEBERMAN. As a result of your investigation you identi-
fied 70 cases of abuse that were substantive cases of abuse?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir. We reviewed what the NCIS and the
Army CIS had, which included reports from the field as well as the
criminal misconduct. We reviewed everything that we could get our
hands on.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Right. So my point is that 70 cases out of
more than 50,000 detainees is about one-tenth of 1 percent of the
detainees, and it justifies your conclusion that in the overwhelming
majority of cases detainees to the best of our knowledge now have
been treated within the standards that we in America would want
detainees to be treated.

If you go one level further, your judgment as given to the com-
mittee today is that there were 20 of those 70 cases of abuse that
you found to be real, were associated with interrogation, then we
are at about one 25th of 1 percent of all detainees. I just say this,
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not to minimize the offenses, but simply to put them in perspective,
that most of the American personnel, service men and women, who
are holding detainees and in fact interrogating them to the best of
our knowledge are acting within the law. Is that your conclusion?

Admiral CHURCH. That is absolutely correct, Senator.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Let me ask you a factor related to the way
you conducted the investigation. I was interested that you did not
interview any of the detainees, but you did base a lot of your work
on the report of the ICRC, which is certainly in our perspective an
advocate or a protector at least of the detainees. Could you explain
why you did not talk to any of the detainees?

Admiral CHURCH. First of all, the scope of the investigation real-
ly was to try to catalogue and document all the interrogation tech-
niques, so that was where we started. As we expanded, I felt that
the ICRC reports, the working papers, would give me a pretty good
feel for what the detainees’ complaints were. We will get into this
in the next session, but from that, from looking at all the ICRC re-
ports, we got a pretty good feel of what the complaints were and
what the reactions to those complaints were, were they being fol-
lowed up. That was the purpose of that particular section.

Senator LIEBERMAN. General Casey the other day suggested, and
there is some reference to it in your report, that he recently issued
a set of new procedures regarding the handling of detainees and
which techniques were available appropriately to those carrying on
interrogation or just the holding of the detainees.

Could you elucidate for the committee at this time in some detail
about what those additional safeguards are pursuant to General
Casey’s directive?

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, I will have to get back to you.

[The information referred to follows:]

The content of General Casey’s new interrogation directive for U.S. military forces

in Iraq is classified. A copy of the directive has been provided to the Senate Armed
Services Committee.

Admiral CHURCH. I did read that subsequent to our investiga-
tion. I know he has come very much in line with Doctrine FM 34—
52 and put in a number of safeguards and also clarified some ambi-
guities that he felt were left over from previous guidance.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Just for the record, give us a brief descrip-
tion of what Doctrine FM 34-52 is?

Admiral CHURCH. Sorry. That is the basic interrogation doctrine
the Services all use. It lists 17 techniques, starting with direct ap-
proach. That is what was in effect for a good part of the initial
global war on terror until we started expanding it.

Senator LIEBERMAN. I want to go back to the overall view and
the perspective through which we look at this. I quote here your
unclassified executive summary: “Any discussion of military inter-
rogation must begin with its purpose, which is to gain actionable
intelligence in order to safeguard the security of the United States.
Interrogation is often an adversarial endeavor. Generally, detainees
are not eager to provide information and they resist interrogation
to the extent that their personal character or training permits.
Confronting detainees are interrogators whose mission is to extract
useful information as quickly as possible. MIs are trained to use
creative means of deception and to play upon detainees’ emotions
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and fears when conducting interrogations of enemy prisoners of
war, who enjoy the full protections of the Geneva Conventions.
Thus, people unfamiliar with military interrogations might view a
perfectly legitimate interrogation of an enemy prisoner of war in
full compliance with the Geneva Conventions as offensive by its
very nature.”

Now, obviously some of what we saw at Abu Ghraib and some
of what you have described go well beyond that. But it is important
to set it in that context.

I wanted to ask you this question in terms of detainee interroga-
tion and the global war on terror. Do the existing procedures that
govern interrogation make any distinction between—and I under-
stand this can be a slippery slope—detainees who may have gen-
eral knowledge of enemy plans and detainees who we have reason
to believe may have knowledge of an imminent terrorist oper-
ations?

I know that there are circumstances in the so-called ticking time
bomb case, where in other countries which attempt to live by the
rule of law the standards of what can—of the nature of an interro-
gation of a detainee, can be quite simply more aggressive if there
is a conclusion, reasonably arrived at, that the detainee has knowl-
edge of the allegorical ticking time bomb, and if you break that de-
tainee you can stop the bomb from exploding.

Do our procedures now allow for those kinds of distinctions?

Admiral CHURCH. I will try to answer that, sir. The policy, the
doctrine, the approved interrogation techniques, would not change
based on what you know the intelligence, the value of the intel-
ligence of the detainee. What might change is the interrogation
plan of how you approach that, how you might use techniques in
combination to try to get the information you use, and each interro-
gation plan might be different.

I doubt that you would waste much time on somebody who was
of little intelligence value, but you would probably spend a lot of
{:ime on somebody who had actionable intelligence that might save
ives.

Senator LIEBERMAN. Thank you, Admiral.

My time is up. Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator.

Senator McCain.

Senator MCCAIN. Admiral, thank you for your report.

Are all of the interrogation techniques now in keeping with inter-
national law and with treaties that the United States of America
is signatory to?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. In your mind there is no doubt?

Admiral CHURCH. There is no doubt in my mind.

Senator McCAIN. Is there in your mind a difference in the status
of a Taliban prisoner who was captured in the war in Afghanistan
and that of a terrorist who was apprehended in Omaha, Nebraska?

In other words, is the Taliban guy, fighter, eligible for the Gene-
va Conventions for the Treatment of Prisoners of War, and is the
terrorist caught in Omaha eligible?

Admiral CHURCH. The latter is. The first, as you remember from
the President’s
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Senator McCAIN. The latter is eligible for Geneva Conventions?

Admiral CHURCH. A terrorist caught in the United States? Well,
I am sorry——

Senator MCCAIN. Is he eligible for

Admiral CHURCH. He is not a prisoner of war, so he would not
fall into that category.

Senator MCCAIN. Okay. Is the Taliban prisoner fighting for the
then-government of Afghanistan eligible for Geneva Conventions
for the Treatment of Prisoners of War?

Admiral CHURCH. As you will remember, the President said that
the Taliban had not conducted themselves in a manner that they
would be considered parties to the Geneva. So the answer to your
question is no, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. So the President of the United States has de-
cided that the Taliban, even though there was a government recog-
nized by some in Kabul, is not eligible?

Admiral CHURCH. He made that determination, yes, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. The North Vietnamese made the same deter-
mination about American prisoners?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. But the Geneva Conventions clearly state that
those who are fighting for a country and—in other words, in my
view those who are fighting for the Afghan government, whether
they were Taliban or average citizens, they were fighting in the
army of that government of Afghanistan. How do you argue that
they are not?

Admiral CHURCH. I am not sure that I am specially qualified to
have the legal debate with you, sir, but——

Senator MCCAIN. I am not having a debate with you. I am asking
you a question. You of all people should be well versed on what eli-
gibility for treatment under what conditions should be.

Admiral CHURCH. I am, and I understand what the President
said. He also said that they would be—all would be treated hu-
manely and consistent with military necessity, in accordance with
Geneva. So Geneva underpinned all of this, but

Senator MCCAIN. So the United States policy now is that we de-
cide when we are in a conflict whether the combatants of that na-
tion are eligible for the Geneva Conventions or not?

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, in Iraq, Geneva Enemy Prisoner of
War (EPW) applied. In Afghanistan and detainees in Gitmo, there
were different rules.

Senator MCCAIN. So you have somebody who is captured. Dif-
ferent rules for—so you have somebody captured in Baghdad who
was fighting for Saddam Hussein and they are sent to Abu Ghraib
or another prison facility. Next to them is a combatant who was
captured in Afghanistan, in the same cell. There is different treat-
ment for those two prisoners?

Admiral CHURCH. There would be no different treatment at
Gitmo, but the difference between the applicability of Geneva
would be different.

Senator MCCAIN. Say that again?

Admiral CHURCH. The three different categories were——

Senator MCCAIN. I am going to ask you this example. Saddam
Hussein’s army versus Taliban army, both in the same prison.
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Admiral CHURCH. Different rules apply, and as for al Qaeda they
are different.

Senator McCAIN. Does this not get a little confusing for the peo-
ple who are in charge of developing specific policies for terrorism
of prisoners?

Admiral CHURCH. I did not find that.

Senator MCCAIN. It is no problem?

Admiral CHURCH. I did not find that for the interrogators that
was a problem, because they had the basic underpinning that hu-
mane treatment was to be observed at all times and they used the
same set of techniques for the interrogations.

So by the time it translated down to the interrogation piece that
I was looking at, I didn’t see much of a distinction.

Senator MCCAIN. You did not see much of a distinction.

Admiral CHURCH. No.

Senator McCAIN. Do you not think there are specific protections
under the Geneva Conventions for the Treatment of Prisoners of
War that should not apply to terrorists?

Admiral CHURCH. I think I agree with you, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. My point here is, Admiral, that I do not believe
that it is clear the difference in policy towards treatment of those
who are eligible for the Geneva Conventions on the Treatment of
Prisoners of War versus those that are not. I do not argue that
Mohamed Atta is not eligible for the Geneva Conventions protec-
tion. What I am saying is, unless you have specific guidelines, then
obviously if you treated those both the same you are either not
doing quite maybe what you should to the terrorist and maybe not
enough to protect, to be in compliance with a treaty that we signed.

I worry, Admiral, very much that if we decide that a certain
country’s military personnel are not eligible for treatment under a
convention that we signed, then what would be—would it not be
logical to expect that they would declare, as the North Vietnamese
did, that American prisoners are not eligible for protection under
the Geneva Conventions?

Admiral CHURCH. Those were the arguments, yes, sir. I under-
stand.

Senator MCCAIN. What is your opinion?

Admiral CHURCH. My opinion is that the President made the
right call.

Senator MCCAIN. So everything is fine?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir. I said I do not believe that the al-
Qaeda should have—was eligible or should have been eligible be-
cause they did not meet the criteria.

Senator McCAIN. Nor do I.

Admiral CHURCH. I do not believe that the Taliban by their be-
havior should have been eligible for EPW treatment.

Senator McCAIN. Certainly the German SS should not have been
eligible.

Admiral CHURCH. They wore a uniform, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. These guys wore a uniform of sorts.

Admiral CHURCH. But their behavior did not meet the criteria for
EPW.

Senator MCCAIN. But the SS division’s behavior was okay?
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Admiral CHURCH. Sir, you asked me for my opinion and it is a
good debate. That is my opinion.

Senator MCCAIN. Well, sir, I think it is a little more than a good
debate, because I think this Nation may face other conflicts in the
future and I am very concerned about what might happen to Amer-
icans who are taken prisoner unless we have clear and specific
guidelines that we adhere to, including the Geneva Conventions
where applicable under international law.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Kennedy.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man.

On page 124 of your report, Admiral Church, in the unclassified
paragraphs you describe the initial meetings of the Haynes work-
ing group and their briefing from the OLC on the applicable law.
Your report states that fairly early on in the working group process
the OLC draft legal memorandum was presented to the action offi-
cers as the controlling authority for all questions of domestic and
international law.

This memoranda was basically the Biby torture memorandum,
and you said the working group expressed a great deal of disagree-
ment with the OLC analysis. In your report you write that “Mem-
bers of the working group were only permitted to read the memo-
randa in Mr. Haynes’ or Ms. Walker’s office, initially without tak-
ing notes.”

In addition, you write that your investigators were not allowed
to obtain this crucial memoranda either, but only could review it
without taking verbatim notes.

This memo has never been provided to the committee, despite
our requests. This issue also highlights the involvement of Mr.
Haynes.

Now, the memo was—you said the working group expressed a
great deal of disagreement with the OLC analysis. They said inter-
rogation techniques should follow the Geneva Conventions, the
Conventions Against Torture, and U.S. law. Now, that is not what
the Haynes working group finally recommended. So, Admiral, could
you tell us how this dispute was resolved? Were the members of
the working group overruled?

Admiral CHURCH. Thank you for the question, Senator. I want to
state initially that the value I think of my investigation is that I
lay all this out. This has never been laid out before, so that we can
understand exactly everything that went on in the determination
of these techniques.

As I did my research, I came to understand that what the DOJ
had said was in fact binding on the DOD. So that was the legal
underpinning that this group began working on. They ultimately,
working through that, recommended 35 techniques. The Secretary
of Defense approved 24, but again there was the underpinning of
humane treatment that was in, not only in the memo, but also in
the consideration.

But you are correct, sir.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, I am not sure what I am correct about.
I said the working group—you said the working group expressed a
great deal of disagreement with the OLC analysis, and they said
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the interrogation should follow the Geneva. Now, I want to—I was
asking how was that issue resolved? Here you have a number of
the people that have had responsibility, are trained people, the
Judge Advocate General (JAG) I imagine, other lawyers, that ex-
press a great deal of disagreement. Those are your words. Eventu-
ally this issue was resolved, and I am asking you about how that
was resolved and who resolved it. Was that just resolved by
Haynes?

Admiral CHURCH. It was resolved by I guess the chairman of the
committee, Ms. Walker, basically said: We are not going to go re-
visit the decisions of Justice; we are going to move on. So they
moved on, and they started looking at the techniques. As they
looked at the 35 techniques, they assessed those in numerous cat-
egories dealing with humane treatment versus how this would be
perceived internationally and many other categories.

So the short answer, Senator, is they moved on; they accepted
what the legal starting point was.

Senator KENNEDY. I know they have moved on, and I am familiar
where the working group published and how they published vir-
tually identical to the Biby memorandum. I am familiar. The point
I am trying to find out is, who made the judgment? When you had
talked about a great deal of disagreement with the OLC, who was
the one that finally made the call on this? Who was the one that
finally said when there was disagreement, in your own words, a
great deal of disagreement? As we all know that from other memo-
randa, there was an enormous amount of disagreement.

Someone finally made the call that what they were going to do
is in the working group they would actually print exactly the words
in the Biby memorandum. I am just asking you who made that
call.

Admiral CHURCH. I believe the answer was the Office of the Gen-
eral Counsel.

Senator KENNEDY. That is Mr. Haynes.

Admiral CHURCH. It is, but I would like to add one thing. I
looked at that very closely and that is why I came to the conclu-
sion, because I questioned the same thing and the lawyers who
made those issues—that the rulings of the DOJ were binding on
the DOD, and that’s what I called in my investigation. So it was
not a bad call.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, I can understand and appreciate your
position. Many of us understand that it was the CIA went to Mr.
Gonzalez, with the understanding of Mr. Haynes, to request this
memoranda from OLC, and that Mr. Gonzalez talked to OLC dur-
ing the course of the preparation. This has been laid out in a dif-
ferent hearing. That finally they came back, the Biby amendment
came back, and this was just fine with the CIA and with the DOD,
and it was sent on over. The record shows that there were many
in the JAG and otherwise that did not feel that it followed the Ge-
nﬁva Conventions, and you expressed a similar—an opinion about
this.

I want to know who in the DOD made the call on it. It is quite
clear now that it is Mr. Haynes, who is the General Counsel on it.
That is basically what I am trying to have.

My time is up, unless there is something you want to add to that.
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Chairman WARNER. Let the witness finish the answer.

Senator KENNEDY. Yes, please.

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, I think I have answered the question.
I did go down this road, as I mentioned, to try to see if that was
in fact an appropriate determination and ultimately concluded—
and I think it is in the report—that it was. The memo, of course,
as we all know, has now been discredited.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, it was in effect for 2V% years.

Admiral CHURCH. You are correct, Senator, it was.

Senator KENNEDY. But it took some time before it was.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. I thank the Senator.

Senator Talent.

Senator TALENT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I want to thank you for your service, Admiral, on what has un-
doubtedly been a very difficult and trying endeavor. I just want to
refer to page 4 of your report, when you—the narrative recites how
in the fall of 2002 the belief on the part of our interrogators at
Guantanamo was that the techniques they had were inadequate
and they asked for permission or further guidance to use other
techniques, and the SOUTHCOM commander approved 19 counter-
resistance techniques that were divided into categories 1, 2, and 3.

I was curious in reading it because originally the Secretary’s de-
cision only allowed one category 3 technique, which was authoriza-
tion of mild, non-injurious physical contact, such as grabbing, pok-
ing in the chest with a finger, and light pushing. That was origi-
nally allowed and then subsequently disallowed. The category 2
techniques were subsequently disallowed.

So I am wondering, what were some of the category 2 techniques
that were subsequently disallowed?

Admiral CHURCH. I would have to refer quickly to the memo.

Senator TALENT. Sure, would you do it quickly, or one of the
other folks there? I am wondering because category 3 techniques—
and maybe I do not understand interrogation very well—the grab-
bing, poking in the chest with the finger, that is not normally what
I would think of as torture. That used to happen in settlement ne-
gotiations when I was practicing law rather a lot. I have seen
worse at conference committees.

Admiral CHURCH. Well, you are correct——

Senator TALENT. I presume category 2 techniques were milder
than category 3 techniques?

Admiral CHURCH. That is correct, sir. They were tiered.

Senator TALENT. Yes. So give me an idea of what were the cat-
egory 2 techniques that were originally approved?

Admiral CHURCH. I am sorry that these are all running together
after 9 months. Stress positions

Senator TALENT. A stress position, like standing at attention for
a while?

Admiral CHURCH. Or in a kneeling position. There are various in-
terpretations of that.

Use of hooding. Removal of clothing was actually one. Use of de-
tainees’ individual phobias. There were 14 initially in the list.




24

Senator TALENT. Okay. The reason why the original request went
up to SOUTHCOM and then to the Chairman, General Myers, and
then to the Secretary of Defense, was because they thought they
were not getting enough intelligence because these guys had been
trained to resist effectively the techniques. It does not surprise me
that they would have been able to resist these techniques.

Category 2 was permitted, but then subsequently that was re-
voked, so category 2 was not permitted either, right?

Admiral CHURCH. That is correct, sir.

Senator TALENT. Mr. Chairman, Senator Lieberman and Senator
Inhofe spoke for me. There was a vehicle improvised explosive de-
vice (IED) that went off in Hillah, Mr. Chairman, 2 weeks ago. 150
Iraqi recruits to the police were killed. Five hundred IED attacks
a month, 750 Americans lost in Iraq because of that. This is a sub-
ject that I have investigated personally and I know you have too,
Mr. Chairman, and we have on the committee, and everybody I
have talked to who is in the business of fighting IEDs in our mili-
tary, in our intelligence, in Israeli military and intelligence, in Brit-
ish intelligence, tells me that getting good intelligence is the key
to stopping this IED threat.

Speaking for myself, if our guys want to poke somebody in the
chest to get the name of a bomb maker so they can save the lives
of Americans, I am for it. Mr. Chairman, if the DOD wants to in-
vestigate me for that and have 15 investigations and call me inhu-
mane, fine.

I have been over there. I have talked to these guys. This is the
single biggest threat we face in the war on terror, and we have to
empower our people to deal with it. I know it is important that we
stick to our own beliefs. That is important in fighting the war on
terror. I am glad you have had these hearings, Mr. Chairman, be-
cause it shows that we care in this country.

But at a certain point we have to introduce a note of proportion.
I think that is what Senator Lieberman was saying. I do not speak
for him. We have the best military in the world. I do not need an
investigation to tell me that there was no comprehensive or sys-
tematic use of inhumane tactics by the American military, because
those guys and gals just would not do it. Everything about the cul-
ture and the training in the military and at home works against
that.

That is why the terrorists are attacking us, because we are not
the kind of society that would do that.

Thanks for holding this hearing and giving me a chance to say
that, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate your service, Admiral.

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, I need to clarify one answer I gave
you for the record. You are correct in that the tiers one, two, and
three techniques were all rescinded and that gave way to the 24
techniques in the more restrained of the 35 recommended. They
were no longer referred—there may have been one or two tier two
techniques that became one of the 24. I would have to check. But
clearly they moved to more restraint when they issued the second
set.

Senator TALENT. Admiral, it is a great country we have, in part
because we sweat so much over this stuff. I do not mean to be out
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of proportion myself. If you sweat the small stuff, then you can
have confidence that you are not doing the big stuff. Maybe that
is what Senator McCain was saying. So I admire us for doing that,
but, man, I want people to know this is not the sort of thing we
do, but what we need to do, we need to have effective interrogation
techniques to get this intel. This is the whole game, beating these
IEDs, and we will not do it just with force protection measures or
electronic countermeasures. We are not going to win this from the
sky. We are going to win it on the ground, with real intel, and that
includes effective interrogation techniques.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator. Senator, next week this
committee will have a briefing on the very serious situation of the
IEDs, and part of that will be the discussion of the issues that you
raise.

Senator TALENT. Mr. Chairman, you and I have talked person-
ally about this and I want to compliment you on your leadership
in this area. Unfortunately for the purpose of the public, most of
what we do in that area, of course, we have to do in closed session.

Chairman WARNER. Yes.

Senator TALENT. So the public does not always see us and the
work that you have led this committee on doing here.

Chairman WARNER. But the work is going on.

Senator TALENT. Absolutely, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. I thank my colleague.

Senator Reed.

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, Admiral. Admiral, in the course of your investigation
did you speak or interview Ambassador Bremer?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, I did not.

Senator REED. Why would you not speak with someone who was
the senior DOD official who made significant decisions about using
Abu Ghraib? He presumably was the interface between our mili-
tary operations as an employee of the DOD and other agencies like
the CIA?

Admiral CHURCH. It is a several-part answer. The first is it was
the scope of my investigation. But I did pursue——

Senator REED. Let me follow up if I may. You were specifically
told not to——

Chairman WARNER. Senator, let him just finish his reply and
then I will give you extra time to develop this.

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Finish answering the Senator’s question.

Admiral CHURCH. Excuse me, Senator. I was not limited in who
I asked questions of. I almost said “interrogated.” I generally
stayed within the DOD because that was—Ambassador Bremer as
I understood it worked for the Department of State (DOS).

Senator REED. Admiral, you are fundamentally wrong.

Chairman WARNER. Wrong.

Admiral CHURCH. Maybe. I am sorry.

Chairman WARNER. Let the record show that this committee was
advised that he was taken on by the Secretary of Defense. It may
have been some technical salary arrangement, but for all intents
and purposes am I not correct?
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Senator REED. You are absolutely correct, Mr. Chairman. He was
an appointee of the Secretary of Defense, clearly within the chain
?f command of the civilian authorities and the Secretary of De-
ense.

Admiral CHURCH. The short answer to your question, sir: I apolo-
gize for being in error. There were one or two things I was trying
to determine in terms of what Ambassador Bremer knew about po-
tential abuses at Abu Ghraib. You are correct that I did not ask
him the direct questions, but I talked to his military assistant. I
talked to a number of those who were at the daily meetings, to try
to determine if there was any indication, early indication, that he
had of abuses that he passed to General Sanchez. That was the
specific tasking I was looking at at the time. But I did not inter-
view Ambassador Bremer, that is correct.

Senator REED. Admiral, that seems to be a stunning omission.
Here is an individual who is the direct representative of the Sec-
retary of Defense, who was I would assume nominally the com-
mander of General Sanchez, who was virtually the viceroy of Iragq,
and to simply stop with his military assistant to see if they might
have gleaned something at a meeting or a conversation seems to
me woefully inadequate, with all due respect.

Admiral CHURCH. I accept the criticism, sir. I was trying to—
again, the charter was to look at how the interrogation techniques
were developed and migrated. I did not need to interview Ambas-
sador Bremer to determine that. As I expanded the scope of my in-
vestigation, questions arose which I then followed up on. But I did
not specifically have a need in my mind to interview him and,
frankly, I am not sure what questions I would ask him if I were
interviewing him today.

Senator REED. Did you in any way authorize any military officer
to violate the law or convention? Did you authorize, allow the
CIA—presumably the station chief worked for him—to conduct op-
erations that were contrary to American law? I think those are
pretty basic questions.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator REED. Which goes to how these techniques migrate.

Admiral CHURCH. I think I have a pretty good track on the tech-
niques, what was used and how they migrated, sir.

Senator REED. Thank you.

Let me turn to Gitmo now. In the course of your investigation did
you discover techniques that were either authorized or used—and
I recognize some were merely authorized, but never used—that in-
cluded environmental deprivations like hot rooms, cold rooms,
withholding of food, hooding for periods of time, removal of cloth-
ing, or isolation? Were these techniques that, were either in an in-
terrogation plan or at times used at Gitmo, in the course of the
many months that the facility was operated?

Admiral CHURCH. As I described in the investigation, there were
at least one or two instances where we noted those techniques were
employed, where we had a clear need for actionable intelligence.

Senator REED. By that—and I do not want to put words in your
mouth—these tools were available, all of these perhaps. Let me ask
that question: Were these the range of tools available?

[The information referred to follows:]
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“Environmental manipulation,” defined as “[a]ltering the environment to create
moderate discomfort (e.g., adjusting temperature or introducing an unpleasant
smell)” was approved on April 16, 2003. The memorandum specified that
“[c]londitions would not be such that they would injure the detainee” and that the
“[dletainee would be accompanied by interrogator at all times.”

Withholding of food was never authorized. Between December 2, 2002, and Janu-
ary 15, 2003, detainee meals could be switched from hot rations to Meals, Ready-
to-Eat (MREs)—the standard meals provided to U.S. troops in the field. This tech-
nique was rescinded on January 15, 2003. On April 16, 2003, the technique “Dietary
Manipulation” was approved, defined as “[c]hanging the diet of a detainee; no in-
tended deprivation of food or water; no adverse medical or cultural effect . . . e.g.,
hot rations to MREs.”

Hooding of detainees during transportation and questioning was authorized on
December 2, 2002, and rescinded on January 15, 2003. It was specified that the
hood “should not restrict breathing in any way and the detainee should be under
direct observation while hooded.”

Removal of clothing was authorized on December 2, 2002, and rescinded on Janu-
ary 15, 2003.

Use of an isolation facility for up to 30 days was approved on December 2, 2002,
and rescinded on January 15, 2003. It was again approved on April 16, 2003, de-
fined as “[ilsolating the detainee from other detainees while still complying with
basic standards of treatment.” Extensive safeguards were prescribed by the April 16
memorandum (which, along with the December 2, 2002, memorandum was declas-
sified and released to the public on June 22, 2004).

Admiral CHURCH. I would have to do a side by side, sir, but most
of those were not generally available. They were not, as I remem-
ber, part of the 24 that had been approved by the Secretary of De-
fense. There were a couple of interrogations that were specific tech-
niques were authorized beyond those 24.

Senator REED. What techniques were used in those interroga-
tions?

Admiral CHURCH. There was sleep management, hooding, stress
positions, as I remember, were a few.

Senator REED. Did you interview General Miller in your inves-
tigation?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator REED. On May 19, I asked General Miller the following
question: “It has been reported that you developed a 72-point ma-
trix for stress and duress, that lays out types of coercion at esca-
lating levels. They include harsher heat or cold, withholding food,
hooding for days at a time, naked isolation and cold, dark cells. Is
that correct?”

His answer was: “Sir, that is categorically incorrect.”

My response: “That never happened?”

“That is categorically incorrect.”

How do you rationalize your statement today that, at least in
several instances, things like this happened and that categorical
denial?

Admiral CHURCH. I think we are mixing two events. I am not fa-
miliar with any matrix.

Senator REED. Well, go ahead, sir.

Admiral CHURCH. I am not saying it does not exist, but we asked
for every piece of paper that existed and made a couple of trips to
Gitmo. So I am not aware of that.

But there were two instances where we know that specific inter-
rogation plans were used against those with actionable intel-
ligence——
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Senator REED. Well, if we substituted the word “interrogation
plan” for “matrix,” how do you reconcile the statements?

Admiral CHURCH. I would say I do not see the same thing. As
a matrix, I understand that to be, Senator, some preplanned slid-
ing or slope of techniques, that I have never seen.

Senator REED. So the real categorical denial was it was not a
matrix? These techniques were available. As you have indicated,
they were used. But it was not a matrix. So General Miller cat-
egorically denied that it was called a matrix; is that your interpre-
tation?

Admiral CHURCH. I have never had that specific conversation
with him.

Senator REED. It seems to me a terribly misleading response
based upon your findings, to suggest that none of this ever hap-
pened. That none of this was ever in any type of document, in any
type of plan. I will just stop there.

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, I would like to—I hope my investiga-
tion clearly lays out everything that happened, both at Gitmo and
in the development of techniques. We know that there was the 2
December memo. We know that was rescinded. We know how we
got to the 24 techniques approved by the Secretary of Defense, and
we know that on a couple of occasions there were exceptions to that
that the Secretary of Defense approved and he has openly dis-
cussed.

Senator REED. All of these happened before May 19, 2004?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator REED. You had a uniformed officer come up here and ob-
ject to the term “matrix” by saying that it is categorically wrong;
of course, we used these things occasionally?

Admiral CHURCH. I am sorry, Senator. I do not have the context
of the question or answer.

Senator REED. Let me turn now to another issue. You worked
closely with the Schlesinger committee. When Secretary Schles-
inger was here with Secretary Brown, I asked the question: “In Oc-
tober 2003 Secretary Rumsfeld, at the request of Mr. Tenet, or-
dered the military chain of command to deny at least the registra-
tion rights under the Geneva Conventions to an individual who I
believe is an Iraqi citizen, an Al-Ansalaam. Do you think that is
consistent with the application of the Geneva Conventions to Iraq?”

Secretary Brown: “The answer to that is no, it is not incon-
sistent.”

Dr. Schlesinger: “If that happened, this is not consistent.”

Now again, as a factual predicate, I got my information from the
public media, so there may be facts in dispute. But have you looked
into the situation and certainly the military officers that might
have transmitted that command down the chain?

Admiral CHURCH. We document that in our investigation in
terms of what happened. I think you are referring to what is gen-
erally referred to as “Larry” or “XXX.” If that is the same indi-
vidual—I do not remember the name—then we know how that hap-
pened. The Secretary of Defense has said that should not have hap-
pened that way.
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Senator REED. That is nice, it should not have happened. But
there were military officers that at least arguably were following
orders that contravene the Geneva Conventions.

Admiral CHURCH. The Secretary of Defense did say that, yes, sir,
that is right, that he was not assigned an internment security
number for many months, and that has been acknowledged.

Senator REED. As a violation of the Geneva Conventions?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator REED. What about those officers that carried out that
order, Admiral? They were not privates and corporals and ser-
geants. They started with generals and colonels and all the way
down.

Admiral CHURCH. The individual you are talking to, I think the
quote that I have seen, kind of fell through the cracks. In the chaos
of the ongoing war, they accepted the individual and did not assign
him an internment security number and essentially forgot about
him for many number of months until people started trying to find
out where he was and then they found him.

Senator REED. Who is being held responsible for allowing that to
happen?

Admiral CHURCH. I cannot answer your question. We know it
happened and we know why it happened, and it was an unfortu-
nate incident, but it happened.

Chairman WARNER. But your charter by the Secretary of Defense
did not require you to reach a conclusion. That is my under-
standing.

Admiral CHURCH. This whole discussion is well beyond the char-
ter of my investigation——

Chairman WARNER. This what?

Admiral CHURCH. This whole discussion is really beyond the
charter. I tried to capture as much as I could. We know that the
particular individual fell through the cracks, as I said earlier.

Chairman WARNER. Senator, resume, please.

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just a point. Someone who has been singled out for specialized
treatment by the Secretary of Defense and the CIA Director, I find
it hard to believe he just falls through the cracks. I find it hard
to believe that this just was an administrative goof. I think, frank-
ly, that part of your responsibilities were to look closely at the mili-
tary chain of command certainly as to how they responded to these
orders, some of which clearly are contrary to the convention.

Admiral, this to me is a very disappointing report. The limita-
tions both imposed on you from without and self-imposed appar-
ently, particularly with respect to Mr. Bremer, lead to conclu-
sions—and again, this report is not simply laying out the facts. You
have drawn some conclusions, and it seems to me the conclusion
is this is all just one big misunderstanding, this policy here, we did
not fall not into the cracks, et cetera, which I do not think is an
adequate response to the problems we have seen.

I think the chairman asked a very fundamental question: What
contributes to breakdown of good order and discipline? I would
argue at least in part it is when people in authority, not just E—
5s and E-6s, find ways to excuse violations of the law, and that
is a very toxic ingredient.
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There was an ancient Roman that posed the question, who will
guard the Guardians, the question we face today: Who will look
after those that we have entrusted with our national security and
defense and ensure that they follow laws? I think the jury is still
out.

Thank you, Admiral.

Admiral CHURCH. Senator Warner, can I make a comment?

Chairman WARNER. Yes, of course. You can have adequate time
to Iilespond to the Senator’s last observation and any others you
wish.

Admiral CHURCH. Thank you, sir. I would like to challenge the
premise that this was all one big misunderstanding. We spent 9
months, as I said initially, over 800 interviews, reviewed thousands
and thousands of pages of documents, leveraged all the other re-
ports. I took very seriously my charge as an IG. I understand I was
picked because I was an IG, because they wanted an independent
look at exactly what happened, how it happened, why it happened.
I think I have laid that out with some precision.

I am just reacting to the characterization of the report, which I
am proud of and the work that the folks did, as a misunder-
standing. Clearly some things were done wrong. Clearly some
things in hindsight, Senator, would be done differently, and I think
I have captured those. I have laid out all the abuse cases, and had
the chips fallen differently I would have made that call. They did
not, and I was as factual—and I think that is why you ask an IG
to do something like this, is because you get—every IG I have
known takes that position of independence very seriously. I took it
where it led, and the facts are the facts, and I understand that
some people will not like the facts or in some cases the conclusions.
But it is not all one big misunderstanding, sir.

Senator REED. Admiral, I respectfully disagree. I think failing to
pursue all the facts, failing to at least talk to Ambassador Bremer
and to follow up on certain things that seem to emerge from our
discussion, suggests that this is not the thorough, complete, no-
holds-barred report that many of us expected.

Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. I would simply say, Senator, that I share
your views with regard to the integral role that Ambassador
Bremer had in the overall decisionmaking in this time period, that
he had the designation really given by the President at the rec-
ommendation of the Secretary of Defense, is my understanding.

However, I would like to—and I think, Admiral, look, I am a
tough old bird. You had a difficult job. You did the best you could
professionally, drawing on years of experience, and there is obvi-
ously going to be, I think, respectful differences of view. But I am
glad you have stated for the record and reaffirmed the work that
you and your many subordinates—how large was your team?

Admiral CHURCH. We started with 50 when we went into the the-
ater and started doing our initial investigatory work and asking
questions for the record, taking sworn statements. Very shortly
after that we were down to a dozen or so, and I think there are
two of us standing today, Senator.

Chairman WARNER. [ want to call your attention to the head-
lines, and I select the Washington Post. It reads “Abuse review ex-
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onerates policy.” I think probably that you would reflect that head-
line as being reasonably accurate. In other words, you said the pol-
icy

Admiral CHURCH. The policy did not——

Chairman WARNER. —was not the cause, the root cause of these
egregious breaches and criminal acts.

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. But the next line could in the minds of indi-
viduals cause confusion, and it reads “Low level leaders and confu-
sion blamed.” That implies that the upper level received some type
of exoneration, it could be inferred by some, and I want to clarify
that. In your series of interviews, I presume you interviewed Gen-
eral Karpinski, General Fast, General Sanchez; would that be cor-
rect?

Admiral CHURCH. We did not specifically interview General
Karpinski, but the other two we did.

Chairman WARNER. You did. Was there a reason for Karpinski,
because of her legal situation at this time?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir. Again, I leveraged a lot of the other
reports and, because Generals Taguba, Fay, Kern, Jones had all
looked so thoroughly at that, I did not reinvestigate Abu Ghraib,
so I felt no need to interview her. But I did have some questions
for General Sanchez and some others, but did not interview her.

Chairman WARNER. The Department of the Army, under the im-
mediate direction of the Secretary and subject to review by the Sec-
retary of Defense, are looking at the issues of accountability and
participation by those three officers. It was never your charter,
clearly, to establish accountability. So I wish to make clear for the
record, you were not interviewing for purposes, I presume, of ac-
countability, but as I in my initial question stated, what was the
root cause of so many instances where regulations were completely
ignored, good standing regulations and procedures, which allowed
these acts to take place.

In your interviews with, say, General Fast and General Sanchez,
could you comment on what you learned from each of them?

Admiral CHURCH. Both General Fast and General Sanchez in my
opinion were——

Chairman WARNER. Do not mix them. Take one at a time.

Admiral CHURCH. General Sanchez, I had specific questions pri-
marily for General Sanchez on how he developed the techniques
that he promulgated in September and then repromulgated in Oc-
tober. So that was the line of questioning. I needed to understand
from him what he—what was given to him, did it have a legal re-
view, why did you not just rely on Geneva or the doctrine, why did
you promulgate separate interrogation techniques in September. So
the line of questioning was how did we develop and promulgate
and why did you do that.

I was also trying to follow up on what he knew about the events
at Abu Ghraib that maybe had not already been covered. I did not
uncover anything new that really we did not already know. General
Fast

Chairman WARNER. Let me just summarize then. With General
Sanchez, you determined from your interview that the information
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he provided you was consistent with the same information he had
given others

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. —and which information had been published
in any of the other nine series of reports; is that correct?

Admiral CHURCH. It was. I gleaned a couple other things regard-
ing pressure on interrogators, but that is a correct statement, Sen-
ator, yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Did you confirm that General Sanchez was
very shorthanded with staff? He was given an enormous responsi-
bility, very shorthanded with staff, was managing a very hot war
situation at the same time he was trying to do a lot of administra-
tive things of this nature; is that correct?

Admiral CHURCH. Consistent with the other investigations, I con-
firmed that, yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you.

Now we turn to General Fast.

Admiral CHURCH. I questioned General Fast on

Chairman WARNER. You might describe for the record what her
area of responsibility was. I know, but I think it is important.

Admiral CHURCH. She was, I guess, the C—2 or the J-2, the head
of the intelligence function at the CJTF-7.

Chairman WARNER. Which is General Sanchez’s command?

Admiral CHURCH. She worked directly for General Sanchez. She
was brought in specifically to put into place the intelligence archi-
tecture.

My purpose in talking to her was what she knew about the inter-
rogation policies and what she knew about any instances of abuse
and when she knew them. I was able to document all that, and she
really was not particularly engaged in the interrogation techniques.
It turns out that was mostly the JAGs who put that together.

But since you mentioned those two, I will say that, of all the peo-
ple I interviewed in the course of this investigation, those two indi-
viduals were the most responsive and forthcoming of anybody, and
both of them at the time were in the process of permanent change
of station orders, and I would get 24-hour turnaround on the ques-
tions that I needed answered. So that was not your specific ques-
tion, but I took the opportunity, Senator, to make that point.

Chairman WARNER. No, but I think that is an important observa-
tion.

Now, there is considerable question in the minds of many as to
the culpability or nonculpability of seniors in this chain of com-
mand. You go up from Colonel Pappas, I presume. Did you have
an opportunity to talk with him?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir. I relied on previous investigations.

Chairman WARNER. Let us talk about the chain of command, as
you went up the chain of command whom you interviewed. Obvi-
ously, Karpinski, you have answered that. Fast, not direct chain of
command, staff, but nevertheless reporting to Sanchez. You have
covered Sanchez.

Did you talk to General Abizaid?

Admiral CHURCH. I did, sir.

Chairman WARNER. What can you share with regard to his re-
sponses?
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Admiral CHURCH. General Abizaid, actually I debriefed him on
the way out. Primarily what I did with CENTCOM, I reviewed all
the documentation that they had relevant to the development of in-
terrogation policies. I did not interview him specifically because I
had all my questions answered.

Chairman WARNER. Any other senior level individuals did you
interview?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir. Throughout the Pentagon, all the way
up to Deputy Secretary of Defense and the Vice Chairman of the
Chiefs of Staff.

Chairman WARNER. I think let us go very thoroughly now. You
went through the chain of command right up to the DOD?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. You interviewed right up through Secretary
Wolfowitz, is that correct?

Admiral CHURCH. That is correct, sir.

Chairman WARNER. And the General Counsel?

Admiral CHURCH. The General Counsel, I interviewed the Gen-
eral Counsel.

Chairman WARNER. Secretary Cambone?

Admiral CHURCH. I did, sir.

Chairman WARNER. So really you did cover with, in my judg-
ment, thoroughness the entire chain as it related to your charter.

Admiral CHURCH. That was my attempt, yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. I have already indicated that there are ongo-
ing assessments of the culpability of several of these individuals
whom we have mentioned and you are aware of that?

Admiral CHURCH. I am aware of that, yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. So any inference that just low-level officers
and leaders blamed could be misconstrued because these are still
being examined.

Admiral CHURCH. I have seen the list and that is correct, sir.

Chairman WARNER. I just wanted to make that eminently clear.
This committee will continue to discharge its responsibility in this
matter as further reports are made available to us, and we will
perhaps do some of our own independent work in this area. But
your dreport constitutes a very valuable part of this committee’s
record.

On the question of ghost detainees, you found that there were
violations of the Geneva Conventions regarding failures to account
for some detainees, called “ghost detainees,” and to make their
presence at Abu Ghraib known to the ICRC. What were your find-
ings with respect to this issue? Did you find the type of violation
at other detention facilities?

Admiral CHURCH. Senator, we did not find that anywhere else.
If T did not say it earlier I should have: The CIA cooperated with
our investigation and in fact reviewed that section of the report.
Between what we had and what they had, we determined that
there were about 30 “ghost detainees,” although that is not a term
of doctrine, that existed, I think the maximum was for a period of
45 days. That has long since been discontinued, but we did docu-
ment that we think about 30 ghost detainees did occur.

Chairman WARNER. Let us turn to the professional military intel-
ligence in the Department of the Army. You conclude in your report
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that only 20 of the substantiated cases of abuse were interrogation-
related and that only a few of these incidents actually involve mili-
tary investigators. Were the methods and techniques used by these
interrogators derived from any policy issued by the local command,
and in the absence of that policy or the circumstances of changing
policy what guided the actions of these interrogators, and did you
feel that the professional military interrogators were well trained
individuals?

Admiral CHURCH. You are correct, sir, using the expansive defini-
tion of “interrogation-related,” we found about 20 instances of the
70 abuse cases. Again, the way we classified that, that was even
MPs or any member at the point of capture.

None of these directly related to any of the authorized interroga-
tions. Although interrogators were in short supply, as we have
known and documented, I found the professional training to be
quite good, those that we had.

Chairman WARNER. Therefore you feel that the intelligence seg-
ment of the Department of the Army had in the field well-trained
individuals?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir. Not in sufficient numbers, but well
trained.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much.

Senator Levin.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

There has been reference to a very critical memo here that you
were able to look at but not take a copy of. That is that March 14
memo prepared by Deputy Assistant General Attorney Yu for Mr.
Haynes.

Mr. Chairman, we have a right to that memo. I think the Admi-
ral had a right to have a copy of that memo, but that is up to him
to decide. This committee has a right to that memo. I would ask
that we on an urgent basis get that memo. It has been referred to
numerous times. It was a key part of this whole interrogation deci-
sion. It was a memo, a controlling memo, despite the concerns of
the lawyers inside of the military. I would ask you, Mr. Chairman,
that we make a formal request for a copy of that memao.

Obviously, if they want to give it to us on a classified basis that’s
one thing. But not to have a copy of that memo is totally unaccept-
able. I am afraid it is too typical of a very great reluctance on the
Department’s part to be fully supportive with documentation which
has been requested on other occasions by us. But anyway, my spe-
cific request, Mr. Chairman, is for that March 14, 2003, memao.

Chairman WARNER. As you know from our long working relation-
ship of 27 years on this committee, I feel that Congress is a coequal
branch and as such, unless there is executive privilege attached to
certain documents, Congress should have them, and I will look into
this with you.

Senator LEVIN. I thank you.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you.

Senator LEVIN. I thank you for that.

Now, Admiral, you indicated as I understand it, that you were
not tasked to assess personal responsibility at senior levels, is that
correct?

Admiral CHURCH. That is correct, sir.
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Senator LEVIN. In your report you say that issues of senior offi-
cial accountability were addressed by the Schlesinger Panel. But
the Schlesinger Panel did not address the issue. As a matter of
fact, they were specifically tasked not to. In their tasking from the
Secretary on May 12, 2004, they were told that issues of personal
accountability were to be resolved through established military jus-
tice and administrative procedures. So they were not tasked. In
fact, they were quite clearly told to stay away from it. Then this
one qualifier was added: “although any information you may de-
velop will be welcome.”

So what did you mean when you said the Schlesinger Panel was
tasked to assess personal accountability at senior levels, that was
not your job?

Admiral CHURCH. Thank you for the opportunity to explain. The
Schlesinger Panel charter was pretty open-ended. The Secretary of
Defense verbally told them: “You look at anything you need to look
at.” You are correct, it may not be in writing.

We worked very closely with that panel. As I mentioned earlier,
I think, we provided all the data that you see in their report. I re-
viewed their drafts. We exchanged information. Early on in work-
ing together with that panel, I made the observation that I was not
tasked to look into responsibility, individual or high-level responsi-
bility. It evolved and an agreement was made that they would do
that, and that kept me within my charter to look at interrogation
and development of interrogation techniques.

There was nothing formal about that, but there was an under-
standing that they would do that, and I as I looked at their report,
I thought they had. Now, there is a difference between responsi-
bility and accountability, as you well know, Senator. I thought they
assessed responsibility fairly clearly.

Senator LEVIN. This is about the only thing they said that we
can find, that the abuses were not just a failure of some individuals
to follow known standards and they are more than the failure of
a few leaders to enforce proper discipline. There is both institu-
tional and personal responsibility at higher levels.

Did they identify anybody at higher levels who bears personal re-
sponsibility?

Admiral CHURCH. They did, sir. There are about five instances
in the report that I pulled out. One comment, Lieutenant General
Sanchez and his deputy failed to ensure proper staff oversight of
detention and interrogation operations. The quote that you just
had, and interrogation policies with respect to Iraq, where the ma-
jority of the abuses occurred, were inadequate or deficient in some
respects at three levels: DOD, CENTCOM—JTF-7, and the prison
itself.

Chairman WARNER. Could you give us the citation of the mate-
rial that you are reading?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. I quoted that before, so we do have that citation.

Did they identify any personal responsibility? Did they say who
it was up in the chain of command that was the cause of the confu-
sion, what was the reason why there were inconsistent rules rel-
ative to interrogation, who it was who blocked the lawyers who had
objections to the rules that were proposed by the Office of Criminal
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Justice (OCJ)? Did they do any assessment of responsibility, name
any names, up that chain of command above Sanchez?

Admiral CHURCH. Beyond what I told you, no, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Okay. There was reference here to the definition
of “humane treatment” that was supposed to be followed at Gitmo.
Did )(l)ou agree with General Miller’s definition of “humane treat-
ment?”

Admiral CHURCH. I do not remember specifically what that was,
so I will not give you a specific answer, sir. He may have said
something I am not aware of.

Senator LEVIN. So you do not remember having a reaction to his
definition of “humane treatment,” as to whether it was too narrow?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, I do not. Sorry.

Senator LEVIN. One of the tactics which was referred to in the
FBI e-mail, was—I am quoting here—that “DOD interrogators im-
personated special agents of the FBI when talking to detainees,
that this tactic produced no intelligence,” they said, “of a threat,
that it may have destroyed any chances of prosecuting the detain-
ees.” But my point here is the tactic itself, DOD personnel and in-
terrogators impersonating FBI agents.

Did you check into that and see what the basis of that tactic was,
the origin of the tactic?

Admiral CHURCH. There is a tactic, impersonating personnel
from a third country, for example. That is part of the basic concept
of interrogation, which is deceit to try to get the information. You
could almost make the case that falls within doctrine.

Senator LEVIN. The FBI objected to that, is that correct?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, sir, as I remember.

Senator LEVIN. Did you talk to the FBI about why they objected
to it?

Admiral CHURCH. We had the FBI memo. As I may have, I hope
I mentioned, we looked very clearly at that. We know the couple
of instances they are talking about. In the early development of the
techniques, a lot of things were being considered. That eventually
led to the October memo that SOUTHCOM forwarded up. But we
are aware of that, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Did you talk to the FBI people as to why they
objected, though?

Admiral CHURCH. Not specifically, no, sir.

Senator LEVIN. It is hard for me to believe that it is, it is DOD
doctrine that they impersonate FBI agents. Are you saying it is
doctrine that they do that?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir, I am not saying that. I am saying that
doctrine in itself and interrogation in itself are deceptive in that
you are trying to get information from a witness who does not want
to give you that information. It calls to point the basic elasticity of
doctrine. One of the doctrine techniques is “fear-up harsh” and, as
many have said before me, much of the expanded interrogation
techniques could easily have fit within that definition of doctrine,
which is why I make the case in the report that we need to clearly
get new doctrine out there that all of our interrogators understand.
That is the imperative piece, and doctrine that will allow us to get
the actionable intelligence that we need.

Senator LEVIN. Staying within the rules of law?
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Admiral CHURCH. Absolutely, sir.

Senator LEVIN. It is that elasticity which I am afraid was
stretched beyond the rule of law here and which has gotten us in
a lot of trouble as a Nation and our troops in the future in some
real threatening situations. That is really what the issue is here.

The reference in the FBI document to the torture techniques that
they witnessed, I specifically want to ask you, did you talk to the
writers of that memo about what they witnessed and described as
torture techniques by DOD personnel?

Admiral CHURCH. No, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Why not?

Admiral CHURCH. Well, I got the information—we actually even
had a member of our team who was part of the Criminal Investiga-
tive Task Force working with the FBI down there. So we knew
about this. We had the information. When we saw the memo, we
quickly reacted to see if in fact we had covered everything that was
in that memo. There was, as I mentioned, I hope, one incident that
we did not think had been followed up.

I would like to add, as you already know, that SOUTHCOM is
following up on the allegations and the current Naval IG has al-
ready reviewed I believe 16,000 documents to try to trace this back
to make sure we do not have any gaps in that information, Sen-
ator.

Senator LEVIN. There is a named person whose name is redacted
for us, and it seems to me a thorough investigation would talk to
the writer of those memos. That is just part of thoroughness to me.
You can say you think you covered it in other ways. Maybe you did,
but you do not know until you talk to the people who wrote the
memos, who saw what they described as torture techniques.

So I think it is just satisfactory to simply leave it at that and
I cannot.

Thank you, Admiral.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator Levin.

We have to immediately get to the vote. They are holding it for
us. I want the record to reflect that the charter given by the Sec-
retary of Defense to the Schlesinger commission—and by the way,
I in my modest career have never met a finer man than Jim
Schlesinger. I was privileged to serve under him as Secretary of the
Navy during the Vietnam War era. I have a similar respect for his
partner, the other Secretary of Defense, and we will be in consulta-
tion with them.

But I read from the charter given by Rumsfeld: “Issues of per-
sonal accountability will be resolved through established military
justice and administrative procedures, although any information
you”—that is Schlesinger and Harold Brown and others—“may de-
velop will be welcome.”

I find on page 47 of the Schlesinger report some fairly specific
findings pursuant to that charter. For example: “The CJTF-7 dep-
uty commander failed to initiate action to request additional mili-
tary police for detention operations after it became clear there were
insufficient assets in Iraq.” There are several others cited here. I
will put them in the record in their entirety.

[The information referred to follows:]

The Panel finds the following:
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e The CJTF-7 Deputy Commander failed to initiate action to request addi-
tional military police for detention operations after it became clear that
there were insufficient assets in Iraq.

e The CJTF-7 C-2 Director for Intelligence failed to advise the commander
properly on directives and policies needed for the operation of the JIDC, for
interrogation techniques and for appropriately monitoring the activities of
Other Government Agencies (OGAs) within the Joint Area of Operations.
e The CJTF-7 Staff Judge Advocate failed to initiate an appropriate re-
sponse to the November 2003 ICRC report on the conditions at Abu Ghraib.

FAILURE OF THE COMBATANT COMMAND TO ADJUST THE PLAN

Once it became clear in July 2003 there was a major insurgency growing in Iraq
and the relatively benign environment projected for Iraq was not materializing, sen-
ior leaders should have adjusted the plan from what had been assumed to be a sta-
bility operation and a benign handoff of detention operations to the Iraqis. If com-
manders and. staffs at the operational level had been more adaptive in the face of
changing conditions, a different approach to detention operations could have been
developed by October 2003, as difficulties with the basic plan were readily apparent
by that time. Responsible leaders who could have set in motion the development of
a more effective alternative course of action extend up the command chain (and
staff), to include the Director for Operations, Combined Joint Task Force 7 (CJTF-
7); Deputy Commanding General, CJTF-7, Commander CJTF-7; Deputy Com-
mander for Support, CFLCC; Commander, CFLCC; Director for Operations Central
Command (CENTCOM); Commander, CENTCOM; Director for Operations, Joint
Staff; the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff; and the Office of the Secretary of
Defense. In most cases these were errors of omission, but they were errors that
should not go unnoted.

Chairman WARNER. This committee will continue to work with
the Secretary of Defense, who has been extremely cooperative
throughout our work here in the committee. He was the first wit-
ness. He stood up and said in his capacity as the ultimate author-
ity he takes his share of the accountability. I commended him for
that and still do. I know of a number of ongoing things initiated
by the Secretary and others under the administrative and judicial
procedures.

So there is much work yet to be done, but I think it is to the
credit of this great Nation that there have been 10 reports on this
very distressing chapter in our military history, otherwise a mili-
tary history that is envied by the whole world, and as I mentioned
in my opening statement, over a million men and women in uni-
form have rotated in and out of the area of responsibility (AOR) of
Iraq and then more in Afghanistan, and when you look at the small
fraction of those who have been adjudged guilty and are still in the
process it shows that these fine persons in uniform and others
went there and discharged those difficult and dangerous missions
with great integrity and in accordance with the rule of law as the
best they could understand it.

I thank you, Admiral. We will resume this hearing in closed ses-
sion in 222 Russell as soon as three consecutive votes are finished.

[Questions for the record with answers supplied follow:]

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JOHN MCCAIN

INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

1. Senator MCCAIN. Admiral Church, in December 2003, Senator Lindsey
Graham, Senator Maria Cantwell, and I visited the detainee facility in Guantanamo
(Gitmo). Subsequent revelations by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and
others indicate severe issues with detainees such as attempted mass suicides (as
many as 25 detainees on one day) occurred just 3 months prior to our visit, yet no
mention of the problem was made during our visit. Furthermore, recent revelations
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of interrogation techniques where female interrogators smeared menstrual blood,
rubbed their bodies against detainees, wore skimpy clothes, made sexually explicit
remarks, touched detainees provocatively, etc. were never described during our visit.
The FBI thought that these techniques diminished Muslim religious purity and
were improper. What do your findings show to demonstrate the reason why these
sexually suggestive tactics were by Department of Defense (DOD) interrogators?

Admiral CHURCH. Our investigation found two cases in which separate female
Army interrogators touched and spoke to detainees in a sexually suggestive manner
during interrogations at Gitmo. In one of the cases, the interrogator smeared red
ink (not blood) on a detainee, telling him it was menstrual blood. In both cases, the
soldiers evidently devised the sexually suggestive tactics on their own initiative to
gain intelligence. Both interrogators were reprimanded for their actions immediately
after they took place. There was no policy, written or otherwise, that approved the
use of sexually suggestive interrogation tactics.

2. Senator MCCAIN. Admiral Church, what are your thoughts on the problem and
what purpose do you feel was accomplished by not informing me of the problem?

Admiral CHURCH. Our investigation did review detainee medical and mental
health care issues in general, and specifically at Gitmo. We documented that there
had been a spike in self-injurious behavior involving 23 detainees between August
18 and 26, 2003. (Two of the 23 incidents were judged to be bona fide suicide at-
tempts.) As detailed on page 349 of my report, however, the medical staff assessed
that some detainees were engaging in such behavior to gain prolonged observation
at the more comfortable Detainee Hospital, and therefore implemented mental
health protocol changes in early 2004 that emphasized evaluation-in-place for lower-
grade self-injurious behavior. This change dramatically reduced such episodes. No
detainee has committed suicide at Gitmo, and the most recent attempt that I am
aware of took place in January 2004.

Nevertheless, mental health of detainees has been a concern of both the Com-
mander, Joint Task Force (CJTF) Gitmo and the International Committee of the
Red Cross (ICRC). For example, during our first visit to Gitmo in May 2004, 66 of
the over 550 detainees (roughly 12 percent) were receiving mental health services,
with 7 housed in the psychiatry cellblock for continuous observation.

I do not know why you were not informed of the spike in self-injurious behavior
or the reprimands for sexually suggestive interrogation tactics during your Decem-
ber 2003 visit. In my view, you should have been informed.

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JAMES M. INHOFE
REVIEW OF MULTIPLE REPORTS AND INVESTIGATIONS

3. Senator INHOFE. Admiral Church, thank you and your staff for the extensive
work you did in compiling into one report all of the major investigations that have
inquired into detention operations and detainee interrogation techniques. Your ap-
pearance here today will serve to shed light onto an issue that has been misunder-
stood by many.

The U.S. Government currently maintains custody of approximately 550 enemy
combatants in the global war on terrorism at Gitmo. Many of these enemy combat-
ants are highly trained, dangerous members of al Qaeda, its related terrorist net-
works, and the former Taliban regime. Our intelligence and law enforcement com-
munities develop leads, comprehensive assessments, and intelligence products based
on information the detainees provide. The information includes their leadership
structures, recruiting practices, funding mechanisms, relationships, and the coopera-
tion between terrorist groups, as well as training programs, and plans for attacking
the United States and other countries. Further, as Coalition Forces in Afghanistan
continue to capture al Qaeda, Taliban, and anti-coalition militia fighters, Gitmo de-
:ciainees remain a valuable resource to identify forces that operate against the free-

om.

It is my understanding that detainees held in Iraq, at Abu Ghraib, were either
actively involved in operational planning for attacks against our Coalition Forces
there or had already participated in attacks against our forces. They were working
on behalf of former Baathist now acting as insurgents or on behalf of terrorist lead-
ers from outside of Iraq such as Zawqari.

Based on the extensive knowledge that these detainees possess, it is critical that
we gain as much insight as possible into information they have that will assist us
in derailing the actions of those who stand against freedom. Our military Services
and our government have policies and techniques that we use to gather this infor-
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mation. We should ensure that these policies and techniques are employed. As we
discover that additional training, clarification, and adjustments are needed in poli-
cies and techniques to give better guidance to our young men and women, we should
make these changes. As individuals fail to follow these policies and techniques, we
should investigate to ensure we understand what has occurred and we must allow
the military justice system to deal effectively with them, as they have to this point
and I feel confident will continue to do so.

With your report, we have had about 10 major investigations into this matter.
Some in the media have denigrated the work of the leaders in charge of the other
reports. They have accused them of whitewashing and stonewalling the truth.

Let me review some of the leaders who have headed up these investigations:

1. General Don Ryder, U.S. Army

2. General Geoff Miller, U.S. Army

3. General Antonio Taguba, U.S. Army

4. General Paul Mikolashek, Army Inspector General (IG)

5. Generals Paul Kern, George Fay, and Anthony R. Jones

6. General Charles Jacoby

7. Secretary James Schlesinger, Secretary Harold Brown, the late Rep.
Tillie Fowler, and General Charles Horner

8. General Richard P. Formica

Now we have your report, Admiral Church. These officials, military and civilian,
represent over 300 years of service to our Nation. You and your staff conducted over
800 interviews, reviewed over 3,000 documents, and talked to everyone you believed
had information relevant to your investigation. Some commentators have dismissed
several of the previous reports as “whitewash” or as cover-ups. Did you come across
anything that would cause you to believe or suspect that any of these officials who
conducted these investigations were pursuing an agenda other than seeking the
truth?

Admiral CHURCH. Absolutely not.

CONFUSION IN INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

4. Senator INHOFE. Admiral Church, in reading your report, it is stated that there
was confusion in the development of the interrogation practices in Iraq and Afghani-
stan. Regardless of whether you are talking about properly approved techniques or
improperly approved techniques, did you ever find anything that sanctioned the
practices that showed up in the infamous Abu Ghraib photos?

Admiral CHURCH. No, I did not.

5. Senator INHOFE. Admiral Church, is it fair to say that whatever confusion there
might have been, no one could have reasonably believed that what we saw in those
infamous photos was in accordance with approved practices?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, it is.

INTERROGATION TECHNIQUE RECOMMENDATIONS TO SECRETARY RUMSFELD

6. Senator INHOFE. Admiral Church, in the winter and spring of 2003, there was
a working group, led by U.S. Air Force General Counsel Mary Walker, that reviewed
the law on interrogation practices and made a recommendation to the Secretary of
Defense (SECDEF) on what techniques should be allowed at Gitmo. How many tech-
niques did the working group recommend and how many did the SECDEF approve?

Admiral CHURCH. The working group recommended 35 techniques, which ex-
cluded several techniques (such as “water boarding”) that it had considered early
on but later determined to be unacceptable under U.S. laws or policies. SECDEF
approved 24 techniques, most of which were taken directly from or closely resembled
those in Field Manual (FM) 34-52, the Army interrogation doctrine manual.

7. Senator INHOFE. Admiral Church, isn’t it correct that the SECDEF approved
for use fewer than the total number of interrogation techniques approved by the
working group? In other words, his directive was narrower than what the group con-
cluded the law allowed?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, that is correct. SECDEF approved 24 of the 35 techniques
recommended by the working group. Most of those 24 techniques were taken di-
rectly from or closely resembled those in FM 34-52, the Army interrogation doctrine
manual.
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QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR EDWARD M. KENNEDY
CLASSIFICATION OF REPORTS

8. Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, obviously, we must all be sensitive of the
need to keep matters of national security classified. However, I am concerned that
you did not provide an unclassified version of your report beyond the executive sum-
mary. The executive summary does not explain why the abuses occurred. Is there
any reason why you did not provide an unclassified version? I believe it is very im-
portant to get this issue into the public arena.

Admiral CHURCH. I did not generate an unclassified version of the full report be-
cause much of the subject matter remains classified. The Office of the Secretary of
Defense (OSD) is now working to declassify and/or redact the report as required to
make the full version available to the public. In addition, the unclassified Executive
Summary was intended to make my central findings immediately available to the
public. The section of the Executive Summary titled “Underlying Reasons for Abuse”
(pages 15-16) provides my best military judgment as to the factors that may explain
why abuse occurred. I do not present additional factors in the classified report.

9. Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, who classified the report and why? Will
you provide an unclassified version of the full report to the public?

Admiral CHURCH. The report is not classified in a “blanket” sense; rather, indi-
vidual sections and paragraphs are classified as appropriate based directly upon the
classification of the sources cited. The OSD is now working to declassify and/or re-
dact the report as required to make the full version available to the public. In addi-
tion, the unclassified Executive Summary was intended to make my central findings
immediately available to the public.

HUMANE TREATMENT

10. Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, you conclude that the Pentagon’s radical
revision of its rules on interrogation had no effect on our forces in the field, because
President Bush had instructed the military to treat detainees “humanely.” But the
President’s directive did not apply to the CIA at all, and it contained a “military
necessity” exception that could be used to justify almost any abuse. But the term
“humane” is far too general and vague to guide soldiers in the field. To do their
duty, soldiers need specific guidance on how to treat detainees and how to conduct
interrogations. That’s why in the past, soldiers have had to follow the Army FM on
Interrogations and Army Regulations on Detention.

It’s now clear that after September 11, DOD General Counsel William Haynes
and Justice Department (DOJ) lawyers threw the military’s existing rules and regu-
lations out the window. In November 2002, DOD General Counsel William Haynes
advised Secretary Rumsfeld that it was both legal and humane to use such tactics
as forced nudity, waterboarding to simulate drowning, threats to kill detainees’ fam-
ily members, and aggressive military dogs. The next year, the Haynes Working
Group twisted the definition of torture beyond recognition, and advised military per-
sonnel that they weren’t required to comply with the Federal prohibition on torture.

Obviously the vague and undefined Presidential directive to act “humanely” did
not prevent such specific and extreme changes in military rule. What were soldiers
told when they asked if a particular tactic was inhumane?

Admiral CHURCH. Department of Defense (DOD) personnel are required to comply
with U.S. law (including the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ)), interroga-
tion doctrine (contained in Army Field Manual (FM) 34-52), and command approved
interrogation guidance as appropriate, and existing regulations on detention oper-
ations. The “military necessity” principle does not permit servicemembers to violate
the law or DOD policy. DOD does not permit, tolerate, or condone torture by its per-
sonnel under any circumstances. DOD policy is to treat all detainees and conduct
interrogations, wherever they may occur, in a manner consistent with this commit-
ment.

We found no evidence whatsoever that the DOD General Counsel ever advised the
Secretary of Defense that “waterboarding,” threats to kill detainees’ family mem-
bers, or the use of “aggressive” dogs were legal or humane interrogation techniques.
In particular, based on the General Counsel’s recommendation, Secretary Rumsfeld
specifically rejected “waterboarding” and threats of pain or death to detainees or
their families (both of which had been proposed as Category III techniques by the
command at Guantanamo). In the November 27, 2002 Action Memo (declassified
and released to the public on June 22, 2004) in which he recommended the tech-
niques that the Secretary approved on December 2, 2002, the General Counsel stat-
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ed that “[wlhile all Category III techniques may be legally available, we believe
that, as a matter of policy, blanket approval of Category III techniques is not war-
ranted at this time. Our Armed Forces are trained to a standard of interrogation
that reflects a tradition of restraint.”

We found no evidence that military personnel were ever advised (nor did they be-
li}fnjv% (%}1:/?3 they were not required to comply with the prohibition against torture of
the .

11. Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, the only official definition of “humane”
that I've heard from this administration is the one given to us by Alberto Gonzales
in January. He said that he defined “humane treatment” as “a basic level of decent
treatment that includes such things as food, shelter, clothing, and medical care.”
Isn’t that guidance inadequate for soldiers and interrogators in the field? It doesn’t
say anything about physical abuse, or how detainees should be treated during inter-
rogation.

Admiral CHURCH. No, the current guidance for interrogations is adequate with re-
gard to humane treatment. Although there is no single agreed upon definition of
“humane treatment” in relevant legal authorities such as the Geneva Conventions
and the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treat-
ment or Punishment (CAT), it is clear to all that applicable authorities do not per-
mit physical abuse. For example, the Uniformed Code of Military Justice prohibits
maltreatment and abuse of detainees.

Further, Army Regulation 190-8, Enemy Prisoners of War, Retained Personnel,
Civilian Internees, and, Other Detainees (which applies to all Military Depart-
ments), paragraph 1-5, provides for the humane treatment of detainees. Also, Field
Manual 27-10, the Law of Land Warfare, paragraph 89, provides that prisoners of
war will be treated humanely. Field Manual 34-52, Intelligence Interrogation,
Chapter 1, also prohibits the inhumane treatment of detainees.

12. Senator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, do you think that a definition of “humane
treatment” that just talks about detainees’ living conditions is enough?

Admiral CHURCH. No, and this is not the situation in the Department of Defense.
The President articulated in the Military Order on Detention, Treatment, and Trial
of Certain Non-Citizens in the War Against Terrorism, November 13, 2001, that de-
tainees will be treated humanely, including the following:

e To be treated without any adverse distinction based on race, color, reli-
gion, gender, birth, wealth, sex, or any similar criteria;

o Sufficient food, drinking water, shelter, clothing, and medical treatment;
and

o Free exercise of religion, consistent with the requirements of detention.

In addition, several DOD regulations and policies, pursuant to applicable law (de-
scribed on pages 29-34 of my report), prescribed additional detainee protections over
and above their living conditions.

13.d §enator KENNEDY. Admiral Church, who should be accountable for what hap-
pened?

Admiral CHURCH. Senior-level responsibility was addressed by Dr. Schlesinger’s
Independent Panel to Review DOD Detention Operations. In addition, the Army IG
is conducting a number of reviews to assess the individual responsibility of senior
Army officers. The purpose of my investigation was to provide data, which could
then be used by the appropriate authorities in assessing accountability. I firmly be-
lieve that accountability must be determined in accordance with processes estab-
lished by laws and regulations.

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR DANIEL K. AKAKA
INVESTIGATION TECHNIQUES

14. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, your original tasking from the SECDEF was
to investigate detention operations at Gitmo. In that investigation you indicated
that there was no evidence of abuse. It has been reported that in that investigation
no detainees were interviewed. My question to you is, if you did not interview any
detainees at Gitmo, how can you accurately assess the allegations of abuse?

Admiral CHURCH. My original review of detainee operations at Gitmo, completed
in May 2004, found no evidence of noncompliance with DOD orders and no evidence
or suspicion of serious or systemic problems. It did, however, note several infrac-
tions for which interrogators or military police had been disciplined. My team also
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reviewed thousands of pages of documents from the ICRC, which I found to be in-
formative and an effective conduit for detainees’ concerns. I found that military com-
manders and criminal investigative authorities were appropriately investigating al-
legations of abuse relayed by the ICRC.

15. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, since Secretary Rumsfeld expanded the
scope of your investigation to include operations in Iraq and Afghanistan, did your
panel then follow the same procedure?

Admiral CHURCH. Yes, we did.

INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

16. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, you state in your report that there was no
official policy sanctioning detainee abuse in Iraq, Afghanistan, or Gitmo. While
there may not have been an official policy, in December 2002 and again in April
2003 new interrogation techniques were approved by the SECDEF, and were used
at Gitmo. It is my understanding that Major General Geoffrey Miller, former Com-
mander at Gitmo, was then assigned to Iraq and used techniques similar or iden-
tical to those used at Gitmo. Would it be fair to say that assigning the former Com-
mander of Gitmo to Abu Ghraib sends a message that the techniques used at Gitmo
are approved methods of interrogation?

Admiral CHURCH. No, it would not. As described in my report, the techniques ap-
proved for use at Gitmo in April 2003 were indeed incorporated in Lieutenant Gen-
eral Sanchez’s September 2003 interrogation policy for Iraq (which preceded Major
General Miller’'s July 2004 assignment as Deputy Commanding General for De-
tainee Operations). However, General Miller had given the Gitmo techniques to
General Sanchez during his September 2003 visit to Iraq with the caveat that the
Geneva Conventions applied in Iraq, and that the techniques would have to be as-
sessed in that light. General Sanchez’s legal staff vetted the September 2003 inter-
rogation policy for Geneva compliance before its approval. We found no evidence
that interrogators in Iraq employed techniques other than those that they believed
to fall within either existing doctrine or interrogation policies explicitly approved for
use in Iraq. Interrogators also uniformly reported that they understood that the Ge-
neva Conventions applied in Iraq.

17. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, earlier reports authorized by the DOD pro-
vided very harsh assessments of private civilian contractors at Abu Ghraib. Specifi-
cally, it was suggested that at least one civilian contractor be fired for lying to in-
vestigators and for allowing military policemen not trained in interrogation tech-
niques to facilitate interrogations that clearly equated to physical abuse. Would you
please tell the committee how extensive your investigation was with regard to civil-
ian contractors and what you found about their detainee interrogation practices?

Admiral CHURCH. We interviewed over 20 contract interrogators and intelligence
analysts, and examined laws and DOD policies applicable to contract personnel. We
found that, with limited exceptions (as in the well-known cases of contractor-per-
petrated abuse at Abu Ghraib), contractor compliance with law and DOD interroga-
tion policies was satisfactory. We did not reinvestigate previous investigations’ con-
clusions regarding specific cases of abuse perpetrated by contractors.

18. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, we continue to have investigations into de-
tention procedures and detainee interrogation techniques, that look at the same
areas, ask the same questions, and provide the same results. While there may be
more formal guidance from the DOD now on detention operations, this does not ad-
dress issues such as the CIA’s unacknowledged practice of transferring suspected
terrorists to foreign countries for interrogation, or the DOD’s transfer of some pris-
oners to countries such as Pakistan, Morocco, Egypt, Jordan, Syria, Saudi Arabia,
and Kuwait. Will we ever get a complete analysis and understanding of detention
operations in Iraq, Afghanistan, and Gitmo without conducting an investigation that
has full access to all the information from the DOD and the Intelligence community?

Admiral CHURCH. I was granted full access to all DOD personnel and information
in the conduct of my investigation, and I am confident that my report represents
the full range of data available within DOD as of September 30, 2004. The inde-
pendent activities of other government agencies were beyond the scope of my inves-
tigation.

19. Senator AKAKA. Admiral Church, I would like to follow up on Senator Reed’s
question to you regarding whether you interviewed Ambassador L. Paul Bremer,
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Administrator of the Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA), for your report. I am
concerned by your response that you did not question Ambassador Bremer because
he was attached to the Department of State. As we know, Ambassador Bremer was
the head of the CPA, a division of the DOD, and as Administrator he reported di-
rectly to the SECDEF. Given your own misunderstanding of the chain of command
in existence in Iraq at the beginning of the conflict until now, do you believe that
similar misinterpretations by other military personnel could have contributed to the
lack of understanding over authorized interrogation techniques?

Admiral CHURCH. The issue of whom Ambassador Bremer worked for has been
the point of much discussion. The May 9, 2003, appointment letter from President
Bush to the Honorable L. Paul Bremer directed that he “serve as my presidential
Envoy to Iraq, reporting through the SECDEF.” It also authorized him to “oversee,
direct, and coordinate all United States Government programs and activities in Iraq,
except those under the command of Commander, U.S. Central Command.”

Consistent with this direction, we found no evidence that Ambassador Bremer
was ever involved, or perceived to be involved, in the development or implementa-
tion of military interrogation techniques. Furthermore, none of the investigations
conducted on detention and interrogation operations in the global war on terrorism
found any evidence of involvement by Ambassador Bremer in interrogation policy
or practices. Lieutenant General Sanchez, the senior military commander in Iraq at
the time, approved the interrogation policies. We found that in cases where interro-
gators were not aware of the policies approved by General Sanchez, they defaulted
to their training, experience, and existing interrogation doctrine (Army FM 34-52).

[Whereupon, at 11:36 a.m., the committee adjourned.]
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER,
CHAIRMAN

Chairman WARNER. The committee meets this morning to receive
the testimony of the U.S. Southern Command (SOUTHCOM) inves-
tigation into the e-mails that came to light as a consequence of a
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request in December 2004. The
SOUTHCOM Commander, General Craddock, tasked first General
Furlow and then subsequently General Schmidt to undertake the
investigation, and we will put into the record, gentlemen, the order
that you signed out, General Craddock, to have this investigation
done at the conclusion of my remarks.

We welcome our witnesses this morning: General Bantz J.
Craddock, USA, Commander of the U.S. Southern Command; Lieu-
tenant General Randall M. Schmidt, USAF, Senior Investigating
Officer; and Brigadier General John T. Furlow, USA, Investigating
Officer. We thank our witnesses and all others who are in attend-
ance here this morning.

In December 2004, pursuant to the allegations of detainee abuse
at Guantanamo Bay (Gitmo) which were brought to light pursuant
to a FOIA request for the Federal Bureau of Investigations (FBI)
e-mails, General Craddock, you took very prompt action and con-
vened this panel to investigate.

This is the 12th major senior-level review of detainee operations
and allegations of detainee abuse that has completed by various
elements of the Department of Defense (DOD) and indeed an inde-
pendent panel, the Schlesinger-Brown panel. In my judgment, the
Department has performed credibly in investigating allegations of
abuse and failure to follow professional standards and the law and
regulation in these instances.

The allegations of abuse referred to in the FBI e-mails occurred
from the period of August to December 2002, and had come to the
leadership of the Joint Task Force (JTF) Gitmo and SOUTHCOM
and were in fact under investigation at that time. Appropriate pro-
cedural and disciplinary actions have been taken in some of the
cases. This morning General Craddock will describe in detail the
28 e-mails which were turned into the Director of the FBI in re-
sponse to his request to his agents and detail each of them as they
were examined.

The report before us this morning by General Craddock and his
team indicated in three instances, just three instances, interroga-
tions at Gitmo used techniques that violated Army doctrine and
guidance from DOD. Now, this apparently is three out of some
24,000 interrogations that were conducted at Gitmo over the past
3 years.

Now, General, we will also ask you to brief the committee in
some detail—and by the way, colleagues, we will have this open
hearing, which Senator Levin and I felt was essential, and this will
be followed by a closed hearing. But in the course of the open hear-
ing we will ask you, General Craddock, to give us your explanation
for in effect reversing the finding of your two colleagues, Generals
Schmidt and Furlow, and I quote that finding in the report: “Major
General Miller should be held accountable for failing to supervise
interrogation of ISN-063"—that is a high-value detainee—“and
should be admonished for that failure.” That is on page 2 of the
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Schmidt-Furlow report. You, General Craddock, as the convening
authority and the final reviewer, did not agree with this finding
and you will give us your thoughts on that.

I feel very strongly that the Department and other entities which
have examined this whole series of incidents at the prison, it clear-
ly indicates that this Nation is a nation of laws and it will not tol-
erate inappropriate behavior by members of the Armed Forces or
anyone else, and this Nation will investigate allegations of wrong-
doing and, in accordance with due process, if persons are found
who have violated those laws they will be held responsible. This re-
port is another very important step in that direction.

I think that will conclude my opening remarks.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Army Regulation 15-6: Final Report

Investigation into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abuse at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba Detention Facility

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Detention and interrogation operations at Joint Task Force Guantanamo
(JTF-GTMO) cover a three-year period and over 24,000 interrogations. This
AR 15-6 investigation found only three interrogation acts in violation of
interrogation techniques authorized by Army Field Manual 34-52 and DoD
guidance. The AR 15-6 also found that the Commander of JTF-GTMO failed
to monitor the interrogation of one high value detainee in late 2002. The
AR 15-6 found that the interrogation of this same high value detainee
resulted in degrading and abusive treatment but did not rise to the level of
being inhumane treatment. Finally, the AR 15-6 found that the
communication of a threat to another high value detainee was in violation
of SECDEF guidance and the UCMJ. The AR 15-6 found no evidence of
torture or inhumane treatment at JTF-GTMO.

INTRODUCTION

In June 2004, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) began an internal
investigation to determine if any of its personnel had observed mistreatment or
aggressive behavior towards detainees at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (GTMO). On
9 Jul 04, the FBI — Inspection Division (INSD), sent an e-mail message to all FBI
personnel who had served in any capacity at GTMO. The e-mail stated in
relevant part:

“You have been identified as having conducted an assignment at GTMO, Cuba
since 9/11/2001. The Inspection Division has been tasked with contacting those
employees who have served in any capacity at GTMO and obtain information
regarding the treatment of detainees. Employees should immediately respond to
the following:

1) Employees who observed aggressive treatment, which was not consistent
with Bureau interview policy guidelines, should respond via e-mail for
purposes of a follow-up interview.

2) Employees who worked at GTMO and observed no aggressive treatment
of detainees should respond via an EC documenting a negative
response...”

The above e-mail message was sent by INSD to 493 FBI personnel who had
served in GTMO between 9 Sep 01 and 9 Jul 04. INSD received 434 total
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responses, and 26 agents stated that they had observed aggressive treatment of
detainees at GTMO.

In response to FBI agent allegations of aggressive interrogation techniques at
Joint Task Force Guantanamo Bay (JTF-GTMQ) Cuba, that were disclosed in
Dec 04 as a result of FOIA releases, General (GEN) Bantz J. Craddock,
Commander United States Southern Command (USSOUTHCOM), ordered an
AR 15-6 investigation and appointed Brigadier General (BG) John T. Furlow,
United States Army South Deputy Commander for Support, as the investigating
officer. BG Furlow was directed to address the following allegations:

a. That military interrogators improperly used military working dogs during
interrogation sessions to threaten detainees, or for some other purpose;

b. That military interrogators improperly used duct tape to cover a detainee’s
mouth and head;

c. That DoD interrogators improperly impersonated FBI agents and
Department of State officers during the interrogation of detainees;

d. That, on several occasions, DoD interrogators improperly played loud
music and yelled loudly at detainees;

e. That military personnel improperly interfered with FBI interrogators in the
performance of their FBI duties;

f. That military interrogators improperly used sleep deprivation against
detainees;

g. That military interrogators improperly chained detainees and placed them in
a fetal position on the floor, and denied them food and water for long
periods of time;

h. That military interrogators improperly used extremes of heat and cold
during their interrogation of detainees.

Subsequent to the initial appointment, GEN Craddock directed BG Furlow to
investigate two additional allegations conceming a female military interrogator
performing a “lap dance” on a detainee and the use of faux “menstrual biood”
during an interrogation. Finally, the appointment letter directed BG Furlow to not
limit himself to the listed allegations.

On 28 Feb 05, after two months of investigation, BG Furlow advised GEN
Craddock that he needed to interview officers senior in grade to himself. On 28
Feb 05 GEN Craddock appointed Lieutenant General (Lt Gen) Randall M.
Schmidt, United States Southern Command Air Forces Commander, Davis-
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Monthan AFB, AZ, as the senior investigating officer. This report reflects the
combined findings and conclusions of the initial investigative efforts and the
combined investigative efforts of both BG Furlow and Lt Gen Schmidt.

After submission of the AR15-6 Report of Investigation on 1 Apr 05, CDR
USSOUTHCOM directed on 5 May 2005 that the investigation be reopened to
consider memos dated 11 Dec 04 and 24 Dec 04, that had recently been
discovered, regarding the subject of the second Special interrogation Plan. Prior
to completion of the follow-up, CDR USSOUTHCOM directed on 2 Jun 05 that
the investigation should also address new allegations made by the subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

This investigation was directed and accomplished under the “informal
procedures” provisions of Army Regulation 15-8, Procedures for Investigating
Officers and Boards of Officers, dated 30 Sep 96, (AR 15-6). This AR 15-6
investigation centered on alleged abuses occurring during interrogation
operations. This AR 15-6 found incidents of abuse during detention operations;
all of which were appropriately addressed by the command. The investigation
team conducted a comprehensive review of thousands of documents and
statements pertaining to any allegations of abuse occurring at GTMO, to include
the complete medical records of the subjects of the first and second Special
Interrogation Plan. The team interviewed 30 FB! agents, conducted interviews of
over 100 personnel from 6 Jan 05 to 24 Mar 05 and had access to hundreds of
interviews conducted by several recent investigations. These interviews included
personnel assigned to GTMO, USSOUTHCOM, and OSD during the tenure of
JTFs 160, 170, and GTMO. it included nine DIA personnel, including every Joint
Intelligence Group Chief and every Intelligence Control Element Chief. 1t
included 76 DoD personnel, to include every General Officer who commanded
Joint Task Force 160, Joint Task Force 170 and Joint Task Force GTMO. DoD
personnel interviewed also included personnel who served as interrogators at
GTMO and instructors at the US Army Intelligence School and Center. During
the course of the investigation, the team visited Birmingham, AL; Chicago, IL; Ft
Bragg, NC; Ft Devens, MA; Ft Huachuca, AZ; GTMO (twice); Los Angeles, CA,
Miami, FL; and Washington D.C. (five times).

The investigation team attempted to determine if the allegations alleged by the
FBI, in fact, occurred. During the course of the follow up investigation the AR15-
6 also considered allegations raised specifically by detainees the subject of the
first and second Special Interrogation Plans. The investigating team applied a
preponderance standard of proof consistent with the guidance contained in
AR15-6. The team also applied guidance contained in FM 34-52, CDR
USSOUTHCOM, and SECDEF memorandums authorizing special interrogation
techniques in deciding if a particular interrogation approach fell properly within an
authorized technique. in those cases in which the feam concluded that the
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allegation had in fact occurred, the team then considered whether the incident
was in compliance with interrogation techniques that were approved either at the
time of the incident or subsequent to the incident. In those cases where it was
determined the allegation occurred and to have not been an authorized
technique, the team then reviewed whether disciplinary action had already been
taken and the propriety of that action. On 28 Mar 05, GEN Craddock, as the
investigation appointing authority, asked Lt Gen Schmidt to determine
accountability for those substantiated violations that had no command action
taken.

The team did not review the legal validity of the various interrogation techniques
outlined in Army Field Manual 34-52, or those approved by the Secretary of
Defense.

BACKGROUND

On 7 Mar 05 Vice Admiral A.T. Church, Ill submitted his final report of detention
operations and detainee interrogation techniques in the Global War on Terror to
the Secretary of Defense. (hereinafter “Church Report”) That report included a
thorough background discussion of detainee operations at GTMO. Our
investigation independently researched the genesis and adjustments to policy
and interrogation techniques from the origination of GTMO to the present. Our
independently derived findings regarding the development and adjustments to
policy and interrogation techniques are identical to the Church report. Therefore,
I have adopted relevant portions of the Church report to show the development of
permissible interrogation techniques.

Interrogation operations at GTMO began in January 2002. Initially interrogators
relied upon the interrogation techniques contained in FM 34-52. These
techniques were ineffective against detainees who had received interrogation
resistance training. On 11 Oct 2002, Major General Michael E. Dunlavey, the
Commander of Joint Task Force (JTF) 170, the intelligence task force at GTMO,
requested that the CDR USSOUTHCOM, GEN James T. Hill, approve 19 counter
resistance techniques that were not specifically listed in FM 34-52. The
techniques were broken down into Categories I, Il, and Ill, with the third category
containing the most aggressive techniques. On 25 Oct 02 CDR USSOUTHCOM
forwarded the request to the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General
Richard B. Myers. On 2 Dec 02, the Secretary of Defense approved the use of all
Category I and Il techniques, but only one of the Category Il techniques (which
authorized mild, non-injurious physical contact such as grabbing, poking in the
chest with a finger, and light pushing). in the approval memorandum, the
SECDEF approved the techniques for use by CDR USSOUTHCOM, who
subsequently verbally delegated the authority to approve and apply these
techniques to CDR JTF-GTMO.
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On 15 Jan 03, SECDEF rescinded his approval of all Category |l technigues and
the one Category lll technique leaving only Category | techniques in effect. The
SECDEF memo permitted use of Category Il and lli techniques only with
SECDEF approval. No approval was requested or granted.

On 16 Apr 03, the Secretary of Defense issued a new policy accepting 24
techniques, most of which were taken directly from or closely resembled those in
FM 34-52. The Secretary’s guidance remains in effect today. This policy
memorandum placed several requirements on CDR USSOUTHCOM. First, it
required all detainees to continue to be treated humanely. Second, it required
SECDEF notification prior to the implementation of any of the following
aggressive Interrogation technigues: Incentive/Removal of Incentive; Pride and
Ego Down; Mutt and Jeff; and Isolation. Third, it specifically limited the use of
these aggressive techniques to circumstances required by “military necessity.”
The memorandum did not attempt to define the parameters of “humane
treatment” or “military necessity.”

The CDR USSOUTHCOM issued a memorandum on 2 Jun 03 providing further
guidance on the implementation of the 16 Apr 03 SECDEF approved techniques.
This guidance provided that prior to the use of any of the specified aggressive
techniques, the JTF Commander would submit the request in writing to CDR
USSOUTHCOM for submission to SECDEF. The guidance also stated that
“specific implementation guidance with respect to techniques A-Q is provided in
Army Field Manual 34-52. Further implementation guidance with respect to
techniques R-X will need to be developed by the appropriate authority.” GTMO
standard operating procedure on interrogations provides guidance for
interrogations.

In addition, the CDR USSOUTHCOM guidance provided the following
clarification to the SECDEF’s 16 Apr 03 memorandum: (quoting)

(a) Reference Technique B, the Working Group was most concerned
about removal of the Koran from a detainee—something we no longer
do. Because providing incentives (e.g., McDonald’s Fish Sandwiches
or cigarettes) is an integral part of interrogations, you will notify me in
writing when the provided incentive would exceed that contemplated
by interrogation doctrine contained in Army FM 34-52, or when the
interrogators intend to remove an incentive from a detainee;

(b

~

Reference Techniques | and O, you will notify me in writing when use
of these standard interrogation techniques goes beyond the doctrinal
application described in Army FM 34-52. When use of the technique
is consistent with FM 34-52, you do not need to notify me;

(c) |define “sleep deprivation”, referenced in Technique V, as keeping a
detainee awake for more that 16 hrs, or allowing a detainee to rest
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briefly and then repeatedly awakening him, not to exceed four days in
succession;
(d) Reference Technique X, | do not consider the use of maximum-
security units as isolation. A detainee placed in a maximum-security
unit is segregated, but not truly isolated;

~

(e) 1define the “least intrusive method” as the technique that has the least
impact on a detainee’s standard of treatment, while evoking the
desired response from the detainee during interrogations;

(f) Exceptin the case of Techniques B, |, 0, and X, | have determined
that the first 0-6/GG-15 in the chain of command or supervision, is the
“appropriate specified senior approval authority,” unless approval
authority is withheld from that individual by higher authority.

Lastly, | have told the Secretary of Defense his 16 April guidance applies
to all interagency elements assigned or attached to JTF GTMO. (end
quote)

There have been over 24,000 interrogation sessions at GTMO since the
beginning of interrogation operations.

FINDINGS

GENERAL DETAINEE POPULATION

Allegation: That DoD interrogators improperly impersonated FBI agents or
Department of State officers during the interrogation of detainees.

Finding #1: On several occasions in 2003 various DoD interrogators
impersonated agents of the FBI and the Department of State.

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 (p. 3-13); Category | technique approved by
SECDEF - Deceiving interrogator identity

Discussion: The Chief of the Special Interrogation Team directed two
interrogators to pose as US State Department representatives during an
interrogation. In addition another interrogator posed as an FBI agent on one
occasion. This impersonation came to the attention of the Senior Supervisory
Agent (SSA) of the FBI at Guantanamo Bay when several other agents advised
him that detainees were complaining during interviews that the FBI had aiready
asked them the same questions. The SSA approached the Joint Interrogation
Group (JIG) Chief, with his agents’ concems. According to the SSA, the JIG
Chief did not contest the FBI agents’ accusations. In fact, the JIG Chief knew of
at least one military interrogator who had impersonated an FBI agent. After the
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meeting, the JIG Chief agreed to stop the practice of DoD interrogators
impersonating FBI agents without prior FBI approval. The SSA made it clear to
the investigation team that he did not believe the impersonation interfered with
FBI operations and was pleased with the JIG Chief’s rapid and thorough
response to the situation.

Organizational response: immediately stopped the practice.

Recommendation #1: The allegation should be closed. The technique,
while authorized, was undermining the inter-agency working relationship.
No additional corrective action is necessary or appropriate.

Allegation: That a female military interrogator performed a “lap dance” on
a detainee during an interrogation. | have expanded this allegation to “That
female military interrogators performed acts designed to take advantage of
their gender in relation to Muslim males.”

Finding #2a: On one occasion between October 2002 and January 2003, a
female interrogator put perfume on a detainee by touching the detainee on his
arm with her hand;

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 (p. 3-11); Category il technique approved
by SECDEF - Mild, non-injurious physical touching

Discussion: a. On at least one occasion in late 2002, a female interrogator
rubbed perfume on a detainee. The Interrogation Control Element (ICE) Chief
stated that he specifically directed the interrogator to go to the PX and purchase
rose oil with the intent of rubbing a portion of the perfume on the detainee’s arm
to distract the detainee. The interrogator admitted to using this approach with a
detainee. At the time of the event the detainee responded by attempting to bite
the interrogator and lost his balance, fell out of his chair, and chipped his tooth.
He received immediate and appropriate medical attention and did not suffer
permanent injury.

Organizational response: a. The interrogator was not disciplined for rubbing
perfume on a detainee since this was an authorized technique.

Finding #2b: During the month of March 2003, a female interrogator
approached a detainee from behind, rubbed against his back, leaned over the
detainee touching him on his knee and shoulder and whispered in his ear that his
situation was futile, and ran her fingers through his hair.

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Futility — Act used to highlight
futility of the detainee’s situation.
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Discussion: b. On 17 Apr 03, An interrogation supervisor supervised a female
interrogator as she interrogated a detainee with her BDU top off', and
subsequently the interrogator ran her fingers through the detainee’s hair. The
interrogator also approached the detainee from behind, touched him on his knee
and shoulder, leaned over him, and placed her face near the side of hisin an
effort to create stress and break his concentration during interrogation.

Organizational response: b. The interrogation supervisor was given a written
letter of admonishment for failure to document the techniques to be implemented
by the interrogator prior to the interrogation. There is no evidence that either
activity ever occurred again.

Recommendation #2: Command action was effective and sufficient with
respect to the individual interrogators. AR 1 5-6 recommends that the
approval authority for the use of gender coercion as futility technigue be
withheld to the JTF GTMO-CG.

Allegation: That a female military interrogator wiped “menstrual blood” on
a detainee during an interrogation.

Finding #3: In March 2003, a female interrogator told a detainee that red ink on
her hand was menstrual blood and then wiped her hand on the detainee’s arm.

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Futility — act used to highlight
futility of the detainee’s situation

Discussion: The female interrogator is no longer in military service and has
declined to be interviewed. According to a former ICE Deputy the incident
occurred when a detainee spat in the interrogator’s face. According to the former
ICE Deputy, the interrogator left the interrogation room and was crying outside
the booth. She developed a plan to psychologically get back at him. She
touched the detainee on his shoulder, showed him the red ink on her hand and
said; by the way, | am menstruating. The detainee threw himself on the floor and
started banging his head. This technique was not in an approved interrogation
plan.

Organizational response: The ICE Deputy verbally reprimanded the
interrogator for this incident. No formal disciplinary action was taken. Thereis
no evidence that this happened again.

Recommendation #3: Command action was inadequate with respect to the
individual interrogator. The interrogator should have been formally
admonished or reprimanded for using a technique that was not approved in
advance. Advance approval ensures that retaliatory techniques are not

! 1t was common practice at GTMO to conduct interrogations in a t-shirt with the BDU top removed
because of the heat and humidity.
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employed on impulse. Considering the lapse in time, recommend this
allegation be closed.

Allegation: That DoD interrogators improperly played loud music and
yelled loudly at detainees.

Finding #4: On numerous occasions between July 2002 and October 2004,
detainees were yelled at or subjected to loud music during interrogation.

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Incentive and Futility — acts
used as reward for cooperating or to create futility if not cooperating.

Discussion: Almost every interviewee stated that yelling and the use of loud
music were used for interrogations at GTMO. On a few occasions, detainees
were left alone in the interrogation booth for an indefinite periad of time while
loud music played and strobe lights flashed. The vast majority of yelling and
music was accomplished with interrogators in the room. The volume of the
music was never loud enough to cause any physical injury. Interrogators stated
that cultural music would be played as an incentive. Futility technique included
the playing of Metallica, Britney Spears, and Rap music.

Organizational response: None.

Recommendation #4: The allegation should be closed. Recommend JTF-
GTMO develop specific guidance on the length of time that a detainee may
be subjected to futility music. Placement of a detainee in the interrogation
booth and subjecting him to loud music and strobe lights should be limited
and conducted within clearly prescribed limits.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used extremes of heat
and cold during their interrogation of detainees.

Finding #5: On several occasions during 2002 and 2003, interrogators would
adjust the air conditioner to make the detainee uncomfortable.

Technique: Unauthorized prior to 16 Apr 03: SECDEF did not approve
exposure to cold in his 2 Dec 02 list of approved techniques

Technique: Authorized after 16 Apr 03: SECDEF approved technique. This
technique was officially permitted under 16 Apr 03 SECDEF Memorandum —
Environmenta! Manipulation

Discussion: Two FBI agents indicated that they were aware of DoD
interrogators using temperature adjustment as an interrogation technique. Many
interviewees, FBI agents and military interrogators, believed the hot climate at
GTMO and the detainee’s comfort in a hot climate caused a differing in opinions
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regarding the use of the air conditioning units in the interrogation booths. There
were several individuals who were interviewed who acknowledged that certain
military interrogators would adjust the air conditioning down (cool) in an attempt
to make the detainee uncomfortable for the interrogation. Several witnesses
indicated that the practice of adjusting the temperature ceased when CDR JTF-
GTMO directed that the practice no longer be employed. The current GTMO
SOP still permits interrogators to adjust the temperature. In addition, one
interrogator supervisor stated that detainees were interrogated at Camp X-Ray,
where the “booths” were not air-conditioned, to make the detainees
uncomfortable.

Organizational response: No disciplinary action required.
Recommendation #5: The allegation should be closed.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used sleep deprivation
against detainees.

Finding #6: During 2003 and 2004 some detainees were subjected to cell
moves every few hours to disrupt sleep patterns and lower the ability to resist
interrogation. Each case differed as to length and frequency of the cell moves.

Technique: Unauthorized prior to 2 Dec 02 and between 15 Jan 03 and 16
Apr 03: Neither sleep disruption or deprivation is an authorized FM 34-52
technique

Technique: Authorized between 2 Dec 02 and 15 Jan 03 and after 16 Apr
03: The exact parameters of this technique remained undefined until 2 Jun 03
when CDR USSOUTHCOM established clear guidance on the use of sleep
adjustment. His guidance prohibited the practice of keeping a detainee awake
for “more than 16 hours or allowing a detainee to rest briefly and then repeatedly
awakening him, not to exceed four days in succession.”

Discussion: Only one FBI agent alleged sleep deprivation; his complaint was
that an individual was subjected to 16 hours of interrogation followed by four-hour
breaks. He says he was told about these sessions by DoD interrogators and
they implied that these 16 hour interrogations were repeated on a 20 hour cycle,
but he did not know for certain what in fact occurred. The FBI agent was at
GTMO from 2 Jun 03 to 17 Jul 03. Under CDR USSOUTHCOM's 2 Jun 03
guidance, 16 hour interrogations were permitted and do not constitute sleep
deprivation if done on a 24 hour cycle. During the course of the investigation of
the FBI allegation, the AR 15-6 did conduct a review of the interrogation records
to see if there was any evidence that corroborated this allegation. While not
directly supporting the FBI's allegation, records indicated that some interrogators
recommended detainees for the “frequent flyer program.” A current GTMO
interrogation analyst indicated that this was a program in effect throughout 2003
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and until March 2004 to move detainees every few hours from one cell to another
to disrupt their sleep. Documentation on one detainee indicated that he was
subjected to this practice as recently as March 2004.

Organizational response: None. Current JTF-GTMO Commander terminated
the frequent flyer cell movement program upon his arrival in March 04.

Recommendation #6: The allegation should be closed. Recommend
USSOUTHCOM clarify policy on sieep deprivation.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used duct tape to cover a
detainee’s mouth and head.

Finding #7: Sometime in October 2002 duct tape was used to “quiet” a
detainee.

Technique: Unauthorized

Discussion: In his testimony, the ICE Chief testified that he had a situation in
which a detainee was screaming resistance messages and potentially provoking
ariot. Atthe time of the incident there were 10 detainees in the interrogation
section and the ICE Chief was concerned about losing control of the situation.
He directed the MPs to quiet the detainee down. The MP mentioned that he had
duct tape. The ICE Chief says he ultimately approved the use of duct tape to
quiet the detainee. The MP then placed a single strand of duct tape around the
detainee’s mouth. The single strand proved ineffective because the detainee
was soon yelling again. This time the MPs wrapped a single strand of duct tape
around the mouth and head of the detainee. The detainee removed the duct
tape again. Fed up and concerned that the detainee’s yelling might cause a riot
in the interrogation trailer, The ICE Chief ordered the MPs to wrap the duct tape
twice around the head and mouth and three times under the chin and around the
top of the detainee’s head. According to an FBI agent, he and another FBI agent
were approached by the ICE Chief who was laughing and told the agents that
they needed to see something. When the first agent went to the interrogation
room he saw that the detainee’s head had been wrapped in duct tape over his
beard and his hair. An interrogator testified that another interrogator admitted to
him that he had duct taped the head of a detainee. According to the first agent,
the ICE Chief said the interrogator wrapped the detainee’s head with duct tape
because the detainee refused to stop “chanting” passages from the Koran.

Organizational response: The JTF-170 JAG testified that she became aware
of the incident and personally counseled the ICE Chief. The counseling session
consisted of a verbal admonishment.? The ICE Chief did not receive any formal

? While the ICE Chief testified that he was counseled by the JTF-GTMO Commander this is not possible.
The Commander in question did not arrive until the month following the event. The previous Commander
has no recollection of the event.
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discipline action. We have no evidence that duct tape was ever used again on a
detainee.

Recommendation #7: Command action was inadequate with respect to the
ICE Chief. He should be formalily admonished or reprimanded for directing
an inappropriate restraint to be used on a detainee.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly chained detainees and
placed them in a fetal position on the floor

Finding #8: On at least two occasions between February 2002 and February
2003, two detainees were “short shackled” to the eye-bolt on the floor in the
interrogation room.

Technique: Unauthorized.

Discussion: Two FBI agents each stated that they witnessed a detainee in an
interrogation room that had been “short shackled” to the floor. Short shackling is
the process by which the detainee’s hand restraints are connected directly to an
eyebolt in the floor requiring the detainee to either crouch very low or lay in a
fetal position on the floor. The FBI agents indicated that each of the detainees
was clothed. Another FBI agent stated she witnessed a detainee short shackled
and lying in his own excrement. The AR 15-6 was unable to find any
documentation, testimony, or other evidence comoborating the third agent's
recollection, to this allegation or her email allegation that one of the detainees
had pulled his hair out while short shackled. We also found that ‘short shackling’
was initiallg authorized as a force protection measure during the in processing of
detainees.

Organizational response: None. JTF-GTMO has implemented SOPs that
prohibit short shackling.

Recommendation #8: The allegation should be closed. The AR 15-6 was
not able to find any evidence to adequately assign responsibility for these
actions. This practice is now specifically prohibited by current GTMO
interrogation policy.

Allegation: That military personnel improperly interfered with FBI
interrogators in the performance of their FBI duties.

Finding #9: We discovered no evidence to support this allegation.

3 During the course of a site visit to GTMO several detention operations personnel indicated that they
understood that short shackling was permitted in the early days of GTMO as a force protection measure.
They all stated that it was no longer authorized as either a detention measure or during interrogations.
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Discussion: This allegation stems from an FBI agent objections to a proposed
Special Interrogation Plan. The dispute resulted in a DoD official being rude to
the FBI agent. The team did not find any evidence of “interference” with FBI
interrogations that extended beyond the dispute over which techniques worked
best in interrogation. During the infancy of interrogation operations at GTMO, it
was obvious that the different investigative agencies had different interrogation
objectives. Law enforcement agencies were primarily interested in interviews
that would produce voluntary confessions that would be admissible in U.S.
Federal District Courts. Conversely, DoD interrogators were interested in
actionable intelligence and thus had greater latitude on the techniques used
during the interrogations. These different goals created friction.

Recommendation #9: The allegation should be closed.

Allegation: That military interrogators denied detainees food and water for
long periods of time.

Finding #10: We discovered no evidence to support the allegation that the
detainees were denied food and water.

Discussion: This allegation stems from the statement of an FBI Agent. She
reports two incidents of observing two detainees in “the fetal position and lying on
the floor of interview rooms.” And that there were was no “evidence of any food
or water.” The Agent admits in her statement that she made an assumption that
the detainees were denied food and water based solely upon their appearance.
The Agent was unable to provide any specific information as to the day she
made these observations to permit additional proof or assignment of
responsibility.

Recommendation #10: The allegation should be closed.

SPECIAL INTERROGATION PLANS

During the course of interrogations certain detainees exhibited refined
resistance techniques to interrogations. These detainees were suspected
to possess significant current intelligence regarding planned future
terrorist attacks against the United States. For these reasons Special
Interrogation Plans were proposed and approved for the detainees. A total
of two Special Interrogation Plans were carried out. They are referred to
herein as the “First Special Interrogation Plan” and the “Second Special
Interrogation Plan”.

THE FIRST SPECIAL INTERROGATION PLAN

On 23 Nov 02 interrogators initiated the first Special Interrogation Plan. The
interrogation plan was designed to counter resistance techniques of the subject
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of the first Special Interrogation Plan. The memo authorizing the techniques for
this interrogation was signed by SECDEF on 2 Dec 02. These techniques
supplemented techniques already permitted under the provisions of FM 34-52.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used military working
dogs (MWD) during interrogation sessions to threaten detainees, or for
some other purpose.

Finding #11a: On one occasion in October 2002 a military working dog was
brought into the interrogation room and directed to growl, bark, and show his
teeth at the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan.

Technique: Unauthorized prior to 12 Nov 02,

Discussion: a. October 2002 incident: GTMO records indicate that on 01 Oct
02, the Commander of JTF-170 requested Joint Detention Operations Group
(JDOG) support for interrogation operations to interrogate the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan. The dog was requested to assist in the movement of
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan between Camp X-ray and the
GTMO Naval Brig to “discourage the detainee from attempting to escape.” The
interrogation plan (IP) indicates that the interrogation would begin on the 2nd or
3rd of October 2002. One FBI agent in his statement recalls the MWD being
used on or about 05 Oct 02. He indicated that the events were notable for
several reasons. He had recently purchased a German Shepard and wanted to
get some “tips” from the dog handlers. The FBI agent noticed that there were
two working dog teams (one Navy and one Army) present for the interrogation of
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan. Finally, the FBI agent recalled
that he and his partner left the observation room when the MWD was introduced
into the interrogation room. The FBI agent's partner corroborates this statement.

In addition an interrogator indicated that she recalled a MWD being brought into
the interrogation room during interrogation of the subject of the first Speciat
Interrogation Plan at Camp X-ray, between 02-10 Oct 02. She stated that the
dogs were used only “briefly.” She stated that the use of the dog was
documented on the IP and approved by the ICE Chief and CDR, JTF-GTMO

Finding #11b: In November 2002 a military working dog was brought into the
interrogation room and directed to growl, bark, and show his teeth at the subject
of the first Special Interrogation Plan.

Technique: Authorized: SECDEF approved the use of Category | and Il
techniques for the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan. Category Il
technique permits the use of dogs to exploit “individual phobias” during
interrogations.
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Discussion: b. An interrogator testified that the MWD was in the booth on one
occasion for the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan. He testified that
he was approached by another interrogator and discussed the use of a MWD in
an interrogation session. Specifically, the first interrogator stated that the second
interrogator told him that a MWD was brought into the doorway of the
interrogation room and ordered by the dog handler to growl, show teeth and bark
at the detainee. In addition a psychologist assigned to the Behavioral Science
Consultation Team (BSCT) for JTF-170/JTF-GTMO witnessed the use of a MWD
named “Zeus” during a military interrogation of the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan during the November 2002 time period. In his interview, the
ICE Chief acknowledged that an MWD had entered the interrogation room of the
subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan under the authority of a “special IP”
for the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan. The unsigned but approved
interrogation plan for the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan is from 12
Nov 02. (Church p. 115) It indicates dogs will only be used in interrogation if
approved in writing, in advance. Both JTF-GTMO Commanders who were in
charge during the execution of the special interrogation plan deny that they
authorized the use of MWDs in the interrogation room.

Organizational response: a. and b. None. Current SOPs expressly prohibit
the use of MWDs in the interrogation room. There is no evidence that this has
ever happened again.

Recommendation #11: The allegation should be closed. While the ICE
Chief was aware of and condoned the first use of the MWD, additional
corrective action is not necessary. The event occurred on two occasions
and was expressly approved after the first occasion for this defainee. This
practice is now specifically prohibited by current GTMO interrogation

policy.

Allegation: That a female military interrogator performed a “lap dance” on
a detainee during an interrogation. 1| have expanded this allegation to “That
female military interrogators performed acts designed to take advantage of
their gender in relation to Muslim males.”

Finding #12a: On 21 and 23 Dec 02, MPs held down a detainee while a female
interrogator straddled the detainee without placing weight on the detainee;

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Futility — Act used to highlight
futility of the detainee’s situation.

Finding #12b: On 04 Dec 02, a female interrogator massaged the detainee’s
back and neck over his clothing;

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Futility — Act used to highlight
futility of the detainee’s situation.
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Finding #12c: On various occasions between October 2002 and January 2003,
a female interrogator invaded the private space of a detainee to disrupt his
concentration during interrogation;

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Futility — act used to highlight
futility of the detainee’s situation.

Discussion: Interrogation logs and MFRs for the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan document that on both 21 and 23 Dec 02, a female
interrogator straddled, without putting any weight on the detainee, the subject of
the first Special Interrogation Plan while he was being held down by MPs. During
these incidents a female interrogator would tell the detainee about the deaths of
fellow Al-Qaeda members. During the sfraddling, the detainee would aftempt to
raise and bend his legs to prevent the interrogator from straddling him and
prayed loudly. Interrogation MFRs also indicate that on 04 Dec 02, a female
interrogator began to enter the personal space of the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan, touch him, and ultimately massage his back while whispering
or speaking near his ear. Throughout this event, the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan prayed, swore at the interrogator that she was going to Hell,
and attempted to get away from her. The female interrogator admitted in her
interview that she personally prepared portions of the MFRs of the the subject of
the first Special Interrogation Plan interrogations. She asserts that she had
permission to employ all these techniques. We have found no evidence of a lap
dance ever occurring.

Organizational response: No disciplinary action taken. The ICE Chief
approved these techniques at the time.

Recommendation #12: The allegation should be closed. No command
action is necessary with respect to the individual interrogators. Their
supervisor acknowledged that he approved the approaches at the time of
the interrogation. AR 15-6 recommends that the approval authority for the
use of gender coercion as futility technique be withheld to the JTF GTMO-
CG.

Allegation: That DoD interrogators improperly played loud music and
yelled loudly at detainees.

Finding #13: On numerous occasions between November 2002 and 15 Jan 03,
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was yelied at or subjected to
loud music during interrogation.

Technique: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Incentive and Futility — acts
used as reward for cooperating or to create futility in not cooperating.
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Discussion: See above discussion for Finding #4.

Organizational response: No disciplinary action required; technique
authorized.

Recommendation #13: The allegation should be closed. Recommend JTF-
GTMO develop specific guidance on the length of time that a detainee may
be subjected to futility music. Placement of a detainee in the interrogation
booth and subjecting him to loud music and strobe lights should be limited
and conducted within clearly prescribed limits.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used extremes of heat
and cold during their interrogation of detainees.

Finding #14: On several occasions between November 2002 and January 2003
interrogators would adjust the air conditioner to make the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan uncomfortable.

Technique: Unauthorized prior to 16 Apr 03: SECDEF did not approve
exposure to cold in his 2 Dec 02 list of approved techniques

Discussion. There are no medical entries indicating the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan ever experienced medical problems related to low
body temperature. The subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan’s medical
records do indicate that he did have a body temperature between 95 and 97
degrees twice. The subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan’s medical
records do indicate that from 7-9 Dec 02 he was hospitalized for observation
after an episode of bradycardia. He was released within forty-eight hours, after
the bradycardia resolved without intervention and he maintained stable
hemodynamics.* He experienced a second episode of bradycardia in Feb 03.

Organizational response: None
Recommendation #14: The allegation shouid be closed.

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used sleep deprivation
against detainees.

Finding #15: From 23 Nov 02 to 16 Jan 03, the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan was interrogated for 18-20 hours per day for 48 of the 54 days,
with the opportunity for a minimum of four hours rest per day.

Technique: Authorized: SECDEF approved technique. This technigue was
officially permitted under 2 Dec 02 SECDEF Memorandum — The use of 20-hour
interrogations

* Bradycardia is a relatively slow heart; hemodynamics are mechanics of blood circulation.
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Discussion: SECDEF approved 20 hour interrogations for every 24-hour cycle
for the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan on 12 Nov 02. Later, CDR
USSOUTHCOM formalized the definition of sleep deprivation in his 02 Jun 03
memorandum “promulgating” SECDEF’s interrogation techniques of 16 Apr 03.
He defined sleep deprivation as keeping a detainee awake for more than 16
hours, or allowing a detainee to rest briefly and then repeatedly awakening him,
not to exceed four days in succession.

Organizational response: None. This was an authorized interrogation
technique approved by SECDEF.

Recommendation #15: The allegation should be closed. Recommend
USSOUTHCOM clarify policy on sleep deprivation.

Additional Allegations, Re: The subject of the first Special Interrogation

Plan: In addition to the FBI allegations addressed above, the following additional
interrogation techniques (not all inclusive) were used in the interrogation of the
subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan. Each act is documented in the
interrogation MFRs maintained on the subject of the first Special Interrogation
Plan.

Finding #16a: That the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was
separated from the general population from 8 Aug 02 to 15 Jan 03.

Technique: Unauthorized prior to 12 Nov 02: SECDEF did not approve
movement of detainee to an “isolation facility” for interrogation purposes prior to
approval of Category It techniques for the subject of the first Special Interrogation
Pian on 12 Nov 02.

Technique: Authorized after 12 Nov 02:

Discussion: The subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was never
isolated from human contact. The subject of the first Special Interrogation Ptan
was however placed in an “isolation facility” where he was separated from the
general detainee population from 8 Aug 02 to 15 Jan 03. The subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan routinely had contact with interrogators and MPs while
in the “isolation facility.” The SECDEF did not define “isolation facility” when he
approved the use of an “isolation facility” for up to 30 days with additional
isolation beyond 30 days requiring CDR JTF-GTMO approval on 12 Nov 02.
Prior to the SECDEF’s approval, placement in an “isolation facility” was not an
authorized interrogation technique.

Organizational response to Additional Allegations, Re: The subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan: None taken.
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Eight Technigues Below: Authorized: FM 34-52 technique — Ego down and
Futility.

Finding #16b: On 06 Dec 02, the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan
was forced to wear a woman's bra and had a thong placed on his head during
the course of the interrogation.

Finding #16c: On 17 Dec 02, the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan
was told that his mother and sister were whores.

Finding #16d: On 17 Dec 02, the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan
was told that he was a homosexual, had homosexual tendencies, and that other
detainees had found out about these tendencies

Finding #16e: On 20 Dec 02, an interrogator tied a leash to the subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan’s chains, led him around the room, and forced him
to perform a series of dog tricks.

Finding #16f: On 20 Dec 02, an interrogator forced the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan to dance with a male interrogator.

Finding #16g: On several occasions in Dec 02, the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan was subject to strip searches.® These searches, conducted by
the prison guards during interrogation, were done as a control measure on
direction of the interrogators.

Finding #16h: On one occasion in Dec 02, the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan was forced to stand naked for five minutes with females
present. This incident occurred during the course of a strip search.

Finding #16i: On three occasions in Nov 02 and Dec 02, the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan was prevented from praying during interrogation

Finding #16j: Once in Nov 02, the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan
became upset when two Korans were put on a TV, as a control measure during
interrogation, and in Dec 02 when an interrogator got up on the desk in front of
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan and squatted down in front of
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan in an aggressive manner and
unintentionally squatted over the detainee’s Koran.

Finding #16k: On seventeen occasions, between 13 Dec 02 and 14 Jan 03,
interrogators, during interrogations, poured water over the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan head.

® The subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan alleges that he was subject to “cavity searches.” During
the course of interrogation, the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was strip searched. The AR
15-6 was unable to determine the scope of these strip searches.
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Discussion: the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was a high value
detainee that ultimately provided extremely valuable intelligence. His ability to
resist months of standard interrogation in the summer of 2002 was the genesis
for the request to have authority to employ additional counter resistance
interrogation techniques. The techniques used against the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan were done in an effort to establish complete control
and create the perception of futility and reduce his resistance to interrogation.
For example, this included the use of strip searches, the control of prayer, the
forced wearing of a woman'’s bra, and other techniques noted above. ltis clear
based upon the completeness of the interrogation logs that the interrogation
team believed that they were acting within existing guidance. Despite the fact
that the AR 15-6 concluded that every technique employed against the subject of
the first Special Interrogation Plan was legally permissible under the existing
guidance, the AR 15-6 finds that the creative, aggressive, and persistent
interrogation of the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan resulted in the
cumulative effect being degrading and abusive treatment. Particularly troubling
is the combined impact of the 160 days of segregation from other detainees, 48
of 54 consecutive days of 18 to 20-hour interrogations, and the creative
application of authorized interrogation techniques. Requiring the subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan to be led around by a leash tied to his chains,
placing a thong on his head, wearing a bra, insulting his mother and sister, being
forced to stand naked in front of a female interrogator for five minutes, and using
strip searches as an interrogation technique the AR 15-6 found to be abusive and
degrading, particularly when done in the context of the 48 days of intense and
long interrogations.® While this treatment did not rise to the level of prohibited
inhumane treatment the JTF-GTMO CDR was responsible for the interrogation of
the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan and had a responsibility to
provide strategic guidance to the interrogation team. He failed to monitor the
interrogation and exercise commander discretion by placing limits on the
application of otherwise authorized techniques and approaches used in that
interrogation. The Commander stated he was unaware of the specific details or
impacts of the techniques on the detainee for this important interrogation. His
failure to supervise the interrogation of the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan allowed subordinates to make creative decisions in an
environment requiring extremely tight controls’.

Recommendation #16: The Commander JTF-GTMO should be held
accountable for failing to supervise the interrogation of the subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan and should be admonished for that failure.

® The AR 15-6 found no evidence that the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was ever
physically assaulted. His medical records show no evidence of any physical assaults. A medical
examination completed on the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan on 16 Jan 03 found no medical
conditions of note.

7 The JTF-GTMO Commander’s testimony that he was unaware of the creative approaches taken in the
interrogation is inconsistent with his 21 Jan 03 letter to CDR USSOUTHCOM in which he asserts that the
CITF approved the interrogation plan in place and it was followed “relentlessly by the command.”
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Allegation: In addition to the allegations above, the AR 15-6 also considered
additional allegations raised specifically by the subject of the first Special
Interrogation Plan.

Finding #17: The AR 15-6 was unable to corroborate the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan’s allegations to the point of concluding that they had
occurred by a preponderance of the evidence. Specific findings include:

The AR 15-6 did find that the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was
required to stand for periods of time which he may have interpreted as forced
positions.

There is evidence that the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan regularly
had water poured on his head. The interrogation logs indicate that this was done
as a control measure only.

There is no evidence that the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was
subjected to humiliation intentionally directed at his religion. It is however
possible that the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan interpreted many
of the interrogation techniques employed to be religious humiliation.

The AR 15-6 found no evidence that the subject of the first Special Interrogation
Plan was threatened with homosexual rape. He was told on 17 Dec 02 that he
was a homosexual but not threatened in any manner.

There is no evidence, to include entries in his medical records, that either
occurred regarding the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan or any other
detainee.

Discussion: n reaching conclusions on the treatment of the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan the AR 15-6 relied heavily on the interrogations logs.
The level of specificity of the logs strongly supports their credibility regarding the
interrogation of the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan and thus they
carried considerable weight on the findings.

Recommendation #17: The allegation should be closed

THE SECOND SPECIAL INTERROGATION PLAN

in July 03 interrogators initiated a request for approval of a Special Interrogation
Plan for a detainee. This plan was approved by SECDEF on 13 Aug 03.
Interrogation logs indicate that the techniques were never implemented because
the subject of the second special interrogation plan began to cooperate prior to
the approval.

UNCLASSIFIED
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In addition to the interrogation logs, the AR 15-6 also considered allegations of
abuse raised by the subject of the second special interrogation, himself.
Specifically, after months of cooperation with interrogators, on 11 Dec 04, the
subject of the second special interrogation notified his interrogator that he had
been “subject to torture” by past interrogators during the months of July to
October 20032

Allegation: That military interrogators improperly used extremes of heat
and cold during their interrogation of detainees.

Finding #18: During the summer of 2003, interrogators would adjust the air
conditioner to make the subject of the second special interrogation
uncomfortable.

Technique: Authorized: SECDEF approved technique. This technique was
officially permitted under 16 Apr 03 SECDEF Memorandum — Environmental
Manipulation.

Discussion: The interrogation logs of the subject of the second Special
Interrogation Plan indicate that on at least two occasions on 10 and 11 Jul 03 the
air conditioner was turned off to heat up the room. in addition the subject of the
second special interrogation alleges that on repeated occasions from Jul 03to
Oct 03, he was subjected to placement in a room referred to as the “freezer.”

Organizational response: No disciplinary action required. Environmental
manipulation was expressly permitted in the 16 Apr 03 SECDEF Memorandum.
There is no evidence in the medical records of the subject of the second special
interrogation being treated for hypothermia or any other condition retated to
extreme exposure.

Recommendation #18: The allegation should be closed.

Allegation: The subject of the second special interrogation alleges that
female military interrogators removed their BDU tops and rubbed
themselves against the detainee, fondled his genitalia, and made lewd
sexual comments, noises, and gestures.

¥ He reported these allegations to an interrogator. The interrogator was a member of the interrogation team
at the time of the report. The interrogator reported the allegations to her supervisor. Shortly affer being
advised of the alleged abuse, the supervisor interviewed the subject of the second special interrogation,
with the interrogator present, regarding the allegations. Based upon this interview, and notes taken by the
interrogator, the supervisor prepared an 11 Dec 04 MFR addressed to JTF — GTMO JIG & ICE. The
supervisor forwarded his MFR to the JTF — GTMO JIG. The JIG then forwarded the complaint to the JAG
for processing IAW normal GTMO procedures for investigating ailegations of abuse. The JAG by email
on 22 Dec 04 tasked the JDOG, the JIG, and the JMG with a review of the complaint summarized in the 11
Dec 04 MFR and directed them to provide any relevant information. The internal GTMO investigation was
never completed.
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Finding #19: The AR 15-6 was unable to corroborate the allegations to the point
of concluding that they had occurred by a preponderance of the evidence.

Discussion: The interrogation logs for the subject of the second special
interrogation indicate that on a number of occasions female interrogators used
their status as females to distract the subject of the second special interrogation
during the interrogation but there is nothing to corroborate the aliegation of the
subject of the second special interrogation.

Organizational response: No disciplinary action taken.
Recommendation #19: The allegation should be closed.

Allegation: The subject of the second Special Interrogation Plan alleges
that in late summer of 2003 he was hit by guards and an interrogator “very
hard” and “with all their strength” he was hit “all over.”

Finding #20: The AR 15-6 was unable to corroborate the allegations to the point
of concluding that they had occurred by a preponderance of the evidence.

Discussion: The interrogation logs contain no reference to any physical
violence against the subject of the second Special Interrogation Plan. His
medical records indicate that in August 2003 the subject of the second special
interrogation reported “rib contusions” from an altercation with MPs when moved
between camps. During this examination the physician also noted an “edema of
the lower lip” and a “small laceration” on his head. There are no other medical
entries of any other physical injuries. There are no indications of swelling or
contusions to support a conclusion that the subject of the second special
interrogation was hit “very hard all over.”

Organizational response: No disciplinary action taken. The allegation was not
substantiated.

Recommendation #20: The allegation should be closed. There is no
evidence to support the subject of the second special interrogation’s
allegation of physical abuse.

Allegation: A DoD interrogator improperly impersonated a Navy Captain
assigned to the White House.

Finding #21: The Special Team Chief impersonated a USN Captain assigned to
the White House during interrogation of the subject of the second special
interrogation.

Technique: Authorized: This technique is permitted under FM 34-52 —
Deception.
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Discussion: On 2 Aug 03 the Special Team Chief presented himself to the
subject of the second special interrogation dressed as a Captain in the USN and
indicated he was from the White House in an effort to convince the subject of the
second special interrogation that he needed to cooperate with his interrogators.
The Special Team Chief presented a letter to the subject of the second special
interrogation, which indicated that because of the subject of the second special
interrogation’s lack of cooperation, U.S. authorities in conjunction with authorities
from the country of origin of the subject of the second Special Interrogation Plan
would interrogate the mother of the subject of the second Special Interrogation
Plan. The letter further indicated that if his mother was uncooperative she would
be detained and transferred to U.S. custody at GTMO for long term detention.
While the JTF-GTMO Commander acknowledges that he was aware of the intent
by the interrogator to wear Captain’s rank and purport to be from the White
House, he stated that he was not aware of the intention to convey a threat or the
plan to use a fictitious letter.

Organizational response: None taken.

Recommendation #21: The allegation should be closed. No further action
necessary.

Allegation: That Military interrogators threatened the subject of the second
special interrogation and his family.

Finding #22: The Special Team Chief threatened the subject of the second
special interrogation and his family in July, August and September 2003.

Technique: Unauthorized: This technique was rejected by SECDEF on 2
Dec 2002

Discussion: During the interrogation of the subject of the second special
interrogation, a masked interrogator was used to interrogate the subject of the
second special interrogation ®. On 17 Jul 03 the masked interrogator told that he
had a dream about the subject of the second special interrogation dying.
Specifically he told the subject of the second special interrogation that in the
dream he "saw four detainees that were chained together at the feet. They dug a
hole that was six-feet long, six-feet deep, and four-feet wide. Then he observed
the detainees throw a plain, pine casket with the detainee’s identification number
painted in orange lowered into the ground.” The masked interrogator told the
detainee that his dream meant that he was never going to leave GTMO unless
he started to talk, that he would indeed die here from old age and be buried on
“Christian... sovereign American soil.” On 20 Jul 03 the masked interrogator, “Mr.

® The interrogator was a DoD interrogator who was masked so as to preserve the identity of the
interrogator.  This was done in case the interrogation team wanted to use that interrogator later
in another role.
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X7, told the subject of the second Special Interrogation Plan that his family was
“incarcerated.” On 2 Aug 03, the Special Team Chief, while impersonating a USN
Captain from the White House, told the subject of the second special
interrogation that he had a letter indicating that the subject of the second special
interrogation’s family had been captured by the United States and that they were
in danger.’ He went on to tell the subject of the second special interrogation
that if he wanted to help his family he should tell them everything they wanted to
know. The MFR dated 02 Aug 03 indicates that the subject of the second special
interrogation had a messenger that day there to “deliver a message to him”. The
MFR goes on to state:

“That message was simple: Interrogator’s colleagues are sick of hearing
the same lies over and over and are seriously considering washing their
hands of him. Once they do so, he will disappear and never be heard from
again. Interrogator assured detainee again to use his imagination to think of
the worst possible scenario he could end up in. He told Detainee that
beatings and physical pain are not the worst thing in the world. After all, after
being beaten for a while, humans tend to disconnect the mind from the body
and make it through. However, there are worse things than physical pain.
Interrogator assured Detainee that, eventually, he will talk, because everyone
does. But until then, he will very soon disappear down a very dark hole. His
very existence will become erased. His electronic files will be deleted from
the computer, his paper files will be packed up and filed away, and his
existence will be forgotten by all. No one will know what happened to him
and, eventually, no one will care.”

Finally, interrogator MFRs dated 08 Sep 03 indicate that the subject of the
second special interrogation wanted to see “Captain Collins” and that they
“understood that detainee had made an important decision and that the
interrogator was anxious to hear what Detainee had to say. Detainee stated he
understood and will wait for interrogator’s [Captain Collins] return and that the
subject of the second Special Interrogation Plan “...was not willing to continue to
protect others to the detriment of himself and his family.”

In investigating the actions above, the AR 15-6 focused on the threat made by
the Special Team Chief."" When questioned about the threats to the subject of
the second special interrogation, the Special Team Chief indicated that prior to
the “threat” to detainee the subject of the second special interrogation he cleared
the proposal and the letter with the senior judge advocate who approved the
technique as a “deception.” As written the letter does contain a threat to detain
the subject of the second special interrogation’s mother but does not contain any
threat on her life or that of her family. The SJA indicated in his initial interview

*° The actual content of the letter simply indicates that his mother will be taken into custody and
qluestionedA

" Mr. X’s dream story does not rise to the level of a threat. It appears to be a staged prelude to
the direct threat made by the Special Team Chief.
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that he did not recall the letter. He subsequently elected to exercise his Article
31 rights and declined to answer direct questions about the letter and the threats.
The Special Team Chief also indicated that both JIG Chiefs in charge during the
promulgation of the Special Interrogation Plan'? were also aware of the threat
letter. The first JIG Chief has retired and was unwilling to cooperate with this
investigation. The second JIG Chief indicated under oath that he was unaware
of the interrogation events discussed above. He recognizes, that read in
conjunction with each other, they indicate a threat. He believes that the
Commander of JTF-GTMO was not aware of the threat since the second JIG
Chief was not aware of the threat. The second JIG Chief stated that they had
weekly meetings with the Commander to discuss interrogations but they would
not have covered this level of detail in that meeting. Neither he nor the
Commander read interrogation MFRs on a regular basis. Finaily, the
Commander denies any knowledge of the existence of the threat or the letter.

He does not recall ever discussing the issue of threats with the interrogators. He
is aware that this is a prohibited practice and would not have permitted it if he
had been aware of the plan.

Taken as a whole, it appears that the decision to threaten the subject of the
second Special Interrogation Plan was made by the Special Team Chief. He
claims that he cleared the plan with the senior judge advocate but not with his
supervisors. Considering the actual content of the letter, it is reasonable to
conclude that the JAG advised that the letter was a proper deception and
therefore additional approval was not required. The Special Team Chief knew
that under FM 34-52 deception did not require additional approval.

Despite the fact that the letter may be a proper deception technique under FM
34-52, the interrogation logs clearly indicate that the interrogation went well
beyond the “threat o detain” made in the letter, and in fact was a threat to the
subject of the second special interrogation and his family that violated the UCMJ,
Article 134 Communicating a threat.

Organizational Response: None taken.

Recommendation #22: While the threats do not rise to the level of torture
as defined under U.S. law, the facts support a conclusion that the Special
Team Chief violated the UCMJ, Article 134, by communicating a threat.
Recommend his current commander discipline the Special Team Chief.

2 The first JIG Chief was in charge during the approval process for the second Special Interrogation Plan
and then rotated out of JTF-GTMO. The second JIG Chief was in charge during the execution of the second
Special Interrogation Plan
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SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The findings above fali into three categories: Techniques that were authorized
throughout the interrogation periods; techniques that were never authorized and
finally, techniques that were originally unauthorized, and then subsequently
authorized. The summary below only outlines the latter two categories of
techniques to address whether the findings violated the UCMJ, international law,
U.S. Law, regulations or directives.

Techniques that were never authorized: AR 15-6 determined the following
acts were NEVER authorized under any interrogation guidance:

a) On at least two occasions between February 2002 and February 2003,
two detainees were “short shackled” to the eye-bolt on the floor in the
interrogation room;

b) Sometime in October 2002 duct tape was used to “quiet” a detainee.

c) Military interrogators threatened the subject of the second special
interrogation and his family;

Techniques that became authorized after the fact: AR 15-6 determined the
following acts were initially not authorized under existing interrogation guidance
but later authorized as an approved technique.

a) On several occasions during 2002 and 2003, interrogators would adjust
the air conditioner to make the detainees, to include the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan, uncomfortable. This technique is now permitted
under the SECDEF 16 Apr 03 guidance.

b) On several occasions prior to 2 Dec 02 and between 15 Jan 03 and 16
Apr 03 interrogators had detainees moved from one cell to another every
few hours to disrupt sleep patterns and lower the ability to resist
interrogation. This technique is now permitted under the SECDEF 16 Apr
03 guidance.

¢) In October 2002 a Military Working Dog was brought into the
interrogation room during the course of interrogation of the subject of the
first Special Interrogation Plan and directed to growl, bark, and show his
teeth at the detainee. This technique is subsequently approved for the
interrogation of the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan by
SECDEF on 12 Nov 02.

d) The subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan was separated from
other detainees in an isolation facility away from the general population
from 8 Aug 02 to 12 Nov 02. This technique was subsequently approved
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for the interrogation of the subject of the first Special Interrogation Plan by
SECDEF on 12 Nov 02.

In each of the incidents above the violations can best be characterized as
violations of policy. The SECDEF's subsequent approval of each of the
techniques clearly establishes the ultimate legitimacy of that technique and thus
additional corrective action is not necessary.

Additional Matters: In addition to findings outlined above it is important to
document some additional findings:

a) The team found no evidence that any detainee at GTMO was improperly
documented or unaccounted for at any time. Every agency interviewee
clearly indicated that they never knew of any “ghost detainees” at GTMO;

b) Several past interrogators at GTMO declined to be interviewed. In the
case of personnel who are currently in a civilian status we had exiremely
limited authority to compel the individuals to cooperate with this
investigation; of particular note was former SGT Erik Saar who has written
a book into “activities” at GTMO. Despite repeated requests he declined
fo be interviewed;

c¢) During the course of this investigation, JTF-GTMO CG investigated and
took action for personal misconduct of senior DoD personnel on GTMO.
These allegations were reviewed and it was determined that they were not
relevant to this investigation, and did not rise to a level to suggest a
leadership environment with any impact on interrogation or detainee
operations.

ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS

This AR15-6 recommends consideration of the following:

a) Recommendation #23 Recommend a policy-level review and
determination of the status and treatment of all detainees, when not
classified as EPWs. This review needs to particularly focus on the
definitions of humane treatment, military necessity, and proper
employment of interrogation techniques. (e.g. boundaries or extremes);

b) Recommendation #24 Recommend study of the DoD authorized
interrogation techniques to establish a framework for evaluating their
cumulative impact in relation to the obligation to treat detainees humanely;
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Recommendation #25 Recommend a reevaluation of the DoD and Inter-
agency interrogation training consistent with the new realities of the
requirements of the global war on terror;

Recommendation #26 Recommend a policy-level determination on role
of Military Police in “setting the conditions” for intelligence gathering and
interrogation of detainees at both the tactical level and strategic level
facilities;

Recommendation #27 Recommend an Inter-Agency policy review to
establish “standards” for interrogations when multiple agencies and
interrogation objectives are involved. Particular emphasis should be
placed on setting policy for who has priority as the lead agency, the
specific boundaries for the authorized techniques in cases with multiple
agencies involved, a central “data-base” for all intelligence gathered at a
detention facility, and procedures for record keeping to include historical,
litigation support, lessons learned, and successful/unsuccessful
intelligence gathering techniques.
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Chairman WARNER. Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for convening the
hearing.

Let me join you in welcoming our witnesses here today to discuss
the results of the investigation of Generals Schmidt and Furlow
into allegations of abuses at Gitmo, more specifically the allega-
tions contained in specific e-mails from FBI agents at Gitmo wit-
nessing interrogation practices of DOD intelligence personnel.
These FBI e-mails, which came to light in December of last year
following a FOIA request spoke of DOD interrogators’ “torture
techniques” and “coercive techniques in the military’s interviewing
toolkit.” One FBI agent at the time expressed alarm over DOD in-
terrogation plans for one Gitmo detainee, saying, “You won’t be-
lieve it.” Subsequent e-mails described abuses that FBI agents had
witnessed, including detainees being chained in a fetal position on
the floor for 18 to 24 hours at a time, having urinated and defe-
cated on themselves, and being subjected to extreme cold.

The Schmidt-Furlow report confirms that detainees were sub-
jected to “degrading and abusive” treatment in the course of inter-
rogations at Gitmo. The report finds the use of techniques such as
“short-shackling” in a fetal position for hours at a time, or using
military working dogs to intimidate detainees during interrogation
sessions, or a female interrogator rubbing up against a detainee’s
back and running her fingers through his hair as a form of “gender
coercion.”

It is clear from the report that detainee mistreatment was not
simply the product of a few rogue military police on a night shift.
Rather, this mistreatment arose from the use of aggressive interro-
gation techniques. The purpose of those activities, whether author-
ized or not, was to obtain intelligence.

The report of Generals Schmidt and Furlow does not resolve a
number of critical questions surrounding the military’s interroga-
tion of detainees at Gitmo.

From the FBI documents released under the FOIA request, we
know that FBI concerns and objections went beyond the specific al-
legations of abuse. The FBI agents questioned not only the effec-
tiveness but the “propriety” of DOD’s aggressive interrogation tech-
niques. The report does not address those concerns. As a result, the
Schmidt-Furlow report does not examine the “heated” debate be-
tween FBI agents and DOD commanders at Gitmo, which was
about propriety and effectiveness. Their report does address wheth-
er techniques were authorized or not authorized and found that
some were and some were not. But their conclusions on the most
egregious techniques remain classified.

So from what we can determine, they do not look, again, at pro-
priety or effectiveness of aggressive interrogation techniques, but
rather at the authorization or lack of authorization of the use of
those techniques. The FBI was so concerned about coercive DOD
interrogation techniques that its agents at Gitmo were told to
“stand clear” when military intelligence took over an interrogation.
The report does not shed light on those discussions or what, if any,
follow-up to those discussions was made. Nor does the report in-
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clude documents related to these discussions, such as a May 30,
2003, electronic communication (EC) by FBI agents at Gitmo
which, according to another FBI document, summarizes the FBI
objections and includes as attachments a number of military docu-
ments discussing the authorization to use aggressive techniques.
This committee needs to have the FBI documents relating to DOD
intelligence techniques used at Gitmo, which FBI agents at the
time believed were coercive or abusive. Following an earlier brief-
ing on a related subject, I requested that FBI Director Mueller pro-
vide those documents.

In addition, the report itself states that its investigation did not
attempt to review the legality of interrogation techniques approved
by the Secretary of Defense (SECDEF). The fact that a technique
may have been approved does not resolve the question of its legal-
ity.

There is a confusing aspect to the report which highlights some
of these omissions. The report states that the current guidance for
Gitmo approved by the SECDEF fails to define the term “humane
treatment” and it recommends that this question be taken up by
future policy review. So far so good. But the report nonetheless
goes on to state that “there was no evidence of . . . inhumane
treatment.”

This is seemingly inconsistent with the absence of a definition of
“humane treatment.” But to compound the confusion, the report
states that it did find “degrading and abusive treatment.” First
saying that there is an absence of a definition of “humane treat-
ment,” but then saying that degrading and abusive treatment is
not the same as inhumane treatment is, frankly, truly a head-
scratcher.

We are left once again also with a lack of accountability for the
confirmed mistreatment of detainees. Generals Schmidt and
Furlow recommended that Major General Miller be held account-
able for “failing to supervise the interrogation of one high-value de-
tainee” and “be admonished for that failure.” However, General
Craddock, who is with us this morning, the U.S. SOUTHCOM
Commander, disapproved that recommendation.

The recommendations of Generals Schmidt and Furlow include
the need for a “policy-level review” regarding the “status and treat-
ment of detainees” other than prisoners of war. They also call for
a review of interrogation techniques and the role of military police
in “setting the conditions” for subsequent interrogations. I whole-
heartedly agree with Generals Schmidt and Furlow. Their rec-
ommendations, in my judgment, reinforce the need to establish an
independent commission to address the issues left unaddressed by
this report and a number of other issues which have been identi-
fied which have so far not been addressed by various inquiries and
investigations. The very creation of such an independent commis-
sion will help protect our soldiers should they ever end up in
enemy custody, by showing the world that we are determined that
our detention and interrogation policies reflect the values that we
cherish as Americans.

Again, I welcome the testimony and look forward to it.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator.
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I would like to also bring out that there were some 24,000 inter-
rogations that were examined by this team and only a very few fall
into the category of violations to Army doctrine.

Senator LEVIN. Just on that point if I could, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. My understanding is that 24,000 interrogations
were not investigated by this panel, but the e-mails of the FBI
were the subject of their inquiry.

Chairman WARNER. We will bring clarity to that in the course of
the hearing.

But I think we have to always be mindful of the fact that we are
fighting a war and the fact that some very few individuals, whether
it was Abu Ghraib or here, did violate Army doctrine and other
rules and regulations should in no way reflect adversely upon the
bravery and the courage of the men and women of the Armed
Forces fighting terrorism the world over.

Senator LEVIN. I think there is a real consensus on that point.
I could not agree with you more, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you.

General Craddock, glad to hear from you.

STATEMENT OF GEN BANTZ J. CRADDOCK, USA, COMMANDER,
U.S. SOUTHERN COMMAND; ACCOMPANIED BY LT. GEN. RAN-
DALL M. SCHMIDT, USAF, SENIOR INVESTIGATING OFFICER;
AND BG JOHN T. FURLOW, USA, INVESTIGATING OFFICER

General CRADDOCK. Thank you. Chairman Warner, Senator
Levin, distinguished members of the committee: Thank you for the
opportunity to appear before you today to brief you on the results
of the Army Regulation (AR) 156 investigation that I directed into
allegations of detainee abuse at our Gitmo detention facility.

As Commander of United States SOUTHCOM, I am responsible
for ensuring that detention and intelligence operations at JTF
Gitmo meet the high standards that our Nation expects from its
military. I want to make it clear that I have full faith and con-
fidence in the fine work that the servicemembers and the leaders
of JTF Gitmo are doing each and every day for our Nation. Their
work contributes to our Nation’s safety and their adherence to the
highest standards of humane treatment of the detainees under
their charge is lauded by all who visit the facility.

I would also like to point out that the operations at Gitmo are
still providing intelligence that supports the day-to-day operations
of our warfighters engaged in the global war on terrorism, are help-
ing our allies and partners in their fight against terrorists, and are
keeping dangerous enemy combatants off the battlefield.

Of the more than 70,000 detainees who have been captured in
the global war on terror, less than 800 have been sent to Gitmo be-
cause of the threat they posed and the intelligence they possessed.
Today approximately 520 detainees remain at Gitmo and approxi-
mately 235 have been released or transferred to the custody of
other countries because they no longer pose a threat or they no
longer have intelligence value.

Today we have in our custody at Gitmo terrorist trainers, bomb
makers, terrorist recruiters, facilitators and financiers, Osama bin
Laden’s bodyguards, and would-be suicide bombers. Through them
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we have learned the organizational structure of al Qaeda and other
terrorist groups, the extent of the terrorist presence in Europe, the
United States, and the Middle East, the methods of and location
of terrorist recruitment centers, how operatives are trained, and al
Qaeda’s efforts to acquire weapons of mass destruction.

One enemy combatant has provided insights into al Qaeda pre-
operational planning for the 11 September 2001 attacks, to include
methods and criteria for recruiting operatives for the attacks and
the logistics involved in carrying them out. He described the
facilitators he met along the way, the methods of financing the op-
eration, the way he obtained his U.S. visa, and the logistics in-
volved in traveling to the United States and communicating with
his handlers along the way.

This particular detainee, Mohammed al-Qahtani, has during his
interrogation sworn his loyalty to Osama bin Laden. He was to
take part in the September 11 attacks, but the INS blocked his
entry into the United States in August of that year at the Orlando
International Airport.

He was captured in December 2001 on the Afghanistan-Pakistan
border with other al Qaeda members and brought to Gitmo in Feb-
ruary 2002. In July 2002 a fingerprint match from the INS verified
Qahtani’s presence in Orlando prior to the September 11 attacks
and increased interest in getting him to reveal what he might
know about future attacks planned around the 1-year anniversary
of September 11.

In the fall of 2002, Qahtani successfully resisted all interrogation
efforts using standard criminal investigation techniques. This led
the investigators at Gitmo to request the approval of more aggres-
sive interrogation techniques, which were approved by higher au-
thority. During Qahtani’s interrogation from November 2002
through January 2003, the application of these techniques by the
JTF interrogators led to breaking Qahtani’s resistance and to solid
intelligence gains.

These and other intelligence gains come only through persist-
ence, patience, and vigilance—diligence, excuse me, diligence.
These traits, along with the highest standards of professional con-
duct, are the hallmarks of the men and women serving our Nation
today as part of JTF Gitmo.

Now let me address the investigation. The allegations in the FBI
e-mails came to light as the result of the public release of a series
of FBI e-mails that contained these allegations. After a review of
these e-mails following their public release in December of last
year, I determined that the allegations merited a detailed examina-
tion in order to establish the truth and ascertain what, if any, ac-
tions needed to be taken.

I ordered the AR 15-6 investigation and appointed Brigadier
General John Furlow, the Deputy Commander for my Army compo-
nent command, as the Investigating Officer. Brigadier General
Furlow was directed to address the following allegations that were
drawn from the FBI e-mails:

One, that military interrogators improperly used military work-
ing dogs during interrogation sessions to threaten detainees or for
some other purpose;
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Two, that military interrogators improperly used duct tape to
cover a detainee’s mouth and head,;

Three, that DOD interrogators improperly impersonated FBI
agents and Department of State officers during the interrogation of
detainees;

Four, that on several occasions DOD interrogators improperly
played loud music and yelled loudly at detainees;

Five, that military personnel improperly interfered with FBI in-
terrogators in the performance of their FBI duties;

Six, that military interrogators improperly used sleep deprivation
against detainees;

Seven, that military interrogators improperly chained detainees
and placed them in a fetal position on the floor and denied them
food and water for long periods of time; and

Eight, that military interrogators improperly used extremes of
heat and cold during their interrogation of detainees.

Subsequent to his initial appointment, I also directed General
Furlow to investigate two additional allegations concerning a fe-
male military interrogator performing a lap dance on a detainee
and the use of red ink as fake menstrual blood during an interroga-
tion. These allegations came from a separate document. I did not
limit General Furlow to these allegations. I gave him the flexibility
to bring into his investigation any additional allegations of detainee
abuse that he might discover during the course of his work.

On 28 February 2005, after 2 months of investigation, General
Furlow advised me that he needed to interview officers who were
senior in grade to him. As a result I appointed Lieutenant General
Mark Schmidt, the Commander of my Air Force component com-
mand, as the Senior Investigating Officer. Generals Schmidt and
Furlow are here with me today and in a moment they will brief you
on the conduct and findings of their investigation. Their report re-
flects the combined findings and conclusions of the initial investiga-
tive efforts and the combined investigative efforts of both of these
officers.

General Schmidt submitted his initial report to me on the 1st of
April. After review, I directed on the 5th of May that the investiga-
tion be reopened to consider two memos from the December 2004
time frame that had been recently discovered regarding a special
interrogation plan. While the investigative team was completing
this additional task, I further directed on the 2nd of June that
General Schmidt address a second set of new allegations made by
a detainee that also concerned a special interrogation plan.

General Schmidt completed his investigation on the 9th of June,
at which time my staff judge advocate began a thorough legal re-
view of the report. I have completed my personal review of the re-
port and taken my actions with regards to the report’s findings and
recommendations. I will inform you of my actions after General
Schmidt and General Furlow brief you on their investigation and
findings.

So I will turn it over to General Schmidt and General Furlow.

Chairman WARNER. General Schmidt.

General ScHMIDT. Thank you, sir. Senator Warner, Senator
Levin, distinguished members of the committee: Thank you for the
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opportunity to brief you on the results of this AR 15-6 investiga-
tion into the FBI allegations of detainee abuse at Gitmo.

On December 29, 2004, General Furlow was appointed. He
brought three U.S. Army staff members with him to help do this
investigation. Then on February 28 I included my staff judge advo-
cate and two other action officers, and we were the basic eight
members that completed this investigation.

I provided to all the members a copy of the report, and I apolo-
gize for its length. There are about 21 pages. But if I go through
the report I will refer to those pages as I talk about the conduct
of the report, what we found, and what our recommendations and
findings were. That would be helpful. So I will refer to those pages
for the members.

Chairman WARNER. We will put the complete statements and re-
ports of each of the investigating officers in the record.

CDR USSOUTHCOM Directed
AR 15-6 Investigation into
Detainee-Abuse Allegations
at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba

Lt Gen Mark Schmidt
Sr. Investigation Officer
BG John Furlow
Investigation Officer
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Purpose

* Investigate FBI allegations of detainee abuse at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba

* Investigate other allegations of abuse discovered
during the investigation

* Determine accountability for substantiated violations

Background

* June 2004 FBI began internal inquiry on
mistreatment or aggressive behavior towards

; FBI Inspection Division
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (GTMO) detainees nspection Division

493 responses to
Email Survey
59

* July 2004 FBI Inspection Division sent Email r
Survey to 493 FBI personnel who served in )26
GTMO between 9 Sep 01 and 9 Jul 04

¢ 29 December 2004 CDR USSOUTHCOM
appointed BG Furlow to investigate 08

* 28 February 2005 Lt Gen Schmidt appointed to W Nothing to report 408
complete Investigation ONo Response 58

# Reported Concerns 26
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Scope of Review

¢ Interviews
— Full chain of command to CDRs JTF-GTMO, JTF-160
and JTF-170
— GTMO Operations from Jan 02 to present
— FBI, DIA, ClA, OSD, and US Military

* Reviewed/researched documentation

— Previous investigation resulits — FBl reports

— MFR/Interrogation logs — Manuals

— Special Interrogation Plans — Regulations

— Standard Operating Procedures — Interrogation Plans
— Joint Detainee Information — Brig logs

Management System

* Reviewed allegations by two high-value detainees

Summary of Findings

9 FBI allegations

— 2 unsubstantiated

— 2 substantiated; not authorized
— 5 substantiated; authorized

* Interrogation of ISN 063 resulted in abusive and
degrading treatment

» 2nd high-value detainee (HVD) was threatened
during his interrogation

* No torture occurred; detention and interrogation
operations were safe, secure, and humane
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AR 15-6 Findings
Unsubstantiated Allegations

*a. Military personnel improperly interfered with
FBI interrogators in the performance of their
duties.

“b. Military interrogators denied food and water.

* Relates to FBI allegations

Interrogation Techniques

Source: U.S. Army Field Manual 34-52, Intelligence Interrogation

Direct. 10. Futility

Incentive. 11. We Know All
Emotional Love. 12. File and Dossier
Emotional Hate. 13. Establish Your Identity

Egg: 88 %I'\-Iﬂﬁgs)h) 14. Repetition
Fear-Down 15. R_apid Fire

Pride and Ego-Up  16. Silent

Pride and Ego-down 17. Change of Scene

©CONoGO N =
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JTF-170 Counter Resistance Techniques
Requested: 11 Oct 02 SECDEF Approvedv: 2 Dec 02
Cat It and 1li Rescinded 15 Jan 03

* Category | techniques
- Ielling at the detainee, but expressly excluding yelling that would cause pain or damage to the detainees
earing
The use of multiple interrogators
Deceiving the detainee by having the interrogator present a falss identity. The assumption of a false identity
would be intended to paint the interrogator as either a citizen of a foreign nation, or as an interrogator from a
country with a reputation for harsh treatment of detainees
* Category Il techniques
— The use of stress positions (like standing), for a maximum of four hours
The use of false documents or reports
The use of an isolation facility for up to 30 days, with any extensions beyond the 30 days requiring approval
from the JTF-170 Commander
fnterrogation of the detainee in an environment other than the standard interrogation booth
Deprivation of light and auditory stimuli
The use of a hood placed over the detainee’s head dun’n? transportation and guestioning (the hood should
not resirict breathing in any way and the detainees should be under direct observation when hooded)
The use of 20-hour interrogations
The removal of all comfort items (including religious items)
Switching the detainees diet from hot meals to Meals Ready-to-Eat (American military field rations)
Removal of clothing
Forced grooming (shaving of facial hair, etc)
— The use of detainee’s individual phobias (such as fear of dogs) to induce stress
. ategory Hll techniques
— The use of scenarios designed to convince the detainees that death or severely painfuf consequences are
imminent for him and/or his family
—  Exposure to cold weather or water (with appropriate medical monitoring)
— The use of wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of suffocation
—  The use of mild, non-injurious physical contact such as grabbing, poking in the chest with the finger, and
light pushing

AN S
!

t

| I ]

RANEAN QA N
|

& Approved Interrogation Techniques
SECDEF Memo 16 Apr 03

Direct

Incentive/removal of incentive

Emotion Love

Emotional Hate

Fear up harsh

Fear up mild

Reduce fear

Pride and ego up

Pride and ego down

\flz\;ﬂ'lll(ty 0 Techniques b, i, 0, and x
E s?abr;i%\lq )a/‘ou identity require showing of military
Repetition approach necessity and advanced
File and dossier notice to SECDEF
Mutt and Jeff

Rapid fire

Silence

Change of scenery up

Change of scenery down

Dietary manipulation

Environmental manipulation

Sleep adjustment

False flag

Isolation

SATISQTe 00T

$<Cm®n0TO53

x
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Interrogation
Policy and Guidance

Prior to 2 Dec 02

— Humane treatment

- FM 34-52

2 Dec 02 -15Jan 03

— Humane treatment

- FM 34-52

— 2 Dec 02 SECDEF counter-resistance techniques

15 Jan 03 — 16 Apr 03
(2 Dec 02 SECDEF memo rescinded Cat Il and Il1)

— Humane treatment

- FM 34-52

— 2 Dec 02 SECDEF memo Cat |
16 Apr 03 — Present

— Humane treatment

— 16 Apr 03 SECDEF counter-resistance techniques

- gn1pl\lll|3813ntation guidance derived from FM 34-52, USSOUTHCOM and

Policy to JTF-GTMO
Application Process
Example 1 of 2

FM 34-52

— Example: Futility — “Interrogator convinces the source that
resistance to questioning is futile.” (FM 34-52)

Interrogator (NCO) constructs written interrogation plan;

vetted through Team Chief and ICE Supervisor (DIA

and/or officer); conducted with translator in consultation

with Analysts

GTMO Application Example:

— Tell Detainee...
* About how Al Qaida is — Gender coercion via domination
falling apart * Straddled

* That everyone has been «M d
killed or captured assage
+ What we know about him * Mild, non-injurious touching
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Policy to JTF-GTMO
Application Process
Example 2 of 2

* FM 34-52
— Example: Ego Down — “Approach based on attacking the
source’s sense of personal worth.” (FM 34-52)

* Interrogator (NCO) constructs written interrogation plan;
vetted through Team Chief and ICE Supervisor (DIA
and/or officer); conducted with translator in consultation
with Analysts

e GTMO Application Example:

— Told mother and sister were whores
Forced to wear women’s lingerie
— Allegations of homosexuality
Forced to dance with male interrogator
Strip searches for control measures
Forced to perform dog tricks

AR 15-6 Findings
Substantiated Allegations

~a. Twice detainees were “short shackled” to the floor
of the interrogation room.

*b. An interrogator directed the use of duct tape to
quiet a detainee.
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AR 15-6 Findings
Substantiated Findings

*a. DoD Interrogators subjected numerous detainees to yelling or

*b.
*C.

*d.

loud music during interrogations.
DoD interrogators impersonated being FBI and DoS agents.

Interrogators adjusted air conditioners to make rooms
uncomfortable.

Interrogators had detainees moved from cell to cell to disrupt
sleep patterns.

Female interrogator approached a detainee from behind,
rubbed against his back, whispered in his ear, & ran fingers
through his hair.

Female interrogator put perfume on a detainee’s arm.

Female interrogator told a detainee that a red marking on her
hand was menstrual blood and then wiped her hand on the
detainee.

AR 15-6 Findings
High Value Detainee

ISN 063

Saudi citizen and al Qaeda operative

Denied entry into US in Aug 01

Captured in Afghanistan and transferred GTMO Feb 02
Admitted to being “20th hijacker” on UA FIt 93

Proved to have intimate knowledge of future plans

Successfully resisted standard interrogation techniques at
GTMO for over 8 months

(Internment Serial Number (ISN}) is unique detainee identifier)
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AR 15-6 Findings

W ISN 063 - Substantiated Findings

a.

*d.

Twice, MPs held down ISN 063 while a female interrogator
straddled the detainee without placing weight on the detainee.

Female interrogator on one occasion massaged the back and
neck of ISN 063 over his clothing.

Female interrogators on numerous occasions invaded the
personal space of ISN 063 to disrupt his concentration.

On numerous occasions between Nov 02 and Jan 03 ISN 063
was yelled at or subjected to loud music during interrogation.

AR 15-6 Findings
ISN 063 - Substantiated Findings

Told ISN 063 that his mother and sister were whores.

Forced ISN 063 to wear a woman’s bra and a thong placed on
his head during the course of the interrogation.

Twice interrogators told him he was a homosexual or had
homosexual tendencies and that other detainees knew.

Forced ISN 063 to dance with a male interrogator.

Interrogators subjected ISN 063 to several strip searches as
a control measure.

Interrogator tied a leash to ISN 063’s hand chains, led him
around the room through a series of dog tricks.
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AR 15-6 Findings
ISN 063 - Substantiated Findings

“k. Adjusted air conditioners to make rooms uncomfortable.

*l. Twice interrogators brought a military working dog into the
interrogation room and directed it to growl, bark, and show teeth.

m. Interrogators subjected ISN 063 to segregation from the general
population from 8 Aug 02 to 15 Jan 03 (160 days).

n. Interrogators subjected ISN 063 to 18 to 20-hour interrogations
per day (48 of 54 days).

AR 15-6 Discussion
ISN 063

Discussion: Cumulative effect of simultaneous application of
numerous authorized techniques had abusive and degrading
impact on detainee

— 160 day segregation from detainee general population
— 18 to 20-hour interrogations per day, for 48 of 54 days
— Applied creative, aggressive and persistent techniques

Recommendation: CDR JTF GTMO should be held accountable
for failing to supervise the interrogation of ISN 063 and should be
admonished for that failure.
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AR 15-6 Discussion
Second High Value Detainee

ISN ---

SEE CLASSIFIED SLIDE

S AR 15-6 Discussion
’ Second HVD-Substantiated Findings

*a. DoD interrogator impersonated a Navy Captain assigned to
the White House.

*b. Interrogators adjusted air conditioners to make rooms
uncomtfortable.

¢. USN LCDR threatened second HVD and his family.

Recommendation: USN LCDR violated UCMJ, Article 134,
by communicating a threat. Recommend d|SC|pl|ne by
current commander.
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Summary of Findings

* O FBI allegations
— 2 unsubstantiated
— 2 substantiated; not authorized
— 5 substantiated; authorized

* No torture occurred; detention and interrogation
operations were safe, secure, and humane.

* ISN 063 Cumulative effect of simultaneous application
of numerous authorized techniques had abusive and
degrading impact on detainee

* Second HVD USN LCDR violated the UCMJ, by
communicating a threat to HVD.

Questions

Lt Gen Mark Schmidt
Sr. Investigation Officer
BG John Furlow
Investigation Officer

General SCHMIDT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Slide 2, you can see the purpose, as was stated by General
Craddock, was to investigate those FBI allegations into the mis-
conduct. Now, I will tell you it was a very focused investigation. It
was about the FBI allegations. But we were also asked to look at
whatever else we found in the way of discovery that led to detainee
abuse. So that was our charter.

We were also asked to determine accountability for substantiated
violations, and then in the end I was to recommend action at the
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appropriate level for any accountability that could be identified for
substantiated violations.

On Slide 2, as General Craddock has said, the e-mails from the
FBI generated this investigation. The FBI Inspection Division sent
an e-mail survey out to 493 FBI personnel who had been assigned
to Gitmo from 9 September 2001 to 9 July 2004. In response to
those surveys, 408 FBI agents had nothing to report. There were
59 who came back with no responses and that was determined by
the FBI to be a negative reply as well. 26 agents replied that they
had some indication or knowledge that they had perceived aggres-
sive treatment or aggressive interrogation techniques that would
not be consistent with FBI interrogation techniques and they re-
ported those back to the FBI.

Of those, there were multiple reports of the same type of event
and we boiled those down to eight, and we split one because it in-
volved two different categories and we called it nine. So out of the
26 that came back positive, we looked at 9.

Slide 4, please.

The scope of the review. You can see on the slide it was fairly
comprehensive, even though this was a focused report. The inves-
tigation was directed and accomplished under the informal proce-
dures of the AR 15-6. This AR 15-6 investigation centered on the
FBI alleged abuses occurring during interrogation operations. We
found incidents of abuse during detention operations, all of which
were appropriately addressed by the command.

The investigation team conducted a comprehensive review of
thousands of documents and statements pertaining to allegations of
abuse occurring at Gitmo, to include the complete medical records
of the subjects of the first and second special interrogation plan.
The team interviewed 30 FBI agents, conducted interviews of over
100 personnel from 6 January 2005 to 24 March 2005, and had ac-
cess to hundreds of interviews conducted by several recent inves-
tigations. These interviews included personnel assigned to Gitmo,
U.S. SOUTHCOM, the Office of the Secretary of Defense during
the tenure of JTF’s 160, 170, and Gitmo. It included 76 DOD per-
sonnel, to include every general officer who commanded the Task
Force 160, 170, or the JTF Gitmo. Additionally, we considered
abuse allegations made by the two high-value detainees them-
selves, as General Craddock has said. The investigation team at-
tempted to determine if the allegations alleged by the FBI, in fact,
occurred.

During the course of the follow-up investigations, the AR 15-6
team also considered allegations raised specifically by the detainees
who were the subject of those plans. The investigating team ap-
plied a preponderance standard of proof consistent with guidance
contained in AR 15-6. Much of the testimony was obtained from
witnesses who had served as much as 3 years earlier and some-
times for 45 days or less. Civilian witnesses were not required to
cooperate, nor under subpoena to answer questions.

The team also applied guidance contained in Field Manual (FM)
34-52, Commander of U.S. SOUTHCOM, and SECDEF memoran-
dums authorizing special interrogation techniques if deciding if a
particular interrogation approach fell properly within an author-
ized technique. In those cases in which the team concluded that the
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allegation had in fact occurred, the team then considered whether
the incident was in compliance with interrogation techniques that
were approved either at the time of the incident or subsequent to
the incident. In those cases where it was determined the allegation
occurred and to not have been an authorized technique, the team
then reviewed whether disciplinary action had already been taken
and the propriety of that action. On 28 March 2005, General
Craddock asked me to determine accountability for those substan-
tiated violations that had no command action taken.

We did not review the legal validity of the various interrogation
techniques outlined in the Army FM 34-52 or those approved by
the SECDEF.

If you to go Slide 5, please. This is a summary of findings and
I will go through the findings item by item in detail in the fol-
lowing slides. You can see in the nine FBI allegations two were un-
substantiated; we found no basis for those allegations. Two were
substantiated and in fact were not authorized. Five were substan-
tiated; however, they were determined to be authorized under the
current guidance.

Interrogation of a particular ISN-063—and this is one person—
in our judgment resulted in abusive and degrading treatment, and
that was determined by the cumulative effect of creative, per-
sistent, and lengthy interrogations which resulted in that deter-
mination.

The third bullet: There was a threat to the second high-value de-
tainee that was discovered during the investigation.

As the bottom line, though, we found no torture. Detention and
interrogation operations were safe, secure, and humane.

Slide 6. To the unsubstantiated allegations: On the left-hand col-
umn on your slide you will see an asterisk. Any of the allegations
that we discuss in the briefing that have an asterisk relate to the
FBI allegations. Those that are not relate to discovery events.

Chairman WARNER. General, we do not have page numbers on
our copy.

General SCHMIDT. I am sorry, sir, but at the very bottom of the
right there is a faint number, the very bottom of the right-hand
part of the slide.

Chairman WARNER. Oh, I see. Well, that is an unusual way to
do it. I see it now, all right.

General SCHMIDT. I am sorry, sir.

Chairman WARNER. We are not holding you responsible, but we
thank you for bringing it to my attention.

General SCHMIDT. Yes, sir.

I am currently briefing from Slide 6. Reference to A: Investiga-
tion revealed that interrogators impersonated FBI agents and we
believe that some of the FBI agents characterized this as inter-
ference. All testimony indicated the FBI impersonations were iso-
lated and they were stopped upon FBI request. Further, we could
find no FBI agent that could cite an actual example of interference
with their mission.

Reference to the allegation that was unsubstantiated in B: Re-
garding the allegation by an agent she observed a detainee to be
deprived of food and water. We considered both the statement she
made on 12 July 2004 e-mail and her 9 September FBI telephone
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interview. We made several efforts to conduct our own interview,
but our FBI liaison continually advised us that she was unavail-
able. During the course of our investigation, we were unable to cor-
roborate any allegations that detainees had been denied food or
water.

Also, because of the inconsistencies in that agent’s testimony and
the lack of any other corroboration, we were unable to substantiate
the second allegation.

To Slide 7. It is very important, I think, that we understand
what we used as the authorities. FM 34-52 is the baseline pro-
viding doctrinal guidance, techniques, and procedures governing
employment of interrogators as human intelligence (HUMINT) col-
lection assets. This was all used and was in force at the time Gitmo
interrogation operations began in March 2002.

Slide 8. Due to the difficulties, as General Craddock said, of in-
terrogating a single high-value detainee, ISN-063, JTF Gitmo re-
quested on 11 October 2002 additional techniques. As you look at
that slide, all of the category 1, category 2, and category 3 tech-
niques were on the list requested by the JTF. On December 2 the
SECDEF approved the ones that have the green check marks. You
can see it is all of the category 1, category 2, and only one of the
category 3. After approximately 45 days, all category 2 and cat-
egory 3 techniques were rescinded.

Next slide, Slide 9. On April 16, the SECDEF approved these in-
terrogation techniques and this is the sole authority in existence
today. The FM 34-52 is used as a guide. As you look at the slide
you will notice that B, I, O, and X are highlighted. Those tech-
niques, if they are to be used, require the showing of military ne-
cessity and advance notice to the SECDEF. These are in force
today.

Slide 10. I put a slide together that just shows that in a more
concise way. But I have highlighted a basic premise and guidance
that has been inherent in every change of guidance and policy that
has come down, and that is the baseline of humane treatment of
all detainees.

Chairman WARNER. General, the committee will ask that you
provide for the record first, referring to Slide 8, the green check
marks all approved by SECDEF. Then in what form did he rescind
those? By written communication, I presume?

[The information referred to follows:]

The Secretary of Defense memorandum dated December 2, 2002, which approved
the techniques outlined in slide 8 was exhibit #15 of the Army Regulation 15-6 In-

vestigation Report into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abuse dated April 1, 2005,
(amended June 9, 2005) which was provided to the committee.

General SCHMIDT. That is affirmative, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Can we have copies of that written commu-
nication?

General SCHMIDT. Yes, sir, we will provide those to you.

[The information referred to follows:]

The Secretary of Defense memorandum dated January 15, 2003, which rescinds
the December 2, 2002, memorandum was exhibit #16 of the Army Regulation 15—

6 Investigation Report into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abuse dated April 1, 2005,
(amended June 9, 2005) which was provided to the committee.
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Chairman WARNER. Now, was that written communication dif-
ferent than the memo of 16 April 20037 Is that a separate docu-
ment?

General SCHMIDT. It is a separate document, also written, and
we can provide that for the record as well.

Chairman WARNER. All right, thank you.

General SCHMIDT. As I move, humane treatment again being the
baseline of any issuance of policy and guidance regarding interro-
gation.

To move to Slide 11

Chairman WARNER. Before we leave 9, we will need to have an
amplification of your note there that techniques B, I, O, and X re-
quire showing of military necessity and advance notice. The full
document that is behind that, we will need that also.

General SCHMIDT. Yes, sir, we will do that.

[The information referred to follows:]

The Secretary of Defense memorandum dated April 16, 2003, which outlines the
requirement to show military necessity was exhibit #17 of the Army Regulation 15—

6 Investigation Report into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abuse dated April 1, 2005,
(amended June 9, 2005) which was provided to the committee.

General SCHMIDT. On Slide 11, I thought it would be illustrative
to understand how the broad guidance or techniques that were
available to the JTF, not directed to use but were available for the
JTF Gitmo to use, on this particular detainee, how it moved from
a high-order, fairly benign looking technique into an application
that you will see later in the briefing that got very specific.

On Slide 11 it says “FM 34-52 has an example of a technique
called ‘futility.’ It’s intent is for the interrogator to convince the
source that resistance to questioning is futile.” That guidance is
now an approved technique chosen by the JTF. The process it goes
through to be used—there is an interrogator, normally a non-
commissioned officer (NCO), who constructs a written interrogation
plan that is vetted through a team chief and an intelligence control
element supervisor, which could be Defense Intelligence Agency
(DIA) or an officer at the O-5 or GT-14 level. Then, the plan is
approved and vetted through that level, and then the interrogation
is c?nducted with a translator in consultation possibly with another
analyst.

The Gitmo example that I put at the bottom there is for futility,
again convincing the source that resistance is futile, tell the de-
tainee about how al Qaeda is falling apart, talk about how every-
one has been killed or captured, and tell him what we know about
him so that he feels that he has already been exploited at some
point and it is futile to withhold information.

However, as it gets down to the interrogation room that may be,
it may involve gender coercion via some form of domination. The
detainee does not want to hear this and he does not want to hear
it from a woman. You will see that being straddled, not touched,
massaged, or possibly mild non-injurious touching, such as putting
perfume on the arm and that sort of thing, invades a detainees per-
sonal space. This is part of how they make the futility element
work, with this more aggressive technique.

Chairman WARNER. Now, all of those actions would be done by
a female?
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General SCHMIDT. That could have been done by a female. In this
case it was, and we will talk about that specific interrogation. This
is an example how top-down policy was applied at Gitmo.

On the next page there is a second example, also taken from FM
34-52 again. Example was “Ego Down.” That is an approach based
on attacking the source’s sense of personal worth. Again, the same
process: from the NCO, vetted through about the O-5, GT-14 level,
and then the interrogation is conducted with enlisted personnel.

To bring the ego down, in the Gitmo application example the de-
tainee was told that his mother and sister were whores, he was
forced to wear women’s lingerie, there were multiple allegations of
homosexuality, and he was told that his comrades were aware of
that. He was forced to dance with a male interrogator, subject to
strip searches for control measures, not for security, and he was
forced to perform dog tricks—all this to lower his personal sense
of worth.

That is from the higher order technique down to an application.
Somewhere in there there has to be a translation and that is where
we started looking for accountability, in the translation from the
high order example of a technique to the application, and we will
go through those, sir, as we go through the briefing.

As we go to Slide 13, we begin to talk about the allegations.
Again, on the left-hand side of the briefing if you see an asterisk
that relates directly to something that was observed by an FBI
agent that did not conform to FBI protocol for interrogation, which
they found to be aggressive.

We found two substantiated allegations to be not authorized. The
chaining of detainees to the floor, they were short-shackled to the
floor in the interrogation room. Chaining detainees in this manner
was used as a force protection measure in the early stages of oper-
ation. It is now specifically prohibited by Gitmo standard operating
procedures.

We also determined that the chaining to the floor, the short-
shackling, where the handcuffs are put down at the floor level, was
only done briefly, it was done as a force protection measure, and
it was never done in the interrogation, “briefly” meaning awaiting
intergogation. That has now been stopped. So that was substan-
tiated.

This was not construed to be a stress position and it was not con-
sidered to be overly abusive. There was no injury, there was no
pain involved in this. It was a force security measure.

On the second one, an interrogator directed the use of duct tape
to quiet a detainee. This was not authorized. In this case, a de-
tainee was resisting interrogation by continuous chanting. Accord-
ing to witnesses, one was chanting a resistance mantra, another
one was chanting things from the Koran. At the direction of a civil-
ian intelligence control element chief, tape was used to quiet the
detainee. This intelligence chief was verbally admonished by the
Judge Advocate General (JAG) onsite at Gitmo.

Slide 14. This slide refers to the general population, what we
found, and does not necessarily apply to ISN-063. We will treat
him independently and another, second high-value detainee. In the
general population, the first four, A, B, C, and D on your briefing
on Slide 14, were alleged by the FBI. The yelling, the loud music,
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we found that to be substantiated, did happen, and it was author-
ized under the FM 34-52 under the technique of futility.

Under B, impersonation of FBI and Department of State agents
was authorized under the Secretary of Defense action memo in De-
cember 2002 under category 1, deception.

C, the air conditioners, was not authorized prior to 16 December
2003 under environmental manipulation, but it was authorized
under the SECDEF 16 April 2003 memo. Environmental manipula-
tion was approved as an appropriate and humane interrogation
technique.

D, disrupt sleep patterns. That was authorized by SECDEF 16
April 2003 memo, sleep adjustment. Now, some of these events
happened before 16 April, but if they were judged to be appropriate
as a technique in this case at that time we found that they should
have been appropriate prior.

E, the female interrogator approached detainee from behind,
rubbed his back, whispered in his ear, and ran fingers through his
hair; that was authorized by the FM under the futility technique.

F, the female interrogator put perfume on a detainee’s arm; also
authorized under futility, also authorized under the action memo
from the SECDEF under mild, non-injurious physical contact.

The last one, G, under substantiated findings, involved the case
of the female interrogator told the detainee that the red marking
on her hand was menstrual blood and then wiped her hand on the
detainee. This was a not authorized event. It was a spontaneous
act of revenge by the interrogator. She had been spit on by the de-
tainee. She left the room. She was angry. She put some marker on
her hand, walked back in, put it on him, and said: You know what
that is? He goes: No. She told him, and it in fact unsettled him.

She was verbally reprimanded, removed from interrogation du-
ties for an unspecified time—we determined about 30 days—she
was retrained, and then she was reinstated.

We listed these female coercive substantiated findings because
we needed to dispel the idea that there had been a lap dance com-
mitted, and we could find no evidence that that ever occurred. But
there was enough of these coercive sort of things with female inva-
sion of space that that could have been interpreted by an FBI
agent. So we looked at all of these.

Slide 15, please. Now we get to the isolated case, and this is
where most of the findings we have about, that we classify as abu-
sive or degrading treatment are concerned, with ISN-063. You will
see on Slide 15 this is not a good person. This is not a person that
we have any compassion for and it was difficult to find any pity
for this man.

A Saudi citizen and an al Qaeda operative. Denied entry into the
U.S., as General Craddock said, and it was just a matter of a sharp
agent that kept him from entering the United States at Orlando.
He was captured in Afghanistan, he came to Gitmo in February
2002. He admitted to being the 20th hijacker and he expected to
fly on United Airlines Flight 93.

He proved to have intimate knowledge of future plans. He suc-
cessfully resisted standard interrogation techniques at Gitmo for 8
months and he is the genesis for the request by the JTF at Gitmo
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for more techniques that might be able to get past his resistance
training.

Slide 16, referencing ISN-063, and this is all about this one indi-
vidual. A, B, and C, as you can see, involved gender coercion, inva-
sion of space, and futility, and that involved the straddling. Twice
it happened, while MPs held him down while a female interrogator
straddled him without placing weight on the detainee.

Invasion of space, B. The female interrogator on one occasion
massaged the back and neck of ISN-063 over his clothing.

C, female interrogators on numerous occasions invaded the per-
sonal space of ISN-063 to disrupt his concentration.

Asterisk on D, meaning it was observed by the FBI: On numer-
ous occasions between November 2002 and January 2003, ISN-063
was yelled at or subjected to loud music during the interrogation.
That was an authorized technique on ISN-063.

Slide 17. These are all substantiated findings, and up front these
all fall under the broad technique of pride and ego down, which is
an authorized technique.

E, ISN-063 was told his mother and sister were whores. He was
forced to wear a bra and a thong placed on his head during the
course of interrogation. Twice interrogators told him he was a ho-
mosexual or had homosexual tendencies and that other detainees
knew. He was forced to dance with a male interrogator. He was
subjected to several strip searches as a control measure, not for se-
curity. An interrogator tied a leash to his hand chains, led him
around the room, and conducted a series of dog tricks.

Slide 18. The first two have the asterisk, observed or reported
through FBI allegations. Air conditioners were adjusted to make
the rooms uncomfortable. That was not authorized prior to 16 De-
cember. However, it was authorized by the SECDEF 16 April 2003
under environmental manipulation, and it’s an approved, appro-
priate, humane Gitmo technique.

L, twice interrogators brought military working dogs into the
Gitmo room and directed to growl, bark, and show teeth at the de-
tainee. Dogs were authorized under the SECDEF action memo,
again the additional techniques, 2 December 2002, category 2, indi-
vidual phobias. Both of those were FBI alleged observed.

M, interrogators subjected ISN-063 to segregation from the gen-
eral population from 8 August 2002 to 15 January 2003, and that
is 160 days. That was authorized by the SECDEF action memo of
2 December 2002, category 2, isolation facility.

Interrogators subjected ISN-063 to 18- to 20-hour interrogations
per day. Those occurred 48 out of a 54-day straight period. That
was authorized by the SECDEF action memo of 2 December 2002,
category 2, 20-hour interrogations. The interrogation days were
typically a 7-hour interrogation, a new set of interrogators would
come in, 7 hours of interrogation, a new set would come in, 6
hours, and then the detainee was released for 4 hours. He could
sleep if he chose to sleep.

Slide 19, and this is the discussion, not a finding, on the ISN-
063. While taken individually, each technique and the application
of those techniques was authorized and did not rise to the level in
our judgment of inhumane treatment, and this AR 15-6 team
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found that the cumulative effect of the interrogation was degrading
and abusive, again regarding this particular single individual.

Particularly troubling is the combined impact of the 160 days of
the segregation from other detainees, 48 of 54 consecutive days of
18 to 20-hour interrogations, and the creative application of author-
ized interrogation techniques. Requiring the subject of the first spe-
cial interrogation plan to be led around by a leash tied to chains,
placing the thong on his head, wearing a bra, insulting his mother
and sister, being forced to stand naked in front of a female interro-
gator for a period of at least 5 minutes, using strip searches as in-
terrogation techniques, the AR 15—6 team found to be abusive and
degrading, particularly done within the context of the 48 days of
intense and long interrogations.

I do not, however, consider this treatment to have crossed the
threshold of being inhumane. In making that conclusion, I consid-
ered the President’s mandate to treat the detainees humanely and
the requirement to ensure detainees had adequate food, drinking
water, clothing, shelter, and medical treatment. In this case the
treatment was not determined by me to be inhumane because the
interrogators not only ensured that ISN-063 had adequate food,
water, clothing, and shelter, but also that the interrogation and the
techniques used were done in a highly controlled interrogation en-
vironment, with medical personnel continuously monitoring his
health and well-being.

On the other hand, despite the controlled environment of the in-
terrogation room, we felt the commander of the JTF still failed to
monitor the cumulative application of the creative interrogation
techniques applied over a lengthy period of time. In interviews, the
commander of the JTF stated he was unaware of almost any of
these applications.

Both FM 34-52 and the current SECDEF guidance warn interro-
gators of the responsibility to monitor the cumulative effects of in-
terrogation. General Miller was aware of the FM’s warning and ex-
pressly told the FBI agents—and had been expressly told by FBI
agents of their concerns about the dangers of counter-resistance in-
terrogations. Despite these facts, in my opinion he failed to monitor
and place limits on the application of authorized interrogation tech-
niques—authorized interrogation techniques—and allowed this in-
terrogation to result in potentially unnecessary and degrading abu-
sive treatment.

On Slide 20, we will have to move to a closed hearing to discuss
the second high-value detainee. But we will discuss in open session
some of the treatment.

Slide 21, the second high-value detainee substantiated findings.
The first two have asterisks, again reminding that these were ob-
served by the FBI agents as alleged abuse. The DOD interrogator
impersonated a Navy captain assigned to the White House. That
impersonation was authorized under the FM 34-52 as a deception
approach.

Interrogators adjusted air conditioners to make the rooms un-
comfortable—again, not authorized prior to December; however, au-
thorized by the SECDEF 16 April 2003 memo, environmental ma-
nipulation as an approved, appropriate humane interrogation tech-
nique.
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On C, this is one that was found by discovery, and that was that
a United States Navy lieutenant commander communicated a
threat to the second high-value detainee and his family, and it was
determined to be a threat of death. We made a recommendation
that the United States Navy lieutenant commander had violated
the UCMJ Article 134 by committing a threat and we rec-
ommended discipline by his current commander.

We were unable—again, this is not a legal criminal investigation
by us; we did not have that authority. But the preponderance of
evidence—even in the absence of several key witnesses who de-
clined to be interviewed, we found a preponderance of the evidence
showed that this did in fact happen.

Slide 22.

Chairman WARNER. Let me get that clear. Several key witnesses
declined to be interviewed?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Can you amplify that? Who were they and
what procedures did you take to try and get those interviews, and
did you go above your chain or your own level to a higher level to
try and get assistance to get those people?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, the higher level would obviously be the
combatant commander and that will go to General Craddock and
he will address that in his remarks. The people who would not ac-
quiesce to being interviewed in this and we could not interview
them because they were civilian, they were retired, or they were
reservists. If they were military, we could direct them to partici-
pate and cooperate with the investigation.

One was a DIA individual, and I need to make sure I am correct
on this. One was a staff judge advocate who said he would plead
his rights to not get involved in this, and we did not have the au-
thority to go around that. Another one was a—and the lieutenant
commander would also not participate in this interview.

Chairman WARNER. Did any FBI personnel decline to be inter-
viewed?

General SCHMIDT. No, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Excuse me. Was the lieutenant commander on
Active Duty or retired?

General SCcHMIDT. The lieutenant commander was a reservist
and?I believe he is no longer even on Reserve status. Is that cor-
rect?

He is still in the Reserves. He has invoked his rights and he will
have to be interviewed in the investigation that will follow this.
Now, I have recommended, again, that this goes to a commander.

Senator LEVIN. Just clarify “invoked his rights”? Be more spe-
cific? What rights?

General SCHMIDT. Invoked his rights to not incriminate himself
or participate in the interview.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. There will be a follow-on criminal investiga-
tion, is that correct? Did you bring that out to General Craddock?

General SCHMIDT. I believe so, sir.

Sir, we get to Slide 22, and again I apologize for the long-winded
and the level of definition. But again to review, that we had nine
FBI allegations, two unsubstantiated, two were substantiated that
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were not authorized; and there were five substantiated, however
upon investigation we found that under broad authorities they
were authorized.

In my judgment—and we looked at this very, very carefully—no
torture occurred. Detention and interrogation operations across the
board, the general population, and again looking through all the
evidence that we could, were safe, secure, and humane.

We did find that, regarding one detainee, ISN-063, I felt that the
cumulative effect of simultaneous applications of numerous author-
ized techniques had abusive and degrading impact on the detainee.

Lastly, the second high-value detainee, the naval commander vio-
lated the UCMJ by communicating a threat, and to us it was a
death threat, and that can be determined once we have more testi-
mony under oath to that.

Chairman WARNER. Is there any conflict between the two sub-
stantiated and not authorized and no torture occurred at all?

General SCHMIDT. I am sorry? Restate the question?

Chairman WARNER. I am just trying to figure out. Two substan-
tiated, not authorized, and then your general conclusion is there
was no torture, detainee and interrogation operations were safe
and secure.

General SCHMIDT. Sir, we made a distinction between what tor-
ture and inhumane treatment would be, given the general guide-
lines, and then what might be abusive and degrading. Something
might be degrading but not necessarily torture, and it may not be
inhumane. It may be humiliating, but it may not be torture.

So we can say no torture, no physical pain, injury. There was a
safe, secure environment the entire time. However, there was de-
grading and abusive treatment to this particular individual. That
was our charter, was to find that.

On the next slide, sir, that is the end. Again, I apologize for the
lengthy

Chairman WARNER. You do not need any apologies. This is a very
important subject and we need to have all the details before us.

General SCHMIDT. Sir, at this time I would like to return the
microphone to General Craddock.

General CRADDOCK. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. General Furlow, is he going to participate in
the direct presentation?

General CRADDOCK. No, sir. He is available to answer questions
when we get to that stage.

Chairman WARNER. All right.

General CRADDOCK. Under AR 15-6, as the appointing authority
for the investigation, my responsibility was to review the report
and take action on the findings and recommendations. In taking
my action, I accepted or approved all the numbered findings and
recommendations included in the written report which was pro-
vided to the committee, with the following two exceptions.

I disapproved Recommendation No. 16, that Major General Mil-
ler be held accountable for failing to supervise the interrogation of
ISN-063 and be admonished for that failure. However, in accord-
ance with current procedures and regulations, I have forwarded
this report to the Department of the Army Inspector General for
review and action as he deems appropriate.
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I modified Recommendation No. 22 to request that the Naval
Criminal Investigative Service (NCIS) conduct further investigation
into the threat communicated by an interrogator to a particular
high-value detainee before forwarding the matter to the current
commander of that interrogator for his action as he deems appro-
priate.

I will now explain the rationale for my decisions. My reason for
disapproving Recommendation No. 16 is that the interrogation——

Chairman WARNER. That is relating to General Miller, for those
trying to follow this. It is a little difficult.

General CRADDOCK. With regard to Major General Miller, Rec-
ommendation No. 16, my reason for disapproving that rec-
ommendation is that the interrogation of ISN-063 did not result in
any violation of any U.S. law or policy and the degree of super-
vision provided by Major General Miller does not warrant admon-
ishment under the circumstances. As the commander, even in the
early days of his assignment, General Miller was responsible for
the conduct of his subordinates. However, as all commanders must
do to an extent they determine appropriate, General Miller relied
on the judgment and experience of his people to carry out their du-
ties in a manner that was both professional and authorized.

The evidence shows that he was not misguided in his trust, since
there was no finding that law or policy was violated. General Miller
did supervise the interrogation in that he was aware of the most
serious aspects of ISN-063’s interrogation: the length of interroga-
tion sessions, the number of days over which it was conducted, and
the length of segregation from other detainees.

The evidence does show that General Miller was not aware of
certain other aspects of that interrogation. However, since there
was no finding that U.S. law or policy was violated, there is noth-
ing for which to hold him accountable concerning the interrogation
of ISN-063. Therefore, under the circumstances, I do not believe
that those aspects of which he was not aware warrant disciplinary
action.

Again, of particular importance to my decision is the fact there
was no finding that the interrogation of ISN-063, albeit character-
ized as creative, aggressive, and persistent, violated U.S. law or
policy. Additionally, I think it is important to note that General
Miller arrived in Gitmo for the first time when he assumed com-
mand on 4 November 2002. He is an artilleryman with no previous
command experience and detention and strategic intelligence-gath-
ering operations. Upon arrival, he assumed command of two orga-
nizations, JTF 160 and 170, that upon his arrival were merged into
JTF Gitmo. The operations at Gitmo had commenced in January
2002 with little infrastructure in place when the first detainees ar-
rived. Upon assuming command of JTF Gitmo, General Miller be-
came responsible for a multitude of tasks that demanded his imme-
diate attention: merging the two task forces into the one task force
that would have a common operating system for both the interroga-
tion element and the detention element, managing the construction
of new facilities, the manning, equipping, training, and organizing
of the force, developing standard operating procedures for and im-
proving the cooperation between inter-agency interrogations, and
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also, last but not least, improving the quality of life for the military
personnel of JTF Gitmo.

Now, let me go on to the next recommendation, Recommendation
22, which has to deal with the communication of a threat. My rea-
son for modifying Recommendation 22 is that further investigation
by the NCIS

Chairman WARNER. Before we leave Miller now, your decision in
effect reverses General Schmidt’s finding, but your decision is now
to be reviewed by the Inspector General (IG) of the Department of
the Army. That should be put in the record at this point.

General CRADDOCK. That is correct, Senator. The requirement I
have under Army regulations, the Army requirement actually, is
that any allegation of wrongdoing, founded or unfounded, must be
communicated to the IG of the Department of the Army for his re-
view and decision as appropriate.

Chairman WARNER. Will he review this de novo, in other words
go from the ground up, look at it all?

General CRADDOCK. We send him the report and my forwarding
letter for his review.

Chairman WARNER. Then it goes to the Secretary of the Army,
I presume?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, what he does with it, I do not
know his procedures.

Chairman WARNER. All right.

Senator LEVIN. Does he have the power to reverse your reversal
of those two recommendations?

General CRADDOCK. I do not know.

Chairman WARNER. I think he does.

Senator LEVIN. General Craddock, your answer is that you do not
know if he has that power?

General CRADDOCK. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. I think we ought to ask our counsel.

Chairman WARNER. We will clarify that.

General CRADDOCK. Now, with regard to the communication of
the threat, my reason for modifying Recommendation 22 is that
further investigation by NCIS may discover evidence in mitigation
and extenuation that should be considered in determining whether
disciplinary action is appropriate for the interrogator.

Of the recommendations I approved, Recommendations 23 to 27
are not within my authority to implement. Therefore, I forwarded
those to the Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for Detainee Af-
fairs for review and action as he deems appropriate.

This concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the
opportunity and we stand ready to answer your questions.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much.

First I want to commend you, General Schmidt, working with
General Furlow, for what appears to be a very comprehensive and
thorough piece of work by you and your team. We had to move
swiftly on this. I had the opportunity at length to visit with Gen-
eral Craddock last night and to, in the intervening hours, go
through much of the report. But it is a complicated subject.

My first question I will put to General Craddock, but I think in
all likelihood you will want to refer it to your two officers. That is,
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your assessment of the working relationship between those in the
Bureau—there were some 400 or 500 Bureau people?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, there were 493 in the e-mail survey, and
obviously there is more since.

Chairman WARNER. Now, my understanding, they came for 30-
day intervals, the individuals; is that about right?

General SCHMIDT. I think 30 or 45 days was the standard.

Chairman WARNER. Very brief intervals, they were there. Then
there was a complete recycling, one after another. That is in sharp
contrast to the military individual or the civilians who were there
for at least a year in many instances; am I correct on that?

General CRADDOCK. Initially 6 months and then it turned into a
year rotation, yes, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Now, the interrogation at Gitmo it is clear
was producing a lot of very important intelligence that helped our
operating forces, primarily in Iraq and Afghanistan. That is thor-
oughly documented, General Craddock?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, in a closed session we will
provide you information on the intelligence gained, yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. But my assessment I think in the open can
be that it was a very important contribution——

General CRADDOCK. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER.—to save lives, be it Americans or coalition
forces, fighting.

General CRADDOCK. We believe so.

Chairman WARNER. The findings by and large, with the several
exceptions that you have pointed out, indicate that the interro-
gating procedures were conducted in accordance with directives
from the SECDEF, even though from time to time they were
changed.

Now, the Bureau people were looking at this same set of facts
coming from these detainees and the procedures from the perspec-
tive of future criminal operations in the United States; am I correct
on that?

General FURLOW. Mr. Chairman, that is correct. The FBI agent
went down there with the idea of conducting a prosecutable case
in a court of law.

Chairman WARNER. The standards by which they collect evidence
for prosecutions, presumably for Federal courts as opposed to State,
were quite different than the standards promulgated by the
SECDEF; am I correct in that observation?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, that is correct.

Chairman WARNER. To put it in a simple way, that seems to me
could put sand in the gearbox and cause some difficulty in their
pursuing their mission and the military pursuing their mission.
Am I correct in that, General?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Now, when you conducted your investiga-
tion, to what extent did the Bureau have the opportunity to look
at your findings preliminary and provide some rebuttal?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, when we started the investigation, they
were aware that the entire focus of my investigation, General
Furlow’s investigation, was centered around their alleged percep-
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tion or otherwise of aggressive tactics for interrogation that they
would violate their own policy. They gave us access

Chairman WARNER. So in other words, SECDEF’s directives were
inconsistent, maybe not in violation, but inconsistent with their
policies; is that correct?

General SCHMIDT. The goals were different. The goals for evi-
dence——

Chairman WARNER. Yes, I understand the goals were different.

General SCHMIDT.—and intelligence to be used drove us that
way. So there were different rules. The agents on the ground obvi-
ously wanted to develop rapport and develop evidence through non-
coercive means because it is no longer admissible in a court of law.
We needed actionable intelligence on the DOD side. One, time was
an element. Two, the coercion piece was not an element that would
deter that.

Chairman WARNER. Now clearly that gave rise to some of the
agents providing the, was it 28 e-mails, is that the number that
raised allegations?

General FURLOW. Sir, there was 26.

Chairman WARNER. Twenty-six e-mails, which gave rise to the
need for General Craddock to convene this thing.

Now, to what extent did the writers of those e-mails have an un-
derstanding with what the military mission was vice what the Bu-
reau mission was? Presumably they understood what the Bureau
mission was and the constraints, as you say, imposed by our doc-
trine of Federal law and criminal procedure. But did they have any
appreciation for what you were trying to do in accordance with
SECDEF?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, I will turn this over to General Furlow,
but obviously five of the other allegations were unsubstantiated be-
cause they did not have an understanding. What they saw and
what they understood to be abusive did not correlate.

Chairman WARNER. General Furlow, do you want to make a com-
ment?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, I will make a comment. I would like
to make a comment that the Bureau was very cooperative in work-
ing with us on this investigation, and the goals obviously, as you
mentioned previously, were different. Now, the initial conversation
with some of the writers of the electronic communications were
from a standpoint of providing a prosecution. Later on, late 2002,
early 2003, there was more of an understanding and communica-
tion between the DOD representatives and the Bureau individuals
about what each individual’s part of the effort at Gitmo was.

Chairman WARNER. Now, my understanding is that the Director
of the Bureau has this whole chapter or problem under investiga-
tion. Is that correct, General Craddock?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, I know that the Department
of Justice Inspector General (DOJ IG) requested to visit Gitmo to
interview their people there and some of the DOD people. We sup-
ported that. They also did some interviewing of detainees. Beyond
that, I am not aware of where that investigation is going nor the
intent or purpose. But what we were told was it was to validate
FBI processes and reporting procedures.
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Chairman WARNER. Were there any instances in the performance
of your mission pursuant to General Craddock’s order in which you
felt that the Bureau was not being cooperative? In other words, did
each of the persons you wished to interview agree to do it and did
perform an interview?

General SCHMIDT. When I came on they were completely coopera-
tive, they were collaborative. The DOJ, they were just beginning
their investigation as we were ending ours. General Furlow had
constant contact with the FBI agents and they also worked with
the FBI to have access to all of those agents who had allegations
that they had seen abuse.

General Furlow?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, we worked hand in hand with the
FBI. There were some agents that were just not available based on
the fact that they were deployed overseas and on projects and such
like that. We were able to visit with the FBI, through the FBI
legal, where we were allowed to run the lead with their representa-
tives from the DOJ IG in attendance. We have been in communica-
tion with their investigation to ensure that they have the informa-
tion that we were able to obtain to assist them in their investiga-
tion.

Chairman WARNER. Now, the two unsubstantiated e-mails, did
you interview both of the writers of those e-mails?

General FURLOW. Sir, the two unsubstantiated allegations, we
actually——

Chairman WARNER. In other words, to me—those e-mails were
examined by you and you could not find any facts to substantiate
the allegations in those two FBI e-mails, is that what that means?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir. In addition to that, what we did is we
queried each one of the FBI agents we visited with, with all of the
eight or nine allegations that I was initially chartered with.

Chairman WARNER. Correct. But now, the two unsubstantiated,
were those people face-to-face interviewed by you or your staff?

General FURLOW. Sir, there was a few—one individual agent was
not available who wrote one of the electronic communications. We
were not able to get a hold of her. She was not available. But we
were able to——

Chairman WARNER. What does “not available” mean? She is
locatable somewhere in the world, is she not?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir. She was on a project.

Chairman WARNER. Whatever. I do not want to probe behind
what may be classified, but presumably they are detailed to domes-
tic stations here in the continental United States, I suppose, maybe
overseas.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, there is a considerable number of Bu-
reau folks deployed overseas.

Chairman WARNER. I understand that. But I mean, where was
this individual physically?

General FURLOW. Could I defer that? I am not sure where the
limits and the line is with the FBI information. If I could defer that
to the classified side.

Chairman WARNER. Let us put it this way. It is so important
that we determine how these reports were put together, given that
the facts did not exist in your judgment to support them.
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General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. It seems to me that we should have dele-
gated someone to go somewhere and face-to-face interrogate that
agent. Was that procedure considered?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, it was considered, but it was not done.
But in the context of those allegations, through review of the meth-
odology, reviewing the logs, interviewing other FBI agents and
DOD personnel, we were not able to substantiate those two allega-
tions.

Chairman WARNER. It has been my judgment—and I have some
experience dealing with this as an assistant U.S. attorney at one
time—you go find the person, wherever that person is, and face-to-
face query them. But that was not done for some reason, is that
correct?

General FURLOW. With one individual, that is correct, sir.

Chairman WARNER. But that was an important individual, am I
not correct?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Is it possible, General Craddock, that there
could be a follow-up to fill that gap?

General CRADDOCK. Yes, Mr. Chairman. We can pursue that.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you.

Senator Levin.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

General Craddock, you say there are basically three different
types of activity here you have distinguished between relative to
the Miller recommendation. One was torture, one is inhumane
treatment, and the other one is degrading and abusive treatment.
I believe maybe General Schmidt made those distinctions.

When it came to the recommendation relative to General Miller,
you said that there was no U.S. policy that was violated and that
was the reason for your decision. Is degrading or abusive treatment
consistent with U.S. policy?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, in the context of the interrogation
techniques authorized at the broad level, FM 34-52 and the direc-
tives from the Office of the SECDEF, those techniques were very
general in nature. Now, what happens is then at JTF Gitmo, the
interrogation team looks at, for example, pride and ego down or fu-
tility, as was the example used by General Schmidt, and they de-
velop specific applications, if you will, of how to then use under
that large interrogation technique specific applications which will
cause discomfort to the detainee, which will break concentration,
which will take that detainee out of his trained resistance tech-
niques.

They may be, as General Schmidt has said, have a cumulative
effect of being abusive or degrading.

Senator LEVIN. You said “may be.” Did you disagree with Gen-
eral Schmidt’s conclusion that there were degrading and abusive
techniques used here?

General CRADDOCK. His conclusion was cumulative effects.

Senator LEVIN. Did you disagree?

General CRADDOCK. I do not know because the report—my inves-
tigators did not give me the point at which that would have oc-
curred. Was it a combination of techniques occurring at the same
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time or was it a combination of one technique over time, or both?
I do not know. That is the reason——

Senator LEVIN. Excuse me. You do not know from their report?

General CRADDOCK. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. You do not agree or disagree with their conclu-
sion that the cumulative effect was degrading and abusive tech-
niques?

General CRADDOCK. It may well be the case, but their report did
not prove it conclusively to me.

Senator LEVIN. If it were the case, would you agree that that
would violate U.S. policy?

General CRADDOCK. No.

Senator LEVIN. Well then, it makes no difference whether or not
their report is clear on that point or not, because even if it is clear
on that point, which it is in my judgment, it still in your judg-
ment——

General CRADDOCK. Senator, repeat your question?

Senator LEVIN. Yes.

General CRADDOCK. Would I do what now?

Senator LEVIN. If you agreed with their conclusion that the cu-
mulative effect of these actions was that there was, in their words,
“degrading and abusive treatment” of detainees, would you agree
that that would violate U.S. policy?

General CRADDOCK. The policy as written, I would disagree that
it would not violate.

Senator LEVIN. No, no. There is a double negative.

General CRADDOCK. That is correct

Senator LEVIN. In your judgment, if the cumulative effect of
treatment of detainees resulted in degrading and abusive treat-
ment, would that violate U.S. policy? Can you give us a yes, a no,
or you do not know?

General CRADDOCK. For this specific detainee, which is the only
one I can address since it is the only one in question

Senator LEVIN. Well, there are two here.

General CRADDOCK.—with regard to those techniques——

Senator LEVIN. There are two here.

General CRADDOCK. This is the only one, sir, with these tech-
niques that we addressed. Because of the situation—let us take a
step back——

Senator LEVIN. I do not want to disagree with you. I just want
to find out what your answer is. Do you disagree with their conclu-
sion that, relative to that detainee, the cumulative effect of the be-
havior of the interrogators was degrading and abusive treatment?
Do you disagree with that conclusion?

General CRADDOCK. I do not know.

Senator LEVIN. Okay.

General CRADDOCK. As I stated earlier, because they did not give
me the specificity.

Senator LEVIN. Next question, if you agreed with the conclusion,
would you then believe that that would violate U.S. policy?

General CRADDOCK. We are dealing in a hypothetical?

Senator LEVIN. Yes.

General CRADDOCK. I do not want to do that. We are dealing in
specifics here.




111

Senator LEVIN. Okay.

General CRADDOCK. I think that is why, sir, as I tried to state—
and let me just—that is why I agreed to the recommendation. This
needs some further study to determine where points are, as ref-
erenced in the report, and where lines may be crossed.

Senator LEVIN. General Schmidt, let me ask you a question. By
the way, let me just tell you, General Craddock, I would have
hoped that you could have given us a good, clear “yes,” that if you
concluded, if you concluded, that there was degrading and abusive
treatment of a detainee, that that would violate U.S. policy. I
would have hoped you would have given us a good, clear “yes” on
that. But I will leave it at that.

General CRADDOCK. May I respond?

Senator LEVIN. Sure, if you can leave me a little time.

General CRADDOCK. Senator, we have some definitional stand-
ards and we know what torture is and we know what cruelty is.
“Inhumane treatment” is undefined, but defined at JTF Gitmo in
the absence of anything else that is used, and it appears to be ef-
fective. Beyond that, this blurs. An intent—the issue here is to
what was the reason it might have been done. It was to produce
an effect, to gain information, not for recreation.

Senator LEVIN. I could not agree with you more on that.

General Schmidt, this is for you. A May 10, 2004, e-mail released
under a FOIA request describes how FBI concerns about aggressive
DOD interrogation techniques were so serious that agents in Gitmo
had guidance to stand clear when the techniques were used. The
e-mail states that in weekly meetings of officials from the FBI and
the DOJ’s Criminal Division, “We all agreed DOD tactics were
going to be an issue in military commission cases.”

Now, my question: Do you have an unredacted copy of the May
10, 2004, e-mail?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, I am familiar with the e-mail. I am not
sure if we have an unredacted copy or not.

Senator LEVIN. I would think you should have an unredacted
copy of the e-mail. I think you ought to insist on it.

General SCHMIDT. We will take that for the record and we will
find out.

[The information referred to follows:]

I do not have an unredacted copy of the 10 May 2004 FBI e-mail discussing in-
structions to Gitmo interrogators. I have viewed a redacted copy of this same e-mail

and feel confident that all of the FBI concerns have been addressed relative to the
scope of this investigation.

Senator LEVIN. If you do not, I think you ought to insist upon
it.

There was, finally, in this May 10, 2004, document a reference
to an earlier electronic communication which was prepared by the
FBI’s behavioral analysis unit explaining the Bureau way of inter-
rogation versus DOD’s methodology. Now, a classified version of
that EC—which was referred to in the May 10, 2004, document, a
classified version of that EC which is dated on May 30, 2003, has
been provided to the Senate by the FBI. The classified May 30,
2003, EC contains a number of redactions, but also makes ref-
erence to a number of attachments to the May 30, 2003, EC.
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My question: Do you have an unredacted copy of the May 30,
2003, electronic communication and do you have the attachments
that are referred to?

General SCHMIDT. Senator, we are not in possession of that. We
are aware of that EC. We were made aware of it in the last few
days. We were allowed to see and review, but not take possession
of, that document by the FBI just 2 days ago.

Senator LEVIN. Its attachments?

General SCHMIDT. General Furlow, did you get to see the attach-
ments?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. I would ask the chairman here that we ask that
you make available to us in a classified setting, and that the FBI
make available to us since you folks have seen them, that docu-
ment plus its attachments, in a classified setting. So this is really
a question I guess I will have to address to our chairman.

Chairman WARNER. We will take it under advisement.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. My time is up.

Chairman WARNER. But I believe we have to clarify the record.
Your questions are very important.

In the course of your examination of the e-mails, did you see all
of the unredacted that you so desired?

General SCHMIDT. General Furlow did that part of the investiga-
tion.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir. Going back to Senator Levin’s com-
ment earlier, sir, we reviewed those yesterday at FBI head-
quarters. We were able to review them and read them, but we were
not allowed to take possession of those documents. We were al-
lowed to take notes, but we do not have those documents in our
possession.

Senator LEVIN. Your report was written before you saw those
documents?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

General SCHMIDT. Sir, our judgment after General Furlow read
that, it was determined it was not relevant to the focus of our in-
vestigation on abuse.

Senator LEVIN. To this, okay.

General SCHMIDT. This particular focus, sir.

Senator LEVIN. That is fine. If we could have a copy of those doc-
uments in our classified session, it would be helpful.

General CRADDOCK. Senator, we do not have the documents.

Chairman WARNER. No, I understand.

Why did you delay until 24 hours before this hearing to look at
such an important body of evidentiary material?

General FURLOW. Sir, there was one particular document that
came up we were able to obtain a copy. There was a reference to
this document dated May 30, 2003, and that was a specific docu-
ment that I had not seen before. The other referenced documenta-
tion that I reviewed yesterday, the attachments and such, were
made privileged to us previous to that. What I did is I went
through and reviewed those to ensure that we had a completeness.

But the only document that we had not seen previous was the
May 30, 2003.
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Sgnator LEVIN. So the attachments had been made available to
you?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Okay, good.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you.

Senator McCain.

Senator MCCAIN. General Craddock, as a matter of curiosity, you
mentioned one of the reasons why you overruled General Schmidt’s
recommendation is General Miller was an artilleryman and had ab-
solutely no experience in the handling of prisoners. Why, if this is
such a valuable and important operation, would we appoint some-
body in charge who had no experience?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, as I recall I said experience in de-
tention operations at the strategic level. I did not make that deci-
sion. General Miller is an aggressive commander. He is known to
be able to work through problems and bring——

Senator MCCAIN. So we could not find anybody who had back-
ground and experience in this kind of work to be in charge?

General CRADDOCK. Sir, I cannot answer that. I was not privy to
the selection process.

Senator MCCAIN. The prisoners at Gitmo are those captured in
Afghanistan, is that correct?

General CRADDOCK. That is correct.

Senator MCCAIN. What is the status of those prisoners? What is
the official status of those prisoners?

General CRADDOCK. As determined by the Combatant Status Re-
view Tribunals, enemy combatants or no longer enemy combatants.

Senator MCCAIN. Either one?

General CRADDOCK. The ones that are declared no longer enemy
combatants then will either be returned to country of origin or re-
leased. That is an ongoing process, Senator.

Senator MCCAIN. I was asking the status of those who are held
prisoner today in Gitmo. What is their official status?

General CRADDOCK. I answered that question, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. Which is?

General CRADDOCK. They are either enemy combatants as deter-
mined by the Combatant Status Review Tribunal and validated
through an annual review board or no longer enemy combatants
and therefore they will be processed for return or release.

Senator MCCAIN. As enemy combatants, what protections and
what international agreements that we are signatories to are they
entitled to?

General CRADDOCK. Our policy is they will be treated humanely
and, where military necessity allows, consistent with the principles
of the Geneva Conventions.

Senator MCCAIN. Say that again?

General CRADDOCK. They will be treated humanely and, where
military necessity permits, consistent with the principles of Geneva
Conventions.

Senator MCCAIN. Where military necessity permits, they are eli-
gible for——

General CRADDOCK. Consistent with military necessity

Senator MCCAIN.—Geneva Conventions? Who decides where
military—what was your word?—military necessity permits?
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General CRADDOCK. Consistent with military necessity

Senator MCCAIN. Who decides what “military necessity” is?

General CRADDOCK. At this point, sir, the JTF commander, JTF
Gitmo commander.

Senator McCAIN. So when we interrogate a prisoner, we say you
may be eligible for protections under the Geneva Conventions, but
only where military necessity permits?

General CRADDOCK. I did not indicate it was an interrogation
issue. The point at which——

Senator MCCAIN. We are talking about interrogation at this
hearing, General.

General CRADDOCK. I understand that, Senator. But there is also
detainee operations, which is the security aspect of that.

Senator MCCAIN. Let us focus our attention on the interrogation
techniques, which are the subject of this hearing.

General CRADDOCK. Okay.

Senator MCCAIN. Who decides whether they have the protection
of tgle Geneva Conventions for the treatment of prisoners of war or
not?

General CRADDOCK. That is a presidential decision. The Presi-
dent has said that they do not have the protection of the Geneva
Conventions.

Senator McCAIN. Even though they are classified as enemy com-
batants?

General CRADDOCK. Sir, the President has said they do not have
the protection of the Geneva Conventions.

Senator MCCAIN. These are not al Qaeda. These are people who
are captured in combat in Afghanistan; is that right?

General CRADDOCK. Sir, they are Taliban and al Qaeda.

Senator MCCAIN. Okay, and they were part of the Taliban gov-
ernment in Afghanistan, right?

General CRADDOCK. They were Taliban. Whether it was a
Taliban government, I won’t judge. They were Taliban.

Senator McCAIN. Okay. So basically they have no protections un-
less military necessity permits it; is that correct?

General CRADDOCK. They will be treated humanely.

Senator MCCAIN. Well, tell me this. At least for a period of
time—is it still permissible to use a wet towel and dripping water
to induce the misperception of suffocation?

General CRADDOCK. I am sorry, Senator. I missed the question.
I was given a note here.

Senator McCCAIN. I have the JTF-170 counter-resistance tech-
niques, requested 11 October; SECDEF approved 2 December, Cat-
egory 2 and Category 3 rescinded 15 January. Is it still permissible
to use a wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception
of suffocation?

General CRADDOCK. Sir, the only principles—the only interroga-
tion techniques authorized are in the 16 April letter. I do not know
if that letter—the date of that letter, if that was the 2 December,
tier 1, 2, and 1 of tier 3. Tier 2 in the one individual technique and
tier 3 were rescinded on 15 January.

Senator McCAIN. All of them?

General CRADDOCK. All tier 2 and all of tier 3. Only one was ever
authorized, tier 3.
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General SCHMIDT. Senator McCain, if I could answer that.

Senator MCCAIN. Yes, go ahead.

General SCHMIDT. On that list, the use of the wet towel and drip-
ping water to induce the misperception of suffocation was one of
the techniques requested by the JTF in their laundry list given up.
It was never approved. It has never been a technique approved.
The SECDEF declined to even consider that.

General CRADDOCK. That was tier 3?

General SCHMIDT. It was a category request, but it was never ap-
proved.

Senator MCCAIN. Are dogs still used in interrogations?

General CRADDOCK. Dogs are not used in interrogations.

Senator MCCAIN. They are not?

General CRADDOCK. No, sir.

Senator MCCAIN. They have been?

General CRADDOCK. I believe the report, as indicated, found two
occasions where dogs were used.

Senator MCCAIN. General Schmidt, there is a—well, let me just
tell you the problem, General Craddock. There are no specific
guidelines that I can tell from your response for specific rules for
treatment of “enemy combatants” and there needs to be. Maybe
that is not in your pay grade, but the clause “where military neces-
sity permits” is as wide open as anything that I have ever heard.

This is what leads to recommendations such as were agreed to
by the SECDEF and then had to be rescinded. I also happen to
know that the then-acting on Active-Duty JAGs did not agree with
these guidelines that were approved by the Secretary of Defense for
a short period of time.

General CRADDOCK. Sir, may I clarify?

Senator MCCAIN. We need specific rules and specific guidelines
for the treatment of “enemy combatant,” as these in Gitmo are.
Now, they may be al Qaeda, they may be Taliban, they may be the
worst people in the world, and I am sure that some of them are.
But there are certain basic rules and international agreements that
the United States has agreed to that we will observe.

Go ahead and please respond.

General CRADDOCK. Very quickly, let me clarify. The President’s
policy: “As a matter of policy the United States Armed Forces shall
continue to treat detainees humanely and, to the extent appro-
priate and consistent with military necessity, in a manner con-
sistent with the principles of Geneva.”

Senator MCCAIN. When you say you adhere to some principles,
lots of us adhere to principles and practices that vary rather dra-
matically. As I say, that is a legalistic statement and one that is
ridden with loopholes. It is clear to me that one of the reasons why
we are sitting here today was, at least at the working level, that
the interrogators did not understand, at least some of them did not
understand, that “humane treatment” might be in the eye of the
beholder.

General Schmidt, did you draw that conclusion from your inves-
tigation?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, the lines were hard to define. Humane
treatment, torture, I felt were the clear lines. So did the JTF. Any-
thing else beyond that was fairly vague, so it fell to our judgment.
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Again, this was not a criminal investigation. It was one where 1
was asked to use my judgment. Detainee abuse was the center of
the investigation. I felt there were abusive and degrading things
done to this particular detainee and that is why I made that judg-
ment.

Senator MCCAIN. General Furlow, the Army FM is very specific,
is it not, on the treatment of prisoners?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, 34-52 is specific. There is a chart on
1-10.

Senator MCCAIN. Why would we not just say, the Army FM ap-
plies here, with the exception if the President of the United States
decided that this was—that the Army FM could be exceeded in out-
standing examples? What is wrong with just using the Army FM,
which is what we have used in previous conflicts?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, that is essentially what was done. The
initial set-up at Gitmo, the 34-52 was the authority, and the com-
mander on the ground determined that it did not meet his require-
ment and requested more aggressive interrogation techniques and
requested through memo form, in written form, and that is where
the December 2 memo comes from that was later rescinded on the
15th of January, and then it followed the next authority process,
sir.

Senator MCCAIN. I might add that those guidelines that were ap-
proved by SECDEF were not agreed to by the uniformed judge ad-
vocate generals because of their concern that we would get into this
kind of morass that I find us in now. It is not clear to the members
of—it is not clear to this member of this committee, and I do not
think it is clear to the American people, exactly and specifically
what the guidelines are, which then understandably would lead to
some abuses of prisoners.

I hold no brief for the prisoners. I do hold a brief for the reputa-
tion of the United States of America as to adhering to certain
standards of treatment of people no matter how evil or terrible
they may be. I am afraid, General Craddock, that you have not—
this hearing has not cleared that up, at least to my satisfaction.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Do you want to respond to that, General Craddock?

General CRADDOCK. Sir, I understand the point you have made.

Senator MCCAIN. Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator McCain.

That request up to higher authority, do we have documents that
reflect how that was put to the higher authority? If not, we would
like to have that made a part of the record.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir. We made note of that earlier, that
that is part of the fact chain that we are providing to you in docu-
mentation with the 2 December memo.

Chairman WARNER. Because it is an important line of ques-
tioning and we have really got to probe this very carefully.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Reed.

Senator REED. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

General Schmidt, at page 12, I just want to try to clarify some-
thing in my own mind. You cite FM 34-52. You take out the gen-
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eral categories, you go down, and then you give an application at
Gitmo, which is mother and sister were whores, dancing with male
interrogators, homosexuality allegations, et cetera.

First point: That sounds remarkably similar to what occurred at
Abu Ghraib, people being led around in chains, people being forced
to wear lingerie. Perhaps a coincidence, perhaps not. But to clarify
this, is it your assertion that FM 34-52, which was written in the
context of the Geneva Conventions, would allow this type of behav-
ior any place other than Gitmo?

General SCHMIDT. Under the Geneva Conventions, sexual humil-
iation would not be appropriate.

Senator REED. So these references to 34-52, which are written
in the context of the Geneva Conventions, in fact cite the Geneva
Conventions, are not at all applicable in your view to Gitmo?

General SCHMIDT. The enemy combatants in this context are also
not applicable to the Geneva Conventions.

Senator REED. So the confusion I think here is that there are
standards which we have to apply under the Geneva Conventions,
which is in Iraq particularly, but the answer here was that we
were operating essentially with just the direction of the SECDEF
and whatever improvisations could be made down there at Gitmo.
Is that fair?

General SCHMIDT. Senator, what would be fair is there are au-
thorized techniques and the applications to someone with a status
that was not protected by the Geneva Conventions, although he
had to maintain humane treatment, were taken fairly liberally.

Senator REED. Let’s turn to ISN-063, the 20th hijacker, probably
the most infamous, notorious prisoner down there. What approvals
were necessary from the DOD to conduct this interrogation of ISN—
063?

General SCHMIDT. The approval process was one where the re-
quest to interrogate him was done by the JTF. Those procedures
that came down, there was a considerable amount of debate, con-
ferencing, meetings, that sort of thing. Then there was an offering
of how many might be suitable, and in the end the SECDEF chose
a lesser number and promulgated those down in the 2 December.

Senator REED. But let me—I am talking specifically about this
one prisoner.

General SCHMIDT. He was the subject of the request.

Senator REED. So we have with respect to this one prisoner an
ongoing dialogue between General Miller, authorities in the DOD,
including the SECDEF, about specific techniques that were going
to be used, specific parameters for the investigation; is that correct?

General SCHMIDT. To our knowledge, there was a considerable
amount of communication up and down the chain. That was not
the subject of our investigation.

Senator REED. But you are aware of numerous communications
between General Miller and Secretary Rumsfeld and other civilians
in the DOD specifically about this one prisoner?

General SCHMIDT. We are aware there was communication.

General CRADDOCK. Let me set the record straight here if I could,
Senator. This special interrogation proposal was developed prior to
General Miller coming on board. It was done by General Dunleavy,
and the preparation was weeks before General Miller showed up.
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Senator REED. When did the interrogations take place of ISN—
063? Throughout General Miller’s tenure? How many months?

General SCHMIDT. Prior to his arrival, and then he arrived while
it was already ongoing. He started on 23 November.

Senator REED. Did you look at General Miller’s e-mails in your
investigation?

General SCHMIDT. We looked at all his promulgated guidance.

Senator REED. But you did not look at any of his e-mails?

General SCHMIDT. Did not see—now, correct me.

General FURLOW. Sir, let me handle that one.

Sir, we went back to the server and the answer is, no, we did
not look at his e-mails. We attempted to look at it. The server did
not contain the e-mails in its memory past about a year, 18
months. So we were able to get a few memos, but they were not
applicable to this particular case.

Senator REED. So you could not recover from any sources the
communications he had back and forth about ISN-063?

General FURLOW. Not in the e-mail format, sir.

Senator REED. General Craddock, I think what you have done is
taken an investigation which was sincere and detailed and turned
it into a justification and exoneration for a senior officer and found
a junior officer to recommend for punishment, which is consistent
with all these other investigations. General officers apparently are
fine, they were overstressed, they were distracted, they did not
have the background; but naval Reserve lieutenant commanders
are now looking at punishment.

It seems to me to be ludicrous. This prisoner was not someone
lost in the shuffle. He is probably the most significant prisoner in
Gitmo. He was the subject, even though it was with General
Dunleavy, of debate with the SECDEF about precisely what should
be done. For you to exonerate General Miller by simply saying he
knew how long it was but he did not have to pay attention to de-
tails I think is unsubstantiated by any evidence. In fact, the evi-
dence I think would compel following up with General Schmidt’s
recommendation.

So I just once again am disappointed in an investigation that has
turned into something less than accountability, and it is another,
again, justification for I think terrible mistakes. I associate myself
with Senator McCain’s remarks. We are in this muddle because no
3ne has taken responsibility at a senior level for what has been

one.

Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator Reed.

General Craddock, I want to give you and the other witnesses
the opportunity to fully reply to the Senator’s observations.

General CRADDOCK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My response is
I appreciate the Senator’s comments. I do not agree, obviously. I
looked at this from the perspective of someone with 33 years plus
experience trying to put my experience, what I have learned, into
that situation, as I always do when I have to make judgments on
admonishment or reprimanding or punishing subordinates or oth-
ers I am judged to do so. I looked at that, and the difference be-
tween my investigators and myself essentially is the scope of super-
vision necessary. I looked at the fact that he placed trust and con-
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fidence in his subordinates, and those subordinates I think repaid
that trust and confidence, because there was no crossing of the
lirclle,dif you will, violating the law or the policies as they were pro-
vided.

I think that we have to understand, this notion of an interroga-
tion technique as written in 34-52 is a broad level, as General
Schmidt discussed, and there are different categories. They then
become translated into manifestations, into activity in their appli-
cation. I think that is where reasonable people will differ in their
expectations of what applications are used.

We know, based on this manual [indicating], the al Qaeda train-
ing manual, we know how they prepare resistance techniques. If
we use interrogation techniques that they are prepared for, they
will not work. So the intent there is to get into their space, cause
them discomfort, to create a situation where they start to talk and
we gain information. That is where the creativity of the interroga-
tors, through proper authorities, as was in place and still is, is ap-
plied.

The other fact is this was one individual. It is not applied univer-
sally across the entire detainee population.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator REED. Mr. Chairman?

Chairman WARNER. Yes, Senator Reed.

Senator REED. Mr. Chairman, I ask General Craddock: Did you
read General Schmidt’s entire file?

General CRADDOCK. His report?

Senator REED. His report.

General CRADDOCK. Yes, sir.

Senator REED. The statements?

General CRADDOCK. Yes, sir, I read every attachment.

Chairman WARNER. As a matter of fact, you told me you read it
twice last night.

Senator REED. Your conclusion was, as I believe you said, there
is not enough detail for you to substantiate the point at which this
cumulative effect was contrary to policy?

General CRADDOCK. Contrary to policy or crosses the line to
something else. I do not know where it is. I asked the question,
Senator, of my investigators: I am unsure of where you say the cu-
mulative effect. Is it a multiple application simultaneously of dif-
ferent techniques? Is it one technique over time? Where is the most
egregious? I do not know, and that is the basis of my approval of
his recommendation.

Senator REED. General——

Chairman WARNER. Senator Reed, I have a problem here.

Senator REED. —the line is where you draw it, and you did not
draw it.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much. I want to make sure
that the other flag officers have had a full opportunity to reply.

Did you wish to add anything, General Schmidt?

General SCHMIDT. No, sir. I respect General Craddock’s opinion.

Chairman WARNER. General Furlow?

General FURLOW. No, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Fine.

Senator Inhofe.
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Senator INHOFE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me give you a different Senator’s observations. Sometimes we
get bogged down in all the detail and we forget about the overall
picture, the big picture. I am shocked when I found only yesterday
from the report that, after 3 years and 24,000 interrogations, only
3 acts of violation of the approved interrogation techniques author-
ized by FM 34-52 and DOD guidelines.

I just, I am shocked. It makes me wonder if we are really getting
the most out of these detainees. It talked about one detainee hav-
ing duct tape, another red ink, and all that stuff.

When you contrast these interrogation techniques with those
used in other countries, those fighting us, it is hard to understand
why we are so wrapped up in this investigation. Further, you have
determined in all but a couple of cases appropriate disciplinary ac-
tion was taken and in all the cases no further incidents occurred.

Add to that fact, most if not all of these incidents are at least
a year old. I am very impressed with the way the military, the FBI,
and other agencies have conducted themselves. This report shows
me an incredible amount of restraint and discipline was present at
Gitmo. Even the small infractions found were found by our own
government, corrected, and now reported.

We have nothing to be ashamed of. What other country, attacked
as we were, would exercise the same degree of self-criticism and re-
straint?

Now, let me ask you, General Furlow—you have been getting off
easy here. Just give me in your professional opinion, what is the
worst substantiated incident of inappropriate use of interrogation
techniques that you investigated, just the one?

General FURLOW. Sir, it is the—in my opinion, and that is solely
my opinion—would be the one involving the classified detainee and
that fact pattern.

Senator INHOFE. Was appropriate disciplinary action taken in a
timely manner in that case?

General FURLOW. Sir, that was with our report recommending
being passed on to the naval investigation.

Senator INHOFE. Okay. I would like to ask just for a very brief
response on something that concerns me and I would like to have
this from each of the witnesses. We have heard a lot about the FM
34-52. Are the DOD guidelines as currently published in that man-
ual appropriate to allow interrogators to get valuable information,
intelligence information, while not crossing the line from interroga-
tion to abuse? Do you think they are too restrained? What is your
opinion?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, I think because that manual was
written for enemy prisoners of war we have a translation problem,
in that enemy prisoners are to be treated in accordance with the
Geneva Conventions; that does not apply. That is why the rec-
ommendation was made, and I affirmed it, that we need a further
look here on this new phenomenon of enemy combatants. It is dif-
ferent and we are trying to use, I think, a manual that was written
for one reason in another environment.

Senator INHOFE. Thank you.

General Schmidt?
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General SCHMIDT. Sir, I agree. It is critical that we come to grips
with not hanging on a Cold War relic FM 34-52, which addressed
an entirely different population. If we in fact are going to get intel-
ligence to stay ahead of this type of threat, we need to understand
what else we can do and still stay in our lane of humane treat-
ment.

Senator INHOFE. Do you agree, General Furlow?

General FURLOW. Sir, in echoing that, FM 34-52 was originally
written in 1987, further updated and refined in 1992, which is
dealing with the Geneva question as well as an ordered battle
enemy, not the enemy that we are facing currently. I am aware
that Fort Huachuca is currently in a rewrite of the next 34-52 and
it is in a draft form right now.

Senator INHOFE. Thank you, General Furlow.

Let me just give my own observations. I think you are entitled
to that, to know that we are different Senators and we come from
different perspectives. I did have occasion to be in the United
States Army. I think that was one of the best things that ever hap-
pened to my life.

But I would maintain that these detainees that we are talking
about here, they are detainees, they have knowledge about terrorist
cells and operations that is useful to the United States in under-
standing the actions of those who seek to do us harm, destroying
our way of life. They are not to be coddled, not if we are to get ac-
cess to the information that they possess and information that will
help us defeat them.

That is what this is all about. I think we are not talking about
shoplifters here. We are talking—I think you stated it very well,
General Craddock, when you said these are the worst of the worst.
When you see some of the things that have been attributed to dif-
ferent people, talking about them, they are watching what we are
saying.

I am really concerned about this. I got a lot of criticism a little
over a year ago when the Abu Ghraib first investigation was taking
place and I looked at the fact that those in those cell blocks were
the terrorists, were the murderers, were our enemies, and that I
virlas more outraged by the outrage than I was by the treatment of
those.

This is just one Senator speaking. What other country would
freely discuss interrogation techniques used against high-value in-
telligence detainees during a time of war, when suicide bombers
are killing our fellow citizens? Why would we freely explain the
limitations placed on our interrogators when we know that our
enemy trains his terrorists in methods to defeat our interrogations?
Today we are handing them new information on how to train fu-
ture terrorists.

What damage are we doing to our war effort by parading these
relatively minor infractions before the press and the world again
and again and again while our soldiers risk their lives daily and
are given no mercy by the enemy? Our enemies exploit everything
we do and everything we say. Al-Zarqawi the other day said to his
followers, “The Americans are living their worst days in Iraq now.
Even Members of Congress have announced that the U.S. is losing
the war in Iraq.”
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So I just say to you as one person, I applaud all three of you war-
riors. I applaud the discipline that has been demonstrated, the re-
straint that has been demonstrated by the interrogators. As one
Senator, I admonish you and hope and pray that you do not unduly
discipline our interrogators and impair their ability to save Amer-
ican lives. I thank all three of you for your service to America.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator Inhofe.

I would like to go back to a very important point raised by Sen-
ator Inhofe, and you responded, but I think a little clarity is need-
ed. The Army FM was drawn up against a background of what ba-
sically the United States had confronted in its previous wars, and
that was state-sponsored aggression by nations which I think in
many respects were subject to the Geneva Conventions. Now, as
Senator Inhofe pointed out very dramatically, we are facing a to-
tally different enemy, and as a consequence that FM has to be—
well, remain in place should we have the misfortune of a state-
sponsored conflict, but a separate manual has to be drawn up that
addresses the complexity of the individuals that we are now cap-
turing in Iraq or have and are continuing.

Am I correct in that, General Craddock?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, I would agree. It is a dif-
ferent set of conditions out there that we have to recognize. I think
it would be helpful not to—we need to understand what has been
done and use that as the building blocks to provide the way for a
future look that will put us instead where we do not have these
ambiguous situations, where commanders know what they can do,
where lines are drawn. Yes, sir.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you very much. Several of us on this
committee and I think probably all members of the committee are
anxious that Congress has a role in this to try and determine how
we best devise Federal law such that the men and women of the
Armed Forces of the United States in the promulgation of their du-
ties, be it on the battlefield, here, or in maintaining these detention
facilities, have a clear understanding of what they can and cannot
do.

Did you wish to add something, General?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, if I may, just to respond to
your comment and Senator Inhofe. The fact is that probably in my
judgment a lot of what has been discussed, a lot of what now is
in the open press, and a lot of these applications of these interroga-
tion techniques will feed change one to the Manchester document
and a new chapter on interrogation resistance.

Chairman WARNER. You had better explain for the record “the
Manchester document.”

General CRADDOCK. This is the al Qaeda training manual. It has
two chapters here on detention and interrogation resistance tech-
niques.

Chairman WARNER. Good. In case people are captured, how they
should conduct themselves

General CRADDOCK. Exactly.

Chairman WARNER. —to resist.

General CRADDOCK. They are trained using these techniques to
resist interrogation.
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Chairman WARNER. That is very clear. General Craddock and
other witnesses, that is the value of this very important report
which each of you have put together.

Senator Clinton.

Senator CLINTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I do not know where to begin. General Craddock, was it any
member of the al Qaeda or Taliban who took pictures of these in-
terrogation techniques and thereby revealed them to the world?

General CRADDOCK. I am not aware of al Qaeda or Taliban tak-
ing pictures of any interrogations at—oh, are you talking about for
their manual?

Senator CLINTON. No. The discussion about how these interroga-
tion techniques became public and who knew about them and what
kind of information that might give to the prisoners to resist inter-
rogation—in fact, these techniques became public because of ac-
tions and decisions made by members of the United States mili-
tary, is that not correct?

General CRADDOCK. Not that I am aware of.

Senator CLINTON. Well, think of Abu Ghraib and think of the pic-
tures that were published, that were taken by members of military
police units and others inside that prison. Is that not what hap-
pened?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, those were not interrogations.

Senator CLINTON. No, but they led to the inquiry about interro-
gations, did they not?

General CRADDOCK. The timing on these techniques we talked
about here today, the applications, the JTF Gitmo applications of
the techniques, preceded those pictures.

Senator CLINTON. I guess my point, General, is that as we look
at what our real goal here is, our goal is to be effective in interro-
gation in order to obtain information in order to deter attacks and
in order to find out significant intelligence that will enable us to
defeat this enemy. Is that not right?

General CRADDOCK. I agree.

Senator CLINTON. So I think it is important to put in the record
that, at least for some of us, at least speaking for myself, my con-
cern about this is driven primarily about how effective we are going
to be. There is considerable evidence that the underlying tech-
niques as well as the publicity about those techniques, which did
not come from the enemy that we were interrogating but from peo-
ple on the inside within our own military, is really what should be
the focus here, that if these techniques were so effective why did
we not get better information, why do we still have people who
have been resistant, and especially at Gitmo, where they have been
basically out of communication for 3 years?

So I think that the intensity behind some of the questioning that
you have received really begins from a fundamental disagreement
about how we can be effective in pursuing the objectives that we
all agree are the ones that are most important. At least from my
perspective, I think that we made serious errors in authorizing and
permitting a number of these techniques because they were not ef-
fective. In a free society, which we still are, it is very difficult to
keep such behavior totally private. So at some point they were
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going to be revealed and disclosed, as the log about detainee 063
has been revealed and disclosed.

So I guess, General, the questions that many of us have are real-
ly about the underlying attitude that has been taken toward the
series of investigations that have been carried out and our belief
that we have not done all we should to be as effective as we need
to be, and the failure of accountability leads to ineffectiveness.

General Schmidt and General Furlow, let me ask you. Your re-
port indicates that several past interrogators at Gitmo declined to
be interviewed and are currently in civilian status. How many of
the FBI's allegations of aggressive interrogators involved former in-
terrogators who declined to be interviewed?

General FURLOW. Ma’am, on the FBI side, none of the FBI
agents refused to be interviewed. The reason why we were not able
to talk to the individuals that had prior experience down there was
that we do not have subpoena capability under the AR 15-6, which
was an administrative investigation. That is what limited it. If the
person was still currently serving in the military, we could force
them to visit with us. If they had served their time in Gitmo and
returned to civilian life as a reservist, we were not able to sub-
poena them and force them to visit with us.

Senator CLINTON. How many people were you unable to sub-
poena or force to visit with you?

General FURLOW. Ma’am, we felt that there was not anybody
that was material to this case.

Senator CLINTON. How many, though, were you unable to visit
with or subpoena?

General FURLOW. I would say less than 10.

Senator CLINTON. General, is that your recollection?

General SCHMIDT. Yes, ma’am. It was very, very few. Those that
we could not get to that were relevant to our investigation was just
a small amount. It principally involved the one that involved the
death threat and a ruse that we found out about in interrogation.
That was the one that concerned us the most.

Senator CLINTON. Was there not also a former interrogator who
wrote a book about his experiences?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct. You are referring to Sergeant
Eric Saar. He was on his way to make a documentary. We asked
if he had seen things, would he like to air that, would he like them
investigated. He declined to be interviewed by us repeatedly.

General CRADDOCK. Senator, if I can set the record straight, he
was not an interrogator. He was a translator-linguist.

Senator CLINTON. As a translator-linguist he would have been
perhaps accompanying interrogators and therefore a witness, would
he not?

General CRADDOCK. He participated in one or two interrogations
that we can establish as a linguist.

Senator CLINTON. General Craddock, I just hope that at some
point we can both clear the air on these matters, because I think
we need to, and whatever revisions need to be made in the FM or
the Geneva Conventions, the United States ought to be a leader in
that, and we ought to do so both because that is what we believe
and the kind of people we are and also because we want to be effec-
tive.
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There is a lot at stake and it does not inspire confidence when
we have all of these unanswered questions and when General Mil-
ler, who we know went from Gitmo to Iraq and was told to “Gitmo-
ize” Abu Ghraib, is basically the central figure in both of these in-
vestigations and yet once again is free of any accountability or any
admonishment, it raises serious questions.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Senator.

I would like to pick up on the Senator’s questions with regard to
10 individuals which you could not reach for interview. At any time
did you bring this inability to reach people to General Craddock?
General Craddock, did you consider going to a higher level? In
other words, we possibly could go to the Director of the FBI to fa-
cilitate the interviews.

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, it was not brought to my at-
tention. This is the first I have heard of 10 people.

Chairman WARNER. It seems to me—and I will work with you—
we have to go back and revisit this what appears to be a gap and
see whether or not we can facilitate filling that in.

General CRADDOCK. I understand.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you very much.

Did you wish to say something, General Schmidt?

General SCHMIDT. Senator Warner, the idea that we were unable
to get to certain people, I just want to make sure we are clear that
it was a small number. They were all civilians. None were FBI. We
were almost always able to work around to other witnesses to
events to corroborate that. This was an informal investigation to
fact-find, not a criminal investigation. But when we found some-
thing that needed to be elevated, we did in the report, and that
was the death threat.

Chairman WARNER. But I think the two unsubstantiated FBI e-
mails, I believe—you want to revisit your comment that they were
all not FBI? There is an area which troubles me considerably.

General CRADDOCK. The one FBI agent, the one in question, we
are very familiar with who she is. We made to my knowledge five
or six attempts to get to her. She was not made available. We dis-
cussed that with DOJ, who is also running an investigation. They
have her e-mails. They have not interviewed her at this time ei-
ther. She has not been available

Chairman WARNER. I will come back. I do not want to take the
time of my colleague. But that has to be corrected and straight-
ened.

Senator Roberts.

Senator ROBERTS. I do not have the time to ask you a lot of ques-
tions and I think a lot of questions have been asked and I think
you have answered them to the best of your capability. But I do
have an observation and a statement, much in the same fashion as
Senator Inhofe.

I want to tell you, General Craddock, I think you did the right
thing by not citing General Miller. I do not agree with the assess-
ment by other Senators here that he is a central figure in this case.
I am quite sure that General Miller regrets not keeping a closer
eye on those two interrogations, two interrogations out of 24,000
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that we have had. He probably regrets not knowing what each per-
son down there under his command had for lunch either.

But certainly that lapse is far outweighed by the miracle that he
worked in his time at Gitmo. I take that from staff members of the
Intelligence Committee who were interrogators at the time, knew
of the chaos, knew of the disorder. This officer, while his Military
Occupational Specialty was not in keeping with perhaps that as-
signment, was able to be a problemsolver.

Along with General Craddock, I visited Gitmo this past weekend.
I got a thorough look. Nothing was denied to me, more especially
as the chairman of the Intelligence Committee. I think that that
system that General Miller, much maligned now that he is, brought
order to chaos in his management of both the intelligence and the
detention operations there—he pioneered the management and
oversight systems that have made that detention facility an oper-
ation where—my view is in opposition to those who have already
spoken—that we can be proud of under the circumstances with
what we are gaining in intelligence and, more especially, the treat-
ment of the detainees. They are not “detainees”; they are terrorists
and they are very bad people.

Never, never before in history has any country faced with a bar-
baric terrorism implemented a policy of terrorist detention so
unique, so unprecedented, and so humane, in my personal view.

Let me review those numbers again. There were 26 allegations
of abuse that came from FBI personnel at Gitmo, nobody taking
pictures. That was in Abu Ghraib and had nothing to do with inter-
rogation. Of those nine incidents amounting to what could have
been serious allegations, six of those turned out to be false allega-
tions or incidents that were within the rules.

So if I am correct, we ended up with two incidents along with
one more that the investigators found along the way, to bring a
grand total of three confirmed incidents. That is part of the 24,000
total interrogations that have been conducted at Gitmo. So out of
24,000 interrogations, 3 total incidents. My math, that makes for
an incident rate of .000125.

What field manual could be written to prevent incidents or an in-
cident rate or a mistake in regards to 24,000 interrogations that re-
sulted in an incident rate of .000125? Is this what this has come
down to, 3 misdemeanors out of 24,000 interrogations, 3 mis-
demeanors that occurred 2 or 3 years ago, not today, not to prac-
tices that are being conducted today under your command and
under the commander down there?

Now, I am in no way condoning incidents that are described in
this report. Nobody is saying that. But I do not think they are a
matter of national press attention, which will probably be the case.
They are unfortunate, not only because they are unworthy of our
great Nation, but because they are not effective at getting reliable
information. That is the point that Senator Clinton made. But you
understand that and the commander understands that, and the
young men and women that I visited with personally certainly un-
derstand that.

Their motto on the back of their cover says “Honor Bound.”
When you went through that facility, everybody saluted you and
said “Honor Bound,” and you said “Honor Bound” back to them.
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Things have changed at Gitmo in result of all of this that we are
talking about.

I will tell you what this report says to me. It says that the three
relatively minor incidents are not reflective of the vast majority of
the important interrogations being conducted at Gitmo. I am talk-
ing about Gitmo as of today. It says that overall things are going
well under very dangerous circumstances. I saw this for myself, the
outstanding work our hardworking men and women are doing
down there.

I am getting into trouble because of the report that I issued back
in Kansas, because I said: Food, yes, the detainees are getting a
choice of 113 Muslim dishes. Our troops are not getting that kind
of choice. On health care, I said the clinic and/or hospital that had
to basically treat the wounds of these people who came in from Af-
ghanistan—and we have taken down 80 percent of the Taliban and
also al Qaeda; these are the very bad people who are left and are
terrorists and are still there. They have better health care and bet-
ter facilities than many of my rural small communities. That got
me in trouble. Ice cream on Sunday did as well.

If they are compliant, what about the home conditions or the con-
ditions in terms of any kind of a communal living? Well, we saw
them playing soccer, we saw them playing volley ball. I did not see
anybody playing ping-pong, but it was there.

What about the observation of their culture and their religion?
They pray 5 times a day, at least 20 times. Everybody is very rev-
erent and silent. No American touches the Koran, none. A Muslim
does. They are in each cell, and so we are really respecting that.

General Hood, who is the current commander, happens to be
from Kansas, and I talked to his dad this morning and I told his
dad he was doing an outstanding job. He gave us a wonderful brief-
ing. He runs a tight ship with excellent oversight, supervision, and
detainees are treated humanely and respectfully, both in the inter-
rogation and the detention facilities.

It is getting results. Now, that was another big point that Sen-
ator Clinton made, and I wish she was here. We are getting valu-
able intelligence from Gitmo every day.

I saw the interrogations. I know the material we have. I know—
I am not going to get into anything specific here, but I do know
that it is current and can save lives, more especially in events like
Casablanca and Madrid and, yes, London, and yes, plots against
the United States.

We are using carrots, not sticks. I did not see any perfume, I did
not see any straddling. I did not see any sleep deprivation, because
that does not work. The positive side does work. So the men and
women working at Gitmo handle very dangerous people every day,
but it seems lately they have more to worry about from Congress—
and that is what they told me: What is going on in Congress? Not
only do they know it, but the prisoners know it from the terrorists
they hold and interrogate.

Why would you shackle somebody to the floor prior to the inter-
rogation in earlier days? Because their lives were at stake. They
have made homemade weapons despite our very best efforts. They
spit in people’s faces, and that is not even the first of it. The rest
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of it is so abhorrent that I cannot get into it, not to mention any
kind of physical activity, even if shackled, that they would do.

So to protect the person who is leading them into the interroga-
1(:1ion room, that would be an obvious thing that you might want to

0.

General Schmidt and General Furlow, you have conducted a very
thorough investigation. I thank you for that. You have answered all
my questions in regards to the allegations.

I think the brave women and men down there at Gitmo are
working hard every day to keep us safe. They have enough to
worry about without any more ill-informed accusations of abuse or
calls for closing down Gitmo. I think with the current practices, the
current oversight, I think they need our support.

Thanks for a job well done. General Craddock, the work being
done at Gitmo is important. I want you to know, and your people
down there, that you have my support.

I would like to remind my colleagues we are in a war on a global
scale. It is against a vicious and determined enemy. They reside in
Gitmo. They are interested in one thing and that is killing.

The terrorists at Gitmo know today about this hearing. They
know about the questions. They know about who goes down there.
The people who have asked the most serious questions—and I do
not challenge that—go to Gitmo and take a first-hand look.

When they are down there, these terrorists view their incarcer-
ation as part of their jihad. It is just like that manual that you
held up. The more they know about what we are doing, the more
they can offset what we are trying to do in terms of interrogation.

They know about this hearing, and they doubt our resolve and
they think down the road, with legal help and wounding them-
selves and saying they have been basically treated in an inhumane
fashion, that they can make a case with the American people. So
they say that the Americans do not have resolve and that basically
these kinds of hearings, it seems to me, really, I question whether
we have the resolve as well. I think it is a most unfortunate state-
ment that I would have to make in that regard.

So I thank you for the job that you are doing, and I called the
three parents of the three young men down there who are working
so terribly hard, who work 1, 2, 3 days in those camps that are so
terribly difficult and then have to take 1 day off, maybe 2 days off,
just to get away from it. I remember that thing on the back of their
cover, “Honor Bound.” They are doing the right thing. They are get-
ting the best intelligence possible. I do not think we need to con-
centrate on 3 misdemeanors out of 24,000 investigations.

I am way over my time, but I really do not give a damn.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Kennedy.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

I always thought that we were part of a Geneva Conventions be-
cause we were concerned about the safety and the well-being of our
own troops today, tomorrow, and in future conflicts. I never
thought that the test was we are going to be as bad as whoever
we are going to fight in whatever war we are going to be in.

It seems to me that if we are going to have an expectation that
we are going to have our people treated decently—we know the his-
tory in many cases that they have not been, but if we are going
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to find that out, it always seemed to me that the Geneva Conven-
tions was there to make sure that we were going to protect our own
people that were being held in other circumstances. That I still feel
myself is the appropriate kind of criteria.

We have had other discussions about the Geneva Conventions
and enemy combatants and we will get back to that at another
time. But I do not think we can simply answer, as some have done,
that the behavior, whatever behavior might have taken place at
Gitmo, is acceptable because terrorists do worse. By lowering our
standards, we reduce our moral authority in the world, undermine
our leadership on human rights.

The FBI found that these torture techniques, as they called
them, including the stress position, the 20-hour interrogation mar-
athon, the use of dogs, violate the Constitution. They strenuously
objected to them. Incredibly, the DOD found that these techniques
were permissible despite the FBI analysis. Even under the DOD
standards, the investigators found that some of the techniques used
were not authorized.

General Craddock, the report—I know you have been asked this,
but I want to come back to it. The report—because I think there
is whole questions of accountability, both in Gitmo, I think, as well
as in Iraq and other places. But let us just focus on this. The report
recommended that General Miller be reprimanded, but you rejected
the recommendation and simply referred the case to the Army IG.

I know Senator Reed asked you a question, that question or one
similar. I believe you gave an answer. I'd be glad to hear you rath-
er than me stating what I think I heard you answer. Maybe you
would address that, if you would, again, please.

General CRADDOCK. What is the question, Senator?

Senator KENNEDY. The question is, there was a recommendation
for disciplining General Miller. You made a judgment decision—
that General Miller be reprimanded. But you rejected the rec-
ommendation and simply referred the case to the Army IG. I am
asking you why, what was the basis for that?

General CRADDOCK. I disapproved the recommendation that he
be held accountable for failing to supervise and be admonished. I
am required to forward that to the Army IG because it is an allega-
tion of wrongdoing. So that is the procedural aspect, Senator.

My rationale——

Senator KENNEDY. Let me just go back on this. He is the man
in command on this. These violations have taken place on his
watch, on his watch. The commission itself found that he ought to
be reprimanded on this because it was on his watch. He had the
general overall responsibility. What is it that you find that was
wrong about the recommendation that he had responsibility?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, their recommendation said he failed
to supervise the interrogation of ISN-063. There were no violations
of the interrogation of ISN-063.

Senator KENNEDY. Now, which torture policy are you using now?
Are you using the Bybee memorandum now, the one that has been
completely discredited? Which torture memorandum are you refer-
ring to? That of course has been repealed.
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General CRADDOCK. I am not referring to any torture memo-
randum. I am saying what the report said, failed to supervise the
interrogation, not that there were violations in the conduct.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, failed to. Are you not just parsing
words, “failed to supervise.”

General CRADDOCK. Those are not my words.

Senator KENNEDY. Pardon?

General CRADDOCK. Those are not my words. I would have to
defer that to General Schmidt. Those are his words, and General
Furlow. They sent that recommendation.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, they made that finding that he failed to
supervise.

General CRADDOCK. I am not parsing words. I am responding to
you.

Senator KENNEDY. Okay. Well, if he failed to supervise, that is
not enough—we have had I do not know how many—taking a dif-
ferent time, in 2003 the Navy fired 14 commanding officers for ef-
fectively failing to supervise, fired them. Accountability, account-
ability. I am just trying to find out where the buck stops, because
this has been an issue and a question, quite frankly, whether this
is just a time—we heard from the SECDEF a long time ago there
were just a few bad apples. Then we had a number of, I think 8,
10, or 11, different kinds of reviews that have been done in the
military over this, and it never seems to that we get up to any kind
of level of accountability.

We have gotten a number of people at the lower levels that are
recommended for action and for sanction. But it does not seem to
me that it comes up. When it does not come up, then I have to ask,
well, are they following, are they doing something? Is there some
orders or some procedures that they are following that we do not
know about that lets them effectively get away with it?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, I disagreed with that recommenda-
tion and disapproved it because of a difference of opinion with re-
gard to my investigators concerning the degree of supervision re-
quired, necessary, or executed, take your choice. I looked at this
several times. I deliberated a long time. As I said earlier, I always
when I am faced with these situations as a commander try to put
myself in that individual’s position, try to understand the environ-
ment, the scope, the wide range of things going on. I have some ex-
perience that allowed me to do that.

I looked at what General Miller, according to the report, accord-
ing to what my investigators told me, what he did know. He did
know aspects about that interrogation that I felt were important
for him to know. It is stated in the report. He admitted he did not
know all of the applications used by the interrogation teams. But
he charged and depended on his subordinates to carry it out in ac-
cordance with policy and law, which they did. There was no viola-
tion of policy and law. So he placed trust and confidence in them
and they supported and I think repaid that trust and confidence,
in my judgment.

When you combine that with all the other taskings he had, I felt
that he exercised a reasonable degree of supervision during the
conduct of that special interrogation program.



131

Senator KENNEDY. The only thing—and my time is running out—
he did not know—I find, if he did not know, failure to know is still
failure to lead, I thought, in the military. I remember that sub-
marine captain that got cashiered when he ran into that sandbar
going full blast. It was not even on the—he was relieved, because
he did not know. It was not on any of the charts. He was dis-
missed, career ended in the United States service.

Now we are being told that he did not know, and the question
that I would think some are asking is, is this a failure to lead. If
you do not punish, then what you are also saying is that it is al-
lowed. The other side of the coin is, it is allowed. That is what
some people—that is the message you get. You might not agree
with that, but I think there is a case that can be made for it.

General CRADDOCK. Senator, I would disagree with that, and I
would say that if a commander is required to know every detail
about all aspects of the organizations that he commands he will be
unable to lead.

Senator KENNEDY. This is not every aspect, General. You know
what we are talking about. This was the whole purpose for getting
information, intelligence. There was a real debate about which
techniques were the best to be able to get it. That was all being
discussed. Miller was very much involved in this, eventually moved
over to Iraq in order to be able to try and bring the intelligence
into more effectiveness. He was the master in terms of this.

The idea that on his watch, that these things were going on and
that he did not know about—and the people that investigated say
that he deserved to be reprimanded and you overturn them is
something that many of us wonder about.

General CRADDOCK. As I stated, Senator, he did know about
some of those. He stated he knew about it. He stated he did not
know about others. He inherited this. This plan and implementa-
tion was ongoing. When he arrived, he walked into it and had to,
along with many other things, bring it up to speed. He had a sig-
nificant number of major tasks.

Senator KENNEDY. My time is up, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. General Craddock, you have three times now
explained very carefully your professional judgment in changing
this recommendation of General Schmidt. But I would like to put
into the record, which I think you will agree with me, in no way
do you have any lesser respect for his professional judgment, which
was contrary to yours, and in no way is your reversal to reflect ad-
versely on either his judgment or his performance heading up this
team at your directive.

General CRADDOCK. Absolutely, Mr. Chairman. I think the team
here did a wonderful job. I think that is evidenced by the report
they have provided, and in really all but one recommendation
which I heartily approve. This was very difficult. Members have
said that. Discovery learning is difficult. It is a somewhat ambig-
uous area and I think, and again I have told General Schmidt and
General Furlow, reasonable men will reasonably disagree. I dis-
agree with the scope of supervision required, the degree, the level,
and that is it.

Chairman WARNER. The facts are there and I just wanted to
make that observation.
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There has been some inference about the hearing that we are
now having in the public. My understanding is that you briefed the
Secretary on this yesterday; am I correct?

General CRADDOCK. I believe it was the day before yesterday.

Chairman WARNER. The day before yesterday. In due course, will
you—normally the Department on the previous investigations has
afforded the opportunity for the panel, in this case yourself and
these two officers, to brief in open session in the Pentagon individ-
uals in the press. Am I correct on that?

General CRADDOCK. Yes, Mr. Chairman. As I understand there
is some proposal working now for some activity this afternoon to
do that.

Chairman WARNER. That is my understanding, that this report
presented to this committee this morning will be presented in open
session at the Pentagon tomorrow. I wanted to make that clear.
Thank you very much.

Senator Sessions.

Senator SESSIONS. Mr. Chairman, thank you.

I do know that in a free country we have to have public reports
and public hearings. I do think that we in Congress have pushed
this awfully far. As I calculate it, this is about the 30th hearing
we have had on prisoner treatment since the beginning of the war
on terrorism. I think there are at least a dozen major investiga-
tions have been conducted. I frankly think, unless we are just try-
ing to play politics, unless we are just trying to make some political
points, perhaps in the future we would do better to have our hear-
ings in chambers, closed hearings; and if there is something that
needs to be made public we will make it public.

Chairman WARNER. But, Senator, I bring to your attention that
this report, I was advised earlier, is going to be made public at the
DOD this afternoon. It seems to me that it was incumbent upon
this committee to receive that report here in open session this
morning, in the same way that it will be presented this afternoon
at the Pentagon.

Senator SESSIONS. I understand, and I respect the chairman.
There is no better patriot or better chairman of any committee I
have served on than you. I am just expressing my personal view
that it is time to take this out of the number one project on our
agenda.

I would just say to my colleague, the senior Senator from Massa-
chusetts, he said—again he has compared the treatment that we
give to prisoners to those of our enemy, and that is just not fair.
He said we are going to be as bad as those we fight. He said that
our prisons are the same as Saddam’s, like Saddam Hussein’s pris-
ons.

Senator KENNEDY. I want to be quoted—I do not mind being
quoted, but I need to be quoted accurately. I have never mentioned
Saddam Hussein. I do not know where the Senator—

Senator SESSIONS. Not in this hearing

Senator KENNEDY. No, I did not.

Senator SESSIONS. Let me see if I can get the correct quote. I be-
lieve the correct quote was—see if I am wrong—that “We have
opened his prisons under new management.”

Senator KENNEDY. I can read back what I said.
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Senator SESSIONS. I just wanted to say I am concerned about
that. The distinguished Senator has a name known worldwide.
Other members of this committee are known throughout the world,
and when we make allegations against the men and women in uni-
form who are out there serving at great risk because we sent them,
then we need to be careful we do not suggest we have a policy here
of bad treatment when the record indicates otherwise.

As to how their prisoners are treated, their heads have been cut
off. They have tortured. Torture chambers have existed. I met and
had a press conference with seven or eight who had their hands cut
off by Saddam Hussein.

General Schmidt, did you see any prisoner or hear any reports
of a prisoner that died in Gitmo or any prisoner there who suffered
a broken bone or serious permanent injury as a result of any treat-
ment in Gitmo?

General SCHMIDT. To my knowledge there have been no deaths
of any detainee at Gitmo and the only injury that is significant is
one that they believe it was self-inflicted and he is under continual
care in the hospital down there.

Senator SESSIONS. I think that is important.

I know you substantiated two allegations. One of those was the
use of duct tape. Now, I do not dismiss your finding, but I would
like for you to reiterate, that is one of your two findings of abuse
there, of allegations. Explain the duct tape situation?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, there was a prisoner who was undergoing
interrogation and by various accounts he began to chant either
Koranic verses or a resistance message, according to two witnesses.
There were some number of other detainees, 12 to 17, I believe I
heard those numbers, in the vicinity of that. The interrogator di-
rected the military police to quiet him down.

The military policeman looked around and saw some duct tape.
He says: This? The interrogator said: Go ahead and do it. He took
some duct tape, put it on the detainee’s mouth, and within a mo-
ment or so he had worked that off by wiggling his jaw, I guess,
around.

They applied another one. They wrapped it around his mouth
and his face. He continued to work hard and he was able to get
it off his mouth. Finally, the military policeman said: Now what do
I do? He said: Just wrap it around his head top to bottom, around
his mouth, and that will do it. In fact it did.

The FBI allegation of that came when the interrogator or the su-
pervisor walked down the hall and said to two FBI agents—and he
was laughing—he said: You need to come see this. That is where
the allegation came from and that was the situation that generated
that particular allegation.

Senator SESSIONS. I think that shows the sensitivity of the mili-
tary to improper conduct. I am not sure that was improper under
the circumstances. Perhaps it was unnecessary, but it may not
have been. I was not there. I do not know the nature of the pris-
oner or what kind of message he may have been sending to other
prisoners.

I remember the colonel in Iraq who fired a gun when his troops
were taking fire near the head of an al Qaeda or terrorist person.
He was cashiered out of the military, removed from the military.
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He did not touch the man, but he used a threat of force in a way
that was improper and was removed.

With regard to Abu Ghraib, we have said over and over and over
again that the higher-ups are involved, higher-ups are involved. I
think we ought to say right here and now that the higher-ups were
not involved in Abu Ghraib. They prosecuted those people who
were involved, whose pictures showed they were involved. They
have been convicted and sentenced to jail, and they have not pro-
duced any evidence, credible evidence at all, that higher-ups or-
dered them to do that. In fact, the facts show there was no interro-
gation ongoing. It was just bad behavior by a group of soldiers on
the graveyard shift that should never have happened. They are
now in jail.

General Schmidt, you made a finding that, while some abuses
may have occurred, that you found no inhumane treatment; is that
correct?

General SCHMIDT. I found those—none crossed the line into being
inhumane.

Senator SESSIONS. None crossed the line into torture?

General ScHMIDT. That is correct, Senator.

Senator SESSIONS. You found, I suppose, no systematic plan or
process by which prisoners were subjected to inhumane treatment
or torture?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct, Senator.

Senator SESSIONS. You were free to conduct this investigation as
you saw fit?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct. It was very pointed. The objec-
tives were very pointed on it.

Senator SESSIONS. Mr. Chairman, I think we have created an en-
tirely new misimpression somehow, some way, of what is going on
at Abu Ghraib. I look forward to going with you tomorrow. I know
you are personally looking forward to examining what went on
there. Senator Roberts has been, and I went when it was in the old
prison some time ago. This is a new facility. We spent $100 million,
I believe, on it. If it is the site they showed me where they intended
to build it, it is a beautiful site on the water.

But, Mr. Chairman, I think that it is important for us to remem-
ber that these are dangerous individuals; that 17,000 have been de-
tained in Iraq; only 800 have been sent to Gitmo. Now only about
500, a little more, remain. Of those 200 or so that have been re-
leased, 12 of them have been rearrested for waging war against our
soldiers and against the peace and stability in Iraq or Afghanistan.
These are not people that are not dangerous. They are dangerous.

I would say one more thing. Since they are unlawful combatants,
they are not entitled legally to the protections of the Geneva Con-
ventions and we have a right to interrogate them and we have a
right to try them by military tribunals, in my opinion, just like the
case, the defendants in the Ex parte Quirin case, were tried during
World War II.

These are not American citizens charged with fraud or dope deal-
ing. They are terrorists waging a war against civilization and de-
mocracy around the world. I think we cannot deny ourselves the
right to utilize techniques within the rules of war that allow us to
interrogate and gain information that can save innocent lives.
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Thank you very much.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, Senator.

It is the intention of the chairman to take a trip on Friday to
Gitmo and, members of this committee, we may have a seat or two
available if they so desire.

Senator SESSIONS. I hope to join you.

Chairman WARNER. Yes, I understand that. But I have to point
out that there is a small item of a hurricane and that is now being
examined by the aviation department very carefully.

Senator KENNEDY. Mr. Chairman, just briefly in response to
what I had said here. I am always glad to have someone misrepre-
sent what I am saying and then differ with it, which we had here.

This country has had a very proud tradition adhering to the Ge-
neva Conventions. Some people think that they ought to—that kind
of condition should not continue to be a part of American policy.
I differ with them because I accept the concept that the principal
reason we have the Geneva Conventions is to protect Americans.

Chairman WARNER. Who may become captives.

Senator KENNEDY. Yes.

The fact is I would hope that we are not going to go and set as
a standard the lowest level of conduct and say, well, because an-
other side does it we are going to do it as well. I always remember,
echoing in my ears what John McCain said, and that is: The more
they tortured me, the less I was willing to give them. John McCain.
John McCain said that.

So let me finish. So when we get all of our lectures out here on
this committee about how we are treating people, it does seem to
me that it is appropriate that it is easy to get all worked up and
all of us do about the challenges that we are facing as a country
and society and about the service men and women that do so nobly.
But I would certainly hope that we are not beyond the point of un-
derstanding what has been historically and I believe still is in the
best interests of American service men and what works in terms
of getting information and intelligence, both works in getting the
information and intelligence and that can later be used in terms
of bringing those individuals to justice. That is basically the point.

Chairman WARNER. Senator, I assure you there are a number on
this committee who are working on that very issue today.

Senator SESSIONS. Mr. Chairman, I would just say, the Senator
said we are going to be as bad as those we fight, just a few minutes
ago. We are not as bad as those we are going to fight. We are not
adopting their techniques. We discipline people who violate the law
or the rules. As a matter of fact, almost 200 service personnel have
been disciplined in one form or another for failure of discipline.

Chairman WARNER. We have to move on, gentlemen.

Senator SESSIONS. I just feel like we need to be careful about
what we say about those who serve us.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Cornyn.

Senator CORNYN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I do not know what the headlines are going to be written about
this hearing today, but I hope they include the conclusion that AR
15-6 found no evidence of torture or inhumane treatment at JTF
Gitmo, notwithstanding some of the statements that have been
made here and elsewhere. I think that is an important conclusion.
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General Craddock, you were engaged in an exchange on the Ge-
neva Conventions. But as you pointed out, the detainees here are
either members of the Taliban or al Qaeda fighters. In the case of
al Qaeda, of course they do not wear a uniform, they do not recog-
nize a chain of command, they do not conduct their activities ac-
cording to the law of war.

It is interesting, during the confirmation proceeding for the At-
torney General, Alberto Gonzalez, we had quite a debate among
legal scholars, including the Dean of Yale Law School, who ulti-
mately conceded that being non-signatories to the Geneva Conven-
tions, not recognizing a military hierarchy or a law of war, that al
Qaeda was not covered by the Geneva Conventions. I believe that
is essentially what you have said here today, and I happen to agree
with you and I think it is really irrefutable.

Three Federal courts have examined that, have so concluded, and
I think it is absolutely right.

On the other hand, you have stated it is our policy not to engage
in torture or inhumane treatment, as being inconsistent with our
values, and certainly I am relieved to know that this exhaustive in-
vestigation so concluded.

I want to ask about the 20th hijacker, al-Qahtani, as he has been
identified in other contexts. This is the individual that apparently
had committed himself to committing suicide, that is losing his own
life, in pursuit of his cause by participating in the United Airlines
Flight 93 that, due to the bravery of civilians on board that flight,
went down in a field in Pennsylvania rather than hit the Capitol
or the White House or other places that they intended.

This individual, in addition to being an al Qaeda operative, once
he was captured in Afghanistan and transferred to Gitmo, he with-
stood any interrogation techniques for about 8 months; is that not
correct, General Craddock?

General CRADDOCK. That is correct, Senator.

Senator CORNYN. It was in that context, as well as the ongoing
war that we were engaged in and our efforts to gather actionable
intelligence in order to protect not only our troops in the field but
our civilians here in the homeland, that efforts were made to defeat
his counter-interrogation defenses, and it was in that context that
what we have heard discussed occurred.

I guess when I read the conclusion here—I want to ask you a lit-
tle bit about that—as a result of this investigation—and I under-
stand, I believe that General Schmidt and General Furlow have
done an admirable job here. But just in terms of the ultimate con-
clusion about General Miller, it is my understanding from what
has been said here is that the interrogation plan used on al-
Qahtani was legally permissible and that there has been no finding
that it deviated in any way from a lawful interrogation of this al
Qaeda operative. Is that correct, sir?

General CRADDOCK. The plans, the special interrogation plan de-
veloped, used both FM 34-52 interrogation techniques and those
authorized in the 2 December memo. Now, the interrogation tech-
nique then is manifested by the development of the JTF Gitmo ap-
plication, and that is where the interrogators look at what is it that
this guy has resisted, what have we tried that did not work, how
do we get him out of his comfort zone, how do we get him to be
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discomfortable, to be on edge? We need to be able to break his re-
sistance. Then they develop those applications to do that.

Those were found to be, again consistent with, in accordance
with, pride and ego down and futility.

Senator CORNYN. The means used on this detainee, al-Qahtani,
were using authorized procedures; is that correct?

General CRADDOCK. As I understand and read the report, that is
correct. But I will defer to General Schmidt. Is that correct, Mark?

General SCHMIDT. They were within the broad authorized tech-
niques, authorized by the FM and the SECDEF memo of 2 Decem-
ber, that is correct. At the application end, they did stay above the
threshold of inhumane treatment. There was no torture or inhu-
mane treatment.

Within that, I found that each individual act, whether authorized
or unauthorized, had a rolling cumulative effect on this individual,
and it was the cumulative effect that we found to be abusive in its
totality and degrading.

Senator CORNYN. General Schmidt, I want to lay as a predicate,
my great admiration for you and all of our folks in the military,
but particularly for the difficult job that you have undertaken here.
My dad served 31 years in the Air Force and I have great admira-
tion for you and everyone who wears that uniform.

But I have a little trouble understanding how, if an interrogation
on 1 day is within authorized limits and another day it is within
authorized limits, how you can say that the cumulative effect was
abusive and degrading and somehow fell below authorized limits.
Can you explain that for us?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, the limits of each interrogation is what
they were, and they were usually limited by the amount of time
that an interrogation team would be in the interrogation room. It
is much like, the analogy would be, playing music that you do not
like. That might be annoying. If there are no limits placed on the
duration that you are going to listen to that music—pick your
worst music and you listen to it and somewhere at 10 hours you
think you have had enough, and maybe at 20 hours. At some point
there might be a limit where that is abusive music, the environ-
ment becomes abusive. That is the cumulative effect that we tried
to get to.

Senator, I will tell you that it was very difficult for us as military
members to go in there and look for alleged abuses. Of course, you
look at a character like al-Qahtani and you say, do the means jus-
tify the ends? That was not part of our charter. It is did something
happen? Were there abuses? That is what we identified.

Then we attempted to say, well, were they authorized or not,
substantiated or not? Then over the course of time we felt that this
particular individual, as heinous a person as he is, the cumulative
effect of that long duration, 160 days of the segregation and the in-
creased aggressive interrogation applications, constituted abusive,
degrading treatment.

It is pretty hard to look through some of those things that are
in there and say, was he degraded? What is the definition of “de-
grading” to a reasonable man? So we had to make those judgment
calls and, sir, that is what we did.
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Senator CORNYN. Finally—and I respect your answer—for my-
self, I look at this person as someone who is not only willing to
take his own life in pursuit of his cause, but obviously the lives of
a lot of other innocent people. I noticed he was dehydrated due to
his own refusal to take fluids, so he had to be put on an IV. He
obviously was denying himself. You were not denying him water.
He was denying it to himself, as well as fasting.

So I personally am glad that the interrogators used humane and
authorized interrogation techniques to get the information out of
him that they did, and I trust that they saved American lives and
lives of other innocent people in that context.

Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Chambliss.

Senator CHAMBLISS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

First of all, let me join the chorus of my colleagues in com-
mending you gentlemen for the job you did. This is an extremely
difficult task that you were given, and obviously there are still
some stones unturned that you are going to go back and look at.
But at the end of the day I do not see anything we have talked
about today affecting a change in your conclusions.

But even with the difficulty of the job that you three men had
in carrying out your duty, the job that those guards and those men
and women who are serving at Gitmo is frankly much more dif-
ficult in my opinion. I have been to Gitmo twice. I was there before
Camp Delta was built. I went back after Camp Delta was built.

The images that we see on the television today relative to Gitmo
always show the old cages that these prisoners were put in when
they first went down there. Those cages, as we know, have not
been used in years. Camp Delta was built for the purpose of pro-
viding them with more adequate housing, more in line with the Ge-
neva Conventions, although we probably did not have to do that.

When I was down there the first time, I was told by guards about
the fact that these prisoners were spitting on them, that they were
taking human feces and throwing it on them, and they were having
to put up with these kinds of conditions. We just had a delegation
that returned from Gitmo this past week, a group of Senators that
went down there. Those Senators came back with these same sto-
ries from individual guards who now, in spite of the new accom-
modations that the prisoners have, they are spit on regularly, they
are cursed regularly, human feces are thrown at them regularly.

Two African Americans from my home State made the comment
to my colleague from Georgia about the fact that the worst racial
slurs that could be used against an African American are used
against them regularly.

This is the type of condition that our troops are in. Under those
conditions we have an allegation that there are allegations of 3
substantiated cases out of 25 interrogations that have taken place.
I join Senator Sessions, Senator Roberts, and Senator Inhofe in
thinking that, gee whiz, under the conditions that our folks are lit-
erally in combat in Gitmo, that is amazing, that we have not had
more than three.

One of them, she was spit on and went out of the room and did
something she should not have done. But it was a very emotional
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act on her part. Certainly she should not have done it. She has
been reprimanded, as she should have been, and we have moved
on.
I am going back Monday a week from now, Mr. Chairman. If
anybody cannot go with you, they are certainly welcome to go with
me. I know I have invited all the members of the Intelligence Com-
mittee, but anybody on this committee is welcome to go.

General Craddock, you are absolutely right in your comments re-
garding that training manual. Let us do not stick our head in the
sand. The American people need to know and understand that al
Qaeda is watching this hearing today as we speak. Their training
manual has already been rewritten, I am sure, to upgrade it to
where now the terrorists are being trained as to how to respond to
new types of interrogation that we may utilize.

So 1s this the right thing to do or is it not? I guess Senator Ses-
sions may be right in one respect, but I respect the chairman and
if it is going to be public then it is only right that we come here
today to let the American people know and understand what is
really going on in Gitmo.

While I disagree with some of the statements that Senator Clin-
ton made relative to this issue, I do agree with her on one thing.
That is, the ultimate question, General Craddock, is whether or not
we are being effective with our interrogations. I think I know the
answer to that because I have been told that answer by folks who
have been down there. We have some Intelligence Committee staff
that were interrogators.

But let me just give you an opportunity to answer that question:
Are we getting information from these prisoners at Gitmo and have
we gotten information in the, what, 3% years, 22 years now, that
they have been there that has saved the lives of American men and
women?

General CRADDOCK. Senator, absolutely yes, in response to your
question. We have and we are today still getting information that
is relevant, that is actionable, and is supporting our service-
members in the field in the global war on terrorism. I will defer
to my colleagues to further amplify.

General SCHMIDT. To my knowledge, that is absolutely a true
statement. It continues to be a fairly fertile ground for information.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir, Senator. In my time at Gitmo visiting
with them, they pride themselves on being a model for strategic in-
telligence gathering, and they continue to get intelligence. Now, the
specifics, I am not privileged to that, nor did I delve into that dur-
ing the portion of our investigation.

Senator CHAMBLISS. One other thing I think we need to empha-
size and that is the type of people who are down there. They have
been characterized, General Craddock, as the meanest, nastiest
people in the world, and their sole purpose in life is to kill and
harm Americans right now, and we know that.

In spite of that, we have released some 250 of these prisoners,
I believe, over the last 2 years. I also know that we have had public
information relative to at least 10 individuals who were incarcer-
ated at Gitmo, who were released, who have either been captured
or killed on the battlefield or who we know are operating today in
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the process of killing or trying to kill and harm Americans. Am I
correct about that?

General CRADDOCK. That is correct, Senator. We believe the
number is 12 right now, confirmed 12 either recaptured or killed
on the battlefield.

Senator CHAMBLISS. Those are the ones we know about. That
does not include the ones that we do not know about, who had no-
where to go but back to Afghanistan or back to Iraq to again try
to kill and harm Americans.

So I look forward to going back to Gitmo for any number of rea-
sons, obviously to observe what is going on. One other thing that
I did while I was down there, after Camp Delta was built I had
the opportunity to go in and observe an interrogation taking place
or several interrogations taking place, that they took me into the
room and we looked through the glass where they could not see us
but we could see them. Obviously there was nothing improper
going on.

As I walked out, I said: “What is going on over here?” They said:
“Another interrogation.” That was not one they planned to take me
to see. I said: “Let us go in.” We did, unannounced, and obviously
there was nothing improper going on relative to an interrogation
that was not planned for me to see.

So I again appreciate the job that you do. But there are a lot of
folks from my home State who were either guardsmen, reservists,
or active duty that were at Gitmo on the occasions that I have been
down there and ones that I have talked to who have been there
and have come back, and the conditions under which they have had
to operate have been deplorable from the standpoint of the treat-
ment directed at them by the prisoners.

In spite of that, they have just done a very professional job in
my opinion of conducting themselves and making every branch of
the Service proud that they are part of that Service in their ren-
dering of that Service at Gitmo.

So gentlemen, again, thank you very much for your service to our
country.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, Senator. I think it is
extremely important that you brought out those facts with regard
to the abuses being suffered by the military and civilian personnel
tasked with this difficult interrogation process. It has been over the
years. I judge by now that has been somewhat curtailed and con-
tained, or is it still at a level that is troublesome?

General CRADDOCK. Mr. Chairman, any incident is troublesome.
We now have detainees, if you will, aligned based upon their ac-
tions towards the guards. We know where to expect it most. How-
ever, I was at Gitmo recently. I talked to some sailors who were
on the guard force in a camp that was supposedly with detainees
who were more cooperative, and I said: What is your worst day?
The answer was, they did this or they did that. So it happens in
most of the camps still occasionally.

Chairman WARNER. It continues to happen.

General CRADDOCK. Indeed, sir.

Chairman WARNER. I hope appropriate measures are taken.

Senator Levin, you wish to correct the record?
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Senator LEVIN. No, not a correction; just clarification of some fac-
tual matter for the record.

Chairman WARNER. Let me interrupt for all members. We will
reconvene just as quickly as we can in room SR-222 for a closed
session of this hearing.

Senator LEVIN. This will just literally take a couple minutes, and
I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

As T understand your task, General Schmidt and General
Furlow, it was to look at interrogations where the FBI was present;
is that correct?

General SCHMIDT. No, sir. To be more correct, we were to look
into allegations of FBI assertions that interrogations had taken
place. They did not see these interrogations. They possibly had
heard of it.

Senator LEVIN. I see.

General SCHMIDT. It was any allegation that they had that we
were doing things untoward.

Senator LEVIN. About how many interrogations would have been
involved in what you looked at? 50? 100? Give us a rough idea?

General SCHMIDT. I am going to say thousands.

Senator LEVIN. You looked at thousands of interrogations?

General SCHMIDT. Data that would have covered thousands.

Senator LEVIN. Would you be able to determine whether there
were abuses at 24,000 or just at a few thousand or a few hundred?
Give us an idea where you made a determination as to whether
there was abuses or not?

General SCHMIDT. To be sure I am close, one moment. [Pause.]

General FURLOW. Sir, in the process of the methodology and look-
ing at the data that is down there, in addition to the FBI memos
and electronic correspondence and the unredacted portions, review-
ing them, Gitmo has a very extensive system called the Joint De-
tainee Information Management System (JDIMS) which—and I
had the opportunity to go through and selectively sample a cross-
range of these detainees and their records that they have provided
and through the logs that the MPs provide that merges into the
program there, allowing you to look at a large number of interroga-
tions in a very short period of time.

The next step of methodology we pursued was by actually looking
at the paper copies, which were the main means of being able to
conduct business prior to around the first calendar quarter of 2003.

So to sit there and say that we have been able to review a couple
thousand, 3,000 interrogations is accurate.

Senator LEVIN. Fine, 2,000 or 3,000.

General FURLOW. Yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Through those records.

General FUrRLOW. If there was an indication based on a par-
ticular detainee that there was a possibility, then we would trace
that fact pattern to follow-on interrogations.

Senator LEVIN. You did not talk to the people who carried out
those interrogations?

General FURLOW. No, sir, I talked to those people.

Senator LEVIN. Oh, you did talk to all the people who were inter-
rogated, 2,000 or 3,000?
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General FURLOW. No, sir. I misunderstood your question. I talked
to the interrogators that were presently at Gitmo.

Senator LEVIN. I do not mean that, but did you talk to the inter-
rogators at 2,000 to 3,000 interrogations?

General FURLOW. No, sir. No, sir.

Senator LEVIN. It would be a lot fewer than that?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, we were——

Senator LEVIN. It would be a lot fewer than that?

General FURLOW. Yes, sir. But what we did do is in the process
of identifying who those were we went and interviewed as many as
we could.

Senator LEVIN. Okay.

General SCHMIDT. But there were interrogators who had inter-
action with other interrogators that we did not know, that would
have been asked or would have known about other opportunities
for abuse. So this thing interlaced well beyond those that we had
direct contact with, that could have surfaced an allegation.

Senator LEVIN. Okay.

Next question: Were you tasked to look into cases where there
were criminal proceedings pending or was that something you were
not supposed to get into?

General SCHMIDT. The criminal proceedings that were pending
had nothing to do with detainees at Gitmo. I discussed that with
the appointing authority and it turned out it was not related at all.

Senator LEVIN. So none of the pending criminal cases related to
any allegations of detainee abuse?

General SCHMIDT. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Did you make any judgment on the
legality of techniques or only as to whether or not those techniques
were authorized, not authorized, or whether or not they took place?

General SCHMIDT. Sir, the legality was not within our purview.
Whether, again as I stated before, the means justified the ends was
not within my charter either.

Senator LEVIN. That is helpful.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. We will now reconvene in room SR-222 and
I thank all participating. I think, General Craddock and General
Schmidt, would you like to identify those principals that you have
with you that worked on the report so that their names can be a
part of this important record?

General CRADDOCK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Before I do that, may I have a correction? I would like to make
a correction that I think is important to do in a final closing state-
ment. First, I guess I miscommunicated to Senator Reed—it is un-
fortunate he is not here—because in his final statement he indi-
cated displeasure with—apparently he believes or as I understood
he said that I have by my decision now tried to pin the blame for
something on an lieutenant commander.

That is not the case. My modification on that recommendation
was

Chairman WARNER. On Miller?

General CRADDOCK. On the lieutenant commander.

Chairman WARNER. The lieutenant commander.
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General CRADDOCK. Was the fact that I felt that, because of the
course of the investigation, two individuals very critical to that in-
vestigation, the staff judge advocate and his supervisor, refused to
comment and to be interviewed; that the way to force that to hap-
pen and potentially then to find out that the claim from the lieu-
tenant commander that he got approval to proceed to communicate
the threat from his supervisor and his servicing staff judge advo-
cate, would be to force them to make a statement under oath.

So my intent there was not to in any way ascribe blame to him
by asking for a criminal investigation. It was to indeed determine
that his allegation was true because those other people critical to
that determination would not make a statement.

Second, if I may, much of what we have talked about here today
is all focused on one detainee, 063, al-Qahtani, the 20th hijacker.
When did this happen? The fingerprint correlation to the 20th hi-
jacker was late summer of about a year, less than a year, after
September 11, when we were still wondering when and where is
the next attack, as we do today, but maybe with greater angst and
greater concern.

So when we made this connection and we realized we had had
him for 8 months and nothing had happened, he was not providing
information, there was an intensity that we must do something to
find out what he knows, because our servicemembers, our Nation,
could be at risk if he is number 20, which he was. So I think that
has to be put in perspective. Now, that is one individual with inter-
rogation techniques that some may find in a cumulative effect de-
grading and abusive. That is not the population of detainees and
the techniques and interrogation applications used. That was one
individual. There were two plans developed, only one implemented.
The rest of the detainees never got into a special interrogation
p}llan, completely different techniques and applications used for
them.
hI think we need to keep that in perspective as we think through
this.

Now, sir, if I may——

Chairman WARNER. Let me ask General Schmidt and General
Furlow if they have any concluding comments, and then we will—
do you have any concluding comments? I will give each of you the
opportunity.

General SCHMIDT. Mr. Chairman, I just want to make sure that
it is clear—let me get back to the admonishment issue—that I
agree with General Craddock that commanders to an extent rely on
the judgment and the experience of their people, their subordinate
commanders, to carry out the duties that they give them.

This was not an assertion of criminal conduct and Major General
Miller did not violate any U.S. law or policy. My recommendation
was that he failed to monitor or adequately supervise the interro-
gations of one high-value detainee. I think the report spells that
out in some detail.

So I just wanted to make sure that that was clear. I know Jeff
Miller, I have worked with him. He is a fine individual, and he had
a tall task to complete down there. As we interviewed witnesses on
these alleged abuses and that was the focus, to a person very few
did not state that, thank God for General Miller to come down
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there and clean up some of the chaos that had been organization-
ally present when he arrived.

So this was a hard task to do. But again, we were focused on the
assignment, not on the periphery part of this. We wanted to sur-
face and bubble up the truth, the facts, and we have presented
those in this report.

I do thank you for hearing us out.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you, and I assure you this Senator,
and I think that all of us, respect the integrity, the difficulty, and
your professionalism in handling that delicate issue.

General Furlow?

General FURLOW. Thank you, sir. Regarding a review of the FBI
documents and witnesses, I would like to put in the record here
that we reviewed hundreds of documents from the FBI, including
unredacted e-mails. We also over several months worked diligently
to speak personally with every available FBI agent. We also made
specific requests to speak with the ones we were not able to for a
minimum of three different occasions.

Ultimately, we considered the best material evidence that we had
to write a report in a timely manner.

I would like to communicate, sir, that it has been truly an honor
to appear before this body today, sir.

Chairman WARNER. I thank you very much.

Senator LEVIN. Can I just add my thanks, Mr. Chairman, to
yours. We have two officers who have written a report to the best
of their ability. I want to commend them for the professional way
in which they have done this to the best of their ability. It is not
easy, I am sure, to reach judgments, regardless of the judgments
in this case. But you two have done the best you can.

I want to commend you for not just your report, but, very frank-
ly, for the slides, which I think helped us to go through this. Except
for the inability to read that one number in the lower right-hand
corner, these slides were extremely helpful to us. I just want to add
my thanks. Thank you all, you too, General Craddock, for being
here this morning.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you.

Now, General, if you would like to put the names of your col-
leagues in the record?

General CRADDOCK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will introduce
my team: My Executive Officer, Colonel Milo Miles; Staff Judge Ad-
vocate, Captain Marty Evans; Public Affairs Officer, Colonel Dave
McWilliams; Colonel Jorge Silveira there in the second row, who is
the Chief of my Actions Group; and Colonel Rob Levinson, who is
my Head Representative from the Washington Field Office.

I will turn it over to General Schmidt.

General SCHMIDT. Sir, I would like to start with General Furlow.
He and four members spent 2 months pulling this together, doing
the majority, the vast majority, of the interviews. When I came in
it was because there were some general officers to interview and
eventually we got to seven of those.

John, go ahead and introduce your original team.

General FURLOW. Sir, in addition to myself, there was Colonel
Alex Carruther, who is not here today; Sergeant Major Beverly
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James, who is also not here today. Who is here today is Captain
Harvey “Chip” Jarvis, right back here.

Thank you, sir.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much.

General ScHMIDT. Sir, the team I brought: I drafted my com-
mand’s Staff Judge Advocate, Colonel Joe Heimann. He now works
for Chairman’s Legal, and we have borrowed him and he has put
in yeoman’s work on this.

My Commander Action Group Chief, Lieutenant Colonel Danny
Wolf, has done great work. He typed past midnight last night mak-
ing these slides to put this together. My Executive Officer, Scott
Cirrone, is off doing personnel duty. He is an A-10 fighter pilot.
Again, this is not our day job. He did great work. The logistics was
pulled together by my Aide, Captain Hector Lopez, everything from
getting our airlift to the paper, the sending of things over here, to
getting us sandwiches with extra jalapenos because we missed
those from Arizona.

They did yeoman work. The team worked together. To step in for
1 month of a 3-month investigation, John Furlow did an absolutely
outstanding job.

Chairman WARNER. I thank all of you very much.

We have had an excellent hearing. I felt it very important for
this committee to have direct access to each of you in the context
of a hearing, which we have had today, for it to be subjected to
such cross-examining and expressions of viewpoints as the mem-
bers may wish to make, and indeed that did take place.

Thank you very much. We are adjourned; we will now reconvene
in closed session in room SR—222.

[Questions for the record with answers supplied follow:]

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JOHN MCCAIN
SCOPE OF ARMY FIELD MANUAL 34—52

1. Senator McCAIN. General Craddock, in the hearing before the Senate Armed
Services Committee on July 13, 2005, you asserted that the following interrogation
techniques are approved in the Army Field Manual (FM) on Interrogation 34-52,
under the approach called “Ego Down and Futility”:

- forcing a man to wear a woman’s bra and placing underwear on his head;
- tying a leash to the subject and leading him around the room, forcing him
to perform dog tricks;

- standing naked for several minutes with female interrogators present;
and

- pouring water over their heads.

Is it your opinion that the FM authorizes or in some way allows these examples
to be used during interrogations by Defense Department personnel? If it does, or
implies that these techniques are OK, should the manual be changed? Please fully
explain your answer.

General CRADDOCK. I approved the investigation’s finding that the first three
techniques listed above were authorized under FM 34-52, Intelligence Interrogation.
FM 34-52 provides broad guidance on a number of techniques such as “ego down”
or “futility.” FM 34-52 does not specify each and every application that is author-
ized under a particular technique. At Joint Task Force Guantanamo (JTF Gitmo),
the interrogation team devised specific applications for one particular detainee—Mo-
hammed al-Qahtani. Al-Qahtani had previously resisted conventional criminal in-
vestigation interrogation techniques for months. These specific applications, devel-
oped by the interrogation team, under the ego down and futility techniques were
creative and aggressive. However, these applications did not violate any U.S. law
or policy.

FM 34-52 was designed to provide guidance to traditional, state against state
armed conflicts where the Geneva Conventions are fully applicable to enemy pris-
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oners of war. I believe FM 34-52, and Department of Defense policy or doctrine in
related areas, should be updated to reflect the new phenomenon of conflict against
enemy combatants. In fact, I approved several recommendations from the investiga-
tion to this effect and I forwarded the investigation report to the Department of De-
fense for further consideration of these matters.

With regard to the fourth technique listed above, I recall making no assertion at
the hearing that the technique was approved or not approved. I only recall a ques-
tion posed by Senator McCain to me about “water-boarding,” a technique never ap-
proved for use.

RECOMMENDED REPRIMAND

2. Senator MCCAIN. General Craddock, one of the recommendations from this in-
vestigation was that Major General Miller should be held accountable for failing to
supervise the interrogation of ISN 063 and should be admonished for that failure.
Blilt ;n your review of the investigation you disapproved of the recommendation.
Why?

General CRADDOCK. I disapproved Recommendation No. 16, that Major General
Miller be held accountable for failing to supervise the interrogation of al-Qahtani
and be admonished for that failure because the interrogation of al-Qahtani did not
result in any violation of U.S. law or policy and the degree of supervision provided
by Major General Miller did not warrant admonishment under the circumstances.
As the commander, even in the early days of his assignment, Major General Miller
was responsible for the conduct of his subordinates. However, as all commanders
must do to the extent they determine appropriate, Major General Miller relied on
the judgment and experience of his people to carry out their duties in a manner that
was both professional and authorized.

The evidence shows that he was not misguided in his trust, since there was no
finding that law or policy was violated. Major General Miller did supervise the in-
terrogation in that he was aware of the most serious aspects of al-Qahtani’s interro-
gation: the length of interrogation sessions, the number of days over which it was
conducted, and the length of segregation from other detainees.

Additionally, I think it is important to note that Major General Miller arrived in
Gitmo for the first time when he assumed command on 4 November 2002. Upon ar-
rival, he assumed command of two organizations, JTF 160 and 170 that upon his
arrival were merged into JTF Gitmo. Upon assuming command of JTF Gitmo, Major
General Miller became responsible for a multitude of tasks that demanded his im-
mediate attention: merging the two task forces into the one task force that would
have a common operating system for both the interrogation element and the deten-
tion element; managing the construction of new facilities and the manning, equip-
ping, training, and organizing of the force; developing standard operating procedures
for and improving the cooperation between interagency interrogations; and, last but
not least, improving the quality of life for the military personnel of JTF Gitmo.

Additionally, the report of investigation found that the cumulative efforts of some
interrogation applications led to abusive and degrading treatment. However, the re-
port did not identify which applications or frequency of any or all applications were
contributory, which in my judgment was essential to a finding of accountability.

FBI ALLEGATIONS

3. Senator McCCAIN. General Craddock, what was the Pentagon’s initial response
to the FBI’s allegations? How were they handled throughout the chain of command?

General CRADDOCK. An FBI official wrote a letter to the Army Provost Marshal
General on 14 July 2004 regarding “suspected mistreatment of detainees” at JTF
Gitmo, specifically referring to three incidents allegedly involving “highly aggressive
interrogation techniques.” The Army Criminal Investigative Division forwarded the
letter to the U.S. Southern Command on 9 August 2004. My Staff Judge Advocate
then coordinated with JTF Gitmo to determine what investigation, if any, had been
conducted. Coordination with JTF Gitmo revealed the following. The 14 July 2004
letter referred to three incidents. Of these incidents, the Army’s Criminal Investiga-
tive Division investigated one of the incidents shortly after the 14 July 2004 letter
(allegations of abuse by an interrogator); JTF Gitmo investigated another incident
at the time of the incident (the “duct tape” incident, October 2002); and the third
incident (the overall interrogation of al-Qahtani) was not investigated by JTF Gitmo
because the allegation did not appear to raise any allegations that went beyond
techniques authorized for al-Qahtani’s interrogation. My Staff Judge Advocate office
provided this information to the investigation team led by Vice Admiral Albert T.
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Church on 27 August 2004, for their consideration in preparing a Secretary of De-
fense directed report on all Department of Defense detainee operations.

In December 2004, the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) published FBI e-
mails that detailed additional allegations of detainee abuse that were not contained
in the FBI letter from July 2004. I had no knowledge of these additional FBI allega-
tions until December 2004. Shortly after hearing of these additional FBI allegations,
I directed an investigation into all of the FBI allegations on 24 December 2004.

4. Senator MCCAIN. General Craddock, the Pentagon has repeatedly assured this
committee that all serious allegations of abuse are investigated. Yet no investigation
was launched into the FBI allegations until the e-mails were released to the ACLU.
The government had all of this information long before it was made public, so why
was there no investigation?

General CRADDOCK. As discussed above, until the ACLU released the FBI docu-
ments in December 2004, I had no knowledge of the additional allegations. The Vice
Admiral Church Report found that the FBI e-mails were not known to any other
DOD authorities either. Once I reviewed the FBI e-mails, I determined that the alle-
gations merited an investigation to establish the truth and ascertain what, if any,
actions needed to be taken. Accordingly, I directed an investigation in December
2004.

PUNISHMENT

5. Senator McCAIN. General Craddock, this most recent investigation into the in-
terrogations of detainees in Gitmo comes to the conclusion that there were violations
of Secretary of Defense guidance and the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ).
Have those involved in the violations been punished in any way?

General CRADDOCK. The investigation substantiated several allegations and as-
sessed what disciplinary action, if any, had been taken, and recommended whether
additional disciplinary action was needed.

Substantiated allegations:

A female interrogator touched a detainee and ran her fingers through the detain-
ee’s hair. The interrogation supervisor was given a written letter of admonishment
for failure to document the techniques to be implemented by the interrogator prior
to the interrogation.

A female interrogator told a detainee that red ink on her hand was menstrual
blood and then the interrogator wiped her hand on the detainee’s arm. As the tech-
nique was not approved in advance, the interrogator’s supervisor verbally rep-
rimanded the interrogator for the incident. No formal disciplinary action was taken.
The investigation viewed the command action as inadequate. However, noting the
time that had lapsed and the fact that the interrogator had left the service, the in-
vestigation recommended closing this allegation.

The Interrogation Control Element (ICE) Chief directed that a military police
guard place duct tape on a detainee’s mouth to quiet the detainee. The JTF Gitmo
Staff Judge Advocate verbally admonished the ICE Chief, but no formal command
disciplinary action took place. The investigation viewed the admonishment as inad-
equate and recommended the ICE Chief be formally admonished or reprimanded.
I approved the investigation’s finding and recommendation on this allegation and
I provided the investigation report to the Director, Joint Staff for forwarding to the
ICE Chief’s current commander or supervisor for whatever action, if any, he/she
deems appropriate.

There were two incidents of “short shackling,” chaining a detainee to the floor in
a manner requiring the detainee to crouch uncomfortably or lay in the fetal position.
However, the investigation could not find any evidence to assign individual respon-
sibility for these incidents. As JTF Gitmo now prohibits this practice, the investiga-
tion recommended closing the allegation.

A Navy Lieutenant Commander communicated a threat to a detainee. The inves-
tigation recommended the Lieutenant Commander’s new commander take discipli-
nary action. I modified the recommendation by requesting the Naval Criminal In-
vestigative Service conduct further investigation into the matter before forwarding
the report to the current commander of the officer for action as the commander
deems appropriate. I did so because the Lieutenant Commander alleged he was
given permission to use this technique by his first-line leader and his Staff Judge
Advocate representative. When questioned a second time about this incident, both
of those individuals refused to talk to the investigating officer. In my judgment, to
be fair to the Lieutenant Commander, a criminal investigation is warranted (as
communicating a threat is a UCMJ violation) .
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APPROVED TECHNIQUES

6. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, one FBI agent stated that he
saw detainees held in rooms so frigid that they were “left shaking in cold” and an
agent saw a detainee “almost unconscious in a room with a temperature probably
over 100 degrees” next to a pile of his own hair. I realize much of what we may
ask about Gitmo is covered in your investigation, but for the benefit of the American
public, please allow these questions. Are these painful descriptions of the technique
known as “environmental manipulation,” in other words, using extremes of hot and
cold to induce suffering and stress?

General SCHMIDT. The Secretary of Defense specifically approved the technique of
environmental manipulation in the 16 April 2003 memorandum, Counter-Resistance
Techniques in the War on Terrorism, which provides guidance on authorized inter-
rogation techniques. This technique was approved to alter the environment to create
moderate discomfort.

The Secretary of Defense memorandum further outlines that: conditions would
not be such that they would injure the detainee; and the detainee would be accom-
panied by interrogator at all times. This application must adhere to the general
safeguards outlined by the memorandum, including implementation by a trained in-
terrogator exercising an approved interrogation plan and applied in a humane man-
ner.

7. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, are such techniques now in use
or have they been approved for use at Gitmo or in Iraq?

General SCHMIDT. The technique environmental manipulation is still an approved
technique in accordance with the Secretary of Defense memorandum dated 16 April
2003. Likewise, the current JTF Gitmo Standard Operating Procedure permits in-
terrogators to adjust the temperature.

Techniques approved or not approved for use in Iraq were outside the scope of
this investigation, and I am not qualified to speculate on interrogation techniques
conducted with respect to Iraq.

8. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, how extensively were these
kinds of techniques used at Gitmo?

General SCHMIDT. The investigation disclosed environmental manipulation was
used on a number of occasions. The investigation confirmed this technique was used
at least five times.

9. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, I understand that these tech-
niques were officially approved by the Secretary for a period of only a few weeks
between December 2002 and January 2003. The Schlesinger panel was told that
they were used in Gitmo on “only two detainees.” But the FBI e-mails suggest they
were used much more frequently, and over a longer time period. If so, then when
did this begin? Under whose authority were the techniques used?

General SCHMIDT. On 16 April 2003, the Secretary of Defense memorandum spe-
cifically approved the technique of environmental manipulation; it remains as an ap-
proved technique in accordance with that guidance. To the best we could determine,
on several occasions during 2002 and 2003, interrogators would adjust the air condi-
tioner to make the detainee uncomfortable; the application of this technique was not
limited to the two high value detainees.

The approval authority for the use of environmental manipulation is the team
chief supervising the interrogators.

10. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, was the Schlesinger panel mis-
led and, if so, by whom, and why?

General SCHMIDT. My investigation was a limited AR 15-6 factfinding, inde-
pendent investigation. I did not attempt to reconcile my investigation with any other
investigation. The Schlesinger question is outside the scope of my investigation, and
I am1 not qualified to speculate on the intent of those responses to the Schlesinger
panel.

STRESS POSITIONS

11. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, according to press reports, FBI
e-mails described detainees “chained hand and foot in a fetal position on the floor,
with no chair, food or water,” who had “urinated or defecated on themselves and
had been left there for 18-24 hours.” I would hope that this is an approach we
would all find unacceptable. But is this simply a vivid description of a “stress posi-
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tion,” a technique that was approved for use at Gitmo and Iraq at various times
or does this differ in character from the stress positions that were approved?

General SCHMIDT. We found no evidence of detainees being deprived of food and
water. We did find that military interrogators improperly chained detainees and
placed them in a fetal position on the floor on at least two occasions; this was an
unauthorized technique. We also found that “short shackling” was initially author-
ized as a force protection measure during the in-processing of detainees. However,
since then, current JTF Gitmo leadership has verbally prohibited “short shackling.”

Regarding the allegation by an agent who observed a detainee deprived of food
and water while chained to the floor, we considered the agent’s statement made in
a 13 July 2004 e-mail and a 9 September 2004 FBI telephonic interview. We made
several efforts to conduct our own interview, but our FBI liaison continually advised
us the agent was unavailable. (Brigadier General Furlow has been directed to seek
FBI assistance in conducting interviews of FBI agents who were unavailable during
the investigation.) During the course of our investigation, we were unable to cor-
roborate any allegations that detainees had been denied food or water. Also, because
of the inconsistencies in that agent’s testimony and a lack of any other corrobora-
tion, we were unable to substantiate the second allegation.

The use of stress positions, such as “standing for a maximum of 4 hours,” was
requested by Commander JTF Gitmo and authorized by the Secretary of Defense
in the memorandum dated 2 December 2002; this authorization was rescinded 15
January 2003. The AR 15-6 found that a stress position described as “chained hand
and foot in a fetal position on the floor” was never authorized.

USE OF DOGS

12. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, a witness statement in the re-
port states that using dogs as an interrogation technique was equal to the fear up
technique listed in the Army FM. Does the Army FM 34-52 permit the use of dogs
as an interrogation technique in any way?

General SCHMIDT. The AR 15-6 concluded that Army FM 34-52 does not permit
the use of dogs in interrogation. The Secretary of Defense did approve the use of
dogs to exploit individual phobias in the memorandum dated 2 December 2002, later
rescinded by the 15 January 2003 memorandum.

ARMY FIELD MANUAL

13. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, are the detention and interro-
gation techniques employed at Gitmo authorized in the Army FM?

General SCHMIDT. This AR 15-6 found a very small number of incidents of abuse
during detention operations; all of which were appropriately addressed by the com-
mand. Detention operations were not the focus of this investigation.

All current interrogation techniques employed by JTF Gitmo are authorized by
the Secretary of Defense memorandum dated 16 April 2003. Army FM 34-52 pro-
vides guidance on many of these Secretary of Defense approved techniques. In decid-
ing if an interrogator’s actions were authorized, the 15—6 found it to be authorized
if the approach was permitted by FM 34-52 or SECDEF guidance, and did not vio-
late the requirement that it be done humanely. We found a technique to be unau-
thorized if it clearly exceeded the reasonable bounds of the defined or permitted ap-
proaches in the FM or SECDEF guidance. The AR 15-6 did not consider the restric-
tions of the Geneva Conventions outlined in the FM in deciding if a technique was
unauthorized because the Geneva Conventions did not apply to these interrogations.

The AR 15-6 investigation found only three interrogation techniques that were
never authorized: 1) on at least two occasions between February 2002 and February
2003, two detainees were “short shackled” to the eye-bolt on the floor in the interro-
gation room; 2) sometime in October 2002 duct tape was used to “quiet” a detainee;
and 3) military interrogators threatened the subject of the second special interroga-
tion and his family.

14. Senator MCCAIN. Lieutenant General Schmidt, are other detention and inter-
rogation techniques also authorized and if so, can you describe them?

General SCHMIDT. Regarding interrogations at JTF Gitmo, the only techniques
ever authorized were from Army FM 34-52 and the Secretary of Defense memoran-
dums dated 2 December 2002 and 16 April 2003 (found at exhibits 15 and 16, re-
spectively).

All current interrogation techniques employed at Gitmo are approved by the Sec-
retary of Defense memorandum dated 16 April 2003. Army FM 34-52 provides guid-
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ance on many of these Secretary of Defense approved techniques. The details per-
taining to the approved techniques, application, and general safeguards are ad-
dressed in the attached memorandum.

Further, specific guidelines are in place from the Commander, United States
Southern Command, and Commander, JTF Gitmo that further delineate and restrict
the application of approved techniques from the Secretary of Defense memorandum
dated 16 April 2003.

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR JAMES M. INHOFE
ACTS INVESTIGATED AGAINST DETAINEE

15. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, Lieutenant General Schmidt, and Briga-
dier General Furlow, I maintain these are detainees we are talking about here—
with knowledge about terrorists’ cells and operations that is useful to the U.S. in
understanding the actions of those who seek to do us harm, of destroying our way
of life. They are not to be coddled, not if we are to get access to the information
they possess, information that will help us in their defeat. I remain, as I did more
than a year ago when we started with this subject—outraged at the outrage!

What other country would freely discuss interrogation techniques used against
high value intelligence detainees during a time of war when suicide bombers are
killing our fellow citizens and those of our allies? Why would we freely explain the
limitations placed on our interrogators when we know that our enemy trains his ter-
rorists in methods to defeat our interrogations? We are handing him new informa-
tion to train future terrorists. What damage are we doing to our war effort by pa-
rading these relatively minor infractions before the press and the world again and
again ;Vhile our soldiers risk there lives daily and are given no mercy by their
enemy?

We must be careful because our enemies exploit everything to their advantage.
In a translated message picked up from Al-Zarqawi to his followers, he said: “the
Americans are living their worst days in Iraq now, even Members of Congress have
announced that the U.S. is losing the war in Iraq.” He assured them “We will con-
quer Iraq and then God willing head on to Jerusalem.” He called President Bush
“a fool” and said that his God is “anti-Christ.” Our enemy is listening. Let’s be care-
ful about what he hears.

We find ourselves holding yet another hearing on detainee abuse. The investiga-
tion you have completed seems to show that after 3 years and 24,000 interrogations
only 3 acts are in violation of approved interrogation techniques authorized by FM
34-52 and DOD guidance. One detainee had duct tape used to secure his mouth and
jaw because he wouldn’t stop yelling at the top of his lungs as he tried to insight
an uprising in the interrogations area. Another was threatened, yet nothing was
done to him or his family and another was tricked into believing that red ink was
another substance that was very offensive to him.

When you contrast these interrogation techniques with those used by other coun-
tries, those fighting us, those used by us in previous wars, it is hard to understand
why we are so wrapped up in this investigation. Further, you have determined in
all but a couple cases, appropriate disciplinary action was taken and in all cases
no further incidents occurred. Add to that, the fact that most, if not all, these inci-
dents are at least a year old, and I am very impressed with the way the military,
the FBI, and other agencies have conducted themselves.

This report shows me an incredible amount of restraint and discipline was present
at Gitmo. Even the small infractions found, were found by our own government, cor-
rected and now reported. We have nothing to be ashamed of. What other country,
attacked as we were, would exercise this degree of restraint and self-criticism? I
would like each of you to give your personal professional opinion to the committee.

General CRADDOCK. In my opinion, very few—if any—countries in the world
today—attacked as we were—would demonstrate the restraint and transparency of
detainee operations as the United States has. The fact is we started this venture
of terrorist/enemy combatant detainee operations with no precedent and little rel-
evant policy. While some in our government focused on interrogations yielding via-
ble judicial proceedings, others—DOD—focused on gaining intelligence to prevent
another attack. As we know now, the two were sometimes at odds. During this proc-
ess, standards for interrogation and treatment of detainees were codified. Where
rules were violated by guards or interrogators, punishment and/or corrective action
was taken. This process has matured over time and today is consistent in applica-
tion and enforcement. Quite frankly, when I visit Gitmo I marvel at the profes-
sionalism, dedication, and restraint our servicemembers demonstrate in dealing
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with these detainees on a daily basis. I only hope that if I were in their shoes I
could be that good!

In performing our intelligence mission, we continue to emphasize the U.S. Gov-
ernment’s commitment to treat detainees “humanely, and to the extent appropriate
and consistent with military necessity, in a manner consistent with the principles
of Geneva.” Along these lines, we have a solid working relationship with the Inter-
national Committee of the Red Cross. We take their recommendations seriously and
act upon them when appropriate. All credible allegations of abuse have been inves-
tigated and appropriate disciplinary action was taken against those who have en-
gaged in misconduct.

General SCHMIDT. JTF Gitmo interrogations number more than 24,000 over a 3-
year period, and we found only three interrogation acts in violation of authorized
policy. This investigation—one of many—was briefed in an open forum to scrutinize
ourselves to ensure we act in a responsible manner, now and in the future. Consid-
ering the timing of these events relative to September 11 and the operatives that
we had detained, the context of the environment may lead some to assume “military
necessity” allowed interrogations to employ cruel, inhumane, or tortuous techniques.
It did not, and incredible restraint was, and is, demonstrated by our troops in this
important endeavor. The very few instances of unauthorized use of interrogation
techniques clearly highlight the professionalism and humane standards of our sol-
diers.

General FURLOW. I was appointed to investigate FBI allegations of detainee abuse
during interrogation operations at JTF Gitmo on 28 December 2004. During the
course of that investigation, we uncovered only three acts that violated authorized
interrogation policy. It is not for me to conclude whether that is an example of “re-
straint.” However, I believe the small number of violations versus the large number
of interrogations (over 24,000) speak forcefully for kind of soldiers (diligent, dedi-
cated and motivated) who are fighting the war on terrorism. I was proud of my
country and military prior to my appointment as an investigating officer and remain
as proud, or prouder, of my country and military’s willingness to reflect and review
and recommend alterations to current operations based on past experiences.

16. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, Lieutenant General Schmidt, and Briga-
dier General Furlow, what was the worst substantiated incident of inappropriate
use of interrogation techniques you investigated?

General CRADDOCK. As a combatant commander with military justice authority,
characterizing one particular incident as “the worst” could be construed as a form
of unlawful command influence if an incident is still being investigated or if a simi-
lar type of incident occurs in the future. Therefore, I do not believe it is appropriate
to respond to this specific question.

General SCHMIDT. In my opinion, I believe the worst substantiated incident of in-
terrogation techniques was that military interrogators threatened the subject of the
second special interrogation and his family. Further, the interrogation logs clearly
indicate that the interrogation went well beyond the “threat to detain,” and in fact
was a threat to the subject of the second special interrogation and his family that
violated the UCMJ, article 134 communicating a threat. I feel this was the most
serious incident because it violated the UCMJ.

General FURLOW. I believe the worst substantiated incident of inappropriate use
of interrogation techniques was described in our report on pages 24-26. The report
found in pertinent part “the Special Team Chief threatened the subject of the second
special interrogation and his family. . .” A review of “the interrogation logs clearly
indicate that the interrogation went well beyond the ‘threat to detain. . .’ and in
fact was a threat to the subject of the second special interrogation and his family
that violated the UCMJ, article 134 communicating a threat.”

17. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, Lieutenant General Schmidt, and Briga-
dier General Furlow, was appropriate disciplinary action taken in a timely manner
in each case?

General CRADDOCK. For the same reasons I expressed in response to Question
#16, I do not believe it is appropriate to respond to this specific question.

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. On all but three occasions, the AR 15—
6 found that appropriate disciplinary action was taken in a timely manner. The 15—
6 did find three cases that, in our opinion, warranted additional action: 1) the use
of duct tape was addressed with an inadequate response—recommend admonish or
reprimand; 2) the failure to monitor ISN 063—recommend admonish; and 3) com-
municating a threat to a second high value detainee—recommend discipline.
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18. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, Lieutenant General Schmidt, and Briga-
dier General Furlow, have the infractions found been corrected so they will not
occur again and most importantly, are the DOD guidelines, as currently published
along with the guidelines published in FM 34-52, appropriate to allow interrogators
to get valuable intelligence information while not crossing the line from interroga-
tion to abuse?

General CRADDOCK. The investigation found that there was no evidence of the
substantiated allegations against individuals occurring again. In this respect, I be-
lieve the infractions have been corrected.

The Secretary of Defense 16 April 2003 memorandum, Counter-resistance Tech-
niques in the War on Terrorism, is the current authority for interrogation tech-
niques at JTF Gitmo. The Secretary of Defense memorandum draws heavily (al-
though not exclusively) upon FM 34-52. FM 34-52, Intelligence Interrogation, was
designed to provide guidance to traditional, state against state armed conflicts
where the Geneva Conventions are fully applicable to enemy prisoners of war. I be-
lieve FM 34-52, and Department of Defense policy or doctrine in related areas,
should be updated to reflect the new phenomenon of conflict against enemy combat-
ants. In fact, I approved several recommendations from the investigation to this ef-
fect and I forwarded the investigation report to the Department of Defense for fur-
ther consideration of these matters.

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. The current JTF Gitmo Standard Oper-
ating Procedures provide specific guidance and controls on all interrogations, con-
sistent with the Secretary of Defense memorandum dated 16 April 2003.

Regarding the larger question of the line between interrogation, intelligence col-
lection, and detainee abuse, it was not within the charter of the AR 15-6 to draw
conclusions on these points. However, the investigation did disclose that additional
guidance is needed in this area; therefore, the report has five recommendations.

(a) Recommendation #23. Recommend a policy-level review and determina-
tion of the status and treatment of all detainees, when not classified as
EPWs. This review needs to particularly focus on the definitions of humane
treatment, military necessity, and proper employment of interrogation tech-
niques (e.g. boundaries or extremes);

(b) Recommendation #24. Recommend study of the DOD authorized inter-
rogation techniques to establish a framework for evaluating their cumu-
lative impact in relation to the obligation to treat detainees humanely;

(¢) Recommendation #25. Recommend a reevaluation of the DOD and
interagency interrogation training consistent with the new realities of the
requirements of the global war on terror;

(d) Recommendation #26. Recommend a policy-level determination on role
of military police in “setting the conditions” for intelligence gathering and
interro,%ation of detainees at both the tactical level and strategic level facili-
ties; an

(e) Recommendation #27. Recommend an interagency policy review to es-
tablish “standards” for interrogations when multiple agencies and interro-
gation objectives are involved. Particular emphasis should be placed on set-
ting policy for who has priority as the lead agency, the specific boundaries
for the authorized techniques in cases with multiple agencies involved, a
central “data-base” for all intelligence gathered at a detention facility, and
procedures for record keeping to include historical, litigation support, les-
sons learned, and successful/unsuccessful intelligence gathering techniques.

19. Senator INHOFE. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General Furlow,
many different investigations have been conducted into allegations of detainee abuse
while they are in the custody of the United States. While there have been these al-
leged incidents, many were found to be ungrounded. While the two of you conducted
your investigation, you have been called upon to determine to what extent these al-
legations were accurate. From what I have seen on my visit to Gitmo and have been
briefed by the military leadership, it appears that what has been reported by the
media has been blown far out of proportion. In cases where the military has found
any mistreatment of detainees it has disciplined the responsible individuals accord-
ingly and improved its procedures to prevent recurrence. I would like you to com-
ment on what has the most egregious violation of a detainee that you came across
in your investigation, the frequency of any such action, and was such an action
deemed in your view to be an anomaly?

General SCHMIDT. In my opinion, I believe the most egregious violation of a de-
tainee, as stated in the report, was that military interrogators threatened the sub-
ject of the second special interrogation and his family. Further, the interrogation
logs clearly indicate that the interrogation went well beyond the “threat to detain,”
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and in fact was a threat to the subject of the second special interrogation and his
family that violated the UCMJ, article 134 communicating a threat. I feel this was
the most serious incident because it violated the UCMJ.

We did not discover any other instances of an interrogator communicating a
threat to a detainee. Therefore, I conclude that this was an isolated occurrence that
developed as interrogators dealt with one of two high value detainees known to pos-
sess information critical to the war on terror.

General FURLOW. I believe the most egregious violation of a detainee during the
implementation of an interrogation technique was described in our report on pages
24-26. The report found in pertinent part “the Special Team Chief threatened the
subject of the second special interrogation and his family. . .” A review of “the in-
terrogation logs clearly indicate that the interrogation went well beyond the ‘threat
to detain. . . and in fact was a threat to the subject of the second special interroga-
tion and his family that violated the UCMJ, article 134 communicating a threat.”

We did not discover any other instances of an interrogator communicating a
threat to a detainee; therefore, based on our investigation this was an isolated oc-
currence.

GITMO PRISONERS—CHARGE OR RELEASE

20. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, a lot of controversy has surrounded the
Gitmo prisoners—inflammatory statements have been made and inflammatory arti-
cles have been written. Many claim that we should charge these prisoners or just
let them go. This is of course the same group of people who believed we should treat
terrorism as a crime and not as a war. This is the same group of people who
watched as Osama Bin Laden and his thugs attacked American interests repeatedly
and simply sent the FBI to investigate and try to bring these people to justice, after
the fact.

In a Washington Post article dated October 22, 2004, John Mintz wrote: “At least
10 detainees released from the Guantanamo Bay prison after U.S. officials con-
cluded they posed little threat have been recaptured or killed fighting U.S. or coali-
tion forces in Pakistan and Afghanistan. . . One of the recaptured prisoners is still
at large after taking leadership of a militant faction in Pakistan and aligning him-
self with al Qaeda. . . In telephone calls to Pakistani reporters, he has bragged that
he tricked his U.S. interrogators into believing he was someone else.”

The reporter further reported about one former detainee named Mehsud: “Mehsud
said he spent 2 years at Guantanamo Bay after being captured in 2002 in Afghani-
stan fighting alongside the Taliban. At the time he was carrying a false Afghan
identity card, and while in custody he maintained the fiction that he was an inno-
cent Afghan tribesman, he said, U.S. officials never realized he was a Pakistani
with deep ties to militants in both countries. . .”

Three weeks ago, Attorney General Alberto Gonzales said, “There are 12 people
that we have released that we know have come back and fought against America
because they have been recaptured or killed on the battlefield. . .” I would like to
hear your view of this debate. Should these men be charged or released?

General CRADDOCK. The fact that released detainees have taken up arms again
and have tried to kill U.S. or coalition forces reflects the nature of many of the
enemy combatant detainees we hold at JTF Gitmo. They are a fierce and ruthless
enemy. Having said that, DOD has a system in place where the Office for the Ad-
ministrative Review of the Detention of Enemy Combatants (OARDEC) conducts
Administrative Review Boards (ARB) to determine whether enemy combatants
should be released, transferred, or remain in detention. The ARB assesses if enemy
combatants continue to pose threats to U.S. or allied forces or interests. Several
DOD organizations and other Federal agencies, as well as the nation of the enemy
combatant, provide input to the ARB. The ARB holds a hearing and makes a rec-
ommendation to the Designated Civilian Official (DCO), who makes the final deci-
sion. As I am not involved in the ARB process, and do not have access to all of the
information the ARB and DCO consider, I cannot comment on any specific cases.
But the fact remains as is stated by the Attorney General—we have erred in 12 as-
sessments to date—and that is far too many.

21. Senator INHOFE. General Craddock, do you believe these men would return
to theater to cause the U.S. and coalition forces additional trouble?

General CRADDOCK. The ARB and DCO fully consider the threat enemy combat-
ants may pose. However, many detainees at JTF Gitmo have been taught to be de-
ceptive and a detainee may occasionally succeed in persuading an ARB or the DCO



154

that the detainee’s release is warranted. A released detainee could return to theater
and cause U.S. and coalition forces trouble (as some have done).

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR EDWARD M. KENNEDY
SYSTEMIC PROBLEM

22. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, since allegations of abuse became public
over a year ago, we have heard the Pentagon use the term “a few bad apples” and
only hold accountability at lower levels of the chain of command. The similarities
that you, Lieutenant General Schmidt, and Brigadier General Furlow acknowledged
finding between treatments at Abu Ghraib and Gitmo (such as the use of women’s
lingerie, leashes, and dogs) indicate that these few, lower ranking interrogators and
military police are taking the same actions, stationed half way around the world
from one another.

If lower ranking interrogators and military servicemembers deployed to different
corners of the earth are taking similar actions, is it possible that the true culpability
for these “bad acts” lies further up the chain of command?

General CRADDOCK. There are important differences between JTF Gitmo and Abu
Gharib. Because the detainees at JTF Gitmo are unlawful enemy combatants who
are not entitled to protection under the Geneva Conventions as enemy prisoners of
war, different legal standards apply. OSD approved certain interrogation techniques
that applied only to unlawful enemy combatants detained at JTF Gitmo. These tech-
niques were used against al-Qahtani, a high value detainee, who is believed to have
been al Qaeda’s intended 20th highjacker for the September 11 terrorist attacks on
our Nation. The techniques used against al-Qahtani had been approved by the Sec-
retary of Defense and the specific applications of these techniques were carefully
planned and executed under closely controlled conditions. The techniques were de-
signed to counter al-Qahtani’s long resistance to more conventional interrogation
techniques. The intent in using these techniques was to use legally permissible
meth?ds to gain intelligence from a key al Qaeda member, intelligence that could
save lives.

In contrast, the conflict in Iraq is governed by the Geneva Conventions. OSD
never approved the use of JTF Gitmo authorized interrogation techniques in the
Iraq theater. At JTF Gitmo, the techniques and their applications were in accord-
ance with law and policy. At Abu Ghraib, guards—not interrogators—engaged in
misconduct outside of approved interrogation plans and without legal authority.
While there may have been some soldiers who served at JTF Gitmo and later infor-
mally told persons at Abu Ghraib about JTF Gitmo interrogation techniques/appli-
cations, I do not believe that there was any policy migration intended or authorized
at any level.

DEBATES BETWEEN THE FBI AND THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

23. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, in a letter to General Donald J. Ryder, the Deputy Assistant Director of
the FBI’'s Counterterrorism Division, T.J. Harrington, stated that a representative
of the FBI’s General Counsel Office spoke to two senior members of the Department
of Defense Office of the General Counsel: the Principal Deputy General Counsel,
and the Deputy General Counsel for Intelligence.

During the course of your investigation, did you find that other senior Pentagon
officials knew of the dispute between the FBI and DOD at or around the time of
that meeting and if so, who?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. The AR 15-6 team was directed to inves-
tigate FBI allegations of detainee abuse during interrogation operations at JTF
Gitmo. This question is the beyond the scope of the AR 15-6 investigation.

24. Senator KENNNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, your report was specifically tasked with addressing the allegations con-
tained in the FBI e-mails. Along with those allegations, you testified that there was
active disagreement between the FBI and the DOD about proper policies and proce-
dures. General Craddock and Lieutenant General Schmidt testified that the sub-
stance of the disagreement was based on the difference between FBI and DOD mis-
sions.

The December 5, 2003, FBI e-mail expressed concern that, given the nature of the
tactics used by DOD interrogators in FBI uniforms, the FBI would be publicly ad-
monished for DOD actions. The author was clearly concerned about the use of “tor-
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ture techniques,” as he or she called them, for reasons other than admissibility of
evidence in court.

How did the DOD respond to FBI concerns that did not have to do with the ad-
missibility of evidence, namely the torture allegations, and the accusation that FBI
would have to “hold the bag” for DOD actions they did not condone?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. First, the AR 15-6 investigation did not
find any evidence of the use of “torture techniques” being implemented at JTF
Gitmo, nor did the investigation find any evidence of torture occurring at JTF
Gitmo. Second, the AR 15-6 did find fundamental disagreements between DOD and
FBI interrogators concerning permissible interrogation techniques. This disagree-
ment highlights the difference between the law enforcement mission of criminal
prosecution and the need for actionable intelligence in the war on terror. The AR
15-6 concluded that the e-mail allegations arose because of these differences. While
the DOD requires detainees to always be treated humanely, and to the extent ap-
propriate and consistent with military necessity, in a manner consistent with the
Geneva Conventions, the DOD’s primary focus in interrogations is to obtain action-
able intelligence.

IMPERSONATING FBI OFFICERS

25. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, why were DOD interrogators imper-
songting members of the Department of State and FBI? Who authorized that prac-
tice?

General CRADDOCK. The investigation found that the JTF Gitmo Chief of the Spe-
cial Interrogation Team directed two interrogators to pose as State Department rep-
resentatives during one interrogation and another interrogator to pose as an FBI
agent on a different occasion. While using deception regarding one’s identity is an
authorized interrogation technique under FM 34-52, Intelligence Interrogation, an
FBI supervisor at JTF Gitmo did not appreciate this practice as detainees were com-
plaining during FBI interviews that FBI agents had already asked many of the
same questions. Therefore, the FBI supervisor brought this to the attention of the
appropriate JTF Gitmo officials and the practice was immediately stopped.

REPRIMANDING MAJOR GENERAL MILLER

26. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, the decision to reject the recommenda-
tion of the Schmidt-Furlow Report that Major General Miller be held accountable
for failing to supervise the interrogation of ISN 063 must have been a difficult one.
While making your decision, did you discuss it with any other member of the mili-
tary, or any other DOD official?

General CRADDOCK. The decision was mine. I did discuss the report and my op-
tions with regard to approving or disapproving the report’s recommendations with
my Staff Judge Advocate and my Deputy Staff Judge Advocate. I did not discuss
this specific decision—nor any other to my recollection—with anyone above me in
my chain of command either in the Chairman, Joint Chief of Staff’s office or with
the Secretary of Defense or Deputy Secretary of Defense. I did discuss the public
“roll-out” of this report—the process of briefings to Congress, press, etc.—during the
time I was finalizing my decisions—with Pete Geren of OSD and Major General
Mike Maples, Vice Director, Joint Staff. I do not recall any discussion with them
with regard to my decisions. I recused myself from Lt. Gen. Schmidt’s “pre-brief”
on the investigation to the Secretary of Defense.

27. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, you stated that the reason you did not
find Major General Miller accountable is that the actions taken under his watch
were all legal. Is that a standard that is universally applied when the military con-
siders accountability?

General CRADDOCK. No; military leaders often hold their subordinates responsible
or accountable for matters that may be legal but still warrant some measure of
counseling or other appropriate action. A leader’s military judgment and experience
plays a significant role in deciding when to take adverse action. I relied heavily
upon my own personal experience and judgment in deciding not to recommend ad-
monishing Major General Miller. While the fact that there was no finding that al-
Qahtani’s interrogation violated any U.S. law or policy was important, this was not
the sole reason I chose not to recommend admonishing Major General Miller. I also
believed that the degree of supervision provided by Major General Miller did not
warrant admonishment under the circumstances. As I have stated, Major General
Miller by his own admission, knew of several of the applications being used, applica-
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tions which were used continuously over time and considered harsh and aggressive.
Likewise, by his admission, he was not aware of other applications that were epi-
sodic in nature, not used during every interrogation period or every day, but labeled
by some as degrading and abusive (and found by the report’s investigators not to
have violated law or policy).

Additionally, Major General Miller had just taken over at Gitmo and had been
given several major duties to accomplish—a fact which I also considered. Evaluating
Major General Miller’s level of supervision as a commander was, in this context,
more of a leadership than a legal question.

28. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, were you assuming that as long as a
military leader’s subordinates are not acting in contravention to a written policy,
that leader should not be held accountable?

General CRADDOCK. In this case, Major General Miller did not act in contraven-
tion of law, regulation, or policy. While others viewing this matter externally may
not like Major General Miller’s degree of supervision over the interrogation of al-
Qahtani, I found no violation of law, regulation, or policy to hold Major General Mil-
ler accountable for.

DRAWING THE LINE

29. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, during the hearing there was some con-
fusion over what actions would amount to contravention of U.S. policy. Although the
Schmidt-Furlow Report concludes that the cumulative effect of the treatments of
ISN 063 amounted to degrading and abusive treatment, you stated that you were
unsure the treatment was degrading and abusive. Is that your position that, if each
individual treatment or technique is allowable according to U.S. policy, then the cu-
mulative outcome is necessarily not degrading and abusive?

General CRADDOCK. FM 34-52, Intelligence Interrogations, provides broad guid-
ance on a number of techniques such as “ego down” or “futility.” FM 34-52 does
not specify each and every application that is authorized under a particular tech-
nique. In fact, FM 34-52 states: “To every approach technique, there are literally
hundreds of possible variations, each of which can be developed for a specific situa-
tion or source. The variations are limited only by the interrogator’s personality, ex-
perience, ingenuity, and imagination.”

The investigation determined that the creative, aggressive, and persistent interro-
gation of al-Qahtani “resulted in the cumulative effect being degrading and abusive
treatment.” However, the investigation could not tell me at what point the cumu-
lative effect became degrading or abusive, or point to any violation of U.S. law or
policy from the purported “degrading and abusive treatment.” Because that point
was not identified, I approved the report’s recommendation that a study be con-
ducted of the DOD authorized interrogation techniques to establish a framework for
evaluating their cumulative impact in relation to the obligation to treat detainees
humanely. I forwarded this recommendation, along with others concerning policy
level issues, to the Department of Defense for further consideration.

30. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, at what point would such treatment ac-
cumulate to being degrading and abusive?

General CRADDOCK. I do not know. While I cannot speculate on hypothetical ques-
tions going beyond the scope of the investigation, I did accept the investigation’s rec-
ommendation to seek a policy level review of interrogation techniques with a view
towards evaluating the cumulative impact of interrogation techniques. I forwarded
this recommendation and the report to the Department of Defense for further con-
sideration.

31. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, you stated that, in reading the report,
you could not tell “where to draw the line.” Where would you draw the line?

General CRADDOCK. I will continue to follow the guidance in Secretary Rumsfeld’s
16 April 2003 memorandum on interrogation techniques which provides: “While
techniques are considered individually within this analysis, it must be understood
that in practice, techniques are usually used in combination; the cumulative effect
of all techniques to be employed must be considered before any decisions are made
regarding approval for particular situations.”
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DEFINITION OF INHUMANE

32. Senator KENNEDY. General Schmidt, you say that none of the treatment
“crossed the line” to be inhumane. Yet the report says we need a definition of hu-
mane treatment. You were able to determine that the treatment of ISN 063 did
cross the line to being degrading and abusive. What definitions of degrading and
abusive were you using?

General SCHMIDT. I believe each individual has a personal definition of “degrad-
ing” and “abusive,” shaped by their environment and the context of the specific situ-
ation. For this investigation, I made a judgment based on my perception of how an
average person would respond when confronted with the details of an applied tech-
nique. What I found in this investigation to be “abusive and degrading” was the cu-
mulative effect of all the applications of authorized techniques; no limits were set
on boundaries or extremes on the interrogations of two high value detainees.

I did not consider the techniques inhumane because the baseline for treatment
as outlined by the President’s instruction regarding treatment of these detainees
was not violated. Within the closely supervised, controlled environment, detainees
were free from pain or injury, medical treatment was immediately available, and
they were provided safe, secure facilities, food and water. Using my personal judg-
ment, the creative, aggressive, and persistent interrogation of the subject of the first
Special Interrogation Plan resulted in my determination that the cumulative effect
being degrading and abusive treatment.

33. Senator KENNEDY. General Schmidt, how does degrading and abusive treat-
ment differ from inhumane treatment?

General SCHMIDT. Similar to the guidance given to interrogators from FM 34-52,
I view these issues on a scale, with degrading and abusive treatment falling below
the threshold of inhumane treatment. The only clear redline regards the definition
of torture, and “humane treatment,” or lack thereof, having only general guidelines
or parameters.

This lack of a clear definition is in part the basis of Recommendation #23 from
the report, which states, “Recommend a policy-level review and determination of the
status and treatment of all detainees, when not classified as EPWs. This review
needs to particularly focus on the definitions of humane treatment, military neces-
sity, and proper employment of interrogation techniques. (e.g. boundaries or ex-
tremes).”

34. Senator KENNEDY. General Schmidt, how were you able to determine that
none of the treatment was “inhumane” without a definition of “inhumane”?

General SCHMIDT. While I cannot precisely tell you when conduct becomes inhu-
mane, the AR 15-6 concluded that the treatment did not rise to the level of inhu-
mane. In evaluating humane treatment, I considered the President’s mandate to
treat the detainees humanely and the requirement to ensure detainees received ade-
quate food, drinking water, clothing, shelter and medical treatment. Interrogations
were conducted under controlled, supervised conditions with medical personnel
present or immediately available at all times. Therefore, I concluded the treatment
was not inhumane.

35. Senator KENNEDY. General Schmidt, in your testimony, you justified your
statement that the treatment was not inhumane by citing the detainees’ provision
with food, water, shelter, clothing, and medical care. Was that your working defini-
tion of “humane” treatment?

General SCHMIDT. In evaluating humane treatment, I considered the President’s
mandate to treat the detainees humanely and the requirement to ensure detainees
received adequate food, drinking water, clothing, shelter and medical treatment. In-
terrogations were conducted under controlled, supervised conditions with medical
personnel present or immediately available at all times.

36. Senator KENNEDY. General Schmidt, do you believe there is a distinction be-
tween inhumane treatment and inhuman treatment? How would you distinguish the
two?

General SCHMIDT. Practically speaking, the difference is slight. Inhuman and in-
humane overlap in meaning to such an extent that it is impossible to sustain a dis-
tinction in their use. In general, inhuman refers to the characteristic of a person
or action, whereas inhumane considers the same characteristic rather more in rela-
tion to the effect or consequences of the action on the sufferer. Bottom line is that
inhumane, or inhuman, treatment regards a minimum standard that civilized peo-
ple would set for treatment of any other persons in humanity. My opinion.
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MILITARY NECESSITY

37. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, you stated that, according to the Presi-
dent’s policy, interrogations and detention should only deviate from the principles
of the Geneva Conventions for reasons of “military necessity.” Who determines
“military necessity?”

General CRADDOCK. President Bush’s 7 February 2002 directive requires that “de-
tainees be treated humanely and, to the extent appropriate and consistent with
military necessity, in a manner consistent with the principles of Geneva.” The JTF
Gitmo Commander normally determines military necessity at JTF Gitmo.

38. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, is it your position that U.S. approved
interrogation techniques in Gitmo are considered with the principles of Geneva?

General CRADDOCK. Yes. Secretary Rumsfeld’s 16 April 2003 memorandum on in-
terrogation techniques states, “I reiterate that U.S. Armed Forces shall continue to
treat detainees humanely and, to the extent appropriate and consistent with mili-
tary necessity, in a manner consistent with the Geneva Conventions.”

39. Senator KENNEDY. General Craddock, can all of the detainees at Gitmo be
treated outside the principles of the Geneva Conventions?

General CRADDOCK. No. Given the President and Secretary of Defense’s guidance,
the presumption is that when appropriate and consistent with military necessity,
the detainees at JTF Gitmo will be treated consistent with the Geneva Conventions.

DISAGREEMENT ABOUT FINDINGS

40. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, from General Craddock’s reports, and the media, we have evidence that
high-ranking officers, and perhaps Pentagon leaders, disagree with your rec-
ommendation to hold Major General Miller accountable. Prior to General Craddock
officially rejecting your recommendation to hold Major General Miller accountable,
did you have any knowledge of other members of the DOD who disagreed with you?
If so, who?

General SCHMIDT and General CRADDOCK. No. None to our knowledge.

41. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, at any point did any Pentagon or military official ask you to change your
findings or recommendations or pressure you in any way to make any changes to
the report?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. No.

REDACTED E-MAILS

42. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, the FBI e-mails that we have access to are heavily redacted. It is very dif-
ficult to determine from those e-mails exactly what was included in the conversa-
tion, and what other allegations or important content may be excluded. Did you
have access to completely unredacted versions of those e-mails during the course of
your investigation?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. The AR 15-6 investigation was presented
with a packet of unredacted FBI e-mails that formed the basis of the initial allega-
tions contained in the USSOUTHCOM appointment of an AR 15-6 investigation.

DOCUMENTS NOT CONSIDERED IN THE REPORT

43. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, you testified that there was at least one document that was not read in its
entirety until the day before the hearing, a May 2003 e-mail. What were the con-
tents of that e-mail, and why did it take until the day before the hearing to read
it?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. Brigadier General Furlow reviewed an e-
mail with attachments the day prior to the hearing. The e-mail contained no addi-
tional information. We can say with certainty that the team was aware of the FBI
agent’s opinions regarding the Special Interrogation Plan, and that the team had
an opportunity to interview the FBI agent who drafted the e-mail.

The AR 15-6 did review literally thousands of pages of documents covering e-
mails spanning several years of activities at JTF Gitmo. We were always vigilant
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to ensure we had complete information to ensure a thorough investigation. We re-
main confident that the AR 15-6 successfully investigated interrogations at JTF
Gitmo.

44. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, were there any other documents that you requested but did not receive,
were unable to read, or were at all redacted?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. No.

WITNESSES NOT INTERVIEWED

45. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, you testified that there may have been as many as 10 witnesses that you
sought to interview but were unable to contact. How many exactly were there?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. Out of the 100-plus interviews, the AR
15-6 was not able to conduct full in-person interviews with 11 witnesses because
of a variety of limiting factors. This included five FBI agents and six DOD per-
sonnel. However, because the testimony of many of the witnesses overlapped and
because of the existence of numerous interrogations logs, we felt confident in our
ability to fulfill the factfinding task within the scope of AR 15-6 guidance.

46. Senator KENNEDY. Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General
Furlow, which of the substantiated or unsubstantiated allegations would each wit-
ness have provided information on?

General SCHMIDT and General FURLOW. The allegations that the witnesses may
have provided information on include short-shackling, loud music/strobe lights, the
use of menstrual blood and lap dance, denial of food and water, and communicating
a threat (not an enumerated allegation, but was discovered).

Concerning the substantiated allegations, we felt we had sufficient evidence and
detail to determine what in fact occurred.

With respect to the unsubstantiated allegations, there were only two: the allega-
tion of DOD interference with FBI agents, and the denial of food and water. Con-
cerning the first unsubstantiated allegation, our interviews led us to believe it was
a misunderstanding that the FBI and the DOD interrogators resolved among them-
selves. In fact, the FBI agent who made the allegation, when interviewed, indicated
that the true concern was the impersonation of an FBI agent; this matter was re-
solved and the agent was pleased with the rapid and thorough response to the situa-
tion. With regards to the second unsubstantiated allegation that detainees were de-
nied food and water, after the completion of 4 months of investigation and inter-
viewing over 100 witnesses, we still only had a single allegation from the original
agent. Despite repeated attempts over several months, we were unable to complete
an in-person interview. Considering the lack of any other evidence or testimony, at
the end of our investigation, the AR 15-6 was unable to substantiate this allegation.

Since the hearing, we have conducted an in-person interview with this FBI Spe-
cial Agent who alleged the denial of food and water, and the agent provided no addi-
tional corroborating evidence.

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY SENATOR DANIEL K. AKAKA
INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

47. Senator AKAKA. General Craddock, there have been numerous investigations
into the interrogation techniques used on detainees, first at Gitmo, then Iraq and
Afghanistan. All of these reports found that any substantiated abuses have been iso-
lated occurrences and while some have been identified as degrading, abusive, and
at best inappropriate, none have been in violation of any law or official U.S. policy.
The reports have also indicated that any questionable interrogation practices were
not as a result of guidance given by senior military or civilian officials. Other than
Brigadier General Jane Karpinski, USA, who was in charge of the detention center
at Abu Ghraib, no senior officials have been held accountable for actions by those
under them.

In addition, you stated at the July 13 hearing that you overruled the rec-
ommendation of Lieutenant General Schmidt and Brigadier General Furlow that
called for the reprimand of Major General Geoffrey Miller, and instead referred the
matter to the Army’s Inspector General.

My question to you is at what point are senior officials, military or civilian, re-
sponsible for the actions of those under their command or supervision and when will
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the DOD hold senior leaders accountable for detainee abuse, no matter how iso-
lated?

General CRADDOCK. I have held, and will continue to hold, those under my com-
mand responsible and accountable for detainee abuse. In this particular case, I de-
cided not to recommend admonishing Major General Miller because there was no
finding that U.S. law or policy was violated and I determined that Major General
Miller had exercised an appropriate level of supervision under the circumstances.
More broadly, at JTF Gitmo there have been over 24,000 interrogations in over 3
years and there have only been a handful of substantiated detainee abuse allega-
tions. Given this exceedingly small and isolated number of substantiated abuse alle-
gations, I believe the leadership at JTF Gitmo has done a remarkably good job.

48. Senator AKAKA. General Craddock, at the Senate Armed Services Committee
hearing, as well as in the Schmidt-Furlow Report, you reported that none of the
questionable interrogation practices were in violation of the U.S. Army FM or DOD
guidance. You also indicated that the Army FM was written for a more traditional
war than we currently face in the global war on terrorism and that we may need
to readdress our interrogation practices for this new environment.

The FBI, which has had years of experience questioning suspects, has found that
non-coercive interrogation methods yield more reliable results. They claim that force
or coercion may cause someone to talk, but it won’t necessarily get them to talk.

Since the chief focus of the U.S. military detention center at Gitmo is to gain “ac-
tionable intelligence” by interrogating the detainees, would it not make sense to
work more closely with agencies who have had experience, and success, in this area
in order to be successful in getting the results we want?

General CRADDOCK. I approved two recommendations requesting an interagency
review of interrogation training and an interagency policy review to establish stand-
ards for interrogations when multiple agencies and interrogations are involved. I
forwarded these recommendations and the investigation report to the Department
of Defense for their consideration. Additionally, it should be noted that JTF Gitmo
coordinates with all organizations across the intelligence community to develop ef-
fective tactics, techniques, and procedures in its planning and execution of interro-
gation operations. The interagency presence and contribution at JTF Gitmo has
been invaluable to the refinement of interrogation doctrine.

49. Senator AKAKA. General Craddock, when you referred this matter to the Army
Inspector General, did you take the opportunity to provide your own analysis of the
matter and make any recommendations on how they proceed with Major General
Miller’s responsibility in this?

General CRADDOCK. Army Regulation 20-1, Inspector General Activities and Pro-
cedures, requires forwarding of “any and all allegations of impropriety or mis-
conduct” against general officers to the Department of the Army Inspector General.
I forwarded the investigation report with the explanation that I disapproved the rec-
ommendation that Major General Miller be held accountable for failing to supervise
the interrogation of al-Qahtani and be admonished for that failure. I also explained
that my reason for disapproving this recommendation was that the interrogation of
al-Qahtani did not result in any violation of any U.S. law or policy and, that in my
view, the degree of supervision provided by Major General Miller did not warrant
admonishment under the circumstances.

[Whereupon, at 1:00 p.m., the committee adjourned.]
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LINDSEY O. GRAHAM,
CHAIRMAN

Senator GRAHAM. The hearing will come to order. Thank you all
for coming. If you need a lawyer, this is a good place to come today.
Thank you very much. I appreciate all of your taking time out of
a busy schedule and I appreciate all the committee members for at-
tending.

We have five stacked votes at 10 o’clock, so we’ll deal with it the
best we can, but I'll try to keep the hearings going, so we’ll just
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trade off and on during the hearing—if Senator Nelson comes—and
keep it going so we won’t have to keep you waiting for an hour.
That’s the problem we have to face.

To begin with, I'd like to thank Senator Warner for scheduling
today’s and yesterday’s hearings. Some people may have a different
view of if we should be doing this or not, but that’s a healthy dis-
cussion to have in a democracy. I believe it’s very important that
Congress has this hearing, and that people like yourselves on the
panel come and talk with us about a large issue.

This war is complex, it’s complicated and it will require adjust-
ments. The enemy adjusts and now I think it’s time for us to ad-
just.

Guantanamo Bay (Gitmo), in my opinion, is a valuable tool on
the war on terrorism. It’s the right place in terms of location, and
the mission that it performs is essential in keeping us safe and
free. The purpose of this hearing is to see what we can do, working
with the Department of Defense (DOD), to make sure that Guanta-
namo Bay is working on all cylinders legally and is advancing the
cause of this war and is making us more secure.

In my opinion, Gitmo serves three purposes. First, it is a place
to take someone who has joined a terrorist organization or shown
sympathy to a terrorist organization off the battlefield and out of
the fight. That makes us all safer. Since I don’t want to become the
South Carolina of Guantanamo Bays, I don’t think so. If you’ll raise
your hand, we’ll look at your State.

Second, it is a place to gather intelligence, to find out how the
enemy is operating, what they have done in the past, what they are
up to now, and what they may do in the future. To those who have
been responsible for the detainee population at Gitmo, there is
some criticism coming your way, but there needs to be some ap-
plause coming your way as well. You have done a very good job,
generally speaking, in extracting intelligence that has made it
safer and given us a chance to get ahead of the enemy.

Finally, the third role is prosecution. One of the things I would
like every terrorist wannabe to understand is if you take up arms
against us or coalition members, you do so at your own peril, be-
cause a couple of things await you, death or injury on the battle-
field or detention and accountability.

Guantanamo Bay is an ideal location, in my opinion, to bring
people to justice who take up arms and murder innocent people
and who engage in acts of terrorism. Every terrorist needs to un-
derstand that you’re going to potentially lose your life, get injured
or be prosecuted if you join these organizations. That’s what Guan-
tanamo Bay can provide for this country.

There are three parts to this war. Intelligence is prevention. De-
tention is taking the enemy off the battlefield, and that’s a part of
the military component. The third is hearts and minds. The reason
I think it’s important that we have this hearing is that there have
been some mistakes made. In a democracy, it’s okay to be set free.
It’s okay to ask hard questions. It’s okay to bring people before
Congress and try to find out what happened, because gathering in-
telligence is important.

But if a misstep is made, it can affect the shape of the battlefield
in the future. An inaccurate news report from Newsweek resulted
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in people getting killed. Image matters. Part of this hearing process
is to try to improve the image of Guantanamo Bay as well as mak-
ing it substantively more effective in the war on terrorism.

If we ignore that third part of hearts and minds, we do so at our
peril. Every general or combatant commander that’s come before
this committee has one thing they know for certain, and that is a
military solution is not going to be the ultimate solution to this
war. The military component helps us get a political solution for
moderate forces and vanquish extremists in the Middle East.
That’s why it’s important to have this hearing.

The truth is, due to no one’s fault, Guantanamo Bay is in a legal
mess. I'm here to blame no one. I'm here to address the problem.
Some of you I used to work for, so I respect your service to our
country. I respect your legal abilities tremendously, but the truth
is we have been in operation now for almost 3 years and no one
h}?s been prosecuted. I'm not blaming anybody but we need to fix
that.

Our Federal courts have had a chance to look at the legal struc-
ture in Guantanamo Bay and we are stuck. My goal is to work with
the DOD and move forward. Enemy combatant status is in litiga-
tion. The tribunal system that would hold people accountable is
stuck legally. We have had problems with interrogation techniques
not being standard.

The goal of this hearing, and my involvement, is to come up with
a comprehensive solution that allows Guantanamo Bay to be effec-
tively used in the war on terrorism, and a place where we can try
people sooner rather than later, so that we can continue to get good
intelligence using standardized techniques that will not create
black eyes for this country in terms of the hearts and minds of the
world, and to have a detention policy that will define an enemy
combatant in the way that the Federal courts will sign off on.

If we can accomplish that goal, then we will be safer. I have one
final thought. Congress has been absent without leave (AWOL). We
have criticized and we have applauded, but we have been absent
when it comes to designing policies, and dealing with the capture
of people on land and sea who are involved in the war. That is a
constitutional duty of Congress.

So my offer to each person here and to the DOD in general is,
working together, let’s see if we can find some statutory solutions
to problems that face us at Guantanamo Bay, so that the place can
be fully utilized in the war on terrorism. I think it is now time for
Congress to look at what we can do.

With that said, I will recognize Senator Wyden, who would like
to speak before the committee and has an engagement.

STATEMENT OF HON. RON WYDEN, U.S. SENATOR FROM THE
STATE OF OREGON

Senator WYDEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want to
thank you and Senator Nelson for the invitation to come and in
recognition of the good work that you and a number of Senators on
this committee have done to prevent gratuitous filibustering.

I just want to make a couple of points this morning and I appre-
ciate the invitation. I think you are aware, Mr. Chairman, and Sen-
ator Nelson, that I went to Guantanamo Bay just a couple of weeks
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ago and I want to give you a couple of observations that are very
much in sync with your opening remarks.

It seems to me the administration is on point when they say this
is a war and the people who are in Guantanamo are not your gar-
den-variety criminal defendants. These are dangerous people. At
the same time, it seems to me that the administration has given
short shrift to the need for a set of rules, a set of procedures, or
a kind of compass to guide what happens at Guantanamo Bay and
other facilities. I want to touch on a couple of reasons why.

Senator Nelson and I, for example, were in the room where the
combatant tribunals take place and we were, in fact, briefed on the
way the administrative review process works. I came away with
the clear convictions they are good people, who are dedicated to
fairness.

But asking them to conduct these reviews without any clearly de-
fined set of rules that have a basis in law puts them essentially in
an untenable situation.

Let me give you an example of the kind of issues that I think
we ought to be looking at. For example, if you look at Article 21
of the Geneva Conventions with respect to holding foreign nation-
als who are dangerous, what is striking about it is that Article 21
coming from the Geneva Conventions is actually stronger in terms
of its effect on detainees than is current Supreme Court law.

So we have a situation in which Geneva, which is often held out
as this kind of forum for lofty liberalism, really has the tougher set
of principles in a number of areas than even current Supreme
Court law. That’s the kind of issue we ought to be looking at.

A second area that I came away concerned with is what is done
with respect to detainees who have what is known as intelligence.
Obviously if we are holding people who have knowledge of active
terror cells, that’s in our national security interest.

But there is a real question about what to do with individuals
who are not dangerous. What I think you indicated you wanted in
your opening statement is that you want to protect the national se-
curity interests of our country. That is different, it seems to me,
than creating some kind of human reference library down there
without any set of rules with respect to how matters where we
have interest in gathering intelligence is conducted.

The last point that I would make, Mr. Chairman, is that if you
just close Gitmo, it seems to me that what you will have is a sig-
nificant amount of reaction. You will in effect be outsourcing the
interrogation of these individuals to countries with a much less sig-
nificant commitment to human rights than we have.

I don’t think any one of us want to see that kind of scenario. But
at the same time, as we make sure that these dangerous individ-
uals, if released, can’t get out and injure our citizens, let us not
have the policy that would in effect make the treatment of detain-
ees the Achilles heel of our U.S. antiterrorism policy.

You have a lot of good people down there, and I met a number
of them from Oregon. They have been given a very tough assign-
ment. You touched on Congress being AWOL. I'd go even further
than that. It seems to me Congress has been derelict, derelict in
not meeting its responsibilities so that the good people that are
down there—I came away with a sense of commitment and fair-
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ness—have a compass by which to guard them in that room where
Senator Nelson and I were at the administrative audit review
board procedure.

I thank you and Senator Nelson for the chance to come and to
work with you, Senator Graham, on a bipartisan basis.

[The prepared statement of Senator Wyden follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT BY SENATOR RON WYDEN

Thank you for inviting me to appear before you today. I commend you for holding
this hearing. Current practices on detention and rendition deserve to be examined
very closely by Congress, and I am very glad this matter is finally getting some of
the attention it deserves.

I would like to start off by saying that I agree with the Bush administration that
this is a war, and that the individuals at Guantanamo are not garden-variety crimi-
nal defendants. But the administration is not right to say that just because we are
at war, there should be no rules. None of us wants to put the American people at
risk by releasing dangerous individuals who want to get out and kill people. At the
same time, none of us wants the way that we treat detainees to become the Achilles’
heel of U.S. antiterrorism policy.

I saw the policy on detention in practice when I traveled to Cuba last month with
Senator Nelson and visited Camp Delta in Guantanamo Bay. I believe there needs
to be vigorous, concerted oversight of practices at Guantanamo and other, similar
facilities. Now having visited there, in my view the most glaring problem that Con-
gress needs to address is the legal status of these detainees.

Senator Nelson and I were in the room where the Combatant Status Review Tri-
bunals take place, and we were briefed on the Administrative Review Board process.
These procedures were established to determine whether individuals pose a threat
to the United States. The U.S. soldiers who are involved in these proceedings are
good people. They are trying hard to do the right thing. But frankly, I don’t know
how they sort it out without a compass. By asking them to conduct reviews without
establishing clear rules they can follow, the Federal Government has put them in
a very difficult situation.

These soldiers need guidance and standards provided to them so that they can
do their jobs. Even the reasons that detainees are being held need to be better de-
fined. Many, for instance, have what is known as “intelligence value.” If the U.S.
is holding people because there is reason to believe that they have knowledge of ac-
tive terrorist cells or operational planning, then that’s in our national security inter-
ests. But if the evidence indicates that they are not dangerous, continuing to hold
them requires a different set of standards. I'm interested in protecting the national
security interests of this country, not in creating a human reference library made
up of individuals who no longer pose a threat to the United States.

Of course, some prisoners are not being held because of their intelligence value,
but because they are dangerous. The absence of clear rules here raises some ques-
tions that Congress ought to explore. For example, Article 21 of the Geneva Conven-
tions would seem to provide the government with stronger grounds for holding de-
tainees than the rules currently being employed by the administration. That article
says that if foreign nationals are members of a group that is in armed conflict with
the United States, the United States has the right to capture them and hold them
prisoner until they are no longer dangerous. I realize that al Qaeda is not a conven-
tional army, but perhaps those Conventions, which are sometimes dismissed as soft
and lofty liberalism, can point us to a proper approach in law, that would have the
added advantage of having a strong legal precedent.

Based on what Senator Nelson and I observed and learned at Guantanamo, I re-
main very concerned about past instances of unacceptable practices at Guantanamo
and elsewhere. However, I believe that improvements have been made to procedures
and conditions—at least at Guantanamo. I strongly prefer even this situation to the
inevitable alternative: further outsourcing of prisoner interrogation to countries
with a questionable commitment to human rights and the rule of law.

Our servicemen and servicewomen at Guantanamo have been given a very tough
assignment. They are working incredibly hard. While in Cuba, I had the chance to
sit down with soldiers from Oregon and talk to them about their experiences serving
at Guantanamo. These men and women are doing a great job.

But Congress is making those soldiers’ job much harder than it needs to be. Col-
leagues, we could make their job a lot easier by enabling them to operate in an envi-
ronment where the rules are clear. Some of the soldiers and sailors at Guantanamo
Bay have been unfairly maligned by being associated with the errors of their gov-
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ernment. Allowing Camp Delta to become a modern-day Bastille where prisoners
may be held under humane conditions, but are still kept indefinitely, with no formal
charges and little legal recourse, is not likely to change Guantanamo’s image around
the world as a recruiting poster for al Qaeda. A better solution is for Congress to
write rules for detainees that are solidly grounded in United States law, and to hold
gurselves to a higher standard of conduct than those who seek to erode our free-

oms.

I look forward to working with all of you on this issue.

Senator GRAHAM. I believe it’s appropriate to recognize the chair-
man and ranking member. Mr. Chairman, would you like to say
anything?

STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER

Senator WARNER. Very briefly, Mr. Chairman, I thank you and
our distinguished colleague, Senator Nelson and also Senator
McCain. We have all been discussing these issues and your valu-
able contribution. I'll be very brief.

I'd like to turn to your phrase that Guantanamo Bay is a legal
mess. Let us be careful to say that Guantanamo today is being op-
erated as best they can do under a framework of laws which are
either just not clear or need to be refined.

So I agree with you. But let us send a message. Incidentally, you
are going to join me and others tomorrow and have our view at
Guantanamo Bay.

As we move forward in Congress, we must be very careful not
to abrogate or in any way put in conflict the specific powers given
to the President of the United States under our Constitution. We
must move towards a framework of laws which reflect the long-
standing principles of this great Nation, a Nation which continues
to be the symbol of freedom and hope throughout the world.

As we proceed, we have to preserve the ability of our military
and civilian counterparts in the intelligence field that continue to
get the needed information to protect our forces abroad and indeed
to protect our citizens here at home.

It’s a daunting task. We are embarking on it, and I am very
pleased to see thus far a good, strong, bipartisan interest in achiev-
ing these goals.

Senator GRAHAM. Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, thank you for con-
vening this hearing. I thank Senator Warner also for supporting
and authorizing this hearing.

Mr. Chairman, I very much support your opening statement. I
think it was very accurate in terms of your assessment of the issue.
On December 12, 2001, the full committee held a hearing that the
Department plans to implement the President’s plan regarding the
trial by military commission of certain detainees in U.S. custody.

Since that time, in December 2001, the Secretary of Defense
issued a series of military orders and instructions detailing the pro-
cedures for military commissions, and military personnel have been
appointed or assigned to commissions, prosecutor’s offices, and de-
fense counsel offices.

The President has determined that 12 detainees were subject to
his order to be tried by military commission, the appointing author-
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ity has approved specific charges for 4 of those 12 detainees, and
referred those charges to military commissioners for trial.

The Federal courts, however, intervened raising legal questions
abou(ic the commission and detention process as is currently struc-
tured.

Now, during this time, the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC), in the
Department of Justice (DOJ), issued a number of memoranda set-
ting up the legal framework for interrogations at Gitmo and else-
where, and a new memo was declassified August 1, 2002 which was
the first by Gitmo.

The OLC concluded if physical pain amounts to torture, it must
be equivalent in intensity to the pain accompanying serious phys-
ical injury such as organ failure, impairment of body function or
even death.

According to the Church report on interrogation techniques,
those OLC findings were included virtually word for word in a
March 14, 2003, OLC memo prepared by Deputy Assistant General
John Yoo to William Haynes.

Despite repeated written requests, the March 14, 2003, OLC
memo has not been provided to this committee. A second highly
relevant document has also been denied us.

Assistant Attorney General Bybee prepared another opinion
known as the second Bybee memo on the legality of significant de-
tention techniques around the time of August 1, 2002, OLC memo.

Mr. Chairman, I'm speaking here to both our chairmen. These
two memos are apparently still in effect. These documents are ab-
solutely essential to our understanding of the legal framework for
our detention and interrogation policy.

I had recommended the chairman of the committee issue a sub-
poena, if necessary, in order to obtain them. Every Senator should
join in assisting on these highly relevant and essential documents,
and I know that Chairman Warner, and his staff have sought these
documents.

Again, I believe that we must issue a subpoena to get these docu-
ments. They go right to the very issue, that our committee and sub-
committee and Congress are all in the process of looking into and
must look at.

These techniques which have been approved apparently include
the use of stress positions, isolation, deprivation of light, 20-hour
interrogations, removal of clothing, use of phobias such as fear of
dogs to induce stress.

The Secretary established a Defense working group to make rec-
ommendations on interrogation techniques. Several of our wit-
nesses today apparently participated in that working group. The
Church report states that despite the number of objections and con-
cerns the working group was directed to the March 14, 2003, OLC
legal memo on what constitutes cruel, inhuman treatment, they
were directed to accept that as a controlling authority on all legal
issues.

The March 14, 2003, memo is one of two documents that have
been withheld. Mr. Chairman, again, I commend you in your open-
ing statement for having these hearings for the reasons that you
called them and I would hope that in addition to hearing from our
witnesses today, we will continue to press for those two documents
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which Congress, it seems to me, is not only entitled to but really
obligated to review.

Senator GRAHAM. Senator Nelson.

Senator BEN NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I want to ex-
press my appreciation for this hearing today and I want to express
thanks to the witnesses. I think the first panel might help us on
how we might address the legal concerns of establishing standards.

Our goal of establishing standards is to reaffirm that this is a
nation of laws, we abide by law and we want to send a message
to the world that we will not succumb to the tactics of those
against whom this battle is being waged, and that we will apply
laws in an appropriate fashion in the detention of prisoners of
whatever status.

I also want to say that as we seek to do this, we need to get the
kind of input that we are going to get today with people who have
the expertise, experience, and knowledge of the law, and how it’s
been applied in other situations.

I ask that my more complete opening statement be made a part
of the record.

Senator GRAHAM. Without objection.

[The prepared statement of Senator Nelson follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT BY SENATOR E. BENJAMIN NELSON

Thank you Mr. Chairman for holding this very important hearing. I join you in
extending a warm welcome to our witnesses.

I recently visited the detainee facility at the U.S. Naval Station at Guantanamo
Bay, Cuba. I was very impressed with what I observed while there. At least at the
present time, that detention facility is being run in a professional, humane manner.

While there, I was able to meet and talk with three sailors and a marine from
Nebraska. Each of them assured me that they have not personally observed any in-
stances of abuse during their tours of duty there. I know that I can trust these
young Nebraskans to tell me like it is.

I want to thank Anthony Mroczek of Grand Island, Nebraska; Jerry Garhart of
York, Nebraska; Theesen Brant from Norfolk, Nebraska; and Chad Luke from
Doniphan, Nebraska, for their hospitality and candid assessment of conditions at
Guantanamo. Each of these servicemembers is serving honorably in difficult condi-
tions. I thank them or their dedication, commitment to duty, and service to our Na-
tion.

From the outset, I want to make clear that I support the use of military commis-
sions to try detainees for violations of the law of war. Military commissions have
been used during times of war throughout our history and have served us well. 1
am, however, concerned about some of the procedures that have been approved for
the military commissions as currently configured. The Federal Courts are now ad-
dressing these concerns, and I am confident that we can learn from their decisions.

I do have concerns about how we classify detainees. I am also concerned about
the lack of clear standards for how detainees, whatever their classification, are
treated. Finally, I am concerned about the United States losing the moral high
ground because we have not adhered to our traditional standards of fundamental
fairness and how we treat people, even bad people.

I agree that the detainees in the global war on terrorism do not meet the criteria
for a legally required application of the Geneva Conventions. I also agree that
enemy combatants can be detained to prevent them from returning to the battle-
field. However, I don’t think that means that we should have no standards whatso-
ever for how we treat them. Perhaps it is time for Congress to establish a new cat-
egory for detainees that takes into account the complexities of the global war on ter-
rorism and to prescribe appropriate standards for how we treat this new category
of detainee.

I was disappointed to hear senior military officers testify at yesterday’s Armed
Services Committee hearing on the investigation into allegations of detainee abuse
at Guantanamo that it is consistent with United States policy to treat detainees in
a degrading, abusive, or humiliating manner, so long as they were not subject to
torture and were not treated “inhumanely.”
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It seems to me that it is inhumane to treat someone in a degrading, abusive, or
humiliating manner. However, yesterday’s witnesses limited humane treatment to
providing adequate food, water, clothing, and shelter.

Witnesses at yesterday’s hearing described approved interrogation techniques that
would, as a minimum, constitute sexual harassment, or sexual assault in our soci-
ety. They described a female interrogator straddling a male detainee, massaging
him, whispering in his ear, and running her fingers through his hair. A detainee
was forced to wear a bra, and to wear a woman’s thong on his head.

If these are the standards of the Department of Defense, it is time for Congress
to step in and establish reasonable standards of conduct that are consistent with
our history as a moral leader. Treating detainees this way has incited people of
Muslim faith and assisted terrorists in their recruiting efforts. If official policies per-
mit this kind of behavior, why are we surprised when young soldiers take it upon
themselves to treat detainees in a humiliating and degrading way? We owe it to our
service men and women who are assigned duties involving the treatment of detain-
ees to give them clear, reasonable standards and guidelines for appropriate conduct.
We have not done that.

Mr. Chairman, I hope that our witnesses today can give us some help in devel-
oping new rules to address the legal status of detainees. These rules could define
an enemy combatant, articulate standards for detention and release of enemy com-
batants, prescribe procedures for military tribunals, and establish reasonable stand-
ards for interrogation of enemy combatants. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator GRAHAM. Mr. Dell’Orto, please. I understand you have
an opening.

STATEMENT OF DANIEL J. DELL’ORTO, PRINCIPAL DEPUTY
GENERAL COUNSEL, DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

Mr. DELL’ORTO. My statement is one on behalf of the Judge Ad-
vocate General (JAG). Mr. Chairman, thank you for the oppor-
tunity to contribute. We understand that the committee is focusing
on military aspects of the Department of Defense, including the
classification of enemy combatants, the role of military commis-
sions, as well as responsibilities of the United States, in the con-
duct of detention operations and U.S. laws under existing inter-
national treaty organizations.

Our Nation has faced many challenges since the attacks of Sep-
tember 11, 2001. The devastation of human lives have been echoed
in cities and countries of our friends and allies, including Baghdad,
Kabul, Istanbul, Bali, Riyadh, Madrid, Russia, Uzbekistan, and
most recently London. The armed conflict of al Qaeda and its sup-
porters continues.

For as long as it does, we will continue to meet each challenge
steadfastly and consistently with the rule of law. Throughout this
conflict, we have looked at the United States Constitution, and U.S.
treaty obligations.

The President acting as commander in chief has taken action for
the country and to prevent additional attacks. Congress, in author-
izing use of military force on September 18, 2001, supported that
use against those nations, organizations or persons who planned,
authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks or harbored
such organizations or persons.

Congress also understands that the forces responsible for the
September 11 attacks continue to pose an unusual and extraor-
dinary threat to the national security, and that the President has
the authority under the Constitution to take action to deter and
prevent actions, to deter acts against the United States.

Consistent with this authority, U.S. and coalition forces have re-
moved the Taliban from power. In the conflict of these operations,
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U.S. Armed Forces consistently won and have seized many hostile
persons and detained a small portion of them as enemy combat-
ants.

On February 7, 2002 the President determined that the Third
Geneva Convention applies to the Taliban detainees, but not to the
al Qaeda detainees because Afghanistan is a party to the Geneva
Conventions, but al Qaeda, an international terrorist group, is not.

They also determined that Taliban detainees are not entitled to
prisoner of war (POW) status. Even so, he directed the Armed
Forces to treat such detainees humanely. Those who are members
of al Qaeda, Taliban and supporters are enemy supporters who
may be detained.

Such detention serves military objectives of preventing initial at-
tacks, and preventing combatants from rejoining the conflict and
gathering intelligence. The military defines enemy combatants as
personnel engaging in hostilities during armed conflict on behalf of
the party to the conflict.

Enemy combatants are lawful targets unless they are captured
or are no longer resisting. In a more conventional armed conflict
between states, and any fighters of a government are recognizable
by their uniforms or fixed insignia, with a responsible command,
carry arms lawfully.

Enemy fighters in the global war on terrorism are not recognized
among those ways. In fact, their strategy and tactics include hiding
and illegally targeting civilians in violation of the law. As private
citizens, these fighters do not have a right to engage and wage war.

The law for the Geneva Conventions offers specific privileges to
combatants but not to terrorist fighters. The DOD doctrine defines
enemy combatants who can be properly detained under the cus-
toms of the law.

The definition has the flexibility to meet specific circumstances
within a particular conflict. It has been adapted in the war on ter-
rorism operations to define opposing fighters. For example, the
Deputy Secretary of Defense establishing tribunals defined an
enemy combatant for purposes of that order as an individual who
is part of or supporting Taliban or al Qaeda forces or associated
forces that are engaged in hostilities against the United States or
its coalition partners.

Consistent with these definitions, the Supreme Court has re-
cently endorsed a similar definition of enemy combatant in a case
involving the detention of enemy combatants captured from Af-
ghanistan. The Court’s statement, for the purposes of this case,
says an enemy combatant is an individual who 1s part of or is sup-
porting forces hostile to the United States or coalition partners in
Afghanistan, or who is engaged in armed conflict against the
United States.

With respect to the classification and definition of enemy combat-
ants, it’s important to maintain flexibility of the terminology in
order for us to operate effectively with coalition forces and to ad-
dress the types of conflicts in which we are engaged and will be en-
gaged.

Generally speaking, the terms combatant, unprivileged combat-
ant, unlawful combatant, and enemy combatant are well estab-
lished in law in the detention and review process. From the early
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stages in military operations in Afghanistan, the DOD has taken
steps to capture personnel and continue the need for their contin-
ued detention.

In a conflict in which an army does not use insignia or uniforms
to distinguish itself, the Department has established new mecha-
nisms to test each detainee as an individual combatant in connec-
tion with the ongoing hostilities, undergoing a multistep screening
process to determine if their detention is necessary.

If an individual is captured, commanders in the field, using all
available information, make a determination as to whether an indi-
vidual is an enemy combatant, that is, whether the individual is
part of or supporting forces hostile to the United States or our coa-
lsition partners, and engaged in armed conflict against the United

tates.

Individuals who are not enemy combatants are released. Be-
tween August 2004 and January 2005, Combatant Status Review
Tribunals (CSRTs) have reviewed the status of all individuals de-
tained at Guantanamo in a fact-based proceeding to determine
Evhether an individual is still properly classified as an enemy com-

atant.

The CSRTs gave each detainee an opportunity to contest their
designation as an enemy combatant. In December 2004, the Admin-
istrative Review Board (ARB) process began to assess whether
enemy combatants continue to pose a threat to the United States
or its allies or whether there are other factors bearing on the need
for detention.

The process permits the detainee to appear in person for an ARB
panel of three military officers to explain why the detainee is no
longer a threat to the United States or allies and provide support.
This process remains ongoing and we’ll review each detainee status
annually.

With respect to the role of military commissions, their use is
firmly based in international law, our Constitution, the Uniform
Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), our Nation’s history and inter-
national practice.

The United States employed a military commission to try eight
Nazi saboteurs during World War II. At the conclusion of that con-
flict, U.S. military commissions heard some 500 cases against
enemy war criminals. Australia, Canada, China, France, Greece,
Norway, and United Kingdom used military commissions to pros-
ecute 1,166 cases against war criminals.

In Article 21 of the UCMJ, Congress expressly recognizes mili-
tary commissions and military tribunals as lawful and legitimate
means of the President to try violations.

Additionally, Article 36 of the UCMJ codifies the President’s au-
thority to prescribe trial, pre-trial and post-trial procedures for
military commissions.

They have not been used since World War II and constitute an
exceptional situation, such as with respect to terrorists who have
violated the law. On November 13, 2001, the President authorized
use of military commissions in treatment and trial of certain non-
citizens in the war against terrorism.

The President took this action in response to the acts of ter-
rorism, including the attacks of September 11, 2001, on the Pen-
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tagon, World Trade Center, and on civilian aircraft in Pennsyl-
vania.

After the President authorized use of military commissions, work
began to establish, consistent with the President’s order, the proce-
dures to be used and the rights to be afforded the accused. This
process involved working to achieve ensuring trial for the accused,
protecting classified and sensitive information and protecting the
safetg of personnel participating in the process, including the ac-
cused.

Use of military commissions with terrorists who violated laws of
war, as opposed to other forums such as Federal courts or military
courts, provides the flexibility necessary to ensure that it’s equally
important yet competing goals are attended.

In conclusion, the contemporary battlefield has challenged mem-
bers of the DOD legal community as intensively as it has chal-
lenged the commanders and soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines
they advise. The exceptional performance of our judge advocates at
every level of command, and in particular in combat in Iraq and
Afghanistan where members of the uniformed legal branches have
been killed and wounded in action, has been essential to ensuring
the overall excellent record of compliance with the law achieved by
our Armed Forces.

For this, our Nation should be proud. This success has not oc-
curred in a legal environment without uncertainty. This has gen-
erated reviews and commentaries on how we should realize na-
tional security objectives. The Department of Defense, both mili-
tary and civilian, have worked long and hard to ensure our forces
halve this, while upholding the rule of law and preserving American
values.

We are confident judge advocates will continue to make essential
contributions to our efforts to reconcile the nature of facing these
threats with the traditional and historic commitment of our armed
forces to conduct disciplined military actions in compliance with
the law of war. Established principles have served us well to meet
the challenges of military operations in the war on terrorism. We
are confident that they provide the firm foundation for meeting fu-
ture challenges. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared joint statement of Mr. Dell’Orto, General Romig,
1Greneral Rives, Admiral McPherson, and General Sandkuhler fol-
ows:]

PREPARED JOINT STATEMENT BY DANIEL J. DELL’ORTO; MG THOMAS J. RoMIG, USA;
MaAJ. GEN. JACK L. Rives, USAF; RADM James E. McPHERSON, USN; AND BRIG.
GEN. KEVIN M. SANDKUHLER, USMC

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, thank you for the opportunity
to contribute to this important discussion concerning military justice and detention
policy in the global war on terrorism. We understand the subcommittee is focusing
on military justice aspects of detention policy in the Department of Defense (DOD),
including the definition and classification of enemy combatants; legal aspects of the
detention, review, and interrogation of enemy combatants; the role of military com-
missions, as well as responsibilities of the United States for the conduct of detention
operations under U.S. laws, existing international treaty obligations and the law of
war.

Our Nation has faced many challenges since the deadly and savage attacks of
September 11, 2001. The devastating loss of civilian lives and destruction of prop-
erty and infrastructure of that day have been echoed in the cities and countries of
our friends and allies, including Baghdad, Kabul, Istanbul, Bali, Riyadh, Madrid,
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Russia, Uzbekistan, and, most recently, London. The armed conflict with al Qaeda
and its supporters continues. For as long as it does, we will continue to meet each
challenge steadfastly and consistent with the rule of law.

Throughout this conflict, we have looked to the U.S. Constitution, U.S. statutes,
U.S. treaty obligations, and the law of war to frame our actions. The President, act-
ing as Commander in Chief, has taken action to defend the country and to prevent
additional attacks. Congress, in the Authorization for Use of Military Force, Sep-
tember 18, 2001, supported the President’s use of “all necessary and appropriate
force against those nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, au-
thorized, committed, or aided the terrorist [September 11] attacks . . . or harbored
such organizations or persons.”! Congress also emphasized that the forces respon-
sible for the September 11 attacks “continue to pose an unusual and extraordinary
threat to the national security,” and that “the President has authority under the
Constitution to take action to deter and prevent acts of international terrorism
against the United States.”2

Consistent with this authority, U.S. and coalition forces have removed the Taliban
from power, eliminated the “primary source of support to the terrorists who vi-
ciously attacked our Nation on September 11, 2001” and “seriously degraded” al
Qaeda’s training capability.? In the conduct of these operations, U.S. Armed Forces,
consistent with the law and settled practice during armed conflict, have seized many
hostile persons and detained a small proportion of them as enemy combatants.

On February 7, 2002, the President determined that the Third Geneva Conven-
tion applies to the Taliban detainees, but not to the al Qaeda detainees because Af-
ghanistan is a party to the Geneva Conventions but al Qaeda—an international ter-
rorist group—is not. He also determined that under article 4 of that Convention,
Taliban detainees are not entitled to prisoner of war (POW) status. Even so, he di-
rected the Armed Forces to treat such detainees humanely. Those who are members
of al Qaeda, the Taliban, or their affiliates and supporters are enemy combatants
who may be detained for the duration of hostilities. Such detention serves the vital
military objectives of preventing additional attacks, preventing captured combatants
from rejoining the conflict, and gathering intelligence to further the overall war ef-
fort. The military’s authority to capture and detain enemy combatants is both well-
established and time honored.

ENEMY COMBATANTS

Enemy combatants are personnel engaging in hostilities during an armed conflict
on behalf of a party to the conflict. Enemy combatants are lawful targets unless
they are captured or wounded, sick, or shipwrecked and no longer resisting.

In a more conventional armed conflict between States, enemy fighters of a govern-
ment are recognizable by their uniforms or fixed insignia, fight under responsible
command, carry their arms openly, and otherwise abide by the law of war.4# Enemy
fighters in the global war on terrorism are not recognizable in those ways—in fact,
their strategy and tactics include hiding within civilian populations and deliberately
targeting civilians in violation of the law.5 As private citizens, these enemy fighters
do not have a law of war right to initiate and wage war. The law of war, including
the Third Geneva Convention, offer specific protections and privileges to conven-
tional combatants, but not to terrorist fighters.

1Publ. L. No. 107-40, §§1-2, 115 Stat. 224.

2Tbid.

3 Office of the White House Press Secretary, Letter from the President to the Speaker of the
House of Representatives and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate (Sept. 19, 2003)
<www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2003/09/20030919-1.html>

4Lawful combatants include members of the regular armed forces of a State party to the con-
flict; militia, volunteer corps, and organized resistance movements belonging to a State party
to the conflict, which are under responsible command, wear a fixed distinctive sign recognizable
at a distance, carry their arms openly, and abide by the laws of war; and, members of regular
Armed Forces who profess allegiance to a government or an authority not recognized by the de-
taining power. They are entitled to prisoner of war status upon capture, and are entitled to
“combatant immunity” for their lawful pre-capture warlike acts. They may be prosecuted, how-
ever, for violations of the law of war. If so prosecuted, they still retain their status as prisoners
of war.

5Unlawful combatants, or unprivileged belligerents, may include spies, saboteurs, or civilians
who are participating in hostilities, or who otherwise engage in unauthorized attacks or other
combatant acts. Unprivileged belligerents are not entitled to prisoner of war status, and may
be prosecuted under the domestic law of the captor.
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DOD doctrine currently defines an enemy combatant to be, “Any person in an
armed conflict who could be properly detained under the laws and customs of war.” ¢
The definition has the flexibility to meet the specific circumstances of a particular
conflict. It has been adapted in war on terrorism operations to define who is part
of an opposing force. For example, the Deputy Secretary of Defense’s Order Estab-
lishing Combatant Status Review Tribunals (CSRTs) defined an “enemy combatant”
for purposes of that order as “an individual who was part of or supporting Taliban
or al Qaeda forces, or associated forces that are engaged in hostilities against the
United States or its coalition partners.”? Consistent with these definitions, the Su-
preme Court has recently endorsed a similar definition of “enemy combatant” in a
case involving the detention of an enemy combatant captured in Afghanistan. The
Court stated that “for purposes of this case, enemy combatant . . . is an individual
who . . . was part of or supporting forces hostile to the United States or coalition
partners in Afghanistan and who engaged in an armed conflict against the United
States there. Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 124 S. Ct. 2633, 2639 (1994) (plurality op.) (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted).

With respect to the definition and classification of enemy combatants, it is impor-
tant to maintain flexibility in the terminology in order to allow us to operate effec-
tively with coalition forces, and to address the changing circumstances of the types
of conflicts in which we are engaged, and will be engaged. Generally speaking, the
terms “Combatant,” “Unprivileged Belligerent,” “Unlawful Combatant,” and “Enemy
Combatant,” are well-established in the law of war.

DETENTION REVIEW PROCESS

From the early stages of military operations in Afghanistan, the Department of
Defense has taken steps to examine the status of captured personnel and determine
the need for their continued detention. In a conflict in which the enemy does not
use distinctive insignia or uniforms to distinguish itself from the civilian population,
the Department has established review mechanisms to test and revalidate the sta-
tus of each detainee as an enemy combatant.

Individuals taken into DOD control in connection with the ongoing hostilities un-
dergo a multi-step screening process to determine if their detention is necessary.
When an individual is captured, commanders in the field, using all available infor-
mation, make a determination as to whether the individual is an enemy combatant,
i.e., whether the individual is “part of or supporting forces hostile to the United
States or coalition partners, and engaged in an armed conflict against the United
States.” 8 Individuals who are not enemy combatants are released.

Between August 2004 and January 2005, the CSRTs reviewed the status of all
individuals detained at Guantanamo, in a factbased proceeding, to determine wheth-
er the individual is still properly classified as an enemy combatant. The CSRTs gave
each detainee the opportunity to contest the designation as an enemy combatant.

In December 2004, the Administrative Review Board (ARB) process began to as-
sess whether an enemy combatant continues to pose a threat to the United States
or its allies, or whether there are other factors bearing on the need for continued
detention. The process permits the detainee to appear in person before an ARB
panel of three military officers to explain why the detainee is no longer a threat
to the United States or its allies, and to provide information to support the detain-
ee’slrl‘elease. This process remains ongoing and will review each detainee’s status an-
nually.

COMMISSIONS

With respect to the role of military commissions, their use is firmly based in inter-
national law, our Constitution, the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), our
Nation’s history, and international practice. The United States employed a military
commission to try eight Nazi saboteurs during World War II. At the conclusion of
that conflict, U.S. military commissions heard some 500 cases against enemy war
criminals. Australia, Canada, China, France, Greece, Norway, and the United King-
dom used military commissions to prosecute another 1,166 cases against war crimi-
nals. In Article 21, UCMJ, Congress expressly recognizes military commissions and
other military tribunals as a lawful and legitimate means available to the President

6See Joint Publication 1-02, DOD Dictionary of Military and Associated Terms (as amended
through May 9, 2005).

7"Memorandum from Paul Wolfowitz, Deputy Secretary of Defense, to the Secretary of the
Navy (July 7, 2004).

8 Department of Defense, Fact Sheet: Guantanamo Detainees <www.defenselink.mil/news/de-
tainees.html.>
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to try violations of the law of war. Additionally, Article 36, UCMJ, codifies the Presi-
dent’s authority to prescribe pretrial, trial, and post-trial procedures for military
commissions. That they have not been used since World War II constitutes acknowl-
edgement of the necessity for their use only in exceptional situations. Such is the
case with respect to international terrorists who have violated the law of war. On
November 13, 2001, the President authorized the use of military commissions in his
Military Order, “Detention, Treatment, and Trial of Certain Non-Citizens in the
War Against Terrorism.” The President took this action in response to the grave
acts of terrorism and threats of terrorism, including the attacks of September 11,
2001, on the Pentagon, the World Trade Center, and on the civilian aircraft that
crashed in Pennsylvania.

After the President authorized the use of military commissions, work began with-
in the DOD to establish, consistent with the President’s order, the procedures to be
used and the rights to be afforded the accused. This process involved working to
achieve certain ends, including: ensuring a full and fair trial for the accused; pro-
tecting classified and sensitive information; and protecting the safety of personnel
participating in the process, including the accused. The use of military commissions
for terrorists who violate the laws of war, as opposed to other trial alternatives such
as the Federal courts or military courts-martial, best provides the flexibility nec-
essary to ensure that these equally important yet competing goals are attained.

CONCLUSION

The contemporary battlefield has challenged members of the DOD legal commu-
nity as intensively as it has challenged the commanders and soldiers, sailors, air-
men, and marines they advise. The exceptional performance of our Judge Advocates
at every level of command, and in particular in combat in Iraq and Afghanistan
where members of the uniformed legal branches have been killed and wounded in
action, has been essential to ensuring the overall excellent record of compliance with
the law of war achieved by our Armed Forces. For this, our Nation should be justifi-
ably proud.

This success has not occurred in a legal environment without its share of uncer-
tainty. This complex legal reality has generated significant discussions, reviews and
commentaries on how issues related to executing national security objectives should
be resolved. DOD lawyers, both military and civilian, have worked long and hard
to ensure that our forces had the tools to meet this threat while upholding the rule
of law and preserving American values. We are confident that Judge Advocates and
DOD civilian attorneys will continue to make essential contributions to our efforts
to reconcile the unconventional nature of combating these threats with the tradi-
tional and historically essential commitment of our Armed Forces to conduct dis-
ciplined military operations in compliance with the law of war.

Established principles of law have served us well to meet the challenges of mili-
tary operations in the war on terrorism. We are confident that they provide the firm
foundation for meeting future challenges.

Senator GRAHAM. Admiral.

STATEMENT OF RADM JAMES M. McGARRAH, CEC, USN, DI-
RECTOR, OFFICE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF DE-
TENTION OF ENEMY COMBATANTS

Admiral MCGARRAH. Senator Graham, members of the com-
mittee, I'm Admiral Jim McGarrah, Civil Engineer Corps, United
States Navy, and I'm glad to have this opportunity to appear before
your today. Enemy fighters being detained at Guantanamo Bay are
being held to prevent them from returning to the fight. This is con-
sistent with internationally accepted principles of the law of armed
conflict, which allows parties to detain enemy fighters for the dura-
tion of hostilities. The Supreme Court last June affirmed the Presi-
dent’s authority to detain enemy fighters during the conflict. How-
ever as we all know, this is not a traditional type of armed conflict
and is unlikely to end with the signing of a formal armistice. As
a result in May of last year, Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul
Wolfowitz named Navy Secretary Gordon England the designated
civilian official to oversee a process to review annually the cases of
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all detainees held under DOD control at Naval Base Guantanamo.
This process is called the Administrative Review Board or ARB. Its
purpose is to assess whether each enemy combatant continues to
pose a threat to the United States or its allies or whether there are
other factors that support continued detention. Based on this as-
sessment the ARB panel can recommend to Secretary England that
detainees be released, that they continue to be detained, or that
they be transferred to another country, typically their country of
nationality. Secretary England as the designated civilian official is
the final decision maker for this process.

A process like the ARB is not required either by Geneva Conven-
tions or by international or domestic law; however, because of the
highly unusual nature of the global war on terrorism, and because
we do not want to detain any combatant any longer than is nec-
essary, we have taken this unprecedented and historic action to es-
tablish a process to permit enemy combatants to be heard while a
conflict is ongoing.

While the ARB procedures were being developed last summer the
Supreme Court issued three rulings related to detained combat-
ants. Among other things a plurality of the Court cited Army regu-
lation 190-8 as an example of a military process that might satisfy
the due process requirements that the plurality indicated might
apply. As a result, Deputy Secretary of Defense Wolfowitz estab-
lished the CSRT. That process is to assess formally whether each
detainee was properly detained as an enemy combatant and to per-
mit each detainee the opportunity to formally contest the enemy
combatant designation. The CSRT process was based on Army Reg-
ulation 190-8, though it provides more opportunities for detainees
than that regulation, and specifies provisions for tribunals con-
sistent with Article 5 of the 1949 Geneva Convention. The CSRT
is a one-time process and provides each detainee with a number of
opportunities: a review and consideration by a neutral decision-
making panel composed of three commissioned military officers
sworn to execute their duties faithfully and impartially; to attend
all open portions of the proceedings if the detainee desires; to call
relevant and reasonably available witnesses; to question witnesses
called by the tribunal; to testify in his own behalf if he desires; to
receive assistance of an interpreter; and when necessary to freely
decline to testify.

The CSRT also provides more processes and protections than
Army Regulation 190-8. A detainee can receive assistance from a
military officer to ensure he understands the process and the op-
portunities available and to prepare for the hearing.

The CSRTs contain express qualifications to ensure the inde-
pendence and lack of prejudgment of the tribunal members. The
CSRT recorder is obligated to search Government files for evidence
suggesting that the detainee is not an enemy combatant. In ad-
vance of the hearing the detainee is provided with an unclassified
summary of evidence supporting his enemy combatant classifica-
tion. The detainee is allowed to introduce relevant and reasonably
available documentary evidence, and the result of every CSRT is
automatically reviewed by a higher authority who is empowered to
return the record to the tribunal for further proceedings if appro-
priate.
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The tribunals make their decision by majority vote based on pre-
ponderance of the evidence. In less than 6 months tribunal hear-
ings were conducted on all 558 detainees under DOD control at
Guantanamo Bay. The CSRT panels determined that 520 of those
detainees were properly classified as enemy combatants, and that
38 detainees no longer met the criteria for designation as enemy
combatants. Those found no longer to meet the criteria for enemy
combatant designation were processed for release. To date, 23 have
been released and DOD continues to work closely with Department
of State to effect the release of the remaining 15.

While the one-time CSRTs were winding down, we started the
ARB process. The first Administrative Review Board was con-
ducted in December of last year. The ARB process is still ongoing
and we expect to complete the first annual review for all eligible
detainees by the end of this calendar year. The ARB process is
similar to the CSRT in the opportunities it affords detainees to
have their cases reviewed by a neutral panel of decisionmakers and
to participate in the proceedings. The ARB panels make their as-
sessments on whether there is reason to believe the enemy combat-
ant no longer poses a threat to the United States or its allies or
any other factors bearing on the need for continued detention. We
coordinated within DOD and across many U.S. Government agen-
cies to acquire relevant to each detainee. Additionally, unless na-
tional security concerns dictate otherwise we coordinate through
Department of State to provide each detainee’s home nation the op-
portunity to provide information, including the opportunity to sub-
mit information from family members. To date, we have completed
164 ARB hearings at Guantanamo Bay. Secretary England has
made final decisions in 70 of these cases. Those decisions were that
4 detainees should be released, 25 detainees should be transferred,
and 41 detainees should continue to be held in detention. We have
notified Department of State, and they are pursuing the appro-
priate assurances from detainees’ countries of nationality.

The ARB and CSRT processes have required significant time and
resources, but we must do this right because there are two sides
to the fairness coin. First, fairness to the American people requires
that detainees who still pose a threat should not be released and
permitted to return to terrorist activities. Second, fairness to the
detainee as well as our clear desire not to detain persons any
longer than necessary suggest that those who no longer pose a
threat to the United States or our allies be released or transferred
to their own countries.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again for the opportunity to provide
this information. I'd be happy to answer questions.

[The prepared statement of Admiral McGarrah follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT BY RADM JAMES M. MCGARRAH, USN

Senator Graham, Senator Nelson, and members of the subcommittee, I appreciate
the opportunity to appear before you today.

In May of last year, Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz named Secretary
of the Navy Gordon England the Designated Civilian Official (DCO) to supervise the
process to review annually the cases of all detainees held under DOD control at the
U.S. Naval Base, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. Secretary England appointed me as the
Director of the Office for the Administrative Review of the Detention of Enemy Com-
batants (OAR DEC), the organization charged with carrying out the review process.
We solicited input from the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), from
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nongovernmental organizations, and from the Ambassadors of countries whose na-
tionals are detained at Guantanamo Bay, and then worked across all U.S. Govern-
ment agencies to develop a rigorous and fair review process called the Administra-
tive Review Board (ARB). The purpose of the ARB process is to assess annually
whether each enemy combatant at Guantanamo continues to pose a threat to the
United States or its allies, or whether there are other factors that would support
the need for continued detention. Based on this assessment, the ARB panel can rec-
ommend to Secretary England that individual detainees be released, continue to be
detained, or be transferred to another country, typically the detainee’s country of
nationality. Secretary England, as the DCO, is the final decisionmaker for this proc-

ess.

While the ARB procedures were being developed last summer, the U.S. Supreme
Court issued three rulings related to detained enemy combatants. Among other
things, the Court in one of those cases held that Federal courts have jurisdiction,
under the Federal habeas corpus statute, 28 U.S.C. Section 2241, to hear challenges
to the legality of the detention of Guantanamo Bay detainees. In another one of
those cases, a plurality of the Court cited Section 1-6 of Army Regulation 190-8 as
an example of military regulations that would suffice to satisfy the due process re-
quirements that the plurality indicated would apply to a U.S. citizen held as an
enemy combatant in the United States. In light of those decisions, the Deputy Sec-
retary of Defense established the Combatant Status Review Tribunal (CSRT) proc-
ess to assess formally whether each detainee was properly detained as an enemy
combatant and to permit each detainee the opportunity to contest the enemy com-
batant designation. The CSRT process was based on Army Regulation 190-8, which
provides policy, procedures and responsibilities for the handling of prisoners of war
and certain other detainees. Specifically, it outlines provisions for tribunals that ex-
ceed the requirements of tribunals that implement Article 5 of the 1949 Geneva
Convention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (GPW), which requires
a competent tribunal to determine the status of belligerents in cases where any
doubt arises as to whether a belligerent satisfies the requirements for prisoner of
war status. The CSRT is a one-time process, and provides each detainee with the
following opportunities consistent with Army Regulation 190-8:

o The opportunity for review and consideration by a neutral decision-
making panel composed of three commissioned military officers sworn to
execute their duties faithfully and impartially. The tribunals make their de-
cisions by majority vote, based on the preponderance of the evidence;

o The opportunity to attend all open portions of the proceedings if he de-
sires;

e The opportunity to call witnesses on his behalf, if those witnesses are rel-
evant and reasonably available;

e The opportunity to question witnesses called by the tribunal;

e The opportunity to testify on his own behalf if he desires;

. ghe opportunity to receive assistance of an interpreter, when necessary;
an

e The opportunity freely to decline to testify

The CSRT process also provides more process and protections than Army Regula-
tion 190-8:

e The detainee is given the opportunity to receive assistance from a mili-
tary officer to ensure he understands the process and the opportunities
available, and to prepare for his hearing.

e The CSRTSs contain express qualifications to ensure the independence and
lack of prejudgment of the tribunal

e The CSRT Recorder is obligated to search government files for evidence
suggesting the detainee is not an enemy combatant

e In advance of the hearing, the detainee is provided with an unclassified
summary of the evidence supporting his enemy combatant classification

e The detainee is allowed to introduce relevant and reasonably available
documentary evidence

e The result of every CSRT is automatically reviewed by a higher author-
ity, who is empowered to return the record to the tribunal for further pro-
ceedings, if appropriate.

Secretary England appointed me as the Convening Authority for the CSRT proc-
ess. The CSRT tribunal panels were the decision makers in this process. In my Con-
vening Authority review, I could either approve a panel’s decision or return a case
for further deliberations. In less than 6 months, tribunal hearings were conducted
on all 558 detainees under Department of Defense control at Guantanamo Bay. Of
the 558 cases heard, the CSRT panels determined that 520 detainees were properly
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classified as enemy combatants, and that 38 detainees no longer met the criteria
for designation as enemy combatants. Those found no longer to meet the criteria for
enemy combatant designation were processed for release. Twenty-three have been
released; the DOD continues to work closely with Department of State to effect the
release of the remaining 15 detainees.

The first Administrative Review Board was conducted on December 14, 2004. The
ARB process is ongoing, with the expectation that we will complete the first annual
review for all eligible detainees by the end of this calendar year. The ARB process
provides each eligible detainee with the following opportunities:

e The opportunity for review by a neutral decisionmaking panel of three
commissioned military officers sworn to execute their duties faithfully and
impartially. The tribunals make their assessments, in writing and by ma-
jority vote, on whether there is reason to believe the enemy combatant no
longer poses a threat to the United States or its allies and any other factors
bearing on the need for continued detention;

o The opportunity to attend all open portions of the proceedings;

e The opportunity to testify on his own behalf if he desires;

o The opportunity to receive assistance of an interpreter, when necessary;
and

e The opportunity to receive assistance from a military officer to ensure he
understands the process, and to prepare for his hearing.

Again, the intent of the ARB process is to assess annually whether each detainee
continues to pose a threat to the U.S. or its allies and to recommend whether each
detainee should continue to be detained, released, or transferred.

In order to accomplish this assessment, we coordinate within the Department of
Defense, and with the Department of State, Department of Justice (including the
Federal Bureau of Investigation), Central Intelligence Agency, Department of Home-
land Security, and the National Security Council staff to acquire information rel-
evant to each detainee’s situation. Additionally, unless national security concerns
dictate otherwise, we coordinate through the Department of State to provide each
detainee’s home nation the opportunity to provide information, including the oppor-
tunity to submit information from the detainee’s family.

To date, we have completed 164 ARB hearings at Gitmo. Secretary England has
made the final decisions on 70 of these cases, that 4 detainees should be released,
25 detainees should be transferred, and 41 detainees should continue to be detained.
We have notified Department of State, and they are pursuing the appropriate assur-
ances from the detainees’ countries of nationality.

A process like the ARB is not required by either the Geneva Conventions or inter-
national law; it is discretionary on the part of the U.S. Government. There are no
absolutes and this process does contain some risk to American citizens, for example,
the possibility of releasing a detainee who returns to the fight against U.S. forces.

However, to do it right, the ARB and CSRT processes have required time, and
have not been without their challenges. For example, the pursuit of off-island wit-
ness input for CSRT hearings was very time consuming, and we have received very
little input from home countries in the ARB process. But we must do this right, be-
cause there are two sides to the fairness coin. First, fairness to the American people
requires that those in detention who still pose a threat should not be released and
permitted to return to terrorist activities. Second, fairness to the detainee, as well
as our clear desire not to detain persons any longer than necessary, would suggest
that those who no longer pose a threat to the United States or our allies be released
or transferred to their own countries.

However, because of the highly unusual nature of the global war on terrorism,
and because we do not want to detain any combatant any longer than is necessary,
we have taken this unprecedented and historic action to establish a process to per-
mit enemy combatants to be heard while a conflict is ongoing.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again for the opportunity to provide you this informa-
tion. I am happy to answer any questions you or your subcommittee members might
have regarding the CSRT or ARB processes.

Senator GRAHAM. Admiral.
General Hemingway.
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STATEMENT OF BRIG. GEN. THOMAS L. HEMINGWAY, USAF,
LEGAL ADVISOR TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY FOR THE
OFFICE OF MILITARY COMMISSIONS

General HEMINGWAY. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee,
I'm Brigadier General Thomas L. Hemingway. I'm the legal advisor
to the appointing authority in the Office of Military Commissions,
and I'm pleased to discuss the operations of the Office of Military
Commissions.

America is at war. It’s a war as tangible as the blood and dust
that littered the streets of Manhattan on September 11. In re-
sponse to the attacks on the United States, the President estab-
lished military commissions to try those noncitizen members of al
Qaeda and other persons engaging in specified terrorist activities
who are alleged to have committed violations of the law of wars
and related offenses.

Military commissions tried enemy combatants for violations of
the law of war in many of the conflicts in which the United States
has been involved. The President has determined that military
commissions shall be full and fair trials. However, the application
of the Federal rules of evidence have been deemed impracticable.
The President’s military order focuses on the unique factors of the
ongoing hostilities and affirms that national security interests re-
quire the continued application of U.S. national security laws in de-
veloping commission instructions and regulations, consistent with
a full and fair trial for each accused.

One DOD directive, six commission orders, nine separate com-
mission instructions, and three appointing authority regulations
implement military commission processes. Our commission rules
which afford an accused multiple procedural protections, balanced
with national security interests, compare favorably to those being
used in the international criminal tribunal for Rwanda and the
international criminal tribunal for the former Yugoslavia. The Of-
fice of Military Commissions has taken key steps to move the com-
mission processes forward. Trials commenced in 2004.

Trials are stayed pending an appellate court decision in the case
of Mr. Hamdi. Counsel for Mr. Hamdi brought action in United
States District Court to review the legality of military commissions.
The court recognized the authority of the President to establish
military commissions to try offenders or offenses that by statute or
the law of war may be tried by military commission and a review
panel as an appeals mechanism. However the court raised concerns
about the exclusion of the accused during the hearing of classified
and protected information. The Government has appealed this rul-
ing. The delays to the commission process are directly attributable
to the exercise of the accused’s ability to challenge that process in
Federal courts.

The ongoing global war on terrorism continues to pose unique
challenges. Neither the United States nor the international com-
munity contemplated a non-state organization having the capa-
bility to wage war on a global scale. Military commissions are the
appropriate forum to preserve safety, protect national security, and
provide for full and fair trials consistent with our standards and
those of the international community. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of General Hemingway follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT BY BRIG. GEN. THOMAS L. HEMINGWAY, USAF

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee: I am Brigadier General Thomas
L. Hemingway. I am the Legal Advisor to the Appointing Authority for the Office
of Military Commissions. I am pleased to discuss the operations of the Office of Mili-
tary Commissions, the protections afforded accused before Military Commissions,
and the current status of cases pending before Military Commissions.

America is at war. This war is not a metaphorical war; it is as tangible as the
blood, the dust, and the rubble that littered the streets of Manhattan on September
11, 2001. The reality of this war could be seen in the faces of those who stood in
stark horror as they saw helpless, innocent people fall and jump to their deaths
from the Twin Towers. In response to the attacks on the United States on Sep-
tember 11, 2001, the President established military commissions to try those non-
citizen members of al Qaeda and other persons engaging in specified terrorist activi-
‘;ies who are alleged to have committed violations of the law of war and related of-

enses.

The use of military commissions predates the formation of our republic. Since the
Revolutionary War, the United States has used military commissions to try enemy
combatants for law of war violations. In the Mexican-American War, during the
Civil War, following the Civil War, during and after World War II, military commis-
sions were used to try enemy combatants for violations of the laws of war. In the
President’s Military Order establishing military commissions, he mandated that the
accused shall be afforded full and fair trials. The President also determined that the
Federal Rules of Evidence are not practicable for military commissions given the na-
ture of the conflict. This determination is based on the unique factors present in
conducting judicial proceedings against suspected war criminals at a time when the
United States is actively engaged in an on-going armed conflict. Instead of the Fed-
eral Rules of Evidence, military commissions have adopted the internationally ac-
cepted standard for admissibility of evidence—probative value.

The President’s Military Order focuses on the unique factors of the current ongo-
ing hostilities and affirms that national security interests require the continued ap-
plication of U.S. national security laws in developing commission instructions and
regulations consistent with the accused’s right to a fair trial. These orders, instruc-
tions, and regulations afford an accused the following rights:

1. Presumption of innocence

2. Trial before an impartial and independent panel of three to seven offi-
cers

3. Notification of charges in language understood by the accused

4. Call witnesses and present evidence

5. Cross-examine witnesses and examine evidence

6. Election not to testify at trial with no adverse inference

7. Appointment of military counsel at no cost to defendant and right to
hire civilian counsel at no expense to the government

8. Privileged communications with defense counsel

9. Adequate support and resources to defense counsel

10. Appointment of interpreters and translators

11. Open proceedings, except as absolutely necessary to protect national
security

12. Proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt

13. Review of the record of trial by a three-member review panel

The rules of evidence and procedure established for trials by military commission
compare favorably to those being used in the International Criminal Tribunal for
Rwanda and the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia. These
rules are consistent with our National commitment to adhere to the rule of law.

The Office of Military Commissions has taken key steps in moving the commission
process forward. To date, the President has determined that 12 detainees currently
at Guantanamo are subject to his Order. The Appointing Authority, John D. Alten-
burg, has approved charges against four accused and referred these charges to mili-
tary commissions for trial. Those trials commenced late in the summer of 2004. The
Office of Military Commissions has been working diligently to convene military com-
missions; however, the trials are stayed pending an appellate court decision in the
case of Mr. Hamdan. Military and civilian counsel for Mr. Hamdan brought an ac-
tion in the United States District Court to review the legality of trial by military
commissions. The district court affirmed the legality of military commissions to try
violators of the law of war and a review panel as an appeals mechanism; however,
the Court raised concerns about the commission process whereby an accused may
be excluded from the hearing to protect classified and protected information. Be-
cause this protection is essential to the continued effectiveness in our current war
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on terror, the government has appealed this ruling. The delays to the commission
process are directly attributable to the exercise of the accused’s ability to challenge
that process in the Federal courts. While the appeal is pending, investigations and
submissions of charges against additional accused continue.

This is the first time since World War II that the United States has had a need
to convene military commissions. While it is important to move quickly back to trial,
the Office of Military Commissions’ movement forward is measured with full aware-
ness and consideration of the rights of an accused and the needs of our Nation.

The ongoing global war on terrorism continues to pose many unique challenges
in an asymmetrical battlefield. Neither the United States nor the international com-
munity contemplated a non-state organization having the capability to wage war on
a global scale. Military commissions are the appropriate forum to preserve safety,
protect national security, and provide for full and fair trials consistent with our
standards and those of the international community.

Senator GRAHAM. Thank you, General. We are in a series of
votes, and we’ll try to keep the committee process going the best
we can. Thank you all for your testimony and showing up.

One of your statements, General Hemingway, I totally agree
with. No one has really contemplating this kind of war before. But
we are past the contemplation stage, we are in it, and we are
learning. We are adjusting, and overall, I think we’ve done a very
good job.

Number one, military tribunals are the way to go. I totally, com-
pletely agree with the concept with which you had started. Enemy
combatant status is a legitimate legal status to confer on certain
people. I don’t want to do away with it; I want to be sure it oper-
ates in a way that the courts will sign off on and we can move for-
ward in terms of world image to show the world that an enemy
combatant can be fairly determined, the status can be fairly chal-
lenged, and they will stay there as long as they need to, to keep
this country and the world safe from people who want to do harm.

In terms of intelligence gathering, the stress, physical and psy-
chological, that can be applied, should be applied. Let’s just do it
in a way that doesn’t create a black eye. The reforms that you've
made are very good.

My central theme here is that under Article 1, Section 8, Clause
11 it says Congress shall have the power to make rules concerning
captures on land and water, among other things. Mr. Dell’Orto, do
you agree with this general proposition, that the courts who have
reviewed enemy combatant status and the tribunal system that’s
currently in effect, have on more than one occasion spoken to the
idea that Congress should get involved. Justice Scalia is very direct
about that in his opinion, that Congress should help give us guid-
ance. Because to do this by habeas review, I think, is a hodgepodge
of inconsistent legal decisions that will be appealed forever.

No matter what the Court of Appeals decides in the case you just
mentioned, General Hemingway, there will be an appeal, and this
could go on for a while. So what I’'m proposing, or the idea that I'm
suggesting, is do you believe congressional action in defining enemy
combatant status and approving a military tribunal system, would
that be well received by the courts? Would that help us in terms
of our current legal situation? What would your opinion be of that?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. Mr. Chairman, my view is, as I think I ex-
pressed in the opening statement, that the framework of laws
under which we currently operate give us the ability to prosecute
the war under the rule of law as it currently stands and that legis-
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lation is not necessary. I believe the courts ultimately will see their
way through these issues and I believe they have already indicated
that. As I indicated during those opening remarks, the Supreme
Court has determined

Senator GRAHAM. So it your legal opinion that a statute passed
by Congress determining enemy combatant status would not have
a preferred legal position in courts, versus what you're currently
doing?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. I'm not sure that it would. I can’t predict how
a court would rule given a statute presented to it. I do say at this
point in the absence of any legislation to that effect, the courts I
believe are aligning themselves in such a way, and it may take de-
cisions by the Supreme Court that continue to affirm the frame-
work under which we are currently operating.

Senator GRAHAM. I'm going to have to vote. I'll continue my line
of questioning here a bit later. Senator Nelson.

Senator BEN NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Dell’Orto,
in categorizing the detainees in custody as enemy combatants, can
you enlighten us on the kind of treatment that they would be enti-
tled to or the kind of treatment that would be outside the limits
of acceptable treatment?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. Under the determinations that have been made
to date on the war on terrorism by the President, in confirming
what the Secretary of Defense had directed on January 19, 2002,
the baseline standard is humane treatment; but to the extent that
a treatment is appropriate and consistent with military necessity,
the treatment should also be consistent with the principles of Ge-
neva. So we have, at least we have a baseline standard, a min-
imum standard under all circumstances, and a standard to which
we should be ascribing consistent with our military needs in these
ongoing operations and this ongoing conflict.

Senator BEN NELSON. In her opinion in the Hamdi case, Justice
O’Connor made the statement that the Government has never pro-
vided any court with the full criteria that it uses in classifying indi-
viduals as enemy combatants. Is there a definition that is accepted
internationally as to what an enemy combatant is? Does this in-
clude what Justice O’Connor would refer to as full criteria?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. I'm not sure that I have the precise answer to
that question, Senator. Again, we have people who have taken up
arms who are engaged in hostilities against a foreign government.
In this instance, it does incorporate the acts of al Qaeda as a non-
nation state actor in addition to the acts of the Taliban as a part
of what was then the Afghan Government.

Senator BEN NELSON. Would anybody else have any thoughts
about the full definition or the full criteria might constitute a defi-
nition? I guess you’re on your own. I appreciate that.

I know that each Service has a fairly extensive, maybe broadly
extensive training program for judge advocates and part of the
training includes the doctrine for dealing with detainees in military
operations. Could each of you describe what your doctrine is by
Service, for handling detainees? In doing so, is there interservice
consultation to maintain some consistency within each branch?
Maybe, General Romig, you might lead off.
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General RoMmIG. Thank you, Senator. Well, the baseline starting
point is we train them on the international conventions, the Gene-
va Conventions and what the law of war requires. That’s done at
the entry stage in the basic courses. All of the basic courses in all
of the Services train the Geneva Conventions and law of war, and
with a historical overview of how it’s been planned in the past and
that sort of thing.

We also do a lot of joint training. We have courses at our school.
There are courses at the Air Force and the Navy school that we
send people to. So we do law of war courses, specific law of war
courses, operational law courses where they actually address what
needs to be done in the legal environment as far as handling of de-
tainees and the different statuses of different kinds of detainees:
prisoners of war, civilians, unlawful combatants, those sorts of
things.

Senator BEN NELSON. Do you feel that there is sufficient defini-
tion, or clarification, at the present time to be able to deal with the
detainees at Guantanamo?

General RoMiGg. Well yes, sir, because al Qaeda and the Taliban
are individuals not subject to the Geneva Conventions. They are
not parties to a conflict, they don’t meet any of the definitions for
criteria under the Geneva Conventions for lawful combatants. So I
think however you look at it, yes, there is sufficient definition for
them to address that.

Now, it’s a different situation in Iraq where we are dealing with
the conventions. Our people know what the rules are in that envi-
ronment, too, as far as whether they are POWs or under the civil-
ians convention and that sort of thing.

So I think if we had a very precise definition, it would end up
perhaps being too restrictive on the ability of commanders and sol-
diers and lawyers to work within the international treaties.

Senator BEN NELSON. Does your service doctrine permit degrad-
ing, abusive, or humiliating treatment?

General RoMiG. No, sir, it does not. In fact, under the UCMJ
that would be an offense, maltreatment of subordinates. We have,
in fact, court-martialed and taken other action against a number
of people in Iraq and other places that have engaged in that. In
fact, we've tried 197 people for detainee abuse since the war on ter-
rorism started.

Senator BEN NELSON. So the standard of humane treatment
raises certain questions about what constitutes still acceptable
treatment under the Army doctrine, is that accurate?

General RoMiG. The baseline is pretty clear, Senator. Humane
treatment means you protect them, you clothe them, you feed
them, you give them medical care, you give them a religious accom-
modation, and you account for them. All of these basic baseline
items that we are doing, everybody is trained on that; they know
that.

In addition, all of our people are trained that when you capture
somebody on the battlefield, you initially treat them as a POW.
That is the highest status that they can have on the battlefield is
a POW. We train everyone to initially treat whoever they capture
as a POW. They don’t make a determination whether they are an
unlawful combatant or otherwise.
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Senator BEN NELSON. Thank you. My time has expired.

Senator Roberts.

Senator ROBERTS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Gentlemen, allow
me to start by thanking you for being here today, all of you, and
for your service to the country. In past weekend, I visited Gitmo
along with Senator Hagel. Many others have gone before me, and
I'm very pleased to hear that the chairman of the full committee
will be going down along with the chairman of the subcommittee.

I think this is an operation that today we can be proud of. Were
there mistakes in the past, yes, but certainly not today in regards
to what many of our concerns are.

As has been said, we all have the best interest in ensuring that
those released through the ARB process, or the CSRT—we get into
a lot of acronyms here—do not pose a threat to American or coali-
tion soldiers overseas, do not maintain the desire or capability to
levy attacks on our homeland and are of no further value to the
military or law enforcement agencies with regard to the intel-
ligence that they may possess. So I have a couple of questions in
that regard.

I'm concerned about releasing the detainees that should not be
released. We just can’t afford to be making any mistakes when it
comes to releasing releasing some of these enemy combatants, I
call them terrorists. We all know that for violations of domestic
law, we often find that offenders who are released reappear as re-
peat offenders. All the newspapers and media are replete with cov-
erage of that. If we release the wrong detainee, he’s a repeat of-
fender, it could result in the death of American troops or an attack
on our homeland. So what assurance can you give us that every
new effort is being made to ensure that this does not happen?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. Senator, I'll take that. In attempting to be flexi-
ble in this particular war, early on it was determined that we
would have to consider releasing some people over time because of
the, at least the apparent indefinite duration of the conflict. Now,
I would point out that any conflict appears at various points in
time as one that will be indefinite. I mean, it’s a balancing test.
Having made the decision that we don’t want to detain people un-
necessarily, beyond the time we consider them a threat, you have
to go on the available information. So we do our best to screen, and
have from the earliest days, screen these people and reassess the
threat that they pose, based on additional information we receive
or indications they give us, as theyre on the grounds at Guanta-
namo, as to what the future may hold.

It’s not perfect. I cannot give you a 100-percent guarantee. If this
were a normal conflict, we would hold every one of these people
until the cessation of hostilities. We don’t know when that will be.
But for the moment we are trying to strike a balance between not
keeping them too long and yet ensuring that those who pose a
threat of significance are not released.

Senator ROBERTS. You've testified extensively concerning the sta-
tus of the detainees at Gitmo that have gone through a CSRT. How
quickly are the new tribunals held for incoming detainees?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. I'll defer to Admiral McGarrah on that.

Admiral MCGARRAH. Senator, the last incoming detainees to
Guantanamo were in September of last year and they were imme-
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diately integrated into the schedule and those hearings were com-
pleted within the 6-month period that I mentioned, by January.

Senator ROBERTS. I appreciate that. Since they were established
in July of last year, how many instances have there been when a
tribunal for an incoming detainee has been delayed?

Admiral McGARRAH. Sir, I wouldn’t characterize any of them as
having been delayed. They were integrated immediately into the
schedule.

Senator ROBERTS. How many instances do you know of where
someone went through the tribunal process and was found not to
be an enemy combatant and then found fighting against U.S. forces
after their release, appearing on the al Qaeda Web page?

Admiral McGARRAH. Of the 38 that we have determined through
the CSRT process, none have been found yet to have returned to
the battlefield. There were prior processes before we implemented
both the CSRT and ARB, and about a dozen of the over 200 that
have been released since the start of the operations in Gitmo have
been found to return to the battlefield.

Senator ROBERTS. I know there was a comment earlier that the
situation down there in regards to how we review these cases is a
mess. I quarrel with that. I don’t quarrel with the Senator’s con-
cern, and that Senator has been to Gitmo. But the tenets of ARB
are the annual administrative review to review all reasonably
available relevant information not governed by Federal rules of evi-
dence, independent review, the detainee may actually participate
and provide information during a war, to consider information from
home country and relatives. To consider threat determination, in-
telligence, value, law enforcement interest and potential for war
crimes charges. Unclassified portions of the ARBs are open to the
media. There is a recommendation for options, i.e., release, trans-
fer, detain. The Designated Civilian Official (DCO) makes the final
decision. There is obviously the interagency communication of out-
comes. I don’t think that’s a mess.

There is a handout that you get at Gitmo, I'm not saying it’s a
handout that is just a handout. I think if you read through it and
you look at the situation down there and the unique situation we
face, I think this process is unprecedented. Never before in the his-
tory of any kind of warfare attack on any country has any country
tried so hard to treat prisoners humanely and try to come up with
some legal process whereby it can be of value and we can get, and
we could get to where we want to be. It’s historic. It’s discretionary,
it’s not required by the Geneva Conventions, international or do-
mestic laws. The combatants, i.e., the terrorists, can be heard dur-
ing the ongoing hostilities. I think it’s substantive, I think it’s com-
prehensive, I think it’s rigorous, and I think it’s repeatable.

Now the fact that we have not come up with some better defini-
tion or solved what I call a perception problem, I think is probably
the case. But certainly, as we go through, it will hopefully mitigate
the concern about indefinite detention during this very unconven-
tional type of war. We are in an unconventional situation. My time
has expired. I thank you again for your contribution.

Senator BEN NELSON. Senator Kennedy.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much, and thank all of you
gentlemen for being here.
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We began holding these hearings on these issues more than a
year ago. At that time the administration promised the American
people to get to the bottom of the abuses that shocked the world,
yet since that time we have seen neither hide nor hair of the Gen-
eral Counsel Haynes and his absence speaks volumes. Mr.
Dell’Orto, can you tell us why he didn’t come today?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. Senator, the invitation that Senator Graham
issued came to me and I don’t have any other explanation beyond
that.

Senator KENNEDY. You have no understanding why he hasn’t ap-
peared here?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. No, sir.

Senator BEN NELSON. Can I ask you, are you going to give a
positive response to the memorandas that Senator Levin men-
tioned?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. The March 14, 2003, memorandum I responded
to Senator Levin several weeks ago and indicated that is under re-
view. I will for the purposes of this record indicate that that memo-
randum was withdrawn as an operational document, and so it is
no longer in effect and it is no longer being considered a precedent
of any sort.

Senator KENNEDY. What was the date of the withdrawal?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. It was certainly as recently as February of this
year, but we were asked not to rely upon it going back to December
of 2003. I have not relied upon it since.

Senator KENNEDY. Senator Levin obviously is going to follow up
with this. Last year, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI)
raised serious concerns. I address this to our panel about the inter-
rogation techniques at Guantanamo. The FBI repeatedly raised the
concern that these techniques were not effective at producing reli-
able intelligence, and these “torture techniques,” as they called
them, would become an issue if military commissions were used. In
the case of the twentieth hijacker, the FBI noted that he had been
subjected to intense isolation for 3 months and then military work-
ing dogs were used to threaten him. They said he showed signs of
extreme psychological trauma: talking to nonexistent people, re-
porting hearing voices, crouching in the corner of the cell covered
with a sheet for hours on end.

The interrogation techniques that were described by the FBI and
again yesterday in graphic detail to this committee, were eerily
reminiscent of the abhorrent practices that took place at Abu
Ghraib: forcing a detainee to wear women’s underwear on his head,
leashing the detainee like a dog and forcing him to do dog tricks,
intimidating detainees with military dogs, and stripping detainees.

General Miller was in charge of Guantanamo when these abuses
occurred and after that he went back to Abu Ghraib, and those
same interrogation techniques were used. General Craddock yester-
day said that while this treatment is degrading and abusive, it was
not inhumane, and thus did not violate U.S. policy. If that is so,
why in the world are lower ranking military police (MPs) at Abu
Ghraib and Guantanamo being prosecuted for engaging in similar
behavior, and General Miller is not?

Mr. DELL’ORTO. Senator, the incidents at Abu Ghraib had no
connection to any authorized interrogation gathering effort. Fur-
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thermore, Abu Ghraib was conducted in a Geneva Conventions-gov-
erned environment, and we did have different standards at place
there.

Senator KENNEDY. I don’t know whether any of the others are
troubled by that conclusion, our situation, but I find that enor-
mously troublesome myself, why we have a dual standard. We have
been trying since the beginning to find out why the civilian au-
thorities, civilian authorities, changed the rules and who changed
them and when did they change them. Why, for example, in some
of these meetings that the JAG offices actually indicated that they
expressed opposition to some of these changes.

This was true—when was that date?—when we had the hearing,
the working group report on 2003. We had the report that the JAG
offices expressed some reservations, and nonetheless that those res-
ervations were overruled by General Counsel Haynes. Were any of
the officers here today in any of those meetings where they ex-
pressed reservations about those interrogation techniques? Could I
ask?

General RoMIG. Yes, sir, I did attend. There was a working group
that I and many of the members here were part of. It was very
open and candid. We provided our input and our view of what was
proper as far as procedures and techniques.

Senator KENNEDY. Let me just give it to you quickly if I could,
to be precise. I couldn’t find the reference earlier. I asked Vice Ad-
miral Church about the legal underpinning that set some of these
difficulties, interrogations in motion. He acknowledged that within
the Pentagon there was disagreement about whether to adopt these
bodies embodied in the April 2003 working group on interrogation.
He told us that it had been well reported that top JAG offices were
under civilian authorities, that adopting the policies contained in
the report would lead to undermining military culture and abuse.
Importantly, Vice Admiral Church told the committee that the
JAG’s objections were overruled by General Counsel Haynes.

I'm just interested whether any of those JAGs that are on our
panel today were at that particular meeting, whether they ex-
pressed a view. Could any of you respond, please?

General SANDKUHLER. Senator Kennedy, I